
  

 

Meeting of the  
 

CABINET 
__________________________________ 

 
Wednesday, 8 September 2010 at 5.30 p.m. 

_______________________________________ 
 

AGENDA – SECTION ONE 
______________________________________ 

 
VENUE 

Main Hall, Stepney Green Maths and Computing College, Ben Jonson 
Road, London E1 4SD 

 
 
 

Members: 
 

 

Councillor Helal Abbas (Chair) – (Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Joshua Peck (Vice-
Chair) 

– (Deputy Leader of the Council) 

Councillor Shahed Ali – (Lead Member, Environment) 
Councillor David Edgar – (Lead Member, Resources) 
Councillor Marc Francis – (Lead Member, Housing, Heritage and Planning) 
Councillor Sirajul Islam – (Lead Member, Regeneration and Employment) 
Councillor Denise Jones – (Lead Member, Culture and Creative Industries) 
Councillor Shiria Khatun – (Lead Member, Children's Services) 
Councillor Rachael Saunders – (Lead Member, Health and Wellbeing) 
Councillor Abdal Ullah – (Lead Member, Community Safety) 
 
[Note: The quorum for this body is 3 Members]. 

 
 
If you require any further information relating to this meeting, would like to request a large 
print, Braille or audio version of this document, or would like to discuss access arrangements 
or any other special requirements, please contact: 
Angus Taylor, Democratic Services,  
Tel: 020 7364 4333, E-mail: angus.taylor@towerhamlets.gov.uk  
 



 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

CABINET  
 

WEDNESDAY, 8 SEPTEMBER 2010 
 

5.30 p.m. 
 

 Stepney Green Maths & Computing College - location map, transport 
links (Pages 1 - 6) 
 

 Public Question and Answer Session 
 
There will be an opportunity (15 minutes) for members of the public to put questions to 
Cabinet members before the Cabinet commences its consideration of the substantive 
business set out in the agenda. 
 
Questions can be submitted in advance to the Town Hall or be asked on the evening. 
 
Send any questions to Angus Taylor, Democratic Services, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 
Poplar, E14 2BG or email Angus.taylor@towerhamlets.gov.uk by 5pm Thursday, 2nd 
September 2010. 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

7 - 8  

 To note any declarations of interest made by Members, 
including those restricting Members from voting on the 
questions detailed in Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act, 1992.  See attached note from the Chief 
Executive. 
 

  

3. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES  
 

9 - 42  

 To confirm as a correct record of the proceedings the 
unrestricted minutes of the ordinary meeting of the Cabinet 
held on 4th August 2010. 
 

  

4. DEPUTATIONS & PETITIONS  
 

  

 To receive any deputations or petitions. 
 

  



 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

5. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

  

5 .1 Chair's advice of Key Issues or Questions in relation to 
Unrestricted Business to be considered   

 

  

 To receive any advice of key issues or questions in relation 
to the unrestricted business of the Cabinet, arising from the 
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 
7th September 2010. 
 
 

  

5 .2 Any Unrestricted Decisions "Called in" by the 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee   

 

  

 (Under provisions of Article 6 Para 6.02 V of the 
Constitution). 
 
Nil items. 
 
 

  

 UNRESTRICTED REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

6. A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE  
 

  

6 .1 LDF Core Strategy: Adoption of the plan (CAB 029/101)  
 

43 - 90 All Wards; 

 Appendix 1 to the report has been circulated in conjunction 
with this agenda (as a hardcopy colour booklet) to all 
members of the Council, put on deposit at Town Hall 
Mulberry Place (Reception), made available on the Council 
Website. A hardcopy is also held by Democratic Services 
1st Floor, Town Hall Mulberry Place, should members of 
the Council or members of the public wish to view it. 
 
Please Note 
It is important that all Councillors attending the meetings 
set out below bring this document with them, as it 
comprises part of the associated agenda papers: 
• Overview and Scrutiny Committee (07 September 

2010) 
• Cabinet (08 September 2010) 
• Council (15 September 2010) 
 
 

  

6 .2 Adoption of Housing Investment Programme Capital 
Estimates - 2010/11 (CAB 030/101)   

 

91 - 118 All Wards; 

6 .3 Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Energy 
Efficiency Scheme (CAB 031/101)   

 

119 - 126 All Wards; 

6 .4 Renewal of Housing General Build Repair and Gas 
Servicing and Repair Contracts  (CAB 032/101)   

 

127 - 140 All Wards; 



 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

6 .5 The Private Rented Sector: Report of the Scrutiny 
Working Group  (CAB 033/101)   

 

141 - 178 All Wards; 

6 .6 Poplar Baths - proposed procurement route  (CAB 
034/101)   

 

179 - 188 Limehouse; 

6 .7 Building Control Charges (CAB 035/101)   
 

189 - 208 All Wards; 

7. A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY  
 

  

7 .1 Childcare Capital Projects  (CAB 036/101)   
 

209 - 220 Bow West; 
Weavers; 

7 .2 Culloden Primary School - Proposed Expansion  (CAB 
037/101)   

 

221 - 236 East India & 
Lansbury; 

7 .3 Thomas Buxton Infant and Junior Schools - Proposed 
Amalgamation (CAB 038/101)   

 

237 - 252 Weavers; 

8. A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY  
 

  

8 .1 Youth Offenders: Supporting Vulnerable Young 
People.  Report of the Scrutiny Working Group (CAB 
039/101)   

 

253 - 296 All Wards; 

9. A HEALTHY COMMUNITY  
 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  

10. ONE TOWER HAMLETS  
 

  

10 .1 2009/10 Capital Outturn (CAB 040/101)   
 

297 - 314 All Wards; 

10 .2 Enforcement Policy and RIPA (CAB 041/101) - To 
Follow   

 

 All Wards; 

11. ANY OTHER UNRESTRICTED BUSINESS 
CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT  

 

  

 To consider any other unrestricted business that the Chair 
considers to be urgent. 
 

  

12. UNRESTRICTED REPORTS FOR 
INFORMATION  

 

  

12 .1 Exercise of Corporate Director Discretions (CAB 
042/101)   

 

315 - 320 All Wards; 

  
 



 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER 

WARD(S) 
AFFECTED 

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

  

 In view of the contents of the remaining items on the 
agenda, the Committee is recommended to adopt the 
following motion: 
 
“That, under the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act, 1972 as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act, 1985, the Press 
and Public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting 
for the consideration of the Section Two business on the 
grounds that it contains information defined as Exempt in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government, Act 
1972”. 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL SECTION (PINK) 
The Exempt / Confidential (Pink) Committee papers in the Agenda will contain 
information, which is commercially, legally or personally sensitive and should not be 
divulged to third parties.  If you do not wish to retain these papers after the meeting, 
please hand them to the Committee Officer present.  

  

14. EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES  
 

321 - 324  

 To confirm as a correct record of the proceedings the 
exempt / confidential minutes of the ordinary meeting of 
the Cabinet held on 7th April 2010 further to amendments 
agreed by resolution of the Cabinet at their meeting held 
on 9th June 2010. 
 

  

15. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

  

15 .1 Chair's advice of Key Issues or Questions in relation to 
Exempt / Confidential Business to be considered.   

 

  

 Nil items. 
 
 

  

15 .2 Any Exempt / Confidential Decisions "Called in" by the 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee   

 

  

 (Under provisions of Article 6 Para 6.02 V of the 
Constitution). 
 
Nil items. 
 
 

  



 
 

 EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

16. A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE  
 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  

17. A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY  
 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  

18. A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY  
 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  

19. A HEALTHY COMMUNITY  
 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  

20. ONE TOWER HAMLETS  
 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  

21. ANY OTHER EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL 
BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT  

 

  

 To consider any other exempt/ confidential business that 
the Chair considers to be urgent. 
 

  

22. EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS FOR 
INFORMATION  

 

  

 Nil items. 
 

  

 
SCRUTINY PROCESS 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting on Tuesday 5th October 2010 may 
scrutinise provisional decisions made in respect of any of the reports attached, if it is 
“called in” by five or more Councillors except where the decision involves a 
recommendation to full Council. 
 
The deadline for “Call-in” is: Friday 17th September 2010  (5.00 p.m.) 
 
The deadline for Deputations is:  Wednesday 29th September 2010  (5.00 p.m.) 
 
Councillors wishing to “call-in” a provisional decision, or members of the public wishing to 
submit a deputation request, should contact: John Williams 
 Service Head Democratic Services: 
 020 7364 4205 

 
 

 
 



 

Agenda Annex

Page 1



Page 2

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 3



P
age 4

T
his page is intentionally left blank



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\5\1\AI00026159\LinktowebsitemapofStepneyGreenSchool0.doc 

Transport Links: 
 
Buses: 309 and 323 stop nearby on Ben Jonson Road. 25 and 205 stop 

outside Stepney Green Station. 
Tube:  District Line and Hammersmith and City Line (Stepney Green 

Station) 
Rail:  Whitechapel Station or Limehouse Station 
 
 
Link to website featuring Stepney Green Maths and Computing College with 
options to click on location maps: 
 
http://maps.google.co.uk/maps/place?cid=7380900083354628195 
 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\3\0\AI00026034\Notefromchiefexecutiveredeclarationofinterests07010850.doc 
    

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 
This note is guidance only.  Members should consult the Council’s Code of Conduct for further 
details.  Note: Only Members can decide if they have an interest therefore they must make their 
own decision.  If in doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to 
attending at a meeting.   
 
Declaration of interests for Members 
 
Where Members have a personal interest in any business of the authority as described in 
paragraph 4 of the Council’s Code of Conduct (contained in part 5 of the Council’s Constitution) 
then s/he must disclose this personal interest as in accordance with paragraph 5 of the Code.  
Members must disclose the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting and 
certainly no later than the commencement of the item or where the interest becomes apparent.   
 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is likely to 
affect: 
 

(a) An interest that you must register 
 
(b) An interest that is not on the register, but where the well-being or financial position of you, 

members of your family, or people with whom you have a close association, is likely to be 
affected by the business of your authority more than it would affect the majority of 
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision. 

 
Where a personal interest is declared a Member may stay and take part in the debate and 
decision on that item.   
 
What constitutes a prejudicial interest? - Please refer to paragraph 6 of the adopted Code of 
Conduct. 
 
Your personal interest will also be a prejudicial interest in a matter if (a), (b) and either (c) 
or (d) below apply:- 
 

(a) A member of the public, who knows the relevant facts, would reasonably think that your 
personal interests are so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgment of the 
public interests; AND 

(b) The matter does not fall within one of the exempt categories of decision listed in 
paragraph 6.2 of the Code; AND EITHER   

(c) The matter affects your financial position or the financial interest of a body with which 
you are associated; or 

(d) The matter relates to the determination of a licensing or regulatory application 
 

The key points to remember if you have a prejudicial interest in a matter being discussed at a 
meeting:- 
 

i. You must declare that you have a prejudicial interest, and the nature of that interest, as 
soon as that interest becomes apparent to you; and  
 

ii. You must leave the room for the duration of consideration and decision on the item and 
not seek to influence the debate or decision unless (iv) below applies; and  

Agenda Item 2

Page 7



2 
 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\4\3\0\AI00026034\Notefromchiefexecutiveredeclarationofinterests07010850.doc 
    

 
iii. You must not seek to improperly influence a decision in which you have a prejudicial 

interest.   
 

iv. If Members of the public are allowed to speak or make representations at the meeting, 
give evidence or answer questions about the matter, by statutory right or otherwise (e.g. 
planning or licensing committees), you can declare your prejudicial interest but make 
representations.  However, you must immediately leave the room once you have 
finished your representations and answered questions (if any).  You cannot remain in 
the meeting or in the public gallery during the debate or decision on the matter. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

MINUTES OF THE CABINET 
 

HELD AT 5.35 P.M. ON WEDNESDAY, 4 AUGUST 2010 
 

MAIN HALL, BRADY ARTS AND COMMUNITY CENTRE, 192-196 HANBURY 
STREET, LONDON E1 5HU 

 
Members Present: 
 
Councillor Helal Abbas (Chair) (Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Shahed Ali (Lead Member, Environment) 
Councillor David Edgar (Lead Member, Resources) 
Councillor Marc Francis (Lead Member, Housing, Heritage and 

Planning) 
Councillor Sirajul Islam (Lead Member, Regeneration and 

Employment) 
Councillor Denise Jones (Lead Member, Culture and Creative 

Industries) 
Councillor Joshua Peck (Vice-Chair) (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Rachael Saunders (Lead Member, Health and Wellbeing) 
Councillor Abdal Ullah (Lead Member, Community Safety) 
  

 
Other Councillors Present: 

Councillor Tim Archer (Scrutiny Lead Member: A Healthy 
Community) 

Councillor Anwar Khan  

Councillor Ahmed Adam Omer (Scrutiny Lead Member, One Tower 
Hamlets) 

 
Others Present: 

  
 

Officers Present: 

Mark Abrahams – (Interim Service Head Procurement and 
Programmes, Resources) 

Andy Algar – (Service Head Asset Strategy, Capital Delivery, 
Property Services, Development & Renewal) 

Robin Beattie – (Acting Head, Strategy & Resources,  
Communities Localities &  Culture) 

Kate Bingham – (Acting Service Head (Resources) Children 
Schools & Families) 

Isobel Cattermole – (Acting Corporate Director, Children, Schools & 
Families) 

John Coker – (Strategic Housing Manager, Development & 
Renewal) 

Kevan Collins – (Chief Executive) 

Agenda Item 3

Page 9



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

2 

Luke Cully – (Finance Manager, Communities, Localities & 
Culture) 

Robert Driver – (Communications Officer, Communications, Chief 
Executive's) 

Alan Finch – (Service Head, Corporate Finance, Resources) 
Stephanie Ford – (Interim Performance Manager, Strategy & 

Performance, Chief Executive's) 
Isabella Freeman – (Assistant Chief Executive [Legal Services]) 
Stephen Halsey – (Corporate Director, Communities, Localities & 

Culture) 
Chris Holme – (Service Head, Resources, Development & 

Renewal) 
Afazul Hoque – (Scrutiny Policy Manager, Scrutiny & Equalities, 

Chief Executive's) 
Judith St John – (Head of Ideas Stores, Communities Localities & 

Culture) 
Katie McDonald – (Scrutiny Policy Officer, Scrutiny & Equalities , 

Chief Executive's) 
Stephen Murray – (Head of Arts, Communities Localities & Culture) 
Chris Naylor – (Corporate Director, Resources) 
Layla Richards – (Service Manager Strategy Partnerships & 

Performance, Children Schools & Families) 
Chris Saunders – (Interim Political Advisor to the Labour Group, 

Chief Executive's) 
Takki Sulaiman – (Service Head Communications, Chief 

Executive's) 
Angus Taylor – (ExecutiveTeam Leader, Democratic Services, 

Chief Executive's) 
Helen Taylor – (Acting Corporate Director Adults Health & 

Wellbeing) 
Alison Thomas – (Private Sector and Affordable Housing Manager, 

Development & Renewal) 
Saheed Ullah – (New Projects Developments Manager, Children 

Schools & Families) 
Alice Wallace – (Third Sector Development Manager, Chief 

Executive's) 
Owen Whalley – (Service Head Major Projects, Development & 

Renewal) 
John Williams – (Service Head, Democratic Services, Chief 

Executive's) 
 
 
 
 
 

COUNCILLOR H. ABBAS (CHAIR) IN THE CHAIR 
 
 
WELCOME 
 

Page 10



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

3 

The Chair opened the meeting by welcoming those present in the public 
gallery to the second meeting of the Cabinet to be held outside the Town Hall, 
commenting that forthcoming Cabinet meetings prior to the Mayoral election 
in October 2010 were, at his request, also to be held in the Community with a 
view to promoting resident attendance and engagement. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
At this juncture the Chair informed those present that before Cabinet 
consideration of the substantive business set out in the agenda, he felt it 
appropriate to allow an opportunity for the public to put questions to the 
Leader of the Council [himself], Deputy Leader of the Council and other Lead 
Members comprising the Cabinet; also to allow an opportunity for members of 
the Cabinet to comment on the learning from their walkabout, which had taken 
place immediately beforehand. Accordingly the Chair Moved the following 
motion for the consideration of members of the Cabinet, and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
That the Cabinet adjourn for a period of 30 minutes, at 5.35pm, and that the 
meeting reconvene at 6.05pm. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 5.35pm 
The meeting reconvened at 6.05pm 
 
 
Question & Answer Session 
 
Members of the public asked a number of questions to which the members of 

the Cabinet responded including: 
• Administration’s stance on areas of the borough having their own 

devolved council’s. 
• Action the Council was taking to improve physical and visual access to 

its public buildings. 
• Joined up working/ response of Council departments to the Mayor of 

London’s cycle route initiative, given the perceived detrimental impact 
on pedestrian safety in some areas of the borough. 

• Whether the disposal of Council assets was proposed to meet the 
savings required by the Coalition Government.  

 
 
Walkabout Learning 
 
Cabinet members commented on the learning from their walkabout which had 
taken place immediately before the Cabinet meeting. This had comprised of 4 
groups of Cabinet Members/ Chief Officers walking to the Brady Arts and 
Community Centre, from meeting points in the vicinity, for approximately an 
hour. Comments received focused on the following issues: 
 
Valance Road/ Bethnal Green Road group 

Page 11



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

4 

• Tower Hamlets Homes properties: quality of caretaking and condition 
of stock - reasonably good. Lead Member encouraged by result of 
investment in deep clean of estates but acknowledged it needed wider 
roll-out. 

• Prostitution in Cheshire Street/ whether CCTV was operational and 
action plan to address. Corporate Director Communities Localities and 
Culture (CDCLC) reported on initiatives to mitigate, but to take this up 
and to update Deputy Leader in writing. 

• Derelict properties at bottom of Vallance Road owned by the Housing 
Revenue Account found to be in poor state of repair. Service Head 
Major Project Development reported the land had been set aside for a 
Transport for London road widening project, would explore if this was 
still viable and report back to next Cabinet meeting. 

• Pigeon droppings and street lights not working on a street to east of 
Vallance Road. Lights issue to be taken up with Officer responsible for 
spotting and to identify systemic failure. 

• Lister House in Vallance Road known for drug and prostitution issues 
seen to be in better condition. Hereford Estate lacked TRA - working 
with THH to support this. 

• Disappointing some programmed Decent Homes projects in the area 
had not yet commenced, although they were underway elsewhere.  

 
Arnold Circus group 
• In context of number of refuse bins often used by businesses, over-

full/unattractive, also spillage on pavement (possibly due to type of 
bags used) health and safety issue and counteractive to cleansing 
activities -  new approach needed. Public Realm either good or 
unacceptably bad. 

• CDCLC reported some businesses had refuse collection contract with 
Council, some abused the service, others abused the bins provided to 
others. Working with contractors towards a new bin-less frequent 
collection approach. 

• Blatant touting on Brick Lane - action needed to mitigate. Policy to 
pursue enforcement through courts not effective. Is being taken up 
through joint tasking with Police but not a priority. 

 
Whitechapel Idea Store/Market group 
• CDCLC acknowledged that although Council’s cleaning performance 

had improved against indicators, some areas seen on this walkabout, 
and others, were of unacceptable standard. Action to be taken to raise 
standards as appropriate. 

• Fenced area on corner of Whitechapel and Vallance Road full of litter 
disappointing and would be addressed. 

• Too many bicycles from bicycle scheme on junction of New Road.  
• Pigeon control needed taken up with TfL. 
 
New Road and Commercial Road group 
• Children happy with play provision and tenants with facilities. One 

complaint of noise. 
• Restaurant owner just inspected happy with regulatory service. 

Page 12



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

5 

• Holes in pavement in New Road needed repair, sidewalk edge needed 
deep clean. 

• Oasis area outside Mosque Whitechapel Road and Bell Road needed 
attention. 

 
The Chair thanked members of the public for attending to present questions. 
Also Cabinet members/ Chief Officers for attending the walkabout, which he 
considered presented an opportunity to see a locality/ any issues first hand 
and to assess how reality measured up to reported performance. 
 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of: 

 
• Councillor S. Khatun, Lead Member Children’s Services. 
• Councillor A. Jackson, Chair Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 

whom Councillor Ahmed Adam Omer Vice-Chair Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee was deputising. 

• Mr A. Dalvi, Corporate Director Development and Renewal for whom 
Mr O. Whalley, Service Head Major Project Development - 
Development and Renewal, was deputising. 

 
Noted.  
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor S. Islam declared a personal interest in Agenda item 6.1 “LBTH 
Housing Strategy - Annual Review for 2009/10 and the Annual Strategy 
Refresh” (CAB 017/101). The declaration of interest was made on the basis 
that the report contained recommendations relating to the Authority’s Housing 
Strategy which affected properties in the ownership of the Authority (managed 
by Tower Hamlets Homes) and Councillor Islam was a tenant of Tower 
Hamlets Homes. 
 
Councillor D. Jones declared a personal interest in Agenda item 6.1 “LBTH 
Housing Strategy - Annual Review for 2009/10 and the Annual Strategy 
Refresh” (CAB 017/101). The declaration of interest was made on the basis 
that the report contained recommendations relating to the Authority’s Housing 
Strategy which affected properties in the ownership of the Authority (managed 
by Tower Hamlets Homes) and Councillor Jones was a representative of the 
Authority on the governing body of Tower Hamlets Homes. 
 
Councillor H. Abbas declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 6.2 “Local 
Homes Initiative: Sale of additional land to Tower Hamlets Community 
Housing” (CAB 018/101). The declaration of interest was made on the basis 
that the report contained recommendations relating to Tower Hamlets 
Community Housing, and Councillor Abbas was a former representative of the 
Authority on the governing body of Tower Hamlets Community Housing. 
 

Page 13



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

6 

Councillor S. Islam declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 6.2 “Local 
Homes Initiative: Sale of additional land to Tower Hamlets Community 
Housing” (CAB 018/101). The declaration of interest was made on the basis 
that the report contained recommendations relating to Tower Hamlets 
Community Housing, and Councillor Islam was a representative of the 
Authority on the governing body of Tower Hamlets Community Housing. 
 
Councillor D. Jones declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 7.1 “Pupil 
Place Planning and School Estate Strategy” (CAB 019/101). The declaration 
was made on the basis that the report contained recommendations relating to 
secondary schools in general and Mulberry Secondary School specifically and 
Councillor Jones was a member of the governing body of Mulberry Secondary 
School. 
 
Councillor D. Jones declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 7.2 
“Wellington Primary School and Phoenix Special School - Decisions on 
statutory proposals” (CAB 004/101). The declaration was made on the basis 
that the report contained recommendations relating to schools in general and 
Councillor Jones was a member of the governing body of Mulberry Secondary 
School. 
 
Councillor H. Abbas declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 7.3 
“Update on Building Schools for the Future Programme (authorisation to enter 
into contracts)” (CAB 021/101). The declaration was made on the basis that 
the report contained recommendations relating to Swanlea Secondary School, 
and his son attended Swanlea Secondary School. 
 
Councillor D. Jones declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 7.3 “Update 
on Building Schools for the Future Programme (authorisation to enter into 
contracts)” (CAB 021/101). The declaration was made on the basis that the 
report contained recommendations relating to secondary schools in general 
and referred specifically to Mulberry Secondary School, and Councillor Jones 
was a member of the governing body of Mulberry Secondary School. 
 
Councillor A. Ullah declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 7.5 
“Allocation process for Council-owned property to Third Sector Organisations“ 
(CAB 023/101). The declaration was made on the basis that the report 
contained recommendations relating to the future process for the allocation of 
Council owned property to Third Sector organisations, and Councillor Ullah 
was Secretary for a local voluntary organisation which currently had access to 
Council owned premises. 
 
Noted.  
 

3. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES  
 
The Chair Moved and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 

Page 14



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

7 

That the unrestricted minutes of the ordinary meeting of the Cabinet held on 
7th July 2010 be approved and signed by the Chair, as a correct record of the 
proceedings. 
 

4. DEPUTATIONS & PETITIONS  
 
 
At this juncture the Chair Informed members of the Cabinet that the Assistant 
Chief Executive had received one valid request, from Wapping Parents 
Group, to address them in respect of Agenda item 7.1 “Pupil Place Planning 
and School Estate Strategy” (CAB 019/101). 
 
 
Variation to Order of Business 
 
The Chair also indicated that he thought it appropriate that the Order of 
Business be varied so that following receipt of the deputation, consideration 
be given to the report, contained in the agenda before the Cabinet for 
consideration, which was the subject matter of the deputation.  
 
Accordingly the Chair Moved the following motion for the consideration of 
members of the Cabinet, and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
That the Order of Business be varied so that following the receipt of the 
deputation, Agenda Item 7.1 “Pupil Place Planning and School Estate 
Strategy” (CAB 019/101) be considered next, and subsequently the Cabinet 
return to the order of business detailed in the agenda. 
 
 
At this juncture the Chair informed members of the Cabinet that a statement 
had been Tabled by the Wapping Parents Group, a copy of which would be 
interleaved with the minutes. 
 
 
Following receipt of the deputation, points of clarification sought and given, 
and an address from Deputy Leader of the Council, on behalf of the Lead 
Member Children’s Services, in response to the deputation, the Chair thanked 
the deputation for coming to address the Cabinet and then Moved the 
following motion for the consideration of members of the Cabinet and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
1. That the following deputation be formally received and noted: - 
 

Mr J. Cheyne, Wapping Parents Group, in respect of Agenda item 7.1 
“Pupil Place Planning and School Estate Strategy” (CAB 019/101); 

 

Page 15



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

8 

2. That the points raised by the deputation be given consideration during 
the Cabinet deliberation of the item of business to which the deputation 
related; and 

 
3. That any outstanding issues raised by the deputation be referred to the 

Corporate Director Children Schools and Families for attention and 
response in writing within 28 days, in accordance with the Authority’s 
Constitution (Part 4, Rules of Procedure, Section 4.1 Council 
Procedure Rules, Rule 20 Deputations). 

 
 

5. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
 

5.1 Chair's advice of Key Issues or Questions in relation to Unrestricted 
Business to be considered  
 
The Chair informed members of the Cabinet that Councillor Omer, Vice-Chair 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, had Tabled a sheet of questions/ 
comments arising from the deliberations of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, held on 3rd August 2010, in respect of the unrestricted business 
contained in the agenda for consideration, a copy of which would be 
interleaved with the minutes. 
 
Councillor Omer, Vice-Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
addressed members of the Cabinet: 
• Key Issues or Questions (Pre Scrutiny) 

Informing members of the Cabinet that he had nothing to add to the 
questions/ comments raised by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
as set out in the tabled paper regarding: - 

• Item 6.1 LBTH Housing Strategy - Annual Review for 2009/10 
and the Annual Strategy Refresh  

• Item 7.4 Framework for Minor Works and Repairs 
• Item 7.5 Allocation process for Council-owned property to Third 

Sector Organisations 
 
The Chair thanked Councillor Omer for presenting the contribution of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and then Moved and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
That the questions and comments of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
be noted, and that these be given consideration during the Cabinet 
deliberation of the items of business to which the questions/ comments 
related. 
 
 
Variation to Order of Business 
 

Page 16



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

9 

At this juncture the Chair Informed members of the Cabinet that, given the 
level of public interest in two reports detailed later in the agenda before them 
for consideration: 
• Agenda Item 7.5 Allocation process for Council-owned property to 

Third Sector Organisations 
• Agenda Item 10.2 Budget 2011/12 - 2013/14 - Resource Allocation 

and Budget Review 
he thought it appropriate that the Order of Business be varied so that 
following Agenda item 5.1 “Chair’s Advice of Key Issues or Questions in 
relation to Unrestricted Business to be considered” that these two reports be 
considered as the next business. 
 
Accordingly the Chair Moved the following motion for the consideration of 
members of the Cabinet, and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
That the Order of Business be varied so that following Agenda item 5.1 
“Chair’s Advice of Key Issues or Questions in relation to Unrestricted 
Business to be considered” Agenda item 7.5 “Allocation process for Council-
owned property to Third Sector Organisations” (CAB 023/101) be considered 
next, thereafter Agenda Item 10.2 “Budget 2011/12 - 2013/14 - Resource 
Allocation and Budget Review” (CAB 026/101), and subsequently the Cabinet 
return to the order of business detailed in the agenda. 
 
 

5.2 Any Unrestricted Decisions "Called in" by the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee  
 
5.2(i) Cabinet Decision “Called in” Idea Store Strategy Action Plan 
Update - Idea Store Metro Watney Market and One Stop Shop (CAB 
028/101). 
 
The Chair informed members of the Cabinet that Councillor Omer, Vice- Chair 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, had Tabled a reference (CAB 
028/101) arising from the deliberations of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, held on 3rd August 2010, in respect of the provisional decision of 
the Cabinet, held on 7th July 2010, made in relation to Idea Store Strategy 
Action Plan Update - Idea Store Metro Watney Market and One Stop Shop 
(CAB 010/101), a copy of which would be interleaved with the minutes. 
 
Councillor Omer, Vice- Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
addressed members of the Cabinet in relation to the tabled reference of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) (CAB 028/101), and requests 
contained therein, highlighting focal points of the further deliberation of this 
matter by the Committee and its conclusion to refer the provisional decision of 
the Cabinet regarding this matter back to the Cabinet for further consideration. 
• The suitability of the proposed location for the new Idea Store 

Local/One Stop Shop (ISL/OSS), the scale of the structure and 
associated impact on the pedestrian corridor through Watney Market. 

Page 17



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

10 

• The potential for other commercial and residential uses of the site 
proposed for the new ISL/OSS and the rationale for seeking one 
valuation of the site and not marketing it. 

• The merits of using and source of Section 106 funding for the project. 
• The level and methodology of consultation undertaken with residents/ 

Registered Social Landlords in relation to the project and in particular 
the use of the land. 

• The future of the existing idea store and safety aspects of combining a 
library in a One Stop Shop.  

And concluding by commending that the Cabinet set aside their previous 
decision and instead took the alternative course of action set out in the tabled 
report of the OSC: 
• A second independent valuation of the plot of land listed in Appendix 1 

of the report for development of the new ISL/OSS be undertaken; 
• Further community consultation be undertaken to establish exactly 

what local residents would like to see the land used for; 
• The source (s) of the s106 funding required to support this project are 

identified; and 
• The need for an Idea Store in Watney Market and investment in the 

existing Watney Market Library be reviewed. 
 
The Chair informed members of the Cabinet that a detailed response to the 
matters raised by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in the tabled 
reference regarding this agenda item, had been Tabled by the Corporate 
Director Communities, Localities and Culture, a copy of which would be 
interleaved with the minutes. 
 
Mr Halsey, Corporate Director Communities, Localities and Culture, and Mr 
Whalley Service Head Major Project Development - Development and 
Renewal, at the request of the Chair, also addressed members of the Cabinet 
in relation to the matters raised by the OSC in the tabled reference regarding 
this agenda item highlighting key points as follows: 
• The Idea Store Strategy approved by the Cabinet in 2009, had been 

the outcome of a year-long refresh of a 10 year old strategy, and had 
been the subject of wide-ranging public consultation. The action plan 
arising from the strategy was, he believed, robust and durable and the 
proposal for an Idea Store at Watney Market was its first outcome. 

• The award of £2 million funding from the Big Lottery Fund (BLF) was 
time limited and dependent on the Council’s timely commitment to the 
development. It was also ring-fenced for this scheme and not available 
for other purposes. 

• The scheme would improve service provision but also yield significant 
revenue savings, and was part of the Council’s endeavours to become 
“leaner” in its delivery of services. 

• The Idea Store Strategy had clearly identified the ongoing need for 
improved facilities in the Watney Market area. the current library facility 
in the market area is inadequate to meet local needs and could not be 
converted to meet the operational or presentational requirements of an 
Idea Store.  

Page 18



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

11 

• The emerging Local Development Framework Town Centre 
Implementation Programme identified Watney Market as one of three 
priority town centres for improvement, expansion and development. 
Community facilities form a key element of town centres and an Idea 
Store in this location would enhance the offer to town centre visitors. 

• The attention of members of the Cabinet was drawn to Section1 and 3 
of the Corporate Director’s tabled response to the matters raised by the 
OSC, relating to the merits of a second valuation and the sources of 
available Section 106 funding. 

 
A discussion followed, during which the proposals in the reference from the 
OSC were rejected, and which focused on the following points:- 
• Bewilderment that some councillors representing the ward where it was 

proposed to locate the Idea Store Local (ISL), had supported the 
referral of this matter back to Cabinet. Commenting that residents and 
schools elsewhere welcomed the location of such a facility in their area 
and highly valued the service it provided. 

• Comment that following the relocation of the Sainsbury’s store from 
Watney Market to Whitechapel the commercial activity of the market 
had declined. Investment by the Council in the market was leading to a 
pick up in this activity, but consideration also that the location of an ISL 
here would enhance the offer of the market and therefore bring more 
visitors also generating ancillary commercial activity in the market itself. 

• Consideration that in a time of severe financial constraint it was 
legitimate to think carefully about the use of Section 106 resources, 
however a major aspect of the Authority’s decision making in relation to 
this scheme must be that £2 million of BLF funding would be lost if its 
support was not confirmed quickly. 

• The combined ISL/OSS scheme would improve service provision but 
also yield significant revenue savings. 

• Consideration that the process for obtaining planning consent for any 
new development adequately provided for local residents or councillors 
with concerns regarding the nature of the development to make 
representations. 

• Uncertainty as to the purpose of a further valuation of the proposed site 
for the ISL, given there was no proposal to sell the site to property 
developers, but only to develop a very beneficial service for local 
residents. 

• Comment that it was right that the thinking behind such schemes 
should be examined closely, especially at this point in time when 
resources were scarce. However a full explanation of the land valuation 
had been given at the meeting of the OSC the previous evening. There 
was no evidence/ reason to suppose that the assumptions 
underpinning the valuation were incorrect: significant development 
issues and site constraints would prevent the land being commercially 
marketable, the risks involved for private developers being too great: 
the land had no viable alternative uses. In this context consideration 
that there was no point in seeking further costly professional opinion. 

• Commented that there was good public support for the location of an 
ISL in Watney Market and also recognition of the value of such a 

Page 19



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

12 

facility for local people. It was understood that much work had been 
done on finding the views of local people. 

• A Conservative Councillor speaking with the consent of the Cabinet 
commented that: 
o No Councillors had been opposed to the location of an ISL in 

Watney Market. 
o Concern focused on the perception of the land being merely an 

extension of a bus stop and therefore considered to have no 
other use and therefore to be of nil value. The site belonged to 
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and it was proposed to 
build a sizeable ISL on it, of approximately 1400 square metres, 
it might therefore have commercial development potential, and if 
this was the case it was important for its true value to benefit the 
HRA. 

o Concern also focused, some of it that of Labour Councillors, on 
a lack of proper consultation with residents. Consultation had 
taken place in relation to a new ISL but not about the usage of 
the land, which it was understood had been identified in the 
1960’s as a potential green area. 

o The importance of levering in £2 million of available BLF funding 
had been acknowledged. However planning consent had not yet 
been obtained so a significant delay was already built into the 
scheme’s timeline, so funding was probably already at risk and 
the alternative course of action proposed by the OSC were 
unlikely to risk it further. 

• Councillor Francis, Lead Member Housing, Heritage and Planning, 
commented that it was not appropriate to turf over the space in 
question, particularly when the benefit to the local community of the 
proposed ISL scheme was so great. He would always defend the 
interests of the HRA and the social housing outcomes it provided, 
however this ISL scheme could not be viewed in terms of one area of 
Council activity being fleeced by another but should be examined in 
terms of being hugely beneficial to the local community. Noting the 
original reasons for “call in” he considered these inadequate to merit 
reversal of the original Cabinet decision. 

• Commented that when the proposals for an ISL/OSS in Watney Street 
Market were considered by Cabinet, at its meeting held on 7th July 
2010, the report advised that £1.1 million of capital funding for the 
scheme would come from a Section 106 contribution associated with a 
development site at 32-42 Bethnal Green Road. Clarification/ 
assurance was therefore sought, in the context of a decision by the 
Strategic Development Committee, held on 2nd August 2010, to 
allocate the Section 106 funding from this particular site for other 
purposes, that the capital funding gap created could be closed from 
Section 106 funding available from other developments in the borough; 
clarification/ assurance also sought that this other Section 106 funding 
was not that which had already been allocated for other purposes. Mr 
Whalley Service Head Major Project Development - Development and 
Renewal, provided the assurances sought. 

• Commented that more recently good project management had resulted 
in Idea Stores being delivered to time and budget, but historically this 

Page 20



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

13 

had not always been the case. In this context clarification/ assurance 
was sought from the Lead Member with regard to the overall cost of the 
ISL/OSS scheme in Watney Street Market, that it would be delivered to 
time and budget. 

 
Councillor Jones, Lead Member Culture and Creative Industries:  
• Emphasised the financial points highlighted by the Corporate Director 

Communities, Localities and Culture: 
o The time limitation on the award of £2 million funding from the 

BLF and its ring-fencing for this purpose. 
o That the combined ISL/OSS scheme would yield revenue 

savings of £60,000, but also lead to improved service provision. 
• Commented that the original Idea Store Strategy included an Idea 

Store at Watney Market, so that people could do their shopping on the 
same journey as visiting the IS. There was a small library provision 
now but it had outgrown its space. 

• Reiterated that the Local Development Framework and Town Centre 
strand of this underpinned the proposals for the scheme at Watney 
Market. It was identified as one of three priority town centres for 
improvement. 

• Commented that there was an acknowledged overcrowding problem in 
the Shadwell and Whitechapel wards and this led to young people 
being unable to do their homework at home, thereby impairing their life 
chances. The library in Watney Market was too small to accommodate 
them and so the proposed ISL was vital for purely educational reasons. 

• The original valuation of the site had been properly tendered and also 
there was no reason to think it was flawed, so it was unnecessary to 
undertake it again.  

• The site was clearly not suitable for development of social housing and 
therefore given nil value. 

Concluded by expressing the aspiration that the Cabinet would re-affirm its 
previous decision in relation to this matter. 
 
The Chair Moved the following motion for the consideration of members of 
the Cabinet, and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
1. That the advice /comments of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 

as detailed in the Tabled Reference (CAB), be noted; and 
  
2. That the provisional decisions of the Cabinet, made on 7th July 2010, in 

relation to Idea Store Strategy Action Plan Update - Idea Store Metro 
Watney Market and One Stop Shop (CAB 010/101) be reaffirmed. 

 
 

6. A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE  
 
 

Page 21



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

14 

6.1 LBTH Housing Strategy  - Annual Review for 2009/10 and the Annual 
Strategy Refresh  (CAB 017/101)  
 
Councillor S. Islam declared a personal interest in Agenda item 6.1 “LBTH 
Housing Strategy - Annual Review for 2009/10 and the Annual Strategy 
Refresh” (CAB 017/101). The declaration of interest was made on the basis 
that the report contained recommendations relating to the Authority’s Housing 
Strategy which affected properties in the ownership of the Authority (managed 
by Tower Hamlets Homes) and Councillor Islam was a tenant of Tower 
Hamlets Homes. 
 
Councillor D. Jones declared a personal interest in Agenda item 6.1 “LBTH 
Housing Strategy - Annual Review for 2009/10 and the Annual Strategy 
Refresh” (CAB 017/101). The declaration of interest was made on the basis 
that the report contained recommendations relating to the Authority’s Housing 
Strategy which affected properties in the ownership of the Authority (managed 
by Tower Hamlets Homes) and Councillor Jones was a representative of the 
Authority on the governing body of Tower Hamlets Homes. 
 
 
Councillor Francis, Lead Member Housing Heritage and Planning, in 
introducing the report, summarised the key points contained therein, 
commenting that: 
• The report provided an update on the first year’s performance of the 

Tower Hamlets Housing Strategy the key objectives of which were: 
Delivering and managing Decent Homes  
o Managing demand and reducing overcrowding 
o Emphasis on place-making and sustainable communities 
o New supply of housing and particularly social housing  
o Housing investment Strategy and a Local Investment Plan 

comprising of key housing projects.  
• Good progress was reported on: 

o Right to Buy “buy backs” 
o Local authority new build and the Local Homes Initiative 
o Decent Homes Pilots 
o Leasehold Services audit 
o Choice Based Lettings, which was now live 
o Preferred Partner Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) for 

development in the borough 
• Significant challenges remained: 

o The Decant Strategy 
o RSL aids and adaptions 
o Commercial units on estates 
o Maintaining Decent Homes/ RSL Asset Management including 

improved asset database 
o Guidance on housing design for BME communities 
o Identifying funding for housing, by far the biggest challenge 

 
Mr Coker, Strategic Housing Manager – Development and Renewal 
additionally: 

Page 22



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

15 

• Outlined the areas on which the first refresh of the Housing Strategy, 
adopted in 2009, had focused, as set out in the report. 

• Highlighted significant risks to the delivery of the Housing Strategy’s 
objectives: 
o Tower Hamlets Homes not achieving the two star management 

standard from audit inspectors required to unlock capital 
resources necessary to deliver decent homes standard on the 
stock it managed on behalf of the Council. Also the possibility 
that this funding may no longer be made available by the 
Coalition Government regardless of achieving two star status. 

o Potential reduction in funding available from the Homes and 
Communities Agency National Affordable Housing Programme 
2011-2014.  Key housing projects at risk as a result of this would 
be 2012 Olympic Park, Blackwall Reach/ Robin Hood Gardens 
and the Bromley by Bow Masterplan Area. 

• Informed members of the Cabinet that the Decant Strategy which 
initially came out of the emergency allocation plan would move forward 
to examine under-occupancy. 

• Advised that 15 preferred RSL partners had now been selected for 
delivery of new build social housing. 

• Addressed, at the request of the Chair, the matters raised by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, held on 1st September 2009, in 
relation to the report; as set out in the tabled sheets of questions/ 
comments/ advice presented by the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee earlier in the proceedings: 

 
The Chair Moved the recommendations as set out in the report; and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
1. That the contents of the Annual Review (2009/10) (Appendix 1 to the 

report (CAB 017/101)) and the Annual Refresh 2010 (Appendix 2) be 
approved; and  

 
2. That the changes to the Tower Hamlets Housing Strategy detailed in 

Appendix 2 to the report (CAB 017/101) be agreed.  
 
 

6.2 Local Homes Initiative: Sale of additional land to Tower Hamlets 
Community Housing (CAB 018/101)  
 
Councillor H. Abbas declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 6.2 “Local 
Homes Initiative: Sale of additional land to Tower Hamlets Community 
Housing” (CAB 018/101). The declaration of interest was made on the basis 
that the report contained recommendations relating to Tower Hamlets 
Community Housing, and Councillor Abbas was a former representative of the 
Authority on the governing body of Tower Hamlets Community Housing. 
 
Councillor S. Islam declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 6.2 “Local 
Homes Initiative: Sale of additional land to Tower Hamlets Community 
Housing” (CAB 018/101). The declaration of interest was made on the basis 

Page 23



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

16 

that the report contained recommendations relating to Tower Hamlets 
Community Housing, and Councillor Islam was a representative of the 
Authority on the governing body of Tower Hamlets Community Housing. 
 
 
The Chair informed members of the Cabinet that an additional paragraph 6.4 
to the report “Local Homes Initiative: sale of additional land to Tower Hamlets 
Community Housing” (CAB 018/101), which contained supplementary 
information relating to the valuation process, and a revised valuation figure, 
for the land recommended for disposal in the original report, had been 
Tabled, a copy of which would be interleaved with the minutes. 
 
Ms Thomas, Private Sector and Affordable Housing Manager – Development 
and Renewal, at the request of the Chair, in introducing the report and tabled 
additional paragraph thereof, summarised the key points contained therein, 
highlighting in particular: 
• Cabinet had approved the principles of the Local Homes Initiative in 

December 2008 and subsequently agreed further details of the scheme 
and disposal of 8 small sites to Tower Hamlets Community Housing 
(THCH) and Poplar HARCA. The disposals were conditional on 
obtaining planning consent to build family sized homes on the sites and 
obtain funding from the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA).   

• Slow progress resulted in the 2009/10 HCA funding allocation being 
allocated to other schemes which were currently on site and due to 
deliver 23 three bedroom units by Spring 2012. 

• THCH had received a 2010/11 HCA funding allocation of £3.925m, for 
23 units for rent, but this had to be taken up by December 2010, with 
the trigger being start on site.  The grant rate is over £170,000 per unit 
as this allocation was made over a year ago.  The current average 
grant rate for LBTH was less than £100,000 per unit. 

• Paragraph 4 of the report indicated that the number of sites currently 
available, just 13 units, would not provide sufficient units to take up the 
full HCA grant allocation.  THCH were working on smaller schemes on 
their own land and anticipated being able to provide an additional 4 
units. 

• The site at Hessel Street, in Whitechapel, could provide 6 three 
bedroom units; and were Cabinet to agree disposal to THCH for £1, it 
would enable THCH to take up their full allocation of funding from the 
HCA. 

• However the HCA funding for the scheme was dependent not only on 
obtaining planning consent, but also on continued availability which 
was not guaranteed. HCA funding rules were now changing frequently 
with announcements from the Coalition Government, for example 
substitutions into a funded programme were no longer permitted. In this 
context members of the Cabinet were advised by Ms Thomas, on 
behalf of the Corporate Director Development and Renewal, that 
recommendation 2.2 of the original report should be revised to make 
clear that disposal of the site at Hessel Street was subject to funding 
for the scheme being confirmed as available by the HCA under its 
revised value for money criteria. 

Page 24



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

17 

• If substitute schemes could not be found by THCH the HCA funding 
would be re-allocated to other schemes in the East London Sub-
Region which were deliverable. 

• The tabled additional paragraph 6.4 of the report advised that with the 
passage of time since the report was drafted, and the receipt of new 
information regarding density of development (size and number of units 
that THCH feel can be accommodated on the site) the premise for the 
original valuation of the land at £160,000 had changed and the market 
value was now considered to be in the region of £600,000. This also 
required a revision to recommendation 2.2 of the original report which 
recommended disposal at a nominal sum noting the forgoing a capital 
receipt of £160,000 in exchange for 100% nomination rights. Also the 
conditions of disposal set out in paragraphs 6.2 and 6.3 of the original 
report were referenced in recommendation 2.2 and to these an 
additional paragraph 6.4 had been tabled. 

 
A discussion followed, during which the proposals in the report were broadly 
welcomed, and which focused on the following points:- 
• Clarification/ assurance was sought and given as to the number of 

family sized social for rent homes that could be obtained were the 
Hessel Street site disposed of at a commercial value and the capital 
receipt used for that purpose, in short did the disposal at a nominal 
value forgoing a capital receipt of £600,000 in exchange for 100% 
nomination rights to units of this type still represent good value for the 
Authority. 

• Clarification/ assurance was sought and given regarding whether 
residents with a parking space in the Brady Street car park site 
allocated for housing had been provided with a parking space 
elsewhere. 

• Councillor Ali, Lead Member Environment, considered that were the 
proposals agreed it was appropriate to ensure that the terms and 
conditions of the disposal included pavement provision (adjacent to the 
public highway) of the required width to allow for pedestrians to pass 
by the finished development comfortably; and proposed for the 
consideration of members of the Cabinet that the recommendations set 
out in the report be amended accordingly. 

 
The Chair then Moved the recommendations contained in the original report 
(taking account of the Officer advice given on behalf of the Corporate Director 
Development and Renewal, by the Private Sector and Affordable Housing 
Manager, and the proposed amendment from Councillor Ali), and it was: 
 
Resolved 
 
1. That the site detailed at a) below and identified on the Ordinance 

Survey maps attached at Appendix 1 to the report (CAB 018/101), 
owned by the Authority (and held under provisions of Part II of the 
Housing Act 1985) be declared surplus to the Authority’s requirements;  

 
a) Land at 36-42 Hessel Street, Whitechapel, E1 

 

Page 25



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

18 

2. That, subject to (a) below, the disposal of the Authority’s interest in the 
site to Tower Hamlets Community Housing at a sum of £1, for the 
purposes of providing a scheme containing 100% affordable housing 
on the conditions set out in paragraphs 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4 [latter 
paragraph tabled] of the report (CAB 018/101); noting that the Authority 
would forego a Capital Receipt of £600,000 in exchange for obtaining 
100% nominations to family sized social rented homes, be authorised; 
and  

 
(a) That funding be confirmed as available by the Homes and 

Communities Agency under its revised value for money criteria. 
 

3. That the Director of Development and Renewal be authorised to 
negotiate the final details of the disposal of the land and that these 
include adequate pavement provision adjacent to the public highway.  

 
 

7. A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY  
 
 

7.1 Pupil Place Planning and School Estate Strategy  (CAB 019/101)  
 
Councillor D. Jones declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 7.1 “Pupil 
Place Planning and School Estate Strategy” (CAB 019/101). The declaration 
was made on the basis that the report contained recommendations relating to 
secondary schools in general and Mulberry Secondary School specifically and 
Councillor Jones was a member of the governing body of Mulberry Secondary 
School. 
 
 
Please note that the order of business was varied by resolution of the Cabinet 
earlier in the proceedings in order to allow this item to be considered following 
Agenda Item 4.0 “Deputations and Petions”, however for ease of reference 
the deliberations of the Cabinet, and subsequent decisions taken, are set out 
below in the order detailed in the agenda. 
 
 
Ms Cattermole, Acting Corporate Director Children, Schools and Families, at 
the request of the Chair, in introducing the report summarised the key points 
contained therein, highlighting in particular: 
• That the report provided an update on pupil projections and the 

Authority’s associated strategy to meet its statutory duty to provide 
places for students.  

• The Authority’s Pupil Place Planning statement, originally prepared in 
January 2008, had now been reviewed by Officers in Children Schools 
and Families and Development and Renewal directorates to take 
account of a variety of factors including: known/ projected birth rates, 
school census data, student yield from planned housing developments 
(with a watching brief on new development), sustainable delivery of 
educational provision to meet demand, demographic movements (in 
and out of borough, including new arrivals of statutory school age). 

Page 26



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

19 

Projections of population growth and the associated projections for 
school places to 2020 had been revised accordingly. 

• The elements of the school estate strategy to meet rising demand for 
both primary and secondary school places and associated funding 
plans: 
o Primary: short term to be met by expansion of 5 existing schools. 

Longer term significant additional provision required in Central 
and east of borough by further expansions and two new primary 
schools (feasibility studies for expansion of 9 more primary 
schools underway).  

o Secondary: short term demand to 2014/15 to be met by 
expansion of number of forms of entry at existing schools, 
(detailed discussions underway with governing bodies) and an 
additional 8 form entry school included within the Building Schools 
for the Future Programme; also re-location of Bow Boys School. 
Demand additional to this post 2014 to be met by expansion/ 
refurbishment of existing estate and optimum usage of unused 
places. 

• Further report to be presented to Cabinet by December 2010. 
• Addressed the matters raised by the deputation in relation to the report 

earlier in the proceedings as follows: 
o Officers had liaised closely with the parents group from 

Wapping/Shadwell over past months, examined their proposals 
in detail and had made arrangements for them to visit John 
Orwell Sports Centre. 

o An options appraisal had been undertaken to inform the 
Authority’s strategy to meet forecast growth at secondary level, 
starting by looking at sites owned by the Authority and those 
suitable for new school build. 

o A more detailed options appraisal would be undertaken for 
growth beyond 2015, and the outcomes reported to Cabinet in 
December 2010, with the Wapping/Shadwell parents group 
proposal given careful consideration as part of this process. 

o The Authority’s proposed strategy up to 2014-15 is to create 
additional forms of entry at existing schools and to relocate Bow 
Boys to a site at Bow Lock, the feasibility study for this site was 
ongoing. Further growth thereafter was predicted, and this 
would involve identifying a site for a “new” school.  

o Under Coalition Government legislation any new school would 
be subject to competition. This means that parties would be 
invited to bid to run and operate the school and this could be 
the local authority, charities or other interest groups. On the 
other hand, free or “additional” schools as they are now referred 
to are independent schools and will be classified as Academies.  

o Any “additional” school will require a business case and this will 
be submitted to the New Schools Network. At this point the 
viability of the business case will be tested and agreement to a 
new school will be subject to the parties finding a site with the 
appropriate facilities. 

o Officers and Members were sympathetic to the case presented 
by the deputation earlier in the proceedings and the Acting 

Page 27



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

20 

Corporate Director Children Schools and Families committed to 
including it as part of the options appraisal review.  However it 
was important to note, that the Council had a statutory duty to 
provide school places to all young people in Tower Hamlets and 
the Authority’s planning must therefore be on a borough-wide 
basis.  

 
A discussion followed, during which the proposals in the report were broadly 
welcomed, and which focused on the following points:- 
• Concern was expressed in relation to the expansion of Wellington 

Primary School regarding access/ road safety issues for the additional 
students, and the need for the Authority to work towards viable 
communities around schools.  

• Clarification/ assurance was sought and given regarding previous 
proposals for a bulge class at Olga Primary School which no longer 
appeared to be included within the Pupil Place Planning Strategy.  

• Concern was expressed regarding the safety of school students 
needing to cross The Highway, a major arterial road in Wapping, and 
clarification/ assurance was sought as to whether a feasibility study had 
been undertaken in respect of constructing an underpass or overpass 
at the western end of this.  The Acting Corporate Director Children 
Schools and Families undertook to liaise with Communities, Localities 
and Culture directorate and also Transport for London regarding 
making the case for this crossing. 

• Consideration with regard to the potential relocation of Bow Boys 
School at the Bow Lock site, located to the east of the Blackwell Tunnel 
Approach, that detailed planning must be undertaken as to how 
students would access the site particularly those students in Bow East 
and Bow West wards. The Acting Corporate Director Children Schools 
and Families assured the Member that this was in hand. 

• Commented that one of the attractions of the proposal for a secondary 
school in the Wapping area was that it would ease pressures of 
demand at the centre of the borough which would be beneficial 
elsewhere. 

• Clarification was sought and given in relation to the impact of new 
academies in the London Borough of Hackney on the intake of 
students to secondary schools in Tower Hamlets. 

 
The Chair requested that Officers take account of the comments/ suggestions 
made by members of the Cabinet during their deliberations, and subsequently 
Moved for the consideration of members of the Cabinet, that 
recommendations 2.2 to 2.5 as set out in the report be agreed; and in relation 
to recommendation 2.1 “That the contents of the report be noted”; and it was:- 
 
Resolved 
 
1. That the content of the report (CAB 019/101) be noted; also noting that 

the population growth which it projects will have implications for wider 
Council and public services beyond statutory education provision;  

 

Page 28



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

21 

2. That it be noted that officers are continuing to develop feasibility 
studies for the provision of a  new school(s) on Bow Lock and Southern 
Grove and that it be agreed that the outcome of these studies is 
reported back in December 2010;  

 
3. That the strategy in response to the projected increasing demand for 

secondary school places beyond 2014/15 be agreed, also noting that 
this demand will exceed capacity in spite of the plan to provide a new 8 
form entry (FE) secondary school; 

 
4. That the strategy in response to the projected increasing demand for 

primary schools places up to 2020 be agreed; and 
 
5. That relevant Council officers be instructed to identify and shortlist 

suitable sites and associated resource for educational use, whether 
council or privately owned, to meet this demand and report on this by 
November 2010. 

 
 

7.2 Wellington Primary School and Phoenix Special School - Decisions on 
statutory proposals  (CAB 020/101)  
 
Councillor D. Jones declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 7.2 
“Wellington Primary School and Phoenix Special School - Decisions on 
statutory proposals” (CAB 004/101). The declaration was made on the basis 
that the report contained recommendations relating to schools in general and 
Councillor Jones was a member of the governing body of Mulberry Secondary 
School. 
 
 
Cabinet members welcomed in particular the proposal contained in the report 
for the addition of a sixth form at Phoenix School, which responded to the 
need for sufficient and appropriate school places for post 16 students with 
Special Educational Needs. 
 
The Chair Moved the recommendations as set out in the report; and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
1. That the contents of the report (CAB 020/101), including the published 

statutory proposals for Wellington School at Appendix A and for 
Phoenix School at Appendix B of the report (CAB 020/101), be noted; 

 
2. That the statutory requirements for the school organisation decision-

making process and the considerations to be taken into account in 
making any decision, set out in paragraphs 6 and 7 of the report (CAB 
020/101), be noted; 

 
3. That the proposals as published for the expansion of Wellington 

Primary School from 1 September 2011 (attached as Appendix A to the 
report CAB 020/101) be approved; and 

Page 29



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

22 

 
4. That the proposals as published for the addition of a sixth form at 

Phoenix School from 1 September 2010 (attached as Appendix B to 
the report CAB 020/101) be approved. 

 
 

7.3 Update on Building Schools for the Future Programme (authorisation to 
enter into contracts)  (CAB 021/101)  
 
Councillor H. Abbas declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 7.3 
“Update on Building Schools for the Future Programme (authorisation to enter 
into contracts)” (CAB 021/101). The declaration was made on the basis that 
the report contained recommendations relating to Swanlea Secondary School, 
and his son attended Swanlea Secondary School. 
 
Councillor D. Jones declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 7.3 “Update 
on Building Schools for the Future Programme (authorisation to enter into 
contracts)” (CAB 021/101). The declaration was made on the basis that the 
report contained recommendations relating to secondary schools in general 
and referred specifically to Mulberry Secondary School, and Councillor Jones 
was a member of the governing body of Mulberry Secondary School. 
 
 
Ms Cattermole, Acting Corporate Director Children, Schools and Families, at 
the request of the Chair, briefly introduced the report summarising the key 
points contained therein. 
 
The Chair Moved the recommendations as set out in the report, noting that 
the Authority’s Building Schools for the Future programme was one of the few 
that had not suffered from the recent cuts announced by the Coalition 
Government; and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
1. That the acceptance of the final tenders from Tower Hamlets Local 

Enabling Partner (The LEP) for the Design and Build Contracts for 
Swanlea and Harpley PRU, together with such ancillary services  
incidental to the BSF schemes, the terms of each agreement or 
document to be agreed by the Corporate Director of Development and 
Renewal provided and conditional upon each scheme being within the 
target cost figure of: Swanlea £16,345,518 and Harpley £6,626,924, as 
set out in paragraph 3.1 of the report (CAB 021/101), be authorised; 

 
2. That the Corporate Director of Development & Renewal be authorised 

to accept the final tenders for Raines Foundation and Bowden, due to 
be agreed during August 2010, as long as they are contained within the 
funding envelope of £20,341,600 and £8,968,720 respectively, as set 
out in paragraph 3.2 of the report (CAB 021/101) and;  

 
3. That the Corporate Director of Development & Renewal be authorised 

to enter into Design and Build contracts and any other ancillary 

Page 30



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

23 

agreements, undertakings and obligations incidental to the BSF 
Scheme with THeLEP for each of the above projects outlined in 
resolutions 1. and 2. above; subject to final approval  of all the 
contractual documents by the Assistant Chief Executive ( Legal 
Services) . 

 
 

7.4 Framework for Minor Works and Repairs (CAB 022/101)  
 
Mr Naylor, Corporate Director Resources, at the request of the Chair, in 
introducing the report: 
• Summarised the key points contained therein commenting that: the 

framework built on strategies approved in 2009/10, contributing to 
significant efficiencies to be realised from a closer management of the 
Council’s third party spend; the importance of which had been set out 
by the Lead Member Resources in introducing his motion relating on 
the Budget report [Agenda item 10.2] earlier in the proceedings. The 
Council spend on responsive repairs and minor works was in the 
region of £25 million per annum and historically these activities had 
been undertaken in a series of arrangements which the proposed 
framework would streamline. 

• The tighter framework would also bring improved opportunities for local 
small and medium size businesses, already supported by the 
Procurement Strategy which required competition for all Council spend 
under £25,000, and where local suppliers were preferred. 

• Procurement practice would also be improved with improved legal 
compliance. 

• Addressed the matters raised by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, held on 3rd August 2010, in relation to the report; as set out 
in the tabled sheet of questions and comments presented by the Vice- 
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee earlier in the 
proceedings. 

 
A short discussion followed, during which the proposals in the report were 
broadly welcomed, and which focused on the following points:- 
• Clarification/ assurance was sought and given that the Authority’s 

commitments to equalities including equal pay, trade union 
representation/ employee rights, the London Living Wage and local 
business in Tower Hamlets were being accommodated by the 
Authority’s contractors/ suppliers and within the Framework for Minor 
Works and Repairs so far as was possible. 

• Councillor Ali, Lead Member Environment, considered that the 
framework should include quality assurance mechanisms for works 
undertaken by the Authority’s contractors, so that their performance 
could be monitored and appropriate action taken if this was not 
satisfactory; and proposed for the consideration of members of the 
Cabinet that the recommendations set out in the report be amended 
accordingly. 

 

Page 31



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

24 

The Chair Moved the recommendations set out in the report (taking account 
of the amendment proposed by Councillor Ali); and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
1. That, subject to (a) below, the option of establishing a framework 

agreement for Minor Works and Repairs to cover the various speciality 
trades as Lots, be approved;  

 
(a) Inclusion of quality assurance mechanisms where appropriate. 
 

2. That the use of the framework for Minor Works and Repairs be 
compulsory unless otherwise agreed by Service Head Procurement 
and Corporate Programmes; and  

 
3. That the Corporate Director of Resources be authorised to award the 

framework agreement for Minor Works and Repairs to the successful 
bidders. 

 
 

7.5 Allocation process for Council-owned property to Third Sector 
Organisations (CAB 023/101)  
 
Councillor A. Ullah declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 7.5 
“Allocation process for Council-owned property to Third Sector Organisations“ 
(CAB 023/101). The declaration was made on the basis that the report 
contained recommendations relating to the future process for the allocation of 
Council owned property to Third Sector organisations, and Councillor Ullah 
was Secretary for a local voluntary organisation which currently had access to 
Council owned premises. 
 
Please note that the order of business was varied by resolution of the Cabinet 
earlier in the proceedings in order to allow this item to be considered following 
Agenda Item 5.1 “Overview and Scrutiny - Chair’s Advice of Key Issues or 
Questions in relation to Unrestricted Business to be considered”, however for 
ease of reference the deliberations of the Cabinet, and subsequent decisions 
taken, are set out below in the order detailed in the agenda. 
 
 
Mr Naylor, Corporate Director Resources, at the request of the Chair, in 
introducing the report:, summarised the key points contained therein and 
addressed the matters raised by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, held 
on 3rd August 2010, in relation to the report; as set out in the tabled sheet of 
questions and comments presented by the Vice- Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee earlier in the proceedings: 
 
A brief discussion followed which focused on the following point:- 
• Councillor Islam, Lead Member Regeneration and Employment, 

commented that the criteria for assessing applications to transfer 
property owned by the Council, in terms of whether the proposed use 
of premises provided benefits to the community, required strengthening 

Page 32



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

25 

with regard to the provision of supporting evidence from the electoral 
roll as to local representation on the organisation’s board/ committee. 
He considered local representation on such a board should comprise of 
at least four local residents. Councillor Islam proposed, for the 
consideration of members of the Cabinet, that the recommendation set 
out in the report be amended accordingly. 

 
The Chair Moved the recommendation set out in the report (taking account of 
the amendment proposed by Councillor Islam) commenting that suspicions 
were sometimes raised by current arrangements for the allocation of Council 
property, and therefore a formalised process which added transparency was 
welcome; and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
That subject to (a) below, the recommendations in this report be agreed, 
specifically: 
 
• The proposed methodology for the allocation of  Council-owned 

property for use by Third Sector organisations through appropriate 
leasing arrangements and a two stage process:  
 - A stage one: Gateway Eligibility criteria 
 - A stage two: Strategic Assessment criteria 

 
(a) Stage One: Gateway Eligibility criteria set out at Appendix 2 to 

the report be revised as follows: Question 1 Proposed use of 
premises provides benefits to the community: Supporting 
evidence provided, element c): 
Following text to be deleted: 
“Application form cross checked against the electoral roll 
register to demonstrate that the organisation’s board or 
committee has some local representation (minimum of one 
person)”. 
Following text to be inserted: 
“Application form cross checked against the electoral roll 
register to demonstrate that the organisation’s board or 
committee has some local representation (minimum of four 
persons)”. 

 
8. A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY  

 
The Clerk advised that there were no business to be considered under this 
section of the agenda. 
 
 

9. A HEALTHY COMMUNITY  
 
 

9.1 Children Schools and Families Contract Awards  (CAB 024/101)  
 
 

Page 33



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

26 

The Chair informed members of the Cabinet that the report had been 
withdrawn upon the advice of Ms Cattermole, Acting Corporate Director 
Children Schools and Families, to allow further development of the proposals, 
before submission to a future meeting of the Cabinet for consideration.  
 
 

10. ONE TOWER HAMLETS  
 
 

10.1 Strategic Performance and Corporate Revenue Budget Monitoring 
2009/10 Year End Report  (CAB 025/101)  
 
Councillor Peck, Deputy Leader of the Council and Councillor Edgar, Lead 
Member Resources highlighted key points within the report and commented 
as follows: 
• Significant achievements by the Council over the past year had 

included: 
o A reduction in the number of homeless families in temporary 

accommodation from 3000 to 2000 households. 
o A significant improvement in household waste recycling with the 

percentage rate approaching 30% or a 37% increase in 
household waste recycling.?? 

o A 3.4% reduction in the proportion of children in the borough 
living in poverty. 

• The above were measures of achievement, but the Coalition 
Government was sweeping away performance management by which 
public satisfaction with the provision of services by local authorities was 
measured, and this was not surprising given its major cuts in the 
funding of Public Sector Services. In this context The Council needed 
to re-examine how it would drive performance. 

• The 2009/10 outturn in the General Fund which had been almost in line 
with budget, with a small under-spend of £31,000, was a testament to 
the financial management of the Authority’s staff. However in the new 
environment of severe financial constraint financial management was 
even more important to prevent overspend. 

• Substantial efficiency savings had been achieved in 2009/10 but they 
were not of the level required. In the context of severe Government 
funding cuts for the Authority there was a much sharper focus on 
efficiency savings and it was vital to ensure these were delivered. 

• The report indicated that debt collection performance was below target 
and the importance of achieving these targets was emphasised. 

 
A brief discussion followed which focused on the following points:- 
• Councillor Ullah, Lead Member Community Safety, In referring to 

Appendix 2 “Strategic Plan Progress Report 2009/10”,Priority 4.2 
“Tackle and Prevent Crime”, Activity 62 “Develop a drug intervention 
and enforcement policy”, commented that this would encompass 
enforcement relating to the use of crack cocaine by children, although 
there was no evidence to suggest this was prevalent in Tower Hamlets. 

Page 34



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

27 

• Councillor Francis, Lead Member Housing Heritage and Planning 
commended the work of Officers and of Tower Hamlets Homes in 
achieving the 2009/10 Housing Revenue Account outturn where there 
had been a minor under-spend. The performance well beyond target 
for service charge collection was also commended. However the target 
for rent collection of greater than 100% was considered to be beyond 
comprehension and accordingly it was requested that this be re-
examined. 

• Consideration that the number of books borrowed was a more 
appropriate performance indicator than the number of visits to libraries/ 
Idea Stores. 

 
The Chair Moved the recommendations set out in the report; and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
1. That the 2009/10 performance including areas where further work is 

needed to ensure the Authority delivers improved outcomes be noted;  
 
2. That Appendix 1 to the report (CAB 025/101) – Annual Report 

Performance Summary be approved for publication on the Council’s 
website as an update on performance for residents; 

 
3. That the Council’s financial position as outlined in paragraphs 5.7-17 

and detailed in Appendix 5 to the report (CAB 025/101) be noted; and  
 
4. That the transfers to and from earmarked reserves, as set out in this 

report (CAB 025/101) and at Appendix 6 to the report, be approved. 
 
 

10.2 Budget 2011/12 - 2013/14 - Resource Allocation and Budget Review 
(CAB 026/101)  
 
Please note that the order of business was varied by resolution of the Cabinet 
earlier in the proceedings in order to allow this item to be considered following 
Agenda Item 7.5 “Allocation process for Council-owned property to Third 
Sector Organisations” (CAB 023/101), however for ease of reference the 
deliberations of the Cabinet, and subsequent decisions taken, are set out 
below in the order detailed in the agenda. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

28 

The Chair informed members of the Cabinet that Councillor Edgar, Lead 
Member: Resources, had Tabled a Motion in relation to the 
recommendations set out in the report, a copy of which would be interleaved 
with the minutes. 
 
Mr Naylor, Corporate Director Resources, at the request of the Chair, in 
introducing the report summarised the key points contained therein, 
highlighting that: 
• The report outlined the formal Budget planning process for 2011/12 

and for setting a Three Year Budget for the period 2011/12 to 2013/14.  
The ultimate outcome of this process would be a set of proposals 
which would be submitted to full Council for consideration in March 
2011. 

• The report was one of a suite being submitted for Cabinet 
consideration in relation to the impact of Coalition Government 
announcements of cuts to Local Government funding in future years, 
and the Authority’s planned response to this. The financial projections 
were based on a number of assumptions, based on both existing 
announcements and indications from Government. 

• A key focus of the Authority’s response to the savings required by 
Government was to tackle this in a three year plan which optimised 
opportunities to close the Budget gap through achievement of savings 
whilst also protecting priority front-line services as far as possible. 

• Appendix D to the report outlined the key elements of the strategy to 
close the Authority’s future Budget gap. 

 
Councillor Edgar, Lead Member Resources, in Moving the tabled motion 
commented that: - 

• It was important to place the proposals set out in the motion in the 
context of the existing announcement by the Coalition Government of 
£6.2 billion in public service spending cuts; and the response of the 
Authority’s Cabinet to this, in July 2010, with agreement of 
approximately £8 million of savings. These had focused on reducing 
the number of agency staff and associated spend, vacancy, 
performance and sickness management, bringing forward efficiency 
savings, utilising under-spends and bearing down on supplier costs; 
and had been agreed early on with a view to protecting front line 
services. 

• Since that point the Coalition Government had announced that public 
services, where the budget protected was not protected as a matter of 
policy, would face substantial spending cuts in real terms over the next 
four years of between 25% and 40%; a grim prospect. This was in 
addition to cuts in Area Based Grant (ABG), announced earlier in the 
year, which would have the greatest impact on boroughs that were 
most in need. The per capita impact of this in Tower Hamlets was 
double that in the Prime Minister’s constituency, and this gave some 
indication of the Coalition Government approach. 

• The impact of the projected cuts in Local Government funding for 
Tower Hamlets was thought to be in the range of £57 million and 
million over the next 3 years. The cuts in revenue grant and 40% cuts 

Page 36



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

29 

in ABG would have a particular impact on areas of East London such 
as Tower Hamlets. 

• Appendix D to the report outlined the Administration’s strategy to 
optimise savings of certain types: 
o Better procurement 
o Streamlining management arrangements 
o Better asset management such as buildings 
o Smarter and more flexible working by staff 
o Improved income collection arrangements. 
o Optimising opportunities of ICT to provide more flexible and 

efficient services. 
with a view to protecting services which were important to the residents 
of Tower Hamlets and made a big difference to their lives such as:  
o Supporting schools which were raising achievement. 
o Provision of opportunities for young people aspiring to a better 

life and career. 
o Maintaining good work to support the elderly and other 

vulnerable elements of the Community. 
Driving savings of this nature was the best chance the Council had of 
minimising the impact of cuts on services that benefited the community 
and met the needs of its vulnerable elements, which it had worked hard 
to provide. 

• Emphasising the importance of understanding the impact of spending 
cuts on different elements of the community, in particular the 
importance of equality impact assessments in this regard. Also the 
importance of an extrospective approach reflectiive of the impact of the 
spending cuts on other agencies/ partners who provided services to 
residents of the borough, and taking account of the bigger picture 
including these agencies when making the required spending cuts. 

• Concluding by commending the motion’s proposals to the Cabinet. 
 
A discussion followed, during which the proposals in the motion were 
endorsed, and which focused on the following points:- 
• The importance attached by the Lead Member Resources to 

understanding the equalities impact of spending cuts across the 
borough was welcomed.  
o Noted the conclusions of a recent report by Yvette Cooper: that 

75% of the impact of such cuts would impact on women, and 
that of the Fawcett Society: that the Government could be in 
breach of its legal obligations in this regard; also noted the 
indication that this provided of the Government’s lack of interest 
in the equalities impact of its approach to public sector spending 
cuts.  

o Consideration that the attack on benefits and the threat to 
secure tenancies in social housing by the Coalition Government 
would have a tremendous impact on some elements of the 
Community in Tower Hamlets; and requested, in this context, 
that the Leader of the Council work with the Authority’s partners 
to minimise the equalities impact of cuts in public service across 
the borough. 

 

Page 37



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

30 

• Commented that with the drip feed of announcements on spending cuts 
from the Coalition Government, the proposals contained in the motion 
were inevitable. Consideration that the Lead Member Resources was 
right to anticipate and prepare for cuts in the Revenue Support Grant in 
the region of 25% and also the significant risk to Area Based Grant for 
Tower Hamlets, cuts thought to be in the region of £5 million ABG and 
£8 million in other grants. Commented also that it was important to note 
the practical meaning of ABG: it included £15 million received by the 
Council, half of which was used to support provision of sheltered 
accommodation for the elderly and half to support provision of housing 
for vulnerable homeless people.  

• Consideration also that this level of cuts (including 50% in ABG) would 
make management of the process with a view to protecting services 
extremely difficult. Confidence was expressed that the Lead Member 
would strive to prevent the proposal of savings that would undermine 
the Authority’s ability to provide services, however in the context of the 
huge savings of approximately £70 million over 3 years in addition to 
the £8 million already agreed clarification/ assurance was sought and 
given that the process of identifying savings would focus on reducing 
back office costs of administration/ bureaucracy before challenging 
service cuts were proposed. 

 
The Chair formally Seconded the motion as tabled, commenting that: 
• The calculated approach of the Coalition Government to public service 

spending cuts had been noted by the Cabinet. 
• The pro-active approach set out in the report, and motion from the 

Lead Member Resources, in responding to these cuts had been 
welcomed by the Cabinet. 

• The Labour Administration was working closely with the Trades Unions 
to find the best way of protecting jobs and services for local residents. 

• It was important to work in partnership with other providers of public 
sector services to minimise the impact of cuts on public services which 
as a whole made a huge contribution to the quality of life of local 
residents. 

• The commitment of the councillors from the Conservative and Liberal 
Democrat group to lobby Government, in relation to cuts in funding for 
Tower Hamlets, had been noted welcomed at the last Cabinet meeting 
in July. 

 
and it was:- 
 
Resolved 
 
1 That the financial outlook and medium term projection set out in the 

report (CAB 026/101) including the announcement by the Government 
of public spending cuts averaging 25% over the four years from 
2011/12 to 2014/15, be noted. 

 
2 That the outcome of the review of the budget for 2010/11 and officers’ 

advice on the risks of additional costs falling in 2010/11- 2013/14, be 

Page 38



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

31 

noted and the Medium Term Financial forecast for 2011/12-2012/13 
also be noted;   

 
3 That the approach to developing the Strategic Plan, set out in Section 4 

of the report, (CAB 026/101), be noted;  
 
4 That the position in relation to funding for the capital programme be 

noted, and it be agreed that non ring-fenced capital resources from 
Government should be treated in the same way as locally generated 
funding for capital planning purposes; 

 
5 That the position in relation to the Housing Revenue Account be noted, 

and a three year savings target of £4.7m by the end of 2013/14 be 
agreed; 

 
6 That the Authority’s Corporate Management Team prepare service and 

financial planning submissions in accordance with a savings target for 
the General Fund revenue budget of £57.5m over the period 2011/12 
to 2013/14, as set out in Appendix A to the report (CAB 026/101), and 
a savings target for Area Based Grants of £12.7m over the same 
period; giving a total savings target of £70.2m; 

 
7 That it be agreed that the Cabinet’s priority of protecting frontline 

services, (in particular the priority of achieving a safe and secure 
community for all residents of Tower Hamlets), and the themes 
emerging from the Service Options Review, attached at Appendix D to 
the report (CAB 026/101), provide the framework for achieving the 
savings target of £70.2m; 

 
8 That savings options should include an assessment of the equalities 

impact; 
 
9 That the timetable set out in Appendix G to the report (CAB 026/101) 

be agreed; 
 
10 That £2.5m be earmarked from General Reserves to fund work 

required to conclude a variation to the Council’s Grouped Schools PFI 
contract, and that the Chief Executive be authorised to agree 
expenditure of sums up to this amount; and 

 
11 That the Corporate Director Resources be authorised to allocate 

reserves set aside for measures to manage transformation and 
improve efficiency, in order to progress work to identify savings. 

 
11. ANY OTHER UNRESTRICTED BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT  

 
The Clerk advised that there were no business to be considered under this 
section of the agenda. 
 
 

12. UNRESTRICTED REPORTS FOR INFORMATION  

Page 39



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

32 

 
 

12.1 Treasury Management Activity for Period Ending 31 May 2010  (CAB 
026/101)  
 
The Chair Moved the recommendation as set out in the report and it was: - 
 
Resolved 
 
That the contents of the report (CAB 026/101) be noted. 
 

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
The Chair Moved and it was: - 
 
Resolved:  
 
That pursuant to regulation 21(1)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2000, the press 
and public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting: 
 
(a) As it was likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted in 

Section Two of the agenda, that if members of the public were present 
during consideration of this business there would be disclosure of 
exempt information. 

 
• Exempt information is defined in section 100I and, by reference, 

Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (“the 1972 Act”).  
To be exempt, information must fall within one of the categories 
listed in paragraphs 1 to 7 of Schedule 12A, must not fall within 
one of the excluded categories in paragraphs 8 and 9 and the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption must outweigh the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 

 
o Agenda item 14. “Exempt/ Confidential Minutes” (of the 

meeting of the Cabinet held on 7th July 2010) contained 
information  
Ø Relating to any individual. 
Ø The financial or business affairs of any particular 

person (including the authority holding that 
information). 

Ø Any action taken or to be taken in connection with 
the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

 
(b) As although there is a public interest favouring public access to local 

authority meetings, in this case the Cabinet concluded that given the 
information contained in: 

 
• Agenda Item 14. “Exempt/ Confidential Minutes” (of the meeting 

of the Cabinet held on 7th July 2010) relating to  
o any individual. 

Page 40



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

33 

o The financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 

o Any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

that the public interest in maintaining the exemption on the 
information outweighed the public interest in disclosing it.  

 
14. EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES  

 
Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 7th July 2010 agreed. 
 
 

15. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
 

15.1 Chair's advice of Key Issues or Questions in relation to Exempt / 
Confidential Business to be considered.  
 
Nil items. 
 
 

15.2 Any Exempt / Confidential Decisions "Called in" by the Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee  
 
Nil items. 
 

16. A GREAT PLACE TO LIVE  
 
Nil Items.  
 

17. A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY  
 
Nil Items.  
 

18. A SAFE AND SUPPORTIVE COMMUNITY  
 
Nil Items.  
 

19. A HEALTHY COMMUNITY  
 
Nil Items.  
 

20. ONE TOWER HAMLETS  
 
Nil Items.  
 

21. ANY OTHER EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO BE 
URGENT  
 
Nil Items.  
 

Page 41



CABINET, 04/08/2010 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
 

34 

22. EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS FOR INFORMATION  
 
Nil Items.  
 

 
 

The meeting ended at 7.55 p.m.  
 
 

Chair, Councillor Helal Abbas 
Cabinet 

 

Page 42



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\8\1\AI00026186\LDFCoreStrategyCABINETSEPT2010D
G2008101317pmeat20.doc 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

Committee/Meeting: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
8 September 
2010 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted 
 
 

Report No: 
 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director Aman Dalvi 
 
Originating officer(s)  
Jennifer Richardson  
Strategic Planning Manager  
 

Title:  
 
LDF Core Strategy: Adoption of the plan 
 
Wards Affected: All Wards 

 
 
Lead Member 
 

Cllr Marc Francis  
Lead member for Housing Heritage and Planning 
 

Community Plan Theme 
  

A Great Place to Live  

Strategic Priority 
 

All Priorities 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 Council officers have been working toward preparing the Local Development 

Framework– Core Strategy. The Core Strategy is the most important part of 
the Local Development Framework as it sets the spatial vision and the 
priorities for the next 15 years and beyond.   

 
1.2 The Core Strategy has been through an extensive preparation process over 

the last 3 years, including evidence base collection, option testing, public 
consultation, member approval and independent examination. The Core 
Strategy has now been found sound by the Planning Inspector and therefore 
is now able to be considered by the Council for its adoption.   

 
2. DECISIONS REQUIRED 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 
2.1 Consider the Final Core Strategy in Appendix 1 and the Inspectors report 

and three Annexes as included in Appendix 2.  
 
2.2 Recommend that full Council adopt the Local Development Framework Core 

Strategy (including the Inspectors required amendments) to be a part of the 
borough’s Development Plan. 

Agenda Item 6.1

Page 43



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\8\1\AI00026186\LDFCoreStrategyCABINETSEPT2010D
G2008101317pmeat20.doc 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

3. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1 The decision to adopt the Core Strategy is required in accordance with 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (Section 23 – Adoption of an 
Local Development Document), if the local authority seeks to enact the 
policies included in the plan.  

 
3.2 It should be noted that, in accordance with Section 23 (3) and (4), the 

planning inspector’s report is binding, meaning that the local authority must 
adopt the plan with the changes that are recommended.  

 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 The Council may alternatively choose not to adopt the Core Strategy, 

including choosing not to adopt any one of the Inspectors binding 
recommendations. This would mean that the work undertaken would be 
aborted and work would start again on the production of the Core Strategy.  

 
4.2 There are substantial risks and implications associated with this option 

including risks of not having an up to date planning framework to manage 
growth and change, as well as significant cost implications. It would also 
undermine for the current work being undertaken on the second tranche of 
plans coming forward as a part of the Local Development Framework.  

 
4.3 This in turn would significantly limit the Council to deliver other priorities such 

as the delivery of new homes, including family homes, new jobs and critical 
infrastructure including a possible new in borough waste facility, new primary 
and secondary schools and other essential infrastructure critical to support 
the development of sustainable communities and deliver the borough’s 
Community Plan vision and objectives.    

 
5. BACKGROUND 
 
5.1 The adoption of the Local Development Framework - Core Strategy is the 

last step in a long process of developing a core strategy for the  Council. The 
Core Strategy has regularly been reported to the Cabinet and Council 
throughout its stages of production, including most recently been approved 
by Council on 9 December 2009 for its submission to the Secretary of State.  

 
6. BODY OF REPORT 
 
6.1 The Local Development Framework – Core Strategy is the spatial 

interpretation of the Community Plan and thus is one of its central delivery 
tools. The Core Strategy sets out the strategy for how the borough will seek 
to manage physical change, including illustrating where and when growth 
and change will happen in the borough. In Tower Hamlets context this 
strategy outlines an ambitious growth strategy, as the borough takes on its 
role as one of the fastest growing borough in country.  

 

Page 44



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\8\1\AI00026186\LDFCoreStrategyCABINETSEPT2010D
G2008101317pmeat20.doc 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

6.2 The Core Strategy has been through an extremely comprehensive process 
of production and approval. Previous reports considered by the Council, 
including the report to Council on 9 December 2009, outline in detail the 
extensive work, including the development of evidence base, the testing of 
options and the public consultation and partnership working that underpins 
this strategy.  

 
6.3 Following Council resolution, the Council submitted the Core Strategy to the 

Secretary of State on the 18 December 2009. The Secretary of State then 
appointed Sue Turner to undertaken an examination into the soundness of 
the Core Strategy.  

 
6.4 The examination comprised nine hearings over five days between 13 and 21 

April 2010. These were attended by Cllr Francis, the Chief Executive, the 
Director of Development and Renewal as well as a number of senior 
managers over the course of the examination.  

 
6.5 On 15 July 2010 Council received the Final Report from the Planning 

Inspectorate. This report found that the Core Strategy was sound subject to 
a number of minor amendments.  

 
6.6 The Inspectors report, including all the required changes that have been 

made to the Core Strategy prior to adoption, are included in Appendix 2 of 
this report. 

 
6.7 The adoption of the Core Strategy brings to an end a long and at times 

difficult preparation process. The radical overhaul of the planning system in 
2004 was subject to some well publicised ‘teething troubles’, which Tower 
Hamlets experienced first hand in 2007.  

 
6.8 The Tower Hamlets Core Strategy 2010 has now been recognised by 

number of bodies as an example of best practise for the country. In particular 
the Council has been recognised for its work on place-making, incorporating 
design into planning and for its collaborative working with the local strategic 
partnership (in particular our work on infrastructure planning and working 
with NHS Tower Hamlets to address issues of health and planning).  

 
6.9 The production of this plan represents a truly collaborative and innovative 

process; across both the Council and the wider partnership. The strategic 
planning team would like to take this opportunity to thank officers from 
across the Council, key external stakeholders, the corporate management 
team, the Partnership, the Chief Executive, members and local people for 
their significant contributions that have shaped development of this plan over 
a number of years.  

 
Next Steps  
 
6.10 Subject to the Council resolving to adopt the Core Strategy in accordance 

with the recommendation of this report, the Core Strategy will become the 

Page 45



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\8\1\AI00026186\LDFCoreStrategyCABINETSEPT2010D
G2008101317pmeat20.doc 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

principle plan within the Tower Hamlets Local Development Framework. This 
decision will be published in local press, on the Council website and all 
interested parties who have involved in the production of these plans will be 
notified of this decision. 

 
6.11 Work has already started on the development of next phase of local 

development plan documents which will support the Core Strategy. These 
include: the Site and Place-making DPD, the Development Management 
DPD and the Fish Island Area Action Plan.  

 
 
7. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
7.1 This report seeks approval by Cabinet to submit the Core Strategy (including 

the Inspectors required amendments) to full Council, for adoption towards the 
Local Development Framework. 

  
7.2 As outlined in the report to Cabinet in September 2009, the Core Strategy will 

underpin key decisions in relation to the allocation of the limited resources 
available within the Borough, and will influence the shaping of the Council's 
Capital Strategy. 

 
7.3 The ongoing medium and long term financial planning of the Council will need 

to take account of the growth pressures contained within the Core Strategy. A 
robust monitoring process will review the reported outputs of the population 
change and growth model, including assessments of housing completions and 
their implications on infrastructure. Reports will be considered quarterly by the 
Council’s Asset Management and Capital Strategy Board. 

 

7.4 Following adoption of the Core Strategy by full Council, there will be revenue 
expenditure incurred in the production of the document. This will be funded 
through existing identified resources. 

 
8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 (LEGAL SERVICES) 
 
8.1 The Core Strategy is adopted by a local planning authority under section 23 

of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended). The 
authority may only adopt the Core Strategy if they accept the modifications 
to the Core Strategy suggested by the Inspector to this report as these 
modifications are binding on the authority. 

 
8.2 The Cabinet are being asked to decide whether or not to recommend to Full 

Council that the Core Strategy is adopted with the required amendments. 
This is because the  Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 
(Amendment) (No.2) Regulations 2005 provide that the process of 
preparation of development plan documents is an Executive responsibility 

Page 46



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\8\1\AI00026186\LDFCoreStrategyCABINETSEPT2010D
G2008101317pmeat20.doc 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

but the formal process of submission to the Secretary of State and adoption 
are the responsibility of Full Council.  

 
9. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 The Core Strategy delivers the spatial component of the Community Plan. It 

is the principal strategy that will deliver One Tower Hamlets through 
proactively planning and designing for the different places that make up 
Tower Hamlets.  

 
9.2 The Core Strategy recognises that each place is different, and how they all 

have their role and function but all come together to help build an outward 
looking One Tower Hamlets. Through extensive consultation in conjunction 
with the Partnership, the quality and needs of each place have been 
addressed and visions have been generated to shape the future of each 
place in the borough.  

 
9.3 Full consideration and engagement has ensured that the vision of One 

Tower Hamlets is embedded throughout the Core Strategy, in order to 
translate that vision in a spatial sense for the borough by delivering high 
quality places through place-making.  

 
9.4 The Core Strategy is also supported by an Equalities Impact Assessment. 

The Equalities Impact Assessment considered impacts which are relevant 
for the Core Strategy as well as for development more generally.  As a result 
the suggested mitigated activities have been embedded within the Core 
Strategy and will also be taken forward through the forthcoming development 
plan documents. This is in accordance with the Equalities Impact 
Assessment golden thread approach for the Local Development Framework.  
The Core Strategy Equalities Impact Assessment specifically recognised 
place-making as a vital component of this Strategy and recognised its 
importance in designing and developing places. 

 
10. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
10.1 The Core Strategy has been subject to a Sustainability Appraisal and 

Strategic Environmental Assessment in accordance with the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Directive 2001/42/EC.  The Core 
Strategy includes strategies and policies to assist mitigate and adapt to 
climate change and will assist the Council to meet Ni186, which looks to 
reduce C02 emissions per capita across the borough by 60% in 2025 and 
contributes to meeting Ni197 for biodiversity improvements. 

 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 A risk management matrix has been developed for this project in accordance 

with Corporate Policy. The key risks have been regularly discussed with the 
Core Strategy Steering Group and reported to the Council’s Corporate 
Management Team.  Many of the identified risks have been successfully 

Page 47



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\8\1\AI00026186\LDFCoreStrategyCABINETSEPT2010D
G2008101317pmeat20.doc 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

mitigated through robust evidence base, as well as proactively engagement 
of partners and key stakeholders. The most significant risk relates to the 
ongoing changes to national planning policy and legislation and the plan 
making guidance, although recent changes have allowed for a greater 
degree of flexibility.  

 
11.2 An LDF Programme Board has now been established, which is chaired by 

the Director of Development and Renewal, to ensure the effective 
implementation of the Core Strategy, through effective management of the 
forthcoming plans.  

 
12. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1  The Core Strategy function is to best manage the physical environment such 

that we achieve the Community Plan theme of a Great Place to Live. The 
Core Strategy includes a priority of ‘Creating attractive and safe streets and 
spaces’. Its focus on the importance of design seeks to design out crime 
through high quality and intelligence design solutions.  

 
12.2   Officers have worked with the Borough Commander and other 

representatives the Tower Hamlets Borough Police throughout the 
development of this Strategy. The future infrastructure needs for police has 
also been addressed.  

  
13. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 
13.1 Much of the evidence base prepared to inform the Core Strategy has been 

designed to provide both evidence for the Core Strategy, as well as 
informing other reports and strategies.  This shared evidence includes (but is 
not limited to), the Town Centre Spatial Strategy, the Population Change and 
Growth model, the Strategic Housing Market Assessment, the Waste 
Evidence Report, the Urban Structure and Characterisation report and the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Where appropriate, costs have also been 
shared between parties.  

 
13.2 One key example is Population Change and Growth model which the 

Partnership’s Joint Intelligence Group will use to understand the nature and 
location of population growth across the borough and how that will impact on 
service provision in Tower Hamlets over time.  

 
 
14. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 – The Tower Hamlets Core Strategy  
Appendix 2 – The Final Report for the Tower Hamlets Core Strategy 

(including Annex 1,2, and 3) 
_______________________________________________________ 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 

Page 48



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\8\1\AI00026186\LDFCoreStrategyCABINETSEPT2010D
G2008101317pmeat20.doc 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
  

Brief description of “background papers” Name and telephone number of holder  
and address where open to inspection.x 
 

Equalities Impact Assessment Jennifer Richardson, x5375  
 
 

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to the London 
Borough of Tower 
Hamlets  

 
The Planning Inspectorate  
Temple Quay House 
2 The Square 
Temple Quay 
Bristol BS1 6PN 
( 0117 372 8000 

 
by Sue Turner RIBA MRTPI IHBC 

 

 an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 
for Communities and Local Government 

15 July  2010 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 

SECTION 20 

 

REPORT ON THE EXAMINATION INTO THE LONDON BOROUGH OF 
TOWER HAMLETS CORE STRATEGY  

DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document submitted for examination on 18 December 2009 

Examination hearings held between 13 and 21 April 2010 
 

File Ref: E5900/429/9  

Page 51



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 2 -  

ABBREVIATIONS 
 
AAP  Area Action Plan 
AHVS  Affordable Housing Viability Study 
CAZ  Central Activity Zone 
CIL  Community Infrastructure Levy 
CS  Core Strategy 
DPD  Development Plan Document 
EIA  Equalities Impact Assessment 
ELS  Employment Land Study 
IDP  Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
IDPR  Infrastructure Delivery Plan Report 
LAP  Local Area Partnership 
LDF  Local Development Framework 
LIL  Local Industrial Location 
LOL  Local Office Location 
OSS  Open Spaces Strategy  
POL  Preferred Office Location 
PPCG  Planning for Population Change and Growth  
PPS  Planning Policy Statement 
SHLAA Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
SHMNA Strategic Housing Market and Needs Assessment 
SCI  Statement of Community Involvement 
SFRA  Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
SIL  Strategic Industrial Land 
SME  Small and Medium Enterprise 
SMOWS Small and Medium Office and Workplace Study 
SO  Strategic Objective 
SPD  Supplementary Planning Document 
TCSS  Town Centre Spatial Strategy 
THHS  Tower Hamlets Housing Strategy 
USCS  Urban Structure and Characterisation Study 
WEB  Waste Evidence Base Report 
WHS  World Heritage Site 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 3 -  

 
Non-technical Summary 

 
 
This report concludes that the Tower Hamlets Core Strategy provides an 
appropriate basis for the planning of the Borough over the next 15 years.  
The Council has sufficient evidence to support the strategy and can show 
that it has a reasonable chance of being delivered. 
 
A limited number of changes are needed to meet legal and statutory 
requirements.  These can be summarised as follows: 
 

• Wording changes suggested by the Council to ensure that there is 
better explanation of how and when policy tools and designations 
will be designated and defined; 

• Extension of the timescale for delivery of infrastructure on the 
Leven Road Gasworks site to ensure delivery timescales are 
realistic; 

• Amended wording to allow the potential for developer contributions 
to be managed via the Community Infrastructure Levy; 

• Re-organisation of the Programme of Delivery to improve its clarity 
and strengthen the key role it plays in the implementation of the 
plan; 

• Amendments to improve consistency with the London Plan; and 
• Re-location of the placemaking section to an Annex to avoid 

inconsistencies within the main part of the strategy. 
 
Most of the changes recommended in this report are based on suggestions 
put forward by the Council during the Examination in response to points 
raised by participants.  They do not alter the essential thrust of the 
Council's overall strategy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 4 -  

1.  INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1 Under the terms of Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004, the purpose of the independent examination of 
a development plan document (DPD) is to determine: 
(a) whether it satisfies the requirements of s19 and s24(1) of the 

2004 Act, the regulations under s17(7), and any regulations 
under s36 relating to the preparation of the document 

(b)    whether it is sound. 
 

1.2 This report contains my assessment of the London Borough of 
Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD in terms of the above matters, 
along with my recommendations and the reasons for them, as 
required by s20(7) of the 2004 Act. 

 
1.3 I am satisfied that the Core Strategy (CS) meets the requirements 

of the Act and Regulations. My role is also to consider its soundness 
against the three criteria of soundness set out in Planning Policy 
Statement 12: creating strong, safe and prosperous communities 
through Local Spatial Planning (PPS12) paragraphs 4.51-4.52.  In 
line with national policy, the starting point for the examination is 
the assumption that the local authority has submitted what it 
considers to be a sound plan.  The changes I have specified in this 
report are made only where there is a clear need to amend the 
document in the light of the legal requirements and/or the criteria 
of soundness in PPS12.  None of these changes should materially 
alter the substance of the plan and its policies, or undermine the 
sustainability appraisal and participatory processes undertaken.  

 
Post Publication Minor Changes 
 
1.4 The submission CS was accompanied by a Matrix of Changes Table 

(Core Document 60).  Changes in this document correct 
typographical errors, address points of clarification and deal with 
factual updates. They do not undermine the sustainability appraisal 
or the participatory process previously undertaken and they do not 
affect or change the overall strategy or any policies in the CS.  For 
these reasons I endorse the changes in the Matrix of Changes Table 
and the starting point for the examination is the submitted CS as 
amended by the matrix. 

 
Organisation of the report 
 
1.5 Section 2 of this report considers the legal requirements and 

Sections 3 and 4 address the main issues and other matters 
considered during the examination in terms of testing justification, 
effectiveness and consistency with national policy.   

 
Recommended changes 
 
1.6 A number of changes have been suggested by the Council and 

these are presented, together with changes that I consider 

Page 54



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 5 -  

necessary to ensure soundness, in three Annexes attached to this 
report. 
 
Annex A:  Council’s changes C1 – C23 
Required for soundness 
 
This is a list of changes that the Council has suggested.  These 
changes are taken from the Matrix of suggested changes (Core 
Document 161B) which the Council prepared during the 
examination and publicised on its website.  However not all of the 
changes suggested in the Council’s matrix are required to ensure 
soundness.  Annex A therefore only lists only the Council’s 
suggested changes that are essential for soundness.   

 
Annex B: Inspector’s changes IC1 – IC6  
Required for soundness 
 
IC1 – IC3 and IC6 all support or expand upon changes that the 
Council has suggested in Annex A.   IC4 is based on a statement of 
common ground between the Council and National Grid.   
IC5 relates to the placemaking section of the CS.   
 
None of the changes in Annex A or Annex B undermines the 
Sustainability Appraisal or the participatory process previously 
undertaken. They do not affect or change the overall strategy or 
any policies in the CS. They are all addressed in this report.    

 
Annex C: Council’s minor amendments 
Not required for soundness  

 
This is a schedule of minor changes suggested by the Council or 
participants during the examination, set out in the Matrix of Post 
Submission Changes (Core Document 161) and published on the 
Council’s website during the examination.  These changes are not 
required to address soundness and are not referred to in this 
report.  They ensure consistency and correct inaccuracies and 
drafting errors.  I endorse them as they add coherence and clarity 
to the CS and ensure consistency.     

 
1.7 A recurrent difficulty in this CS is the reliance on endnotes which 

refer to evidence base documents to justify the strategy.  The 
endnotes refer to entire documents and in order to fully understand 
the reasoning and justification for some policies a detailed reading 
of these documents is required.  This has been exacerbated 
because the “why we have taken this approach” sections, which are 
intended to justify and explain policies and link them to the 
supporting evidence, are placed after the policies.  Consequently 
the CS does not flow or unfold in a logical way and is not an easily 
accessible document.  This has represented a barrier to 
engagement with the local community.     

 

Page 55



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 6 -  

1.8 In most cases this does not make the CS unsound and justification 
for all policies can be found in the evidence base.  However in 
several instances the absence of narrative to explain the approach 
taken is a serious deficiency, with some policies unsupported by 
reasoning within the CS.  Some of the changes that the Council has 
suggested are required to make the CS a coherent and accessible 
document and facilitate participation in future DPDs.     

 
2.    LEGAL COMPLIANCE 
 

2.1 The Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD is contained within the 
Council’s Local Development Scheme the updated version being 
approved in November 2009.  There, it is shown as having a 
submission date of December 2009.   

 
2.2 The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) was 

adopted in 2008.  Following the introduction of the Town and 
Country (Local Development) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 
2008 the Council began a review of the SCI and an amended SCI 
was adopted in November 2009.  The Council’s Regulation 30(1) (d) 
statement explains that engagement and consultation was carried 
out in accordance with the requirements of the 2008 SCI but taking 
account of changes in the 2008 Regulations and PPS12.   

 
2.3 During the examination some participants were critical of the 

accessibility of the CS and of the effectiveness of the consultation 
process.  However having considered the SCI and the Council’s 
Statement of Participation together with all the points put forward 
in the examination hearings I am satisfied that the consultation 
process has been carried out in accordance with the SCI.   

 
2.4 Alongside the preparation of the CS it is evident that the Council 

has carried out a parallel process of sustainability appraisal.   
 
2.5 In accordance with the Habitats Directive the CS has been the 

subject of a screening exercise which concludes that there is no 
need for an Appropriate Assessment to be undertaken.   

 
2.6 I am satisfied that the CS has regard to national policy.  In a letter 

dated 29 October 2009 the Mayor of London has indicated that the 
CS is in general conformity with the approved London Plan and I am 
satisfied that it is in general conformity.  I am satisfied that the CS 
has had regard to the sustainable community strategy for the area. 

 
2.7 I am satisfied that the CS complies with the specific requirements of 

the 2004 Regulations (as amended) including the requirements in 
relation to publication of the prescribed documents; availability of 
them for Inspection and local advertisement; notification of DPD 
bodies and provision of a list of superseded saved policies. 

 
2.8 Accordingly, I am satisfied that the legal requirements have all 

been satisfied.   

Page 56



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 7 -  

3. SOUNDNESS – MAIN ISSUES 
 

3.1 PPS12 states that for a Core Strategy to be sound it should be 
justified, effective and consistent with national policy.  Taking 
account of all the written evidence together with discussions that 
took place at the examination hearings I have identified nine main 
issues that require detailed consideration.    

 
Issue 1: Setting the scene and the big spatial vision. 
 
Does the strategic vision address the priorities identified in the Community 
Plan and embrace the critical issues for the Borough?   
 
3.2 The CS vision statement is entitled “Reinventing the Hamlets.”  

Tower Hamlets will play a significant part in developing London as a 
sustainable, global city but there will also be an emphasis on 
regeneration and the prosperity of the economic hubs will filter 
down to the “places” of Tower Hamlets.  The five key priority 
outcomes of the CS flow from the Community Plan and the CS sets 
out five transformational programmes which outline the ways in 
which the spatial vision will be delivered.   

 
3.3 The Community Plan identifies a number of challenges faced by the 

borough in its aim of improving the quality of life for everyone who 
lives and works in the borough.  These include low housing 
affordability, a legacy of poor quality social housing, stark 
inequality, with Tower Hamlets the third most deprived borough in 
the country, ethnic diversity and high unemployment levels.  
Clearly some policy solutions to these challenges lie outside of 
spatial planning.  However it is clear that the overall strategy is 
underpinned by regeneration and sustainable growth.   

 
3.4 The transformational delivery programmes indicate that 

regeneration, housing investment and the provision of open space 
will help to address critical issues identified in the Community Plan.  
It is also evident that many of the strategic objectives (SOs) and 
policies will play a key role in tackling poverty and inequality.  

 
Does the spatial vision make it clear that the CS will address these issues 
and deliver regeneration as well as growth?   
 
3.5 Community groups have raised concerns that addressing 

deprivation, diversity and housing need is given insufficient 
prominence in the spatial vision.  There is a perception that it has 
been given lower priority than driving sub regional growth and 
delivering the London Plan growth agenda and targets.  
Furthermore there is scepticism about reliance on economic 
prosperity “filtering down” to benefit the borough’s communities.    

 
3.6 Thus it seems that the CS is not successful in explaining the 

context, “telling the story” of how the strategy has emerged and 
summarising the overall strategy.  Some contextual information is 

Page 57



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 8 -  

set out in “diverse communities and distinct places” but this does 
not describe clearly the social and economic challenges facing the 
area.  “Why we have taken this approach” which follows the Vision 
Statement and which should explain the issues that it will address 
focuses almost entirely on “place making.”   

 
3.7 A clear and coherent urban structure can undoubtedly contribute to 

sustainable growth and regeneration, but an over emphasis on the 
physical environment has led members of the local community to 
fear that the social and economic priorities from the Community 
Plan have been overlooked.  There is no mention in this section of 
the regeneration, economic diversification and growth which are 
key to the vision and strategy. 

 
3.8 It is clear from reading the CS and the evidence base that critical 

issues from the Community Plan feed directly into the overall vision.  
Furthermore the five priority outcomes, especially “Strengthening 
neighbourhood well being” and “Enabling prosperous communities” 
are aligned with the themes of the Community Plan and the CS 
strategic objectives provide strong links with its priorities.   

 
3.9 To demonstrate that the CS is based on a clear and complete 

understanding of all the issues facing the borough the Council has 
suggested that diagrams in Options and Issues for Places which 
show deprivation, ethnicity and demographics and the 
accompanying text should be inserted into the description of the 
borough on pages 20 and 21 [C1].   

 
Is the overall strategy the most appropriate given the alternatives?   
 
3.10 It is not for a development plan document to set out all the options 

that have been considered in detail.  However the CS gives no 
indication at all as to how the chosen strategy has emerged.  For 
this it is necessary to look at the evidence base.  Early work in 
Options and Alternatives 2008 identified two options: refocusing on 
town centres or organic growth across the borough.  The second 
phase of consultation, Options and Alternatives for Places 2009, 
tested a combined approach with a focus on Town Centres but 
accepting that there will be organic growth adjacent to the City 
Fringe and Canary Wharf.  This is the approach adopted in the CS. 

 
3.11 Clearly the development of the overall strategy has been a complex 

task.  Refocusing on the town centres has had to be balanced with 
the concentration of development in the London Plan Opportunity 
Areas at Leaside, the Isle of Dogs and the City Fringe, together with 
areas of regeneration.  This is in the context of a shift away from 
industry to a different range of products and services.   

 
3.12 The background evidence does provide an audit trail to demonstrate 

how and why the preferred strategy was arrived at and 
demonstrates that this strategy has been developed in parallel with 
a process of sustainability appraisal.  However the evidence base is 

Page 58



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 9 -  

extensive, dense and complex and it has been criticised by the local 
community as being inaccessible.  The Council has suggested 
change C2 to add a summary of how the preferred strategy 
evolved.  This change, which will add clarity and confirm that it is 
the most appropriate strategy, is required to make the CS sound.   

 
Has the strategy been developed through work with strategic partners and 
cross boundary working? 
 
3.13 It is clear from the evidence base that the CS has been prepared in 

partnership with a range of agencies and through working closely 
with the neighbouring boroughs of Hackney, Newham, Greenwich 
and the City of London.  The delivery partners are not listed in the 
CS but I am satisfied that they are set out in detail in the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan Final Report (IDPR). 

 
3.14 In conclusion, I am satisfied that the overall spatial vision is 

justified by robust evidence and is the most appropriate given the 
reasonable alternatives.  To make the CS sound changes C1 and C2 
are necessary to ensure clarity and internal consistency.  These 
changes are summarised below and set out in full in Annex A.   

   
C1 Insert diagrams and text from evidence base to expand on 

“Setting the Scene”  
C2 Insert additional text to explain how the preferred approach 

for the overarching strategy was developed 
 
Issue 2:  Refocusing the town centres.   
 
Is the approach to refocusing the town centres justified by robust 
evidence?   
 
3.15 Policy SP01 defines the town centre hierarchy and how the network 

of town centres will be extended to achieve strategic objective SO4, 
a hierarchy of interconnected, vibrant and inclusive town centres. It 
describes the relationship between the scale and type of uses and 
explains the scale and role of the town centres.     

 
3.16 The Council has undertaken detailed research into the uses, 

accessibility and urban design of the borough’s town centres in the 
Borough Portrait of Tower Hamlets, the Retail and Leisure Capacity 
Study and the Spatial Baseline Studies.  These studies feed into the 
Town Centre Spatial Strategy (TCSS).  I am satisfied that the 
methodology used in this research is robust and its scope is 
comprehensive.  It has informed an up to date picture of the 
borough’s town centres and proposes an effective strategy to 2025. 

 
3.17 The TCSS sets out the existing and proposed hierarchies and the 

designation criteria on which the new hierarchy is based. It 
identifies a new policy mechanism for “Activity Areas” at City Fringe 
and Canary Wharf which will differ from but compliment the London 
Plan Central Activities Zone (CAZ).  It also identifies new District 

Page 59



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 10 -  

Centres at Bromley-by-Bow and Brick Lane and a range of new 
Neighbourhood Centres.  The new hierarchy of town centres is set 
alongside the existing hierarchy in Appendix 4 of the CS.   

 
3.18 The CS is informed by the TCSS and its supporting documents.  The 

new designations recommended in the TCSS are put forward in 
Policy SP01 and the net increase in comparison and convenience 
retail floorspace, for which the Retail and Leisure Capacity Study 
identified a potential, is directed to town centres as recommended 
in the TCSS.  Policy SO1 does not make it clear that the town 
centre hierarchy aligns with the London Plan and does not explain 
the identification of the two Activity Areas.  The Council has 
suggested changes to address these matters [C3], [C4] and I agree 
that these changes are necessary to ensure that the CS is justified 
and effective.        

 
3.19 There is little explanation for the approach taken to refocusing on 

the town centres and the CS relies on broad references to the TCSS 
for the reasoning behind the choices that have been made.  Rather 
than providing clear links to the evidence that has informed Policy 
SP01, figures 17 – 20 of the CS are generic, theoretical diagrams 
imported from the baseline studies.   

 
3.20 I recognise that diagrams can be helpful in explaining the 

relationship between, for example, urban form and accessibility.  
But taken out of context these diagrams do not explain the 
reasoning set out in the TCSS.  Furthermore despite attempts in 
Figure 18 to give local examples of spatial layout types these 
diagrams are not locally distinctive.  Their inclusion does not make 
the CS unsound but at the examination hearings the local 
community was very critical of them, finding them unhelpful and 
irrelevant. It is certainly hard to see how they inform the adjacent 
policy SP01.  In order to make the CS a more accessible document 
that will encourage participation the Council may wish to consider 
removing Figures 17 – 20 when the CS is reviewed.  

 
3.21 The TCSS recommends undertaking a review of the town centre and 

activity area boundaries which will be dealt with in lower level DPDs 
and the Proposals Map.  However this intention is not carried 
through into the CS, where there should be an explanation of how 
detailed policies for the town centres will be progressed.  Change 
C5 sets out the Council’s additional wording to address this matter.  

 
Is the approach to development at the edge of and outside town centres 
consistent with government guidance in PPS4?  
 
3.22 Strategic objectives SO5 and SO6 promote mixed use on the edge 

of centres and along main streets and areas outside town centres 
for residential and supporting uses.  This approach, set out in Policy 
SP01.5 is clear and consistent with guidance in PPS4 which, whilst 
in draft during preparation of the CS, was published during the 
examination.  I am satisfied that it provides a hook for more 

Page 60



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 11 -  

detailed policies on small scale uses and provision for day to day 
shopping to be provided in forthcoming DPDs. 

 
3.23 Subject to the changes summarised below and set out in full in 

Annex A, which are necessary to ensure soundness, the CS 
approach to refocusing on the town centres is consistent with 
national and regional guidance, justified by robust evidence and 
capable of delivery.       

 
C3 Explain the basis for the town centre hierarchy 
C4 Explain reason for identifying Tower Hamlets Activity Areas 
C5 Explain that the town centre hierarchy will be carried forward 

in lower level DPDs  
 
Issue 3: Housing supply.   
 
Is the approach to the delivery and location of housing justified and 
consistent with national planning policy and with the London Plan? 
 
3.24 The CS sets out a target of 43,275 new homes for the plan period 

from 2010 to 2025, equating to 2885 homes per year.  This figure 
is consistent with the borough’s housing target in the emerging 
replacement London Plan (2009), which is in turn informed by the 
London Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 2009 
(London SHLAA).  The housing trajectory is presented as a table in 
Appendix 2 of the CS.  It demonstrates when and where homes will 
be delivered over the three five year periods to 2025 and is 
accompanied by detailed information to indicate the timing of 
delivery in the paired Local Area Partnership areas (LAPs).  

 
3.25 The CS housing trajectory is informed by evidence in the Planning 

for Population Change and Growth (PPCG) model.  This monitoring 
and management tool is led by the Local Strategic Partnership.  As 
a live model it enables population change and growth to be 
monitored to inform infrastructure planning and is based on the 
expected development of sites with planning permission and 
potential sites.  The evidence base demonstrates that the PPCG 
model is based on a local understanding and rigorous examination 
of sites that are capable of coming forward.   

 
3.26 The PPCG Baseline Report (PPCG Report) sets out key findings from 

the borough’s capacity assessment exercise that was undertaken in 
July 2009.  The PPCG model has enabled the Council to predict with 
some accuracy the scale and pattern of housing development 
across the borough.  Potential development sites have been 
identified in accordance with the government’s SHLAA process and 
the suitability, availability and deliverability of the sites has been 
tested.  Although there are some variations between the inputs to 
the London SHLAA and PPCG model, the housing outputs are closely 
aligned.  I am satisfied that the housing trajectory is based on an 
up to date and realistic understanding of identified sites in the 
borough.       

Page 61



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 12 -  

 
3.27 Raw data from the PPCG model shows that sites with planning 

permission will provide the majority of the housing for the first five 
years of the plan period and will continue to contribute to the 
supply throughout the plan period.  The model indicates that 
13,914 homes will be developed in the first five years of the plan 
period, a shortfall of 511 homes on the draft London Plan target.  
This represents 102/3 homes per annum. 

 
3.28 The Council contends that this shortfall will be more than made up 

by homes provided on sites of 9 or less units, which are excluded 
from the model and from the London SHLAA.  Historic evidence for 
the last 5 years shows that an annual average of 151 units has 
been delivered on sites providing 9 or less units and it would be 
reasonable, in the context of an inner city borough, to assume that 
this rate would continue.  However PPS3 states that unidentified 
sites such as this should not be included in the first 10 years of land 
supply unless there is robust evidence of local circumstances to 
prevent specific sites being identified.     

 
3.29 The housing trajectory indicates that sites with planning permission 

carry through into second and third five year periods of the plan.  
Figure 23, placed adjacent to Policy SP02, illustrates the permitted 
and potential amount of housing development each year set against 
the emerging London Plan target.   This shows the high level of 
activity in years 6 – 11 with a total of 21,442 homes coming 
forward in this five year period.  The bulge in the middle part of the 
plan period relates to the timing of the release of industrial land and 
the interdependence between regeneration and growth, which is 
evident from the CS transformational delivery programmes.   

 
3.30 The comprehensive regeneration areas and housing investment and 

delivery programme include, for example, the Ocean Estate 
Regeneration Programme, which is expected to deliver over 900 
units in 2017, and the Fish Island Area Action Plan.  This DPD, 
programmed for adoption in 2011, will provide the strategy for 
mixed use development that is expected to deliver over 2,000 units 
in Fish Island North and East in 2017.   

 
3.31 The supply of housing land in Tower Hamlets is inextricably linked 

to regeneration, the managed release of industrial land and projects 
which are to be delivered in partnership with other bodies such as 
Thames Gateway Development Corporation and other London 
Boroughs.  This leads me to conclude that there are genuine local 
circumstances that determine the rate of housing land supply and 
prevent specific sites being identified to deliver the required target 
for years 1 – 5 of the plan period.  On this basis I am satisfied that 
the reliance on some windfalls for this period and the overall 
approach to the supply and delivery of housing land is sound.   

 
3.32 The map of the borough in CS Figure 21 illustrates the differing 

rates of growth across the borough and Appendix 2 plots in more 

Page 62



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 13 -  

detail how this growth will occur in each of the borough’s hamlets in 
each of the three five year periods covered by the strategy.  This 
provides a very useful indication of where and when high growth 
will take place.  It reflects the areas for greatest regeneration and 
the London Plan Opportunity Areas.  The Council has indicated that 
the target bands in Figure 21 require amendment to ensure 
accuracy and I support this change [C6].  

 
3.33 Figure 21 shows that growth will take place predominantly in the 

eastern part of the borough where it is focussed on the Lower Lea 
Valley and Isle of Dogs Opportunity Areas.  It was confirmed at the 
examination hearings that the lower level of housing growth in the 
central parts of the borough is indicative of the limited availability 
of land.   

 
3.34 In conclusion I am satisfied that subject to change C6 to ensure 

accuracy the CS approach to the supply and location of housing is 
justified and deliverable.   

 
C6 Amend housing target bands to ensure accuracy 
 

Issue 4:  Providing for a mix of housing type and tenure, specialist 
housing needs and housing quality. 
 
Are the targets for affordable homes underpinned by a robust assessment 
of affordable housing economic viability?   
 
3.35 Policy SP02 sets an overall target of 50% for affordable homes 

throughout the borough.  This reflects the borough’s annual 
affordable need shortfall of 2,700 identified in the Strategic Housing 
Market and Needs Assessment 2009 (SHMNA) and the level of over 
occupation which at 16.4% is a great deal higher than the national 
average of 2.7% of all units.  It carries forward the Community Plan 
priority of delivering a range of affordable, family homes for local 
people and is supported by data in the Annual Monitoring Report 
which identified that the gross affordable homes delivered in 
2008/9 were 52% of total homes completed. 

 
3.36 Policy SP02 requires 35% - 50% affordable homes on all sites 

providing 10 new residential units or more, subject to viability.  This 
is in line with emerging London Plan policies on affordable housing. 
The SHMNA notes that the current 50% target has rarely been 
achieved across London but recognises that it may be achieved with 
major grant support on some sites.      

 
3.37 The Council’s Affordable Housing Viability Study 2009 (AHVS) 

tested a range of sample sites across the borough with varying 
characteristics against varying affordable housing percentages, 
tenure splits and sales values.  It took account of current market 
conditions, future market uncertainty and considered the effect of a 
range of projected sales values on affordable housing viability.  It 
also took account of potential conflict between existing and 

Page 63



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 14 -  

alternative use values in high value parts of the borough and was 
based on the London Plan threshold of 10 units.   

 
3.38 The study concluded that the delivery of the upper end of the 

required range, 50% affordable housing, is an ambitious target that 
many of the sites coming forward will be unable to achieve without 
grants or funding.  Historically sites in the borough have yielded 
35% and it is clear that achieving the lower end of the range is 
realistic.  The proposed range reflects a pragmatic balance between 
viability, the significant local need for affordable housing identified 
in the Community Plan and the SHMNA and consistency with the 
emerging London Plan.   

 
3.39 Concerns have been raised that the targets would not be achievable 

when replacing existing affordable homes.  However it would be 
appropriate for the test of viability to be applied in such cases.  As 
recommended in the AHVS Policy SP02 is supported by a 
requirement for detailed and robust financial statements to 
demonstrate why the targets cannot be met.  I consider that with 
this flexibility incorporated into the policy the proposed target range 
is justified.      

 
Is the tenure split for affordable housing locally justified? 
 
3.40 The CS reflects the tenure split for affordable housing in the 

adopted London Plan, with a requirement for 70% social rented and 
30% intermediate housing.  This target is supported by evidence in 
the SHMNA, which draws attention to the existing social stock scale 
and re-let levels and the problem of affordability of shared 
ownership for local households forming in Tower Hamlets.   

 
3.41 The proposed target differs from the emerging London Plan which 

proposes a London wide target of 40% intermediate housing.  
However I am satisfied that there is sufficient local justification in 
the SHMNA and the Tower Hamlets Housing Strategy 2009/12 
(THHS) to maintain the higher level of social rented housing 
proposed in the CS. 

 
Are the targets for family housing justified?   
 
3.42 Policy SP02 sets an overall target of 30% of all new housing to be 

suitable for families (3 beds plus) with 45% of new social rented 
housing for families.  This aligns with the Community Plan priority 
of delivering social and family housing above all other forms of 
housing and is supported by evidence in the THHS and the SHMNA.  
The latter identifies a very high level of flats and maisonettes in the 
borough and recommends that the CS should direct both market 
and affordable housing to address the impact of future demographic 
change and household formation change and the needs of larger 
families.  

 

Page 64



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 15 -  

3.43 The SHMNA provides the base figures from which the targets in 
SP02 are derived and I am satisfied that these figures are justified 
by the evidence base.  However SP02.5.c, which refers to the 
identification of locations where larger family housing (of four bed 
plus) will be sought, omits to refer to the vehicle through which 
such locations will be identified.  To ensure that this part of the 
policy is effective the Council has suggested appropriate wording to 
confirm that identification of locations will be dealt with in the Site 
and Placemaking DPD and the Development Management DPD [C7].   

 
Is the approach to student housing justified?  
   
3.44 Policy SP02 (7) proposes to provide student accommodation 

through working with the borough’s universities and focusing on 
locations with high accessibility and proximity to the universities.  
Student Accommodation in Tower Hamlets 2009 provides the 
background information that feeds into this policy and notes that 
provision of student housing needs to be balanced with competing 
land needs, including other housing priorities such as affordable 
housing.  In this context I consider that the broad intentions set out 
in Policy SP02 are appropriate to guide the provision of housing for 
this specialist group.   

 
Does the CS make appropriate provision for gypsy and traveller pitches?  
 
3.45 The borough has one Gypsy and Traveller site at Eleanor Road.  

Policy SP02 sets out the requirement to safeguard this site and to 
identify new sites to meet targets in London Plan though the Site 
and Placemaking DPD.  The criteria which sites should meet are 
defined in the evidence base in LBTH Gypsies and Travellers: 
Criteria for additional sites in Tower Hamlets (2009) and are set out 
in the CS.  I am satisfied that this part of the policy is clear, is 
supported by robust evidence and meets national and regional 
guidance and targets. 

 
Does the CS make it clear that requirements for design standards will be 
implemented? 
 
3.46 Part 6 of Policy SP02 lists a range of criteria to ensure that all 

housing is “appropriate, high quality, well–designed and 
sustainable”.  In order to ensure that this part of the policy is 
effective, clear reference should be added to refer to the relevant 
DPD’s which will implement the criteria [C8].  

 
3.47 Subject to changes C7 and C8, to confirm the delegation of detailed 

matters to lower level DPDs, I am satisfied that the CS is justified 
and effective in its approach to delivering a mix of housing type and 
tenure and housing design.  

 
C7 Explain how locations for seeking larger family houses will be 

identified 
C8 Identify the policy vehicle for achieving design standards 

Page 65



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 16 -  

Issue 5:  Successful employment hubs.  
 
Does the CS provide for a range of employment sizes and types?   
 
3.48 Strategic objectives SO15 and SO16 set the overall objectives to 

support the global economic centres of Canary Wharf and the City 
Fringe whilst supporting the growth of existing and future 
businesses in accessible and appropriate locations.  The 2009 
Employment Land Study (ELS) identifies the need to plan for a net 
increase in office floorspace.  The ELS demand forecasting exercise 
calculates a demand for between 685,000 and 905,000 square 
metres of office floor space to 2026.  It anticipates that 70% of this 
additional demand is likely to be accommodated in Canary Wharf, 
25% in the City Fringe and 5% in the “Local” office market.  

 
3.49 Policy SP06 reflects these findings.  It directs intensification of office 

floorspace and larger floor plate offices towards Preferred Office 
Locations (POLs) in Canary Wharf and the City Fringe areas of 
Bishopsgate Road, Aldgate and Tower Gateway.  The POLs are 
indicated on CS Figure 30 as irregular shapes, suggesting that their 
exact boundaries have been decided.  However this is not the case 
and the Council will define and designate the POLs in the Site and 
Placemaking DPD and the Development Management DPD.  To 
avoid the impression that these designations have already been 
made the Council suggests amending Figure 30 to show that the 
POL locations are indicative [C8A].  To ensure that the CS is sound 
this should be supported by additional text in Policy SP06.2 to 
explain that the POL areas will be defined in future DPDs [IC1].       

 
3.50 The CS supports a range and mix of employment uses through the 

designation of Local Office Locations (LOLs), the retention and 
promotion of flexible workspace and the encouragement and 
retention of small units of less than 250 sq m suitable for small and 
medium enterprises.  The Council intends to designate and define 
the LOLs through the Site and Placemaking DPD and to ensure 
soundness this should be clearly stated in the policy [IC2].   

 
Does the CS place sufficient emphasis on micro businesses and their role 
in addressing the employment needs of the local community, particularly 
the Black and Ethnic Minority sector?  
 
3.51 Concerns were raised during the examination that continued growth 

in the POLs will be at the expense of smaller businesses and that 
the role of micro businesses in providing jobs for local people is not 
recognised in the CS.  The POLs will clearly continue to provide a 
range of jobs for local residents as well as opportunities for 
suppliers within the borough.  However the need to ensure a range 
of different sized businesses within the borough is supported by the 
Small and Medium Office and Workspace Study (SMOWS), which 
found in 2006 that 19,000 of the 38,000 jobs in Tower Hamlets 
were within Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs).   

 

Page 66



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 17 -  

3.52 The SMOWS, whilst including micro businesses within the overall 
SME definition, further defines them as start up businesses and 
those employing less than five or so people.  However the CS does 
not distinguish micro businesses from SMEs, which are defined in 
the CS glossary as businesses with less than 250 employees 
(medium) and less than 50 employees (small).   

 
3.53 In considering SMEs and diversity the SMOWS identified that 25% 

of businesses in London with less than 5 employees were Black and 
Minority Ethnic (BME) owned and that around 53% of BME owned 
enterprises employ less than 5 people.  This link between micro 
businesses and BME community is reflected in the SMOWS 
conclusion that access to good quality, affordable space for small 
businesses employing less that five people is important to sustain 
the BME sector in Tower Hamlets.  Whilst based on data collated in 
2006 this link is recognised in the more recent Equality Impact 
Assessment of the CS (EIA), which identifies the likely effects of the 
policy on minority owned businesses.  

 
3.54 The evidence base demonstrates that micro businesses will play an 

important role in providing a range of businesses of different sizes 
in the borough and addressing the Community Plan priority of 
reducing worklessness, particularly for the BME community.  Policy 
SP06.3 sets out a clear direction for delivering a range and mix of 
employment uses throughout the borough and will encourage and 
retain units suitable for small and medium enterprises.  I am 
satisfied, from the approach taken in the SMOWS, that the CS 
definition of small and medium sized enterprises includes micro 
businesses.  The Council has suggested changes to the wording of 
Policy SP06 to refer specifically to micro businesses, but a minor 
amendment to the glossary is all that is needed to ensure clarity 
and make the CS sound [IC3].     

 
C8A Amend figure 30 to clarify that POLs are indicative only 
IC1 Confirm vehicle for designating POLs 
IC2 Confirm vehicle for designating LOLs 
IC3 Confirm that SME definition includes micro businesses 
 

Issue 6:  Strategic Industrial Land (SIL).  
 
Is the proposed release of SIL justified by evidence in the Employment 
Land Study (ELS)?   
 
3.55 The CS records that since 1998 between 130 hectares and 140 

hectares of industrial land has been released for other uses, 
contributing to regeneration in the east of the borough.  The decline 
of industrial employment leads to a recommendation in the ELS that 
the CS should plan for a further release of between 20 and 50 
hectares of industrial employment land over the plan period.  Policy 
SO6 proposes a managed approach to industrial land, safeguarding 
and intensifying its use in the SILs and Local Industrial Locations 
(LILs) identified in the ELS and setting out criteria for intensification 

Page 67



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 18 -  

through mixed use in some of the LILs.  It also proposes 
partnership working to coordinate the release of SIL at Fish Island 
North and Fish Island Mid.     

 
3.56 The ELS identifies that existing industrial uses at Fish Island North 

sit uncomfortably with adjacent emerging land uses in the 
regeneration area at Stratford City and the Olympic Park.  It 
identifies scope for a reduction of B2 (general industrial) and 
growth of B1 uses as part of an Industrial Business Park.  The 
strategy for releasing SIL at Fish Island is set out in Fish Island: A 
Rationale for Regeneration 2009.  The managed and phased release 
proposed in Policy CP06 is in conformity with the London Plan.   

 
3.57 Work on the boundaries between the sub areas of Fish Island and 

the exact amount and location of SIL release will need to be 
considered together with regeneration aspirations for the wider 
area.  This exercise is being carried out through the Olympic Legacy 
Strategic Planning Guidance and the emerging Fish Island Area 
Action Plan (AAP) and these two delivery mechanisms will set out 
the exact location of SIL release.   

 
3.58 Concerns have been raised that the masterplan framework is 

progressing slowly and that a firm commitment in the CS to release 
SIL, not conditional upon a future DPD, is needed to provide clarity 
and investor confidence and address decline and policy stagnation.  
However it is clear that work is ongoing on both the Olympic Legacy 
Strategic Planning Guidance and the Fish Island AAP, which is 
included in the LDS as due for adoption in 2011.  I am satisfied that 
through SP06 and the Fish Island AAP, which is recognised in the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan as a critical priority, the CS provides a 
clear framework and timescale for the release of SIL at Fish Island.   

 
3.59 Fish Island South is sufficiently distant from the Olympic Park to 

avoid having an impact on the proposed uses there.  It has good 
access and is located away from residential areas.  Consequently 
the ELS recommends that Fish Island South should be retained, 
enhanced and promoted as SIL, with industrial uses consolidated 
and relocated from Fish Island North where appropriate.  I 
recognise that there are some non industrial uses in Fish Island 
South, such as live work units, some B1 uses and a training centre 
with student accommodation.  However I do not consider that the 
presence of these uses outweighs the clear strategic direction that 
the evidence base provides.  I am therefore satisfied that the CS 
takes an appropriate approach to the managed release of SIL that 
is consistent with national guidance and justified by robust and up 
to date evidence. 

 
Issue 7:  Provision of public open space. 
 
Does the CS address effectively the existing deficiency and declining 
provision of accessible public open space in the borough? 
 

Page 68



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 19 -  

3.60 Providing access to nature and open space is one of the key 
principles of the Community Plan and one of the borough’s major 
challenges, with impacts on health, quality of life and biodiversity.  
The Council’s Open Spaces Strategy 2006 – 2016 (OSS) identifies 
deficiencies in access to publicly accessible open space and sets out 
a development standard of 1.2 hectares per 1,000 of population.  
Annual monitoring reports over the past 5 years indicate that this 
has not been achieved, with provision of 1.14 per hectare achieved 
in 2007/8 and 1.12 per hectare in 2008/9.   

 
3.61 This evidence of deficiency and declining provision and the physical 

constraints of a densely developed urban area, where further 
growth is planned, raise the question of whether the 2006 open 
space standard can ever be achieved.  The Council acknowledges 
that the OSS is out of date and thus relies on the IDP Report to 
provide an up to date picture of the borough’s open spaces.   

 
3.62 The IDP Report provides a fine grain of information on current open 

space levels based on paired LAP areas.  It uses the PPCG model to 
calculate an overall requirement of 99 hectares which is set out in 
the CS.  The report acknowledges that achieving the quantative 
requirement for open space is neither feasible nor practical.  The CS 
therefore takes a pragmatic approach based on “Protect, Create, 
Enhance and Connect” with the 1.2 hectares per 1,000 as a 
monitoring standard.   

 
3.63 CS Policy SP04 lists projects in the OSS which the PPCG model 

identifies as being required to support the scale of development in 
the borough to 2025.  The IDP (in Appendix 2 of the CS) sets out 
timescales for these projects and recognises that their non delivery 
would have an impact on growth targets and trigger a review of the 
programme.  Policy SP04 also refers to strategic projects which are 
outside the control of the Council, such as Lea River Park, FAT walk 
and Olympic Park.  These projects, together with their delivery 
teams and timescales, are also listed in the Programmes of Delivery 
in CS Appendix 2.   

 
3.64 Enhancing existing public open spaces and improving accessibility is 

also addressed in Policy SP04, with individual projects detailed in 
Appendix 2.  A reference to improving access to Metropolitan Open 
Land needs to be added to ensure consistency with the London Plan 
and to present a complete picture of the strategically important 
open spaces available to residents of the borough [C9].  The 
Council’s Green Grid Strategy, also listed in the Programmes of 
Delivery, takes a management approach to addressing the 
questions of deficiency and access to open spaces and to create a 
network of green walking routes to connect open spaces and 
waterways throughout the borough.  This is at an early stage, with 
only a draft baseline report available to support the CS.  However it 
is included in the Delivery Programmes as a key programme and 
will be taken forward through lower level DPDs.     

 

Page 69



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 20 -  

3.65 I have considered the suggestion that additional references should 
be made to Lee Valley Park to highlight the contributions it will 
make to strengthening neighbourhood well being and enhancing 
biodiversity.  However I do not consider that the absence of these 
references makes the CS unsound.   

 
3.66 Subject to a minor correction to include reference to Metropolitan 

Open Land to ensure soundness I am satisfied that the CS takes a 
realistic approach to providing accessible open space which is 
justified by detailed research and can be implemented in co-
ordination with delivery partners.     

 
C9 Include reference Metropolitan Open Land  
 

Issue 8:  Infrastructure, delivery and monitoring. 
 
Is there a clear strategy for delivering the key infrastructure 
requirements?  
  
3.67 The CS places the Programme of Delivery at the beginning of the 

document, following on from the Vision Statement and Key 
Principles.  This demonstrates recognition of the essential role that 
delivery and implementation will play in achieving the CS vision.  
However there is a confusing relationship between the five 
programmes in the Programme of Delivery and the IDP which is one 
of these programmes and is set out in detail at the end of the CS 
(Appendix 2).  Furthermore the listing of some, but not all of the 
projects for each programme early in the CS is imprecise and 
inconsistent.  Changes are needed to provide an accurate and 
internally consistent summary of the delivery programmes, the 
projects within them and by whom and when they will be delivered.   

 
3.68 The Council has suggested changes to the way in which this 

information is presented.  The Programme of Delivery adjacent to 
the vision statement will be amended to simply summarise the five 
delivery programmes [C10].  All of the programmes, their projects, 
key partners and timescale, will be set out in detail in Appendix 2 
[C11] under the heading Programme of Delivery.  The IDP will 
therefore become one of the five programmes set out in Appendix 
2.  However it will retain a greater level of detail than the other 
programmes, including costings, links to policy and risks/ 
contingencies as in existing Appendix 2.   These changes are 
necessary to ensure that the way in which the CS will be delivered 
is set out in a coherent and consistent way.   

 
3.69 The delivery programme is informed by the PPCG Report, which 

identifies where new social infrastructure will be required to support 
growth and from the IDP Report which is a supporting document to 
the CS.  The higher density option of the PPCG model, which is 
required to meet the housing target, is the base on which both 
reports identify future demand.     

 

Page 70



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 21 -  

3.70 The IDP Report, dated September 2009, takes a methodical 
approach, addressing the questions of why, what, how, where and 
when for each piece of infrastructure required to deliver the CS.  It 
has a corporate role, supporting and informing other borough 
strategies and decisions relating to the distribution of funding.  Its 
governance arrangements, which include strategic partners, give it 
a high level role as a project planning tool.  The Council intends to 
update the IDP annually alongside the AMR.   

 
3.71 The IDP, set out in Appendix 2 of the CS, identifies the key pieces 

of infrastructure needed to support the CS.  It categorises each 
project as critical, necessary or preferred and this informs the 
identification of risks and contingencies for each project.  It 
identifies those areas where a failure to deliver or delay will trigger 
a review of the plan.  Clearly the annual review of the IDP will 
provide a sensitive monitoring vehicle, enabling problems with 
funding, delays or the need for acceleration to be identified at a 
sufficiently early stage to manage delivery of the CS effectively.  

 
3.72 In most cases the location and phasing or timing for each project is 

set out in the IDP.  However some items such as the provision of 
health care schemes and idea stores have broad timescales or 
grouped provision and rely on the IDP Report to provide detailed 
information about phasing.  I consider this is appropriate, keeping 
the IDP in the CS as a concise summary which is supported by 
more detailed information in the IDP Report which can be kept up 
to date by annual review.   

 
3.73 In general the CS identifies broad areas for development and 

delegates the allocation of sites to lower level DPD’s.  However in 
some cases it is evident that particular sites will be necessary to 
deliver a particular element of infrastructure.  It has been 
demonstrated that reliance on the Leven Road Gasworks to deliver 
a new primary school by 2017 and open space from 2010 - 2015 is 
unrealistic as the site will not be available in time to meet these 
timescales.   

 
3.74 The Council has agreed that the IDP should be amended to reflect a 

realistic timescale and ensure soundness in this area, changing 
delivery of the primary school to 2020 and open space from 2015 – 
2020 [IC4].  The risks/ contingency column of the IDP highlights 
that later provision of these facilities at Leven Road will lead to a 
requirement to review the programme of housing growth in this 
area.  This is an area where a high level of housing growth is 
anticipated in the second five year period of the plan.  In these 
circumstances I am satisfied that there is sufficient flexibility to 
address any necessary adjustment to the rate and location of 
growth in this particular area without undermining the overall rate 
of housing delivery in the second five year period of the plan.  

 
3.75 The CS indicates that an SPD will outline the approach to securing 

developer contributions which it states will be pooled to meet 

Page 71



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 22 -  

significant infrastructure requirements.  The IDP and the IDP Report 
set out detailed and comprehensive information regarding the 
nature and location of the major infrastructure needed to support 
the planned growth in different parts of the borough.  In this 
context I am satisfied that the methodology for securing pooled 
infrastructure can appropriately be dealt with in a future SPD.  
However in response to the CIL regulations the Council has 
suggested changes to the “Delivery and Implementation” section of 
the CS to include a policy hook to allow the option of applying the 
CIL charging schedule [C13/C14].  These changes will allow the 
Council flexibility to consider the most effective way to manage the 
pooling of developer contributions.   

 
Does the CS set out clear targets and measurable outcomes for 
monitoring the delivery of the strategy? 
 
3.76 The Monitoring Framework, set out in Appendix 3, is based on the 

strategy’s 25 strategic objectives (SOs) which the CS policies will 
deliver.  For each SO it sets out Core Output Indicators, Local 
Output Indicators or Significant Effect Indicators as appropriate and 
measurable outcomes.  Subject to replacing references to N/A with 
“monitor trend” [C12] to ensure that all outcomes can be monitored 
I am satisfied that the monitoring framework is based on clear and 
measurable targets which relate to the delivery of the CS Policies. 

 
3.77 Subject to changes C10 – C14 and IC4, which are required to 

ensure soundness, I am satisfied that the Programmes of Delivery 
and in particular the IDP identify the key infrastructure projects that 
are necessary to deliver the CS policies.  They provide a clear and 
realistic framework setting out the responsibilities, funding sources, 
timing and critical dependencies for each project.  The monitoring 
framework in Appendix 3 of the CS provides structured framework 
which will enable the progress of the spatial strategy to be 
monitored.  

 
C10 Simplify list of delivery programmes to ensure consistency 
C11 Extend Appendix 2 to include all programmes for delivery 
C12 Add monitoring trend as a target for outcomes with no 

numerical target 
C13 Add reference to CIL 
C14 Add reference to CIL 
IC4 Amend timescale for infrastructure dependant on Leven Road 

Gasworks site 
 
Issue 9:  Delivering placemaking.  
 
Does the inclusion of a vision diagram and opportunities, priorities and 
principles for each of the borough’s “places” contribute to the 
effectiveness of the CS? 
 

Page 72



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 23 -  

3.78 Policy SP12 draws together the main themes of the CS that will 
contribute to improving the quality of the built and natural 
environment.  It is effectively a summary which repeats the content 
of other policies.  The adjacent Figure 36 sets out a strategic vision 
with a short statement for each of the borough’s hamlets.  This is a 
succinct, focused way of capturing the essential issues for each 
hamlet and it makes a useful contribution to the CS.   

 
3.79 The pages that follow SP12 set out the vision, priorities and 

principles for each hamlet.  Whilst PPS12 requires core strategies to 
set out the local challenges and opportunities for the future of its 
places, taking the strategy to a finer level of detail requires 
accuracy, consistency and completeness.  I recognise that the 
Council has sought to be selective of what is important to each 
place.  However this section of the CS raises more questions than it 
answers.   Inaccuracies and inconsistencies in the level of detail 
provided and the decision to capture some but not all of the spatial 
issues from the overall strategy is not clearly explained or justified.   

 
3.80 I set out below some examples of areas of concern: 

     
• The diagrams for Millwall, Cubitt Town and other growth areas 

do not acknowledge the high levels of planned growth 
that are so well illustrated on Figure 23.  Failure to reconcile 
this most significant change with the urban design and 
connectivity aspirations shown on diagrams 59 and 60, for 
example, means that this part of the CS does not address 
spatial planning in its true sense.  Furthermore it results in a 
“mixed message” which leaves members of the local 
community uncertain about the intentions for their areas. 
 

• Town centres are recognised on the “place” diagrams, but 
absence of detail about the type of centre leaves unanswered 
questions regarding the type and scale of commercial 
development planned.  For example neither the priorities 
nor the vision diagram (Fig 39) for Bethnal Green reflect its 
inclusion in Policy SP01.4 as one of the district town centres to 
which 16,600 square metres of comparison floorspace will be 
directed.  This has leaves local residents feeling inadequately 
informed and anxious about the level of retail floorspace likely 
to take place in their areas. 

 
• The POL designations are shown on some of the vision 

diagrams, such as Aldgate (Figure 42) but not on others such 
as Canary Wharf (Figure 58) and there is no mention of the 
POL designation in the vision, priorities or principles for Canary 
Wharf.  The City Fringe is not overlaid on the vision diagram 
for the “places” in the east of the borough or referred to in the 
priorities.  This failure to represent key spatial planning 
tools on the diagrams contrasts with the decision to drill down 
in great detail, to specific street level, in some areas.  

Page 73



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 24 -  

Developers participating in the examination expressed 
frustration at this lack of clarity and consistency.   

 
• Policy SP01 describes the Tower Hamlets Activity Areas as 

requiring a distinctive policy response due to their location, 
characteristics, mix of uses and accessibility.  This suggests 
they will have a key influence over the way in which hamlets 
such as Spitalfields or Aldgate will develop.  However these 
important designations are not acknowledged on the 
vision diagrams, priorities or principles for these places. 

 
• Boundaries between the places diagrams are 

inconsistent.  For example diagrammatic links/ routes and 
green corridors do not connect on diagrams for adjacent 
places.  Examples include Bow/ Victoria Park, Poplar/Poplar 
Riverside, Mile End/Bow Common and Bromley-by-Bow/ Bow 
Common.  The interface between the vision diagrams for the 
adjoining places of Millwall and Cubitt Town is unclear.  These 
matters are not crucial to the information that the diagrams 
seek to convey, but they raise local concerns and questions 
about the accuracy and utility of all of the vision diagrams.   

 
• Lack of sensitivity to local concerns undermines the 

credibility of the vision diagrams.  For example it was 
highlighted at the examination hearings that the new shopping 
centre indicated at Mile End (Figure 51) incorporates 
residential areas and listed terraced houses.   

 
• Inconsistencies between the vision diagrams and text 

lead to confusion and leave the reader unsure about priorities.  
For example Figure 38 (Spitalfields) identifies “Regeneration of 
Bishopsgate Goods Yard” and the Bishopsgate Masterplan is 
identified as a critical priority in the IDP.  However there is no 
reference to this in the vision, opportunities, priorities or 
principles for Spitalfields.   

 
• In some cases text on the vision diagrams, for example the 

new green space referred to at Bromley by Bow (Figure 52) 
does not make it clear where aspirations are part of wider 
comprehensive redevelopment schemes.   

 
3.81 The Council has suggested extensive changes to this section of the 

CS to deal with inaccuracies and inconsistencies identified during 
the examination.  However these changes relate to just 6 of the 
borough’s 24 hamlets and would only deal with matters raised at 
the examination by local residents, landowners and developers.  
Further work is required to ensure that there are no deficiencies in 
the placemaking pages for the remaining 18 hamlets.   

 
3.82 Attempting to change the CS at this stage, as suggested by the 

Council, would be therefore be inequitable and would result in an 
uneven spread of detail and accuracy through the placemaking 

Page 74



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 25 -  

pages.  In their current form these pages provide a useful basis for 
work on lower level DPDs and SPDs.  However a considerable 
amount of further work, including further engagement with the local 
community, is required to ensure that they are an effective spatial 
planning tool which will help deliver the overall strategy.   

 
3.83 The Council has confirmed that the vision diagrams are not 

intended as site specific, detailed or technical drawings.  To reflect 
this and to indicate that the placemaking pages complement rather 
than form an integral part of the strategy, I recommend that they 
are placed in an annex to the CS. 

  
IC5 Place pages 90 – 114 of the CS in an Annex. 

 
4. CONSIDERATION OF OTHER MATTERS RELATING To 

SOUNDNESS 
 
4.1 Flood risk.  The Council has carried out a Strategic Flood Risk 

Assessment (SFRA) which identifies the parts of the borough that 
are at risk of flooding.  This includes some of the Opportunity Areas 
where development will be focused, particularly to the east of the 
borough.  Leaside lies within flood zones 2 and 3 and the entire Isle 
of Dogs is in flood zone 3.  To the west of the borough the southern 
part of the City Fringe lies within flood zones 2 and 3.  The main 
risks to these areas are from fluvial flooding from the River Lea, 
tidal surge breaches of the Thames Tidal Defences and surface 
water flooding from impermeable surfaces.  

 
4.2 Strategic Objective SO13 sets out the objective of reducing the risk 

and impact of flooding and the SFRA has informed a General 
Sequential Test which provides a basis for sequential and if 
necessary exceptions testing to inform the allocation of individual 
sites.  Policy SP04 indicates how the sequential test will be used to 
determine the suitability of land for development.  In the 
justification of the policy in “Why we have taken this approach” 
paragraph 4.20 needs to be amended to include an explanation of 
how the SFRA has informed the policy.   
 
C15 Explain the way in which the SFRA has informed the strategy 

 
4.3 Waste:  The borough operates as a single waste disposal authority 

and this is reflected in the CS.  It is proposed to safeguard all 
existing waste management sites unless they can be replaced by 
more sustainable alternative sites which maintain capacity.  In 
addition, informed by the Waste Evidence Base Report (WEB), the 
CS identifies a need for a land area of between 5 – 10 hectares to 
accommodate house waste facilities with sufficient capacity to meet 
London Plan targets for managing waste.  Policy SP05 identifies 4 
areas of search for new waste treatment facilities.  These areas flow 
from the short list of suitable sites identified in the WEB report, 
where sufficient land is identified to allow flexibility in the case of 
some of the sites not coming forward.  The timescale for delivery is 

Page 75



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 26 -  

included in the IDP.  On this basis I am satisfied that there is robust 
evidence to demonstrate that there is sufficient land to meet the 
London Plan targets during the plan period.   

 
4.4 Working towards a zero carbon borough sets out the objective 

(SO24) of achieving a 60% reduction in carbon emissions by 2025.  
Policy SP11 sets out goals which are consistent with national 
guidance and the London Plan and provides a hook for more 
detailed guidance in lower level DPDs.  I consider that these goals 
are justified in the Climate Change and Mitigation Evidence Base 
and the final report of Sustainable Energy and Biodiversity 
Enhancement Opportunities in LBTH.   To ensure that the CS is 
sound minor changes are needed to allow for feasibility to be taken 
into account when considering requirements for on site renewable 
energy generation [C16], to ensure that the area based approach to 
carbon reduction is explained [C17] and to define Energy 
Opportunity Areas [C18]. 

  
C16 Add feasibility test to ensure flexibility and consistency with 

London Plan 
C17 Explain area based approach to carbon emissions 
C18 Define Energy Opportunity Areas 

 
4.5 Creating distinct and durable places sets out in Policy SP10 the 

CS priorities for managing the historic environment and promoting 
a high standard of design.  It includes the requirement for strategic 
and local views to be protected but there is no explanation of these 
designations and they are not identified on the accompanying 
Figure 34.  To ensure effectiveness the “Why we have taken this 
approach” section which follows SP10 should explain that strategic 
views are designated in the London Plan and that local views will be 
defined and designated in forthcoming DPDs [C19]. 

  
4.6 Figure 34 includes shaded areas which refer to “areas of 

priority…….” and “areas of established character and townscape.”  It 
is clear that these broad areas flow from the Urban Structure and 
Characterisation Study (USCS) and conservation area studies and 
appraisals.  The Council has explained that they will be used to 
inform conservation of existing character in some areas and 
improvements to character and distinctiveness in others.  However 
with no reference to this in the policy or the accompanying text 
they have no meaning.  The Council has suggested additional 
wording which will explain their purpose [C20].  However to ensure 
that the CS is effective further explanation is needed to describe 
how these areas will be taken forward [IC6].  Both of these changes 
are required to ensure soundness.  
  
C19 Confirm consistency of approach to strategic and local views 

with London Plan and explain vehicle for identification of 
views  

C20 Explain map based identification of townscape character 

Page 76



London Borough of Tower Hamlets Core Strategy DPD Inspector’s Report 2010 

 - 27 -  

areas (on Figure 34) 
IC6 Explain vehicle/s for defining and setting criteria for 

townscape areas 
 

4.7 Tall Buildings are addressed in Policy SP11 which identifies the 
preferred locations and the criteria which they meet.  The selection 
of these locations is supported by evidence in the USCS and has 
been developed in collaboration with English Heritage.  Additional 
wording is required, as suggested by the Council, to confirm the 
consistency of this approach with the London Plan [C21].  It is clear 
that the policy does not preclude the identification of other areas or 
individual applications for tall buildings outside the preferred areas.  
To ensure that the CS is sound the Council has suggested an 
explanation to confirm the way in which such instances will be dealt 
with [C22].    

 
C21 Clarify consistency with London Plan 
C22 Explain vehicle for identifying sites/locations and criteria for 

tall buildings  
 

4.8 Historic heritage: Whilst the CS sets out the need to protect, 
manage and enhance the Tower of London World Heritage Site 
(WHS) and its setting it does provide equal protection for the buffer 
zone and setting of the Maritime Greenwich WHS.  I consider that 
the additional wording to Policy SP10 suggested by the Council is 
required to ensure soundness by addressing cross boundary issues 
[C23].   

 
C23 Add reference to protection of the setting of Maritime 

Greenwich WHS  
 
5 OVERALL CONCLUSIONS 
 
5.1 I conclude that, with the amendments I recommend, the Tower 

Hamlets Core Strategy DPD satisfies the requirements of s20 (5) of 
the 2004 Act and meets the criteria of soundness in PPS12.   

 
Sue Turner 
 
INSPECTOR 
 
Annex A 
 
Annex B 
 
Annex C 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 77



Page 78

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A – Council’s changes 

No 
Core 
Strategy 
section 

Page 
Description of 
recommended change 

 
Text (if any) 
 

     
C1 Diverse 

communitie
s and 
distinct 
places  

20/21 Insert Figures 1.8, 1.9 
and 1.10 and 
accompanying text from 
Options and issues for 
places (CD158) 

 

C2 Setting the 
Scene 

15 Further explanation of 
how the Core Strategy 
emerged from the 
Options and Alternatives 
Consultation Document, 
Options and Alternatives 
for Places Consultation 
Document and the 
Community Plan. 

New paragraph - 1.5 
 
1.5 The first round of consultation identified within the Options and 
Alternatives Consultation Document two potential overarching strategies. One 
strategy was looked to refocus on our town centres, and the other advocated 
for organic growth across the borough. This Consultation Document also 
looked at options for each of the borough wide policies coming forward.  
 
1.6 In selecting the overarching strategy, consultation findings and further 
evidence base suggested a combined approach which sought to refocus on 
town centres, while still recognising the organic nature of growth in the areas 
adjacent to the City Fringe and Canary Wharf. This preferred approach for the 
overarching strategy, along with the preferred approach for the borough-wide 
policies, was tested as part of the second consultation phase – Options and 
Alternatives for Places. This phase also tested options for how the borough-
wide policies would affect the 24 identified individual places of Tower Hamlets.  
It also tested the vision for each place, which included engagement with the 
community and stakeholders about what each place would look like in the 
future and how that might be delivered.   
 
1.7 The preferred approach for the overarching strategy is stated within 
chapter 3 “Refocusing on our town centres”. 
 
Previous 1.5 now becomes 1.8 

C3 Refocusing 
on our town 
centres 

39 Refer to the adopted 
London Plan (2008) as 
an initial basis for the 
town centre hierarchy. 

Para 3.2 The boroughs’ town centres continue to evolve, they have changed in 
the way they look, the purposes they serve, the types of shops they have and 
the way they are accessed and used. With the London Plan as the starting 
point, the town centres of Tower Hamlets have been configured in a hierarchal 

P
age 79



No 
Core 
Strategy 
section 

Page 
Description of 
recommended change 

 
Text (if any) 
 
manner52 which has been made locally specific to Tower Hamlets through 
extensive spatial baseline research. The creation of new town centres is 
proposed over the lifetime of the plan, in order to support population growth 
or to reflect existing town centre activity in some areas. 
 

C4 Refocusing 
on our town 
centres 

39 Include explanation of 
Tower Hamlets Activity 
Areas  

Para 3.3 In addition two Activity Areas have been identified. The Tower 
Hamlets Activity Areas resulted from the Town Centre Spatial Strategy (2009) 
identifying specific areas bordering the Central Activities Zone and the major 
town centre of Canary Wharf where the scale, continuity and intensity of town 
centre activity and land use is different to that found across the rest of the 
borough.  Specific challenges in policy terms of these areas required a new 
policy mechanism as a distinctive policy response to ensure these areas are 
successfully managed. 
 
Renumber paragraphs 3.3 – 3.6 to be 3.4-3.7  
 

C5 Refocusing 
on our town 
centres 

37 Provide reference to 
Development 
Management DPD and 
Site and Place Making 
DPD in SP01. 

SP01 – Further detailed policies relating to town centres will be provided 
within the Development Management DPD and Site and Place Making DPD. 
(NB. This will be similar text format to the blue text on page 35) 

C6 Urban Living 
for 
Everyone 

42 Amendment to Figure 21 
to depict amended 
housing target bands. 

Low growth  (1001 – 1500 units) 
Medium growth (1501 – 2500 units) 
High growth (2501 – 3500 units) 
Very high growth (3501 + units) 

C7 Urban Living 
for 
Everyone 

44 Clarification of how 
locations for seeking 
larger family housing will 
be identified.  

Identifying locations within the Site and Place Making DPD and Development 
Management DPD where larger family housing sizes (four-bed plus) will be 
sought. 

C8 Urban Living 
for 
Everyone 

45 Clarification of how 6. a-f 
will be delivered by 
identifying delivery 
mechanisms such as 
forthcoming DPDs. 

Ensuring all housing is appropriate, high-quality, well-designed and 
sustainable. This will be achieved by:  

a.  Setting housing design standards.  
b. Working with housing partners to facilitate existing homes to be brought 

up to at least the Decent Homes standard.  
c. Requiring new developments to comply with accessibility standards, 

including “Lifetime Homes” requirements.  

P
age 80



No 
Core 
Strategy 
section 

Page 
Description of 
recommended change 

 
Text (if any) 
 

d. Requiring adequate provision of housing amenity space for new homes 
(including specialist homes where appropriate), including private 
amenity space in every development, and communal amenity space for 
developments providing 10 units or more.  

e. Requiring sites that are providing family homes to provide adequate 
space for play space for children.  

f. Requiring new homes to respond to climate change, including achieving 
a stepped-target for carbon emissions standards in-line with 
government guidance. 

Further detail will be developed through the Development Management DPD 
and other guidance, including Supplementary Planning guidance.  
 

C8A Delivering 
successful 
employment 
hubs 

60 Amendment of Figure 30 
- Preferred Office 
Location blob to be more 
illustrative and less 
specific. 

 

C9 Creating a 
green and 
blue grid 

52 Provision of reference to 
the protection of 
Metropolitan Open Land 
in accordance with the 
London Plan (2008). 

SP04 (1f) Improving access to the strategically important publicly accessible 
open spaces, which currently include Metropolitan Open Land (East India Dock 
Basin and Brunswick Wharf, Island Gardens, Lee Valley Regional Park, Meath 
Gardens, Mile End Park, Mudchute Park and Millwall Park, Tower Hamlets 
Cemetery, Victoria Park) as well as the Olympic Park, Lea River Park and the 
FAT Walk. 
 

C10 Programme 
of Delivery 

26 Remove reference to 
some of the programmes 
and simplify to a list of 
headings  

Programme of Delivery 
 
Delivery of the spatial vision is an essential element of the Core Strategy; 
without which the vision will not be achieved. The council and its key partners 
are committed to ongoing delivery and pro-actively drive five transformational 
programmes that form a ‘Programme of Delivery’ to assist in the delivery of 
the spatial vision. The programmes are:  
 
• Comprehensive regeneration areas  
 
• Infrastructure Delivery Plan  
 

P
age 81



No 
Core 
Strategy 
section 

Page 
Description of 
recommended change 

 
Text (if any) 
 
• Housing investment programmes  
 
• Policy and strategy programmes  
 
• Tower Hamlets Green Grid  
 
This Programme of Delivery (refer to Appendix 2) underpins the delivery and 
implementation of the Core Strategy and its spatial themes. This ensures that 
a clear, consistent and wide-ranging delivery approach is embedded 
throughout the Core Strategy.  
 

C11 Programme 
of Delivery 

130 Extend to include all 
vehicles for delivery 

Amended Programme for Delivery as set out in CD 161A – revised CS 
Appendix 2  

C12 Appendix 3 142 Replace “N/A” with 
“Monitor trend” 

“Monitor Trend” 

C13 Delivery and 
Implementa
tion 

118-
119 

Updating of text in light 
of amended government 
guidance. 

Amend para 8.8  
 
The Council may pool contributions relating to significant infrastructure i.e. 
transport, education and health.  The Council may chose to achieve this 
through adopting the Community Infrastructure Levy in the future and / or 
through the use of planning obligations.   
 
Any pooling of contributions, including the calculation of planning contribution 
requirements or a CIL levy will be determined through either a SPD on 
planning contributions or through a CIL charging schedule. 
 

C14 Delivery and 
Implementa
tion 

118-
119 

Updating of text in light 
of amended government 
guidance. 

For further information see Circular 05/05: Planning Obligations, LBTH 
Planning Obligations SPD and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010. 
 

P
age 82



No 
Core 
Strategy 
section 

Page 
Description of 
recommended change 

 
Text (if any) 
 

C15 Creating a 
green and 
blue grid 

54 Further explanation of 
how the SFRA has been 
carried through into the 
Core Strategy within 
“Why we have taken this 
approach” text (para 
4.21). 

4.20 The Blue Grid addresses the issues relating to the borough’s water 
spaces and flood risk. The Strategic Flooding Risk Assessment (SFRA) (2009) 
identifies that parts of the borough are at potential risk of flooding within Flood 
Zones 1, 2 and 3. It states that the current main risks of flooding in the 
borough are fluvial flooding in the Lower Lea catchment, breaches in the 
Thames Tidal Defences during tidal surge events and surface water flooding 
from impermeable surfaces.  It also identifies areas which are subject to actual 
risk, including Poplar Riverside and Fish Island  The Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment was used to Sequentially Test the Core Strategy to ensure it 
addresses areas of potential risk to all types of flooding across the borough.  
However further sequential testing of sites will come forward as a part of the 
Site and Place making DPD.  
 

C16 Working 
towards a 
zero-carbon 
borough 
 

84 Review of SP11(7) in 
light of London Plan. 

Require all new developments to provide 20% reduction of carbon dioxide 
emissions through on-site renewable energy generation where feasible. 

C17 Working 
towards a 
zero-carbon 
borough 

85 Further explanation of 
the area based approach 
stated within SP11(5) 
within the “Why we have 
taken this approach” text 
(para 6.26) with 
reference to figure 35. 
 

6.26 Focusing higher proportions of carbon emissions reduction measures in 
specific areas will help to capture and maximise the cumulative benefits. The 
most appropriate areas are those with larger concentrations of identified 
development sites. Current identified clusters correspond with the low carbon 
areas on Fig 35. 

C18 Appendix 
One 

125 Definition of Energy 
Opportunity Areas 

Areas of new development where more energy efficient solutions can be 
applied by considering potential sites together. 
 
It is in these areas that the principles of Mayor of London’s Energy Action 
Areas will be best applied. 
 

C19 Creating 
distinct and 
durable 
places 

81 Add reference to 
strategic and local views 
to Why we have taken 
this approach text. 

New Para 6.18 Strategic views guidance is provided within the London Plan 
(2008) with local views to be set out in the forthcoming Development 
Management DPD and Proposals Map. 

P
age 83



No 
Core 
Strategy 
section 

Page 
Description of 
recommended change 

 
Text (if any) 
 

C20 Creating 
distinct and 
durable 
places 

81 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Provision of clarification 
of linkages between 
Figure 35 and “Why we 
have taken this 
approach” text. 

Addition to Para 6.15 (prior to change 1 above): 
 
Figure 34 identifies broad areas of different townscapes currently existing in 
the borough.  These areas require different responses when managing growth 
and change. 
 

C21 Creating 
distinct and 
durable 
places 

78 / 
80 

To clarify linkages 
between the Core 
Strategy policies for tall 
buildings and those 
within the London Plan 
(2008) by referencing 
economic clusters. 

Figure 34 key – Tall building locations for economic clusters of large floor plate 
offices. 
 
SP10 5.a. Be part of an existing economic cluster and respond to existing built 
character of the area. 
 
Para 6.17 As such, tall buildings are best suited to established economic 
clusters at Canary Wharf and Aldgate, where they complement the existing 
context.   

C22 Creating 
distinct and 
durable 
places 

80 Add reference to Site and 
Place Making DPD for 
allocating preferred sites 
for tall buildings. 

b. Appropriate sites for tall buildings will be identified within the Site and Place 
Making DPD.  All tall buildings including those outside of the above locations 
will be assessed against criteria set out in the Development Management DPD. 

C23 Creating 
distinct and 
durable 
places 

79 Add reference to 
protection of the 
Maritime Greenwich 
World Heritage Site. 

Change 1 – amend text of SP10(1) to read: 
 
1. Protect, manage and enhance the Tower of London World Heritage Site, its 
setting, and surrounding area, as well as the buffer zone and setting of the 
Maritime Greenwich World Heritage Site through: 
a. The respective World Heritage Site Management Plans and associated 
documents. 

 

 

P
age 84



Annex B – Inspector’s changes 

No 
Core 
Strategy 
section 

Page 
Description of 
recommended change 

 
Text (if any) 
 

IC1 Delivering 
successful 
employment 
hubs 

61 State that POLs will be 
defined and designated 
through future DPDs  
This change supports and 
is consistent with the 
Council’s change C9 

Policy SP06.2 - after “in the following areas” insert “ which will be defined 
in the Site and Placemaking DPD:”  

IC2 Delivering 
successful 
employment 
hubs 

61 State that LOLs will be 
defined and designated 
through future DPDs This 
was agreed at the 
examination hearings 

Policy SP06.3.a – after Designating locations” insert “through the Site and 
Placemaking DPD” 

IC3 Glossary 
Appendix 1 

127 Inclusion of reference to 
micro businesses in 
definition of SME 
This change avoids the 
need for more significant 
changes to SP06 which 
were suggested by the 
Council. 

After 50 employees (small) add: “and including micro businesses”.  

IC4 Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan  

130 
135 

Amend to reflect the 
availability of Leven Road 
Gasworks.  This change is 
based on agreed wording 
set out in Statement of 
Common Ground No 5 – 
LBTH/ National Grid. 

P130  Up to 8FE of primary school provision – amend timescale to 2020 
P135  Leven Road open space – amend timescale to 2015 - 2020 

IC5 Placemaking   Place pages 90 – 114 of the Core Strategy in an Annex. 
IC6 Creating 

distinct and 
durable 
places 

81 Further explanation of 
townscape areas. 
This change supports and 
is consistent with the 
Council’s change C20. 

Further addition to paragraph 6.15. 
 
These areas will be identified and detailed policies stated in the 
Development Management DPD and the Site and Placemaking DPD.  

 

P
age 85



P
age 86

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annex C – Council’s minor amendments 

No Core Strategy Section Original Text Amended Text Page 

0 Entire Document    
  Table of contents Add Strategic objectives and Spatial Policies 6/7 
  Tower of London & St Katharine’s Tower of London and St Katharine Docks 42, 141 
1 Setting the Scene    
1.1  Legacy Masterplan Legacy Masterplan Framework 18 
1.2  Site Allocations DPD Site and Place Making DPD 14 
1.3  Place and Site Making DPD Site and Place Making DPD 15 
1.4  Proposals Map DPD Proposals Map 14 
1.5  Community Plan 2020 Community Plan 14 
1.6  Proposals Map DPD (Fig 2) Proposals Map 15 
1.7  CS Options Paper One July 2008 LBTH Options and Alternatives Consultation Document 2008 15 
1.8 
 

 CS Options Paper Two Feb 2009 LBTH Options and Alternatives for Places Consultation Document 2009 15 

1.9  Community Plan 2020 Community Plan 21 
2 The Big Spatial Vision   
2.1  Legacy Masterplan Legacy Masterplan Framework 29 
2.2  Town Centre Implementation Programme Town Centre Implementation Plans 26 
2.3 Removed by Inspector  - change to Programme of Delivery moved to Annex A  26 
2.4  Sustainable Communities Plan 2003 Sustainable Communities Plan (Sustainable Communities: Building for the future), 2003 31 
3 Refocusing on our Town Centres   
3.1  Proposal Map DPD Proposals Map 38 
3.2  St Paul’s Way Development Programme St Pauls Way Transformation Project 38 
3.3  Council Asset Management Programme Council Asset Management Strategy 38 
3.4   Addition of the following text to the end of para. 3.4 

 
This has been reflected in the amendments to the town centre hierarchy, key examples of 
which have been the development of the Tower Hamlets Activity Areas and the 
establishment of a new town centre at Bromley-by-Bow. 

39 

3.5  See appendix four for detailed town centre hierarchy and see the Town Centre Spatial 
Strategy for further information. 

See Appendix Four for the detailed town centre hierarchy and see Chapter 4 of the Town 
Centre Spatial Strategy (2009) for further information about each town centre. 
 

35 

3.6  See Retail Capacity Assessment 2009 for further details See Retail and Leisure Capacity Study (2009) for further details 37 
3.7  LBTH Town Centre Spatial Strategy Retail Capacity Assessment (2009) LBTH Retail and Leisure Capacity Study (2009) 39 
3.8  The council looked at the challenges facing the borough’s town centres to understand 

how to ensure they retain their vibrancy, competitiveness and strengths while 
respecting their different roles. According to the measures of town centres’ health56, 
most town centres in Tower Hamlets are in reasonable health57. 

The council looked at the challenges facing the borough’s town centres to understand how 
to ensure they retain their vibrancy, competitiveness and strengths while respecting their 
different roles. According to the measures of town centres’ health56 (which do not reflect 
overtrading57), most town centres in Tower Hamlets are in reasonable health58. 

39 

3.9   Addition of title “ Programme of Delivery” above text “This strategy will be implemented 
through a number of key projects including:” 

38 

3.10  Poplar Area Action Plan Poplar Area Area Action Plan 38 
4 Strengthening Neighbourhood Well-being   
4.1  Masterplans & Area Action Plans (All) Masterplans and Area Action Plans (All) 45 
4.2  Proposals Map DPD Proposals Map 45 
4.3  Proposals Map DPD Proposals Map 53 
4.4  Proposals Map DPD Proposals Map 56 
4.5  St Paul’s Way Development Programme St Pauls Way Transformation Project 45 
4.6  SP05.5 Delete SP05.5 it’s the same as SP08.4 56 
4.7  Local Biodiversity Action Plan 2004 Local Biodiversity Action Plan 2009 54 
4.8  Tower Hamlets Housing Investment Programme Borough Investment Plan 

(Tower Hamlets Housing Investment Programme) 
45 

4.9  LBTH Housing Implementation Strategy Remove text 45 
4.10  Seek to deliver approximately 43,275 new homes (equating to 2,885 per year) from Seek to deliver 43,275 new homes (equating to 2,885 per year) from 2010 to 2025 in line 43 

P
age 87



2010 to 2025 in line with the housing targets set out in the London Plan. with the housing targets set out in the London Plan. 
4.11   Addition of title “ Programme of Delivery” above text “This strategy will be implemented 

through a number of key projects including:” 
38, 45, 49, 
53, 56 

4.12  Ensure any new waste management facility is integrated into its surroundings, is 
modern, innovative and well designed to minimise negative impacts and robust enough 
to alter its operation and capacity as circumstances change. Further criteria will be set 
out in the Development Management DPD. 

Ensure any new waste management facility is integrated into its surroundings, is modern, 
innovative and well designed. The facility should minimise negative environmental, 
transport and amenity impacts on the surrounding area (including within neighbouring 
boroughs). It should be flexible enough to alter its operation and capacity as 
circumstances change without materially increasing these impacts. Further criteria will be 
set out in the Development Management DPD. 

56 

4.13  Work with British Waterways to deliver a network of high-quality, usable and accessible 
waterspaces, through: 

Change 1 – SPO04 (4) amend text to: 
“Work with British Waterways and the Port of London Authority to deliver a network of high 
quality, usable and accessible waterspaces, through:” 
 

53 

4.14  Place and Site Making DPD Site and Place Making DPD 45 
4.15  GLA London Plan 2008 & GLA Housing in London 2008 GLA London Plan 2008 and GLA Housing in London 2008 46 
4.16  LBTH Planning for PC&G – Baseline Report 2009 LBTH Planning for Population Change and Growth Capacity Assessment - Baseline 

Report, 2009 
46 

4.17  LBTH Affordable Housing Viability – LDF Review LBTH Affordable Housing Viability Assessment 46 
4.18  LBTH Children’s Play Space Strategy LBTH Play Space Strategy 2007 46 
4.19  LBTH Planning and Play Design Principle for Playable Space in LB Tower Hamlets LBTH Planning and Play Design Principle for Playable Space in LB Tower Hamlets 2008 45 
4.20  Poplar Area Action Plan Poplar Area Area Action Plan 49 
4.21  Leisure Strategy x2 LBTH Leisure Facilities Strategy (Sporting Places) 49 
4.22  Multi-faith burial ground Criteria for Multi-Faith Burial Ground Report 49 
4.23  Air Quality Management Framework LBTH Air Quality Action Plan 49 
4.24  Clear Zone Clear Zone Partnership 49 
4.25  NHS Tower Hamlets Health and well-being strategy (Draft) 2009 Improving Health and Well-being in Tower Hamlets 2006 50 
4.26  NHS Tower Hamlets Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, 2008 NHS Tower Hamlets Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, 2008/09 50 
4.27  Air Quality Management Plan 2004 Air Quality Action Plan 2004  50 
4.28  LBTH Multi Faith Burial Site Report Criteria for Multi-Faith Burial Ground Report 2009 50 
4.29  LBTH Leisure Strategy 2009 LBTH Leisure Strategy (Sporting Places) 2009 50 
4.30  LBTH Open Space Strategy LBTH Open Space Strategy 53 
4.31  Local Biodiversity Action Plan LBTH Local Biodiversity Action Plan 53 
4.32  European Union Water Framework Directive European Union Waste Framework Directive 54 
4.33  Thames Estuary 2100 Action Plan 2009 Thames Estuary Action Plan Consultation Document 2009 54 
4.34  Poplar Area Action Plan Poplar Area Action Plan 56 
5 Enabling Prosperous Communities   
5.1  Proposals Map DPD Proposals Map 62 
5.2  St Paul’s Way Transformation project St Pauls Way Transformation Project 66 
5.3  LBTH Strategic Business Case (BSF), 2006 Remove bullet point 67 
5.4  LBTH Strategy for Change Part One, 2008 Remove bullet point 67 
5.5  LBTH Economic Strategy Remove bullet point 62 
5.6  MAA Worklessness Remove bullet point 62 
5.7   LBTH Regeneration Strategy 62 
5.8   Employment Strategy 62 
5.9   Addition of title “ Programme of Delivery” above text “This strategy will be implemented 

through a number of key projects including:” 
62, 66 

5.10  Poplar Area Action Plan Poplar Area Area Action Plan 62 
5.11  LBTH Economic Strategy  LBTH Regeneration Strategy 62 
5.12  City Fringe Opportunity Area Planning Framework 2006 City Fringe Opportunity Area Planning Framework (draft) 2006 62 
5.13  Poplar Area Action Plan Poplar Area Area Action Plan 66 
6 Designing a High Quality City   
6.1  Housing estate regeneration Housing estate regeneration projects 84 
6.2  Local Implementation Plan (transport) Local Implementation Plan 72 
6.3  Millennium Quarter Millennium Quarter Masterplan 80 
6.4  Proposal Map DPD Proposals Map 80 
6.5  Proposals Map DPD Proposals Map 72 
6.6  St Pauls Way Transformational Project St Pauls Way Transformation Project 76 
6.7  Town Centre Implementation Plan Town Centre Implementation Plans 76 

P
age 88



6.8  City Fringe Conservation Plan Remove text 80 
6.9  Energy Action Areas Energy Opportunity Areas 84 
6.10   Addition of title “ Programme of Delivery” above text “This strategy will be implemented 

through a number of key projects including:” 
72, 76, 80, 
84 

6.11                                               
6.12  Poplar Area Action Plan Poplar Area Area Action Plan 72 
6.13  East London Line Extension London Overground 72 
6.14  Making Connections Making Connections: Towards a Climate Friendly Transport Future 72 
6.15  Mayor’s Transport Strategy GLA Transport Strategy 72 
6.16  “Making Connections” Transport Strategy “Making Connections” strategy 72 
6.17  , the East London Line Extension, , the incorporation of the East London Line into the London Overground network, 73 
6.18  Making Connections 2008 Making Connection: Towards a Climate Friendly Transport Future, 2008 73 
6.19  LBTH Planning for PC&G – Baseline Report 2009 LBTH Planning for Population Change and Growth – Baseline Report 2009  73 
6.20  secured by design Secured by Design 77 
6.21  Manual for Streets DfT Manual for Streets 77 
6.22  The World Heritage Site Management Plan and associated documents The Tower of London  World Heritage Site Management Plan and associated documents 79 
6.23  Conservation Area Management Plans Conservation Areas Character Appraisals and Management Guidelines 79 
6.24  Conservation Area Character Statements and Management Plans Conservation Areas Character Appraisal and Management Guidelines 80 
6.25  Code for Sustainable Homes Code for Sustainable Homes: Setting the standard in sustainability for new homes  80 
6.26  Heritage Counts English Heritage Heritage Count 2008 81 
6.27  Urban Design Compendium 1&2 Urban Design Compendium 1&2 2007 81 
6.28  Sustainable Energy & Biodiversity Enhancement Report 2008 Opportunities for Sustainable Energy and Biodiversity Enhancement 2008 84 
6.29  Mayor’s Climate Change Action Plan GLA Climate Change Action Plan 85 
7 Delivering Place-making   
7.1  To promote a mix of uses that successfully reinforce the city fringe character of small 

shops and businesses, alongside residential. 
Promote a mix of uses that successfully reinforce the city fringe character of small shops 
and businesses, alongside residential. 

91 

7.2  To structure and positively plan for development that will address  
the severance caused by the A12, the railway and the waterspace. 

To structure and positively plan for development that will address the severance caused 
by the A12, the railway and waterspaces including the River Lea. 
 

106 

7.3   Addition of Northumberland Wharf on Vision Diagram with the following text “Safeguarding 
Northumberland Wharf”. 

111 

7.4   Add the following priority: “To continue to protect Northumberland Wharf for cargo-
handling uses including the transport of waste. Development that prejudices the operation 
of the wharf for these purposes will not be supported”. 
 

111 

7.5   Add the following principle: “Effective buffers are needed to protect the amenity of 
surrounding uses and the future operation of Northumberland Wharf.”  
 

111 

7.6  PPS1: Local Spatial Planning PPS12: Local Spatial Planning 2008 89 
7.7  CLG World Class Places 2009 DCLG World Class Places 2009 89 
8 Delivery and Implementation   
8.1A  Healthy Borough programme Tower Hamlets Green Grid                                                                               118 
8.1  Proposals Map DPD Proposals Map 
9 Appendices    
 Appendix Two: Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP)   
9.1A   Number items within Appendix 2 130 
9.1  Aldgate Master Plan Aldgate Masterplan 136 
9.2  Aspen Way Master Plan Aspen Way Masterplan 135 
9.3  Bishopsgate Master Plan Bishopsgate Goodsyard Masterplan 136 
9.4  Bromley-by-Bow Master Plan Bromley-by-Bow Masterplan 133 
9.5  Bromley-by-Bow Master Plan Bromley-by-Bow Masterplan 136 
9.6  Hackney Wick / Fish Island Master Plan Fish Island Area Action Plan 133 
9.7  Hackney Wick / Fish Island Masterplan Fish Island Area Action Plan 132 
9.8  Hackney Wick Fish Island Master Plan Fish Island Area Action Plan 136 
9.9  Idea Store Strategy (draft) Idea Store Strategy 138 
9.10  LMF Legacy Masterplan Framework 133 
9.11  Millennium Quarter Master Plan Millennium Quarter Masterplan 134 
9.12  Sporting Places – A Leisure Facilities Strategy for the LBTH (draft) Sporting Places – A Leisure Facilities Strategy for the LBTH 137 

P
age 89



9.13  Sporting Places – A Leisure Facilities Strategy for the LBTH (draft) Sporting Places – A Leisure Facilities Strategy for the LBTH 138 
9.14  Victoria Park Master Plan Victoria Park Masterplan 136 
9.15  Victoria Park Master Plan Victoria Park Master Plan 137 
9.16  Whitechapel Master Plan Whitechapel Masterplan 133 
9.17  Implemention (IDP 9th column, 4th row) Implementation 133 
9.18  Millenium (IDP 9th column, 3rd row) Millennium 134 
9.19  "(draft)" (IDP 9th column, 5th row) remove "(draft)"  137 
9.20  "(Draft)" (IDP 9th column, 3rd row) remove "(Draft)"  138 
9.21  "part two" 9th column / 3rd row remove "part two" 131 
9.22  Hackney Wick / Fish Island Masterplan / Forthcoming Feasibility Study Hackney Wick and Fish Island Hub Study 132 
9.23  Potentially part of TFL Sub Regional Plan for East London scheme Remove text 132 
9.24   Refer to appendix 130-142 
9.25  St Paul’s Way Transformational Projects St Paul’s Transformation Project 134 
 Appendix Five: Superseded Policies   
9.26  None U1 - Retained 157 
9.27  None U2 – Retained 157 
9.28  None U3 – Removed – superseded by SP04 157 
9.29  None U10 - Retained 157 
9.30  None U12 - Retained 157 
9.31  None U13 - Retained 157 
9.32  Place and Site Making DPD Site and Place Making DPD 154 
9.33  Proposals Map DPD Proposals Map 154 
 Endnotes    
9.34  27. LBTH Strategic Housing Market Assessment (Draft), 2009. (p.107-108) 27. LBTH Strategic Housing Market Assessment, 2009. (p.107-108) 162 
9.35   Amend all end notes beyond 56 end note (refer to 3.8 above) All 
9.36  LBTH Climate Change and Mitigation and Adaptation Report 2009 x3 LBTH Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation Report 2009 162 
9.37  WHO Health Cities and the City Planning Process WHO Healthy Cities and the City Planning Process 162 
9.38  PPS Planning and Climate Change 2007 PPS1 Supplement Planning and Climate Change 162 
9.39  PPS1: Creating Sustainable Communities PPS1: Delivering Sustainable Development 162 
9.40  Good Practice Note 5: Delivering Healthy Communities, Royal Town Planning Institute, 

2009  
RTPI Good Practice Note 5: Delivering Healthy Communities. 2009 162 

9.41  PPS12, 2008 PPS12 Local Spatial Planning, 2008 162 
9.42  London Plan 2008 GLA London Plan 2008 162 
9.43  LBTH Community Plan 2020 x2  LBTH Community Plan 2008 162 
9.44  Tower Hamlets Community Plan: 2020 Vision page 4 LBTH Community Plan 2008 – 2020 Vision (p. 4) 162 
9.45  LBTH Space Syntax, Spatial Baseline Report 2009 LBTH Town Centre Spatial Strategy Spatial Baseline, 2009 162 
9.46  LBTH Spatial Baseline Reports LBTH Town Centre Spatial Strategy Spatial Baseline, 2009 162 
9.47  Strategic Housing Market and Needs Assessment August 2009 x2 Strategic Housing Market Needs Assessment 2009 162 
9.48  LBTH Housing Strategy 2008-11 LBTH Housing Strategy 2009 162 
9.49  LBTH Strategic Housing Market Assessment August 2009 LBTH Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2009 162 
9.50  RTPI Good Practice Note 5 2009 RTPI Good Practice Note 5, Delivering Healthy Communities 2009 162 
9.51  RTPI Good Practice Note 5 2009 RTPI Good Practice Note 5, Delivering Healthy Communities 2009 163 
9.52  LBTH Industrial Study 2006 LBTH Industrial Land Study 2006 163 
9.53  Manual for Streets 2007 DfT Manual for Streets 2007 163 
9.54  LBTH Town Centre Spatial Strategy Spatial 2009 x2 LBTH Town Centre Spatial Strategy 2009 163 
9.55  Enabling Development and the Conservation of Significant Places 2008, & Moving 

Towards Excellence in Urban Design 2003 
English Heritage Enabling Development and the Conservation of Significant Places 2008, 
& English Heritage Moving Towards Excellence in Urban Design 2003 

163 

9.56  Opportunities for Sustainable Energy and Biodiversity Enhancement 2008 LBTH Opportunities for Sustainable Energy and Biodiversity Enhancement 2008 163 
9.57  PPS12 2008 PPS12: Local Spatial Planning 2008 163 

 

P
age 90



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

Committee/Meeting: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
8 September 
2010 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted 
 

 

Report No: 
 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director – Development and 
Renewal 
 
Originating officer(s)  
Jackie Odunoye 
Service Head (Head of Strategy, 
Innovation & Sustainability) / 
Paul Leeson, 
Finance Manager - 
Development & Renewal 
 

Title:  
 
Adoption of Housing Investment 
Programme Capital Estimates - 2010/11   
 
Wards Affected:  
 
All 

 
 

Lead Member Housing, Heritage and Planning 

Community Plan Theme  One Tower Hamlets 

Strategic Priority Ensuring value for money across the Council 

 
 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Council submitted its 2010-11 Housing Investment Programme to the 10 

March 2010 Cabinet for consideration in order to minimise delays in 
commencing works on the approved schemes at the start of the 2010-11 
financial year. Consequently, the Council envisaged submitting an updated 
Housing Investment Programme to Cabinet in the summer.  
 

1.2 It has however subsequently become apparent that the resources available 
to fund the capital programme in 2011-12 are at risk of being much less than 
originally envisaged, and as a result this impacts upon the 2010-11 
programme. Officers in Development and Renewal, in conjunction with 
Tower Hamlets Homes, have reassessed the programme to mitigate this 
risk.  

 
1.3 This report seeks to vary capital estimates and schemes adopted by Cabinet 

in March 2010 in respect of the 2010-11 Housing Investment Programme for 
those elements of the programme that are managed by Tower Hamlets 
Homes. It also seeks approval for the adoption of a capital estimate to 
commence the delivery of Decent Homes works that were approved under 
the Accelerating Delivery of Key priorities scheme.  

 

Agenda Item 6.2

Page 91



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

2. DECISIONS REQUIRED 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to: - 
 
2.1 Note the contractually committed schemes that have been let and have 

commitments in 2010-11 and 2011-12, as set out in Appendix A of the report 
(see paragraph 7.2).  

 
2.2 Adopt capital estimates for those schemes set out in Appendix B and 

delegate authority to the Corporate Director, Development and Renewal, 
after consultation with the Lead Member – Housing, Heritage and Planning, 
to progress subject to clarification on the funding for 2011-12 and resources 
being made available (see paragraphs 7.4 and 7.5). 

 
2.3 Adopt a capital estimate of £500,000 within the 2010-11 capital programme 

to establish a contingency provision for urgent works. (see paragraph 7.6). 
 
2.4 Adopt capital estimates of up to £2,000,000, as outlined in Appendix D, to 

allow the commencement of the Decent Homes programme to be funded 
under the Accelerated Delivery of Key Priorities as agreed by Cabinet on 4 
November 2009. (see paragraph 8.1).  

 
2.5 Adopt a capital estimate of £100,000 to incorporate additional Aids and 

Adaptations funding into the Housing Investment Programme. These 
resources were also approved under the Accelerated Delivery of Key 
Priorities as agreed by Cabinet on 4 November 2009. (see paragraph 8.2). 

 
2.6 Agree that the capital receipt of £800,000 from the sale of 9 ex-short life 

properties to Network Housing Association will be used to part fund the 
Network scheme at 14-20 Alie Street., as outlined in section 9 of the report. 

 
 
3. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1 In accordance with Financial Regulations, capital schemes must be included 

within the Council’s capital programme and capital estimates adopted prior 
to any expenditure being incurred. This report seeks the adoption of the 
necessary capital estimates for various housing schemes in order that they 
can be progressed. 

 
 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 Schemes within the Housing Investment Programme are assessed by Tower 

Hamlets Homes in accordance with relative need, and are then prioritised. 
Although alternative schemes are feasible, they would not be adopted in 
accordance with the asset management strategy and would be contrary to 
the procedures applied to the Housing Investment Programme.  

 
 

Page 92



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

5. BACKGROUND 
 
5.1 In order to enable forward planning and clearly identify current and future 

priorities, the Council has developed a five year Housing Investment 
Programme, with the outline schemes forming the 2009-10 to 2013-14 
programme that was approved by Cabinet on 29 July 2009. An updated 
programme is presented to Cabinet annually as circumstances change, 
resources available in the short term become clearer, and preparation work 
for the next year of the five-year rolling programme is undertaken. 

 
5.2 An initial report for 2010-11 was approved by Cabinet on 10 March 2010 in 

order that the initial necessary capital estimates could be adopted and to 
ensure that there would be no delay in works commencing on the approved 
schemes at the start of the financial year. 

 
5.3 At its May 2009 meeting, Cabinet agreed the Housing Strategy 2009-11 

which contained the following objectives: 
 

• Delivering and maintaining decent homes 
• Placemaking and sustainable communities 
• Managing demand, reducing overcrowding 
• New housing supply 
 

 The investment programme agreed in March and updated here addresses 
these aims, where appropriate. Other aspects of the Housing Strategy are 
being met through other complementary means e.g. via the Home and 
Communities Agency funding programme. 

 
5.4 The Council is part-way through its currently agreed five year programme. 

The programme has been updated and informed by the recently completed 
stock condition survey, and resident priorities and agreed in detail for the 
current and following financial year, with new schemes added to the 
programme as appropriate to ensure it continues to roll forward effectively 
and informs the investment planning process for future years.  

 
5.5 In order to ensure that progress continues to be made on delivery of the 

approved programme, the Council needs to be able to work schemes up to 
tender and begin detailed resident consultation. Schemes must be part of 
the approved programme before this process can commence. 

Page 93



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

6. RESOURCES 
 
6.1 In common with the majority of capital funded programmes, the Housing 

Capital Programme is affected by uncertainty concerning the future of 
various financing regimes. 

 
 There are several factors that currently impact upon the funding of the 

Housing Capital Programme, the main issues being: 
 

o The review of the Housing Capital Financing System, and the possible 
dismantling of the Housing Revenue Account Subsidy system 

 
o Reduction in Government support for housing projects, including the 

risk that Supported Capital Expenditure will not be extended beyond 
2010-11  

 
o The availability of Decent Homes Funding 

 
6.2 Over recent years, the mainstream Housing Capital Programme has been 

funded from resources of approximately £28 million per annum, made up of 
Major Repairs Allowance of £12.5 million and Supported Capital Expenditure 
of £15.5 million. Major Repairs Allowance is a cash grant that is paid to 
authorities through the Housing Subsidy system, while Supported Capital 
Expenditure is an authority specific allocation representing the amount of 
borrowing that can be undertaken with full financing support for the revenue 
costs (i.e. interest payments) being met via  the Housing Subsidy system. 

 
6.3 Allowing for commitments on regeneration schemes (e.g. Ocean NDC and 

Blackwall Reach), the capital programme for expenditure on the Authority’s 
own stock has been approximately £23 - £25 million per annum, and this 
level of on-going resources had been assumed to be available to underpin 
the Housing Capital Programme in the future. 

 
6.4 However, officers consider it to be a significant risk that the Coalition 

Government, as part of the Comprehensive Spending Review to be 
announced in the autumn and any subsequent Housing Revenue Account 
Subsidy entitlement legislation, will reduce the levels of Supported Capital 
Expenditure available. Based on recent years, this will mean that in excess 
of £15 million of resources will be at risk and it is now considered prudent to 
reassess the capital programme. 

 
6.5 For the purposes of this report, it is assumed that the existing Subsidy 

system will continue into 2011-12 and that if the proposed new self-financing 
system, as reported to Cabinet in July, is introduced, it will be after 1 April 
2011 (see section 10 below). 

 
6.6 The Council established Tower Hamlets Homes in July 2008 and anticipates 

this will lever in additional resources from 2011 onwards, subject to the 
ALMO achieving two star status in its inspection later this year. However, 
this report is based on existing resources from 2010-11 and estimates for 

Page 94



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

future years without an assumption of those additional resources. Until the 
Council has certainty of its ALMO Decent Homes funding allocation, its 
scope to address decent homes is more limited, however, the Housing 
Investment Programme does include a decent homes pilot programme. 

 
6.7 The table below (Table 1 – Projected Resources 2011-12) sets out officers’ 

assessment of the best and worst case scenarios for available resources in 
2011-12. The residual available resources shown are net of projected levels 
of commitments for both Blackwall Reach and Ocean Estate. The scenarios 
determining the indicative 2011/12 level of resources are based on the latest 
available information, the worst case excluding Supported Capital 
Expenditure, the best case including it. 

 
6.8 The table highlights that there could be a severe adverse movement in the 

availability of resources in 2011-12 which will impact upon the ability to 
finance the current level of commitments arising from the agreed Housing 
Investment Programme. It is therefore prudent for the Council to re-assess 
its current programme. 

 
 
Table 1 – Projected Resources 2011-12 
 
 

2011/12 2011/12 
Resources 2010/11 

Worst case Best Case 

  £ £ £ 

        

Supported Capital Expenditure 15,500,000  0  15,500,000  

Major Repairs Allowance 12,913,000 12,500,000 12,500,000 

Major Repairs Allowance (B/F) 1,075,000 0 0 

East London Sub-Regional 
Funding 

160,000 0 0 

  29,648,000 12,500,000 28,000,000 

Less: Regeneration 
Commitments 

      

(Blackwall Reach and Ocean 
Estate) 

(6,000,000) (5,900,000) (5,900,000) 

        

Projected Resources 23,648,000 6,600,000 22,100,000 

 
 
 
7. REVIEW OF PROGRAMME 
 
7.1 In light of the potential shortfall in resources for 2011-12 that is outlined in 

section 6 above, officers in Development and Renewal and Tower Hamlets 
Homes have jointly undertaken a detailed analysis of the programme to 
identify the status of each of the Housing Capital schemes. The aim of this 
was to enable an informed, controlled programme of work to be delivered 

Page 95



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

over a rolling period within constraints of both known and projected levels of 
resources.  

 
7.2 All schemes within the programme have subsequently been reviewed, with 

the exception of the capitalised repairs to long-term voids, aids and 
adaptations and the Council’s cash incentive scheme. This review identified 
that contractual liabilities are currently £12.957 million, with the in-year value 
(2010-11) of these schemes being £11.707m (around half of the available 
2010-11 resources). More significantly the associated contractual liabilities in 
2010-11 are only £1.250m, which makes the delivery of these schemes 
affordable. These are shown in Appendix A and members are asked to note 
these schemes and their impact on 2011-12. 

 
7.3 The remaining proposed 2010-11 uncommitted schemes had an in-year 

value of approximately £10m. However, many of these schemes also carried 
a financial commitment into 2011-12 and this sum exceeded £14m, which is 
now in excess of our prudent estimate of resources available.  

 

7.4 The £6.6 million of resources in 2011-12 must encompass the existing 
commitments of £1.250m already entered into on contracted schemes 
(paragraph 7.2) as well as other currently unapproved future calls on the 
programme (e.g. capitalisation of voids, aids and adaptations and the cash 
incentive scheme). In addition, Tower Hamlets Homes has put forward its 
recommended proposed priorities to the Council, which are shown in 
Appendix B. These include various decent homes works. In total these THH 
schemes project expenditure of £8.003 million in 2010-11, which can be met 
from within the current year’s resources, but would carry forward 
commitments of £5.122 million into 2011-12. 

 
7.5 In light of these concerns, it is proposed that the schemes within the 

programme will be prioritised and released as appropriate but within the 
constraints of resources available in both 2010-11 and 2011-12. In order that 
these schemes can be contractually committed at the earliest opportunity, 
officers therefore recommend that capital estimates for the schemes shown 
in Appendix B are adopted but that authority to progress is delegated to the 
Corporate Director, Development and Renewal, in conjunction with the Lead 
Member - Housing, Heritage and Planning, as and when greater clarity is 
forthcoming on the 2011-12 resource position. 

 
7.6 It is essential to provide an appropriate financial contingency to cover the 

risks associated with the delivery of a major capital programme. The 
previously adopted Housing Capital Programme makes no provision for 
contingency therefore is recommended Members approve a capital estimate 
to establish a contingency provision of £500,000. The utilisation of this 
contingency will only be subject to the approval of the Corporate Director, 
Development and Renewal.  

 
7.7 The Table below shows the resource and expenditure position over the two 

financial years. This highlights that although the contracts already let place a 
commitment of only £1.250m in 2011-12, the proposed THH prioritised 

Page 96



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

works would commit all “worst case” resources without allowing for any 
specific initiatives or unforeseen expenditure that might arise in 2011-12.  

 
 
Table 2 – Projected Expenditure v Projected Resources 
 

  
 
7.8 The revised capital programme proposed by Tower Hamlets Homes for 

2010-11, which incorporates the projected expenditure shown in the table 
above, is summarised by scheme type in Appendix C. 

 
 
8. ACCELERATING DELIVERY OF KEY PRIORITIES 
 
8.1 On 4 November 2009, Cabinet approved funding towards the ‘Accelerating 

Delivery of Key Priorities’ (CAB 078/090). Included amongst the approvals 
was £2 million of funding towards the Delivery of Decent Homes (Bid 
AD/DR/02). In order for the scheme to progress, a capital estimate must be 
adopted. The proposed schemes are attached as Appendix D to this report.  

 
8.2 In addition to the Decent Homes Funding, members also approved the 

allocation of £250,000 of resources to fund Aids and Adaptations within the 
Council’s housing stock. Cabinet approval is sought for the adoption of a 
capital estimate of £100,000 in order that the 2010-11 element of this 
scheme can be formally adopted within the capital programme. 
 
 

9. SHORT LIFE PROPERTY DISPOSAL TO NETWORK HOUSING GROUP 

2011/12 2011/12 
Resources 2010/11 

Worst case Best Case 

  £ £ £ 
        

Projected Resources (See Table 1) 23,648,000  6,600,000  22,100,000  

        

Projected Expenditure       

        

Main Capital Programme – Committed 
(Appendix A) 
 

11,707,000  1,250,000  1,250,000  

THH Proposed Prioritised Works 
(Appendix B) 
  

8,003,000  5,122,000  5,122,000 

Other Housing Initiatives 3,400,000      

Contingency 500,000      

Total Actual & Projected Capital 
Expenditure 

23,610,000  6,372,000  6,372,000 

        

Available Resources 38,000  228,000  15,728,000  

Page 97



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

 
9.1 On 8 November 2006 Cabinet agreed to sell a number of short life properties 

to be redeveloped for affordable housing and to use the resources generated 
from the sale for further affordable housing or regeneration schemes within 
the Authority’s capital programme. A sale was subsequently agreed with 
Network Housing Group of nine of these ex-shortlife properties (Ropery 
Street and others), which have been subject to a number of complaints from 
neighbouring properties. Following protracted negotiations with the Homes 
and Communities Agency, grant of £1,400,800 has been agreed and the 
refurbishment will produce 5 x 3 bed houses and 4 x 4 bed houses. 

 
9.2 The HCA were unwilling to support the high level of grant required for the 

Ropery Street properties, primarily because the scheme costs included an 
£800,000 receipt being paid to the Council, unless the Council uses this 
receipt to part fund another Network scheme. This is not at variance with the 
original Cabinet decision and therefore in order to achieve the sale and 
refurbishment of these run-down properties, which have caused a 
substantial number of complaints, officers are now recommending that the 
receipt from the sale of these short life properties should be used to 
subsidise the grant level on another Network scheme, 14-20 Alie Street.  
This will produce 6 x 3 bed properties for affordable rent. Nominations to the 
properties will be via the Common Housing Register. 

 
9.3 The following table shows the combined funding position for these two 

schemes: 
 
 
Table 3 – Funding of Proposed Network Housing Group Schemes 
 
 

National 
Affordable 
Housing 

Programme 
Grant 

Recycled 
Grant from 

RSL 
(Recycled 
Capital 
Grant 
Fund) 

LA Grant Units Persons  HCA Grant 
per Person Scheme 

£ £ £     £ 

              
9 Street Properties 1,401,000  128,000  0  9  52  29,404  

14-20 Alie Street  99,000  0  800,000  6  29  3,414  

              
Combined Scheme Costs 1,500,000 128,000 800,000 15 81 20,099 
 
 
9.4 The council will receive nominations to all of the Ropery Street houses and 

at least 5 of the 6 Alie Street properties, because our financial contribution to 
both will attract a higher proportion of the nominations than is usually 
calculated under the East London Sub-regional Nominations process.     

 

Page 98



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

 
10. REVIEW OF COUNCIL HOUSING FINANCE 
 
10.1 At the end of March 2010, the previous Government set out a consultation 

document to dismantle the HRA subsidy system and replace it with a new 
self-financing system, details of which were presented to Cabinet on 7 July. 
The Coalition Government is pledged to reform the HRA and has not 
withdrawn the proposal. 

 
10.2 The introduction of self-financing and the 30 year HRA business plan will put 

a new emphasis on the management of assets and the relationship between 
capital investment and revenue maintenance of the stock. A critical 
assumption relates to the stock investment and capital expenditure needs 
over the longer term. Our current working assumption is that over the period 
of the business plan the Council’s housing capital investment requirement 
will be some £56,000 per dwelling which equates to £690m in total.  

 
10.3 Under this new financing system all future capital investment must be 

financed either through prudential borrowing (financed on an annual basis 
from rental income), capital receipts, specific grants or available HRA 
balances.  
 
 

11. DECENT HOMES FUNDING 
 
11.1 Tower Hamlets Homes will be subject to its Audit Commission inspection 

during November 2010. A successful rating could provide access to 
significant ALMO funding in future years. Neither the 2010-11 HRA 
estimates, the HRA Medium Term Financial Strategy nor the Capital 
Programme assume any funding from this source. 

 
 
12. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
12.1 This report reviews the 2010-11 Housing Investment Programme in light of 

potential reductions in the funding available in 2011-12.  
 
12.2 The 2010-11 Housing Investment Programme was approved by Cabinet on 

10 March 2010. The report approved capital estimates totalling £24,290,000 
for a range of schemes that are managed by Tower Hamlets Homes on 
behalf of the Council.  

 
12.3 At the time that the original report was being considered by Cabinet in 

March, final confirmation of resources had not been received, and a small 
element of over-programming was included within the programme. The 
amended approvals sought in this updated report are affordable within the 
2010-11 resources available (see Table 2),  

 
12.4 No funding announcements have yet been made by the Government for 

2011/12 and no financial commitments can be made until funding is 

Page 99



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

confirmed. The report sets out what the risks to funding in 2011/12 are 
currently understood to be.  

 
12.5 Members will be aware that the Coalition Government is continuing with the 

review of the Council Housing Finance system as outlined in section 10. 
Cabinet considered a report into the possible impact upon the authority and 
the Council’s response to the consultation paper at the meeting on 7 July 
2010. The dismantling of the HRA Subsidy system will change the  financing 
regime for Local Authority Housing Finance, both revenue and capital, but it 
is considered unlikely that any reforms will be in place by April 2011 so to be 
prudent this report assumes that  the on-going system will continue.   

 
 Accelerated Delivery  
 
12.6 The report seeks the adoption of capital estimates for two schemes that 

were approved for funding under the ‘Accelerating Delivery of Key Priorities’ 
report that was considered by Cabinet in November 2009 (section 8). Full 
financing is available for these projects. In accordance with Financial 
Regulations, because they are capital schemes, capital estimates must first 
be adopted prior to any expenditure being incurred. 

 
 Contingency 
 
12.7 The report also seeks approval for a capital estimate to be adopted for the 

establishment of a contingency provision of £500,000 to be utilised in the 
event of urgent major capital works arising. This will be funded from within 
the total available capital resources in 2010/11, and is incorporated into the 
expenditure analysis shown in Table 2.   

  
 Short Life Property Disposal  
 
12.8 The report also seeks approval for the Council to recycle the capital receipt 

that will be received under ‘the future of short life properties owned by the 
Council’ proposals that were approved by Cabinet in November 2006 
(section 9). The Homes and Communities Agency has made it clear that it 
will only grant fund Network Housing Group to fund the acquisition and 
refurbishment of Authority owned properties, including those in Ropery 
Street, if the Authority agrees to recycle the capital receipt that will be 
generated (£800,000) into another Network scheme at 14-20 Alie Street. 

 
12.9 Table 3 shows the combined funding position for the schemes, but in effect, 

on the basis that neither scheme will progress unless the Authority agrees to 
recycle the receipt as Local Authority Grant, the Authority is gaining 
nomination rights to fourteen of the fifteen redeveloped houses in Ropery 
Street and Allie Street (10x 3 bed, and 4x 4 bed) for a cost of £800,000. 

12.10 Based on the lost opportunity cost of retaining and utilising the capital receipt 
for other regeneration related initiatives, the cost to the Authority is 
approximately £53,300 per property, or £9,900 per bed space. In addition, 
the HCA’s contribution across these schemes equates to £108,500 per 
property or £20,100 per bed space. These total costs to the public purse of 

Page 100



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

approximately £162,000 per property compare favourably with the costs of 
£188,000 upwards (excluding land value) that were included within the 
successful bids submitted under the Building Britain’s Future council house 
building funding regime. 

 
 
13. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
             (LEGAL SERVICES) 
 
13.1 Cabinet is asked to approve capital estimates associated with the housing 

investment programme and to the allocation of a capital receipt from the sale 
of nine ex-short life properties. 

 
13.2 As the local housing authority for Tower Hamlets, the Council has broad 

functions in relation to reviewing housing need, providing housing, 
combating overcrowding and providing accommodation to the homeless.  
The Council is also responsible for maintaining its housing stock.  It is 
consistent with good administration for the Council to adopt a 5-year 
investment programme related to the delivery of its housing function. 

 
13.3 The Financial Regulations set a threshold of £250,000, above which Cabinet 

approval is required for a capital estimate.  The Financial Procedures 
supplement this requirement.  In accordance with Financial Procedure FP 
3.3, senior managers are required to proceed with projects only when there 
is a capital estimate adopted and adequate capital resources have been 
identified.  Where the estimate is over £250,000 the approval of the adoption 
of that capital estimate must be sought from the Cabinet. 

 
13.4 The items in Appendix B of the report appear to concern maintenance and 

repairs to be carried out in relation to specified properties.  These works may 
be considered consistent with the Council’s repair obligation under section 
11 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985.  The other capital estimates are for 
urgent works and commencement of the Decent Homes programme.  There 
are matters capable of being carried out within the Council’s statutory 
functions. 

 
13.5 It is proposed that the identified capital receipt be used on a scheme at 14-

20 Alie Street.  It is understood that this scheme concerns the purchase by 
Network Housing of 6 x 3 bedroom units from the developer.  The Council is 
to contribute the £800,000 receipt from the Ropery Street properties to the 
purchase price.  The Council’s housing provision functions are broad enough 
to encompass such an arrangement (see for example section 9(3) of the 
Housing Act 1985).  There is a need for the nomination rights received to 
constitute value for money, consistent with the Council’s duty as a best value 
authority under the Local Government Act 1999. 

13.6 It will be for officers to ensure that individual commitments are carried out in 
accordance with legal requirements.  Any procurement associated with 
works or projects must be carried out in accordance with the Council’s 
procurement procedures and the requirements of the Public Contract 
Regulations 2006. 

Page 101



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

 
 
14. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
14.1 This report concerns progress in formulating housing investment 

programmes. The extent to which this can be achieved and programme 
targets reached will have a direct bearing on helping to achieve the Council's 
objectives in regard to tackling some of the material effects of poverty in the 
borough. 

 
 
15. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
15.1 The Housing Investment Programme contains specific provision to improve 

the energy efficiency of the Council’s own stock. For example, a significant 
proportion of the Council's annual programme consists of renewing outdated, 
less efficient boilers with modern equivalents. In addition, all schemes, 
especially those involving new roofs, windows, heating and insulation are 
developed to maximise energy efficiency benefits. Work is also being 
undertaken to further develop this aspect of investment as part of the 
improvement plan arising from the Best Value review of the Council’s major 
works function. These aspects of the programme help to ensure that 
resources are directed appropriately at local Agenda 21 objectives. 

 
 
16. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
16.1 The risk management principles that underpin the operation of the capital 

programme are: 
 
16.1.1 Minimising the Risk of Underspending. The Housing Investment Programme 

is assembled with regard to the fact that schemes, especially those which 
are currently uncommitted, can often suffer delays. Overprogramming is 
therefore built into the operation of the programme in order to provide the 
flexibility required to quickly reprogramme in the case of any scheme where 
unforeseen delays occur.  

 
 16.1.2 Minimising the Risk of Overspending. No funding beyond that already 

confirmed and available for the current year has been assumed and regular 
monitoring of the programme is carried out to ensure that unacceptable 
levels of contractual commitments are not allowed to build up both in the 
current and future years. 

 
16.2 This report is driven by the major risk that resources will be much reduced in 

future years and addresses the principle outlined in paragraph 16.1.2. 
17. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
17.1 There are no specific Crime and Disorder reduction implications however 

working closely with the ASB teams and local residents, schemes for e.g. 

Page 102



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

door entry systems and environmental improvements, like additional lighting, 
contribute to a reduction of crime and disorder.  

 
 
18. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 
18.1 The contracts used to undertake the Council's major works programme have 

been organised in line with the findings of the Best Value review of the 
service and makes use of partnering principles to reduce overheads and 
tendering costs to a minimum in order that the service may operate in as 
efficient a way as possible 

 

Page 103



 
 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

 
19. APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A - Housing Investment Programme 2010-11 - Committed Schemes 
Appendix B - Tower Hamlets Homes Proposed Priority Schemes 
Appendix C - Summary Analysis of Committed and THH Proposed Priority 
                        Schemes by Category 
Appendix D – Proposed Decent Homes Schemes to be Funded from Accelerated 
                        Delivery Funding  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________________________________ 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 

List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
  

Brief description of “background papers” Name and telephone number of holder  
and address where open to inspection.x 
 

Housing Investment Programme Files Paul Leeson 
Development and Renewal Finance 
Extension 4995 

 

Page 104



ID
T

yp
e

S
ch

em
e

D
et

ai
ls

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

S
p

en
d

 P
ri

o
r 

to
 3

1/
03

/1
0

E
st

im
at

e 
20

10
/1

1
E

st
im

at
e 

20
11

/1
2

W
ar

d

£ 
00

0'
s

£ 
00

0'
s

£ 
00

0'
s

£ 
00

0'
s

10
16

55
C

ar
et

ak
er

s 
A

cc
om

m
C

ar
et

ak
in

g 
re

no
va

tio
n 

P
h 

1
Ja

rm
an

 A
ra

l A
m

br
os

e 
W

al
k

62
60

1
0

10
16

56
C

ar
et

ak
er

s 
A

cc
om

m
C

ar
et

ak
in

g 
re

no
va

tio
n 

P
h 

2
B

re
w

st
er

 A
lli

st
on

 E
lle

n 
W

ilk
in

so
n

49
48

1
0

10
16

76
C

ar
et

ak
er

s 
A

cc
om

m
C

ar
et

ak
in

g 
re

no
va

tio
n 

P
h 

5
T

ob
y 

C
lu

b 
ca

re
ta

ki
ng

44
38

6
0

10
16

78
C

ar
et

ak
er

s 
A

cc
om

m
C

ar
et

ak
in

g 
re

no
va

tio
n 

P
h 

7
R

ob
in

 H
oo

d 
G

dn
s 

no
 2

0 
(o

ld
 C

C
T

V
 r

oo
m

)
39

12
27

0
10

16
79

C
ar

et
ak

er
s 

A
cc

om
m

C
ar

et
ak

in
g 

re
no

va
tio

n 
P

h 
8

S
ab

el
la

 a
nd

 T
ho

rn
fie

ld
57

26
31

0
Li

m
eh

ou
se

C
ar

et
ak

er
s 

A
cc

o
m

m
 

25
1

18
4

67
0

10
12

57
C

on
cr

et
e

B
ar

na
rd

 1
-1

7 
G

ai
nf

or
d 

1-
17

 S
ta

pl
et

on
 1

-1
7

R
ep

 c
on

cr
t,n

ew
 b

al
lu

st
ra

de
,a

sp
ha

lt,
de

cs
&

 p
ig

n,
 fe

d
80

8
79

2
17

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 N
or

th
10

16
14

C
on

cr
et

e
M

ay
fie

ld
 c

on
cr

et
e 

H
&

S
 r

ep
ai

r
C

on
cr

et
e 

re
pa

ir 
ex

t c
om

m
 s

ta
irc

as
e

15
3

14
9

4
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 N

or
th

13
02

76
C

on
cr

et
e

E
xm

ou
th

 E
st

at
e 

co
nc

re
te

H
&

S
  c

on
cr

et
e 

re
pa

irs
. &

 d
ec

s 
to

 s
/c

as
es

.
91

3
91

2
1

0
S

t. 
D

un
st

an
's

 &
 S

te
pn

ey
 G

re
en

13
06

05
C

on
cr

et
e

S
te

pn
ey

 W
ay

 (
16

6-
21

4)
 r

oo
f&

 c
on

cr
et

e
R

oo
f R

en
ew

&
co

nc
re

te
 r

ep
21

9
21

4
5

0
S

t. 
D

un
st

an
s 

&
 S

te
pn

ey
 G

re
en

C
o

n
cr

et
e 

T
o

ta
l

2,
09

2
2,

06
6

26
0

10
12

60
D

ec
en

t H
om

es
D

on
eg

al
 1

-9
4 

S
ov

er
ei

gn
 1

-6
8 

P
h1

 D
H

 P
ilo

t 
R

en
ew

 te
na

nt
ed

 k
itc

he
n 

&
 b

at
hs

   
(s

ee
 1

01
72

6 
fo

r 
1,

70
9

11
4

1,
55

5
40

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

12
04

75
D

ec
en

t H
om

es
T

rin
id

ad
 G

re
na

da
   

   
   

   
  P

h 
1 

D
H

 P
ilo

t 
R

en
ew

 te
na

nt
ed

 k
itc

he
n 

&
 b

at
hs

 (
se

e 
12

07
56

 fo
r 

1,
09

7
14

7
92

6
24

Li
m

eh
ou

se
12

06
44

D
ec

en
t H

om
es

K
itc

he
n 

&
 b

at
hr

oo
m

 in
 V

oi
ds

In
st

al
 n

ew
 K

itc
he

n 
&

 b
at

hr
oo

m
 in

 ta
rg

et
ed

 v
oi

ds
1,

86
4

1,
76

6
98

0
A

ll
13

09
05

D
ec

en
t H

om
es

M
ay

o 
W

ex
fo

rd
 1

-3
6 

   
   

   
P

h 
1 

D
H

 P
ilo

t t
en

an
te

d 
R

en
ew

 te
na

nt
ed

 k
itc

he
n 

&
 b

at
hs

 (
 s

ee
 1

30
95

1 
fo

r 
52

6
11

9
39

6
11

W
hi

te
ch

ap
el

D
ec

en
t 

H
o

m
es

 T
o

ta
l

5,
19

6
2,

14
6

2,
97

5
75

10
11

29
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
B

uc
kf

as
t S

t 4
-2

6(
e)

 0
7/

08
R

en
ew

 d
oo

r 
en

tr
y 

no
 le

as
eh

ol
de

rs
17

16
0

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

11
30

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

Li
tc

ha
m

 1
-1

2 
d 

en
tr

y
R

en
ew

 d
oo

r 
en

tr
y

14
13

0
0

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
10

11
32

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

G
eo

rg
e 

Lo
ve

le
ss

 d
oo

r 
en

tr
y 

08
/0

9
In

st
al

 d
oo

r 
en

tr
y 

se
e 

al
so

 1
01

62
7f

or
 H

am
m

et
18

4
15

6
28

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

11
33

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

T
us

ca
n 

H
se

 1
-4

8 
d 

en
tr

y
R

en
ew

 d
oo

r 
en

tr
y

25
24

1
0

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
10

11
50

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

Jo
w

itt
 H

se
 I-

8 
do

or
 e

nt
ry

 u
pp

er
 fl

 o
nl

y
N

ew
 D

oo
r 

en
tr

y
78

76
2

0
M

ile
 E

nd
 &

 G
lo

be
 T

ow
n

10
12

19
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
B

ay
 C

t 7
-1

8 
d 

en
t

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

 r
en

ew
al

-s
ur

ve
y

11
0

11
0

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
10

12
20

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

C
am

br
id

ge
 H

ea
th

 R
d 

88
-1

34
 d

 e
nt

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

 r
en

ew
al

-s
ur

ve
y

32
0

31
1

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
12

28
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
R

ed
m

ill
 H

se
 6

-2
5 

d 
en

t
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
 r

en
ew

al
-s

ur
ve

y
28

27
1

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
10

12
29

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

R
ob

er
ta

 S
t 1

4-
24

 a
nd

 4
4-

60
 d

 e
nt

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

 r
en

ew
al

-s
ur

ve
y 

-n
ot

 g
f

16
15

1
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
12

46
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
R

ob
er

ta
 S

t 2
-2

4e
 d

 e
nt

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

 r
en

ew
al

-s
ur

ve
y-

 n
ot

 g
f s

o 
on

ly
 1

4-
24

16
16

1
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
12

94
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
C

la
rk

so
n 

S
t 2

-8
4 

do
or

 e
nt

ry
N

ew
 d

oo
r 

en
tr

y
27

0
27

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 N
or

th
10

12
95

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

E
lls

w
or

th
 1

8-
48

e 
ba

llo
te

d
N

ew
 d

oo
r 

en
tr

y
29

0
28

1
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 N
or

th
10

16
18

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

B
ric

k 
La

ne
 1

4 
fla

ts
 1

-1
8

In
st

al
 d

oo
r 

en
tr

y
73

72
2

0
S

pi
ta

lfi
el

ds
 &

 B
an

gl
at

ow
n

10
16

27
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
Ja

m
es

 H
am

m
et

t d
oo

r 
en

tr
y

In
st

al
 d

oo
r 

en
tr

y 
 s

pl
it 

fr
om

 1
01

13
2

18
8

16
7

22
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
16

33
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
C

as
so

n 
1-

24
R

en
ew

 D
oo

r 
en

tr
y

29
28

1
0

S
pi

ta
lfi

el
ds

 &
 B

an
gl

at
ow

n
10

16
34

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

C
hi

ck
sa

nd
 1

-7
0

R
en

ew
 D

oo
r 

en
tr

y
60

56
5

0
S

pi
ta

lfi
el

ds
 &

 B
an

gl
at

ow
n

10
16

35
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
G

re
at

or
ex

R
en

ew
 D

oo
r 

en
tr

y
40

39
1

0
S

pi
ta

lfi
el

ds
 &

 B
an

gl
at

ow
n

10
16

37
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
S

pe
lm

an
 1

-3
3

R
en

ew
 D

oo
r 

en
tr

y
36

35
2

0
S

pi
ta

lfi
el

ds
 &

 B
an

gl
at

ow
n

11
04

64
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
H

ew
is

on
 S

t 6
2-

85
 d

oo
r 

en
t

R
en

ew
/r

ep
la

ce
 d

oo
r 

en
tr

y
61

60
1

0
B

ow
 E

as
t

11
05

65
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
C

ax
to

n 
G

ro
ve

 2
-2

4e
 d

 e
nt

R
en

ew
 d

oo
r 

en
tr

y 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

su
rv

ey
13

0
13

0
B

ow
 W

es
t

12
06

10
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
R

oc
he

 H
ou

se
 1

-1
00

 d
 e

nt
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
 r

en
ew

al
-s

ur
ve

y
73

73
0

0
Li

m
eh

ou
se

13
05

13
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
H

ill
ia

rd
 H

ou
se

 1
-3

3
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
 r

en
ew

al
- 

re
ba

llo
t 2

00
8

30
8

22
0

S
t. 

K
at

ha
rin

e'
s 

&
 W

ap
pi

ng
13

07
20

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

C
ha

lk
w

el
l/C

or
rin

gh
am

 d
 e

nt
R

en
ew

 d
 e

nt
ry

 s
ur

ve
y-

44
44

0
0

S
ha

dw
el

l
13

07
21

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

H
ar

rio
t H

se
 1

-4
8 

d 
en

tr
y 

09
/1

0
R

en
ew

 d
oo

r 
en

tr
y

71
0

68
3

S
t. 

D
un

st
an

's
 &

 S
te

pn
ey

 G
re

en
13

07
67

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

C
ha

m
be

rla
in

 &
 K

no
w

ld
en

H
se

s
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
 r

en
ew

al
-s

ur
ve

y
47

47
0

0
S

ha
dw

el
l

13
07

71
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
D

on
ov

an
 H

se
 1

-1
0 

d 
en

t
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
 r

en
ew

al
-s

ur
ve

y
15

14
1

0
S

ha
dw

el
l

13
07

72
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
E

dw
ar

d 
M

an
n 

C
lo

se
 1

-1
1 

 p
lu

s 
1-

14
 d

 e
nt

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

 r
en

ew
al

-s
ur

ve
y

28
0

28
0

S
ha

dw
el

l
13

07
79

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

R
ea

rd
on

 H
se

 1
-6

8,
15

a 
42

a 
d 

en
t

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

 r
en

ew
al

-s
ur

ve
y

69
69

0
0

S
t. 

K
at

ha
rin

e'
s 

&
 W

ap
pi

ng
13

07
80

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

S
ol

an
de

rG
dn

s 
21

-3
9 

d 
en

t
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
 r

en
ew

al
-s

ur
ve

y
29

28
1

0
S

ha
dw

el
l

13
07

81
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
S

ol
an

de
r 

G
dn

s 
40

-5
6 

d 
en

t
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
 r

en
ew

al
-s

ur
ve

y 
47

-5
6 

no
 g

f
19

18
1

0
S

ha
dw

el
l

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
H

o
u

si
n

g
 In

ve
st

m
en

t 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

20
10

-1
1 

- 
C

o
m

m
it

te
d

 S
ch

em
es

Page 105



ID
T

yp
e

S
ch

em
e

D
et

ai
ls

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

S
p

en
d

 P
ri

o
r 

to
 3

1/
03

/1
0

E
st

im
at

e 
20

10
/1

1
E

st
im

at
e 

20
11

/1
2

W
ar

d

13
07

82
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
S

ol
an

de
r 

G
dn

s 
79

-1
34

 d
 e

nt
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
 r

en
ew

al
-s

ur
ve

y
50

50
0

0
S

ha
dw

el
l

13
08

80
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
C

ha
nc

el
lo

r 
1-

16
D

oo
r 

en
tr

y 
fe

as
ib

ili
ty

/in
st

al
#

18
0

18
0

S
t. 

K
at

ha
rin

e'
s 

&
 W

ap
pi

ng
13

08
94

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

F
lin

de
rs

 1
-1

2
D

oo
r 

en
tr

y 
fe

as
ib

ili
ty

/in
st

al
#

18
0

18
0

S
t. 

K
at

ha
rin

e'
s 

&
 W

ap
pi

ng
13

09
14

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

S
ol

an
de

rG
dn

s 
1-

20
D

oo
r 

en
tr

y
37

36
1

0
S

ha
dw

el
l

D
o

o
r 

E
n

tr
y 

T
o

ta
l

1,
52

5
1,

18
6

33
3

6
10

16
93

D
oo

rs
F

E
D

 P
h 

2 
W

ap
pi

ng
 

R
en

ew
 F

E
D

's
 w

ith
 s

ec
ur

e 
by

 d
es

ig
n 

do
or

s
24

8
0

24
0

8
A

ll
11

05
66

D
oo

rs
A

lfr
ed

 E
st

 F
E

D
 p

lu
s 

ch
ic

k 
&

 a
ve

bu
ry

R
en

ew
 F

E
D

's
 w

ith
 s

ec
ur

e 
by

 d
es

ig
n 

do
or

s
36

6
22

6
14

0
0

B
ow

 W
es

t
D

o
o

rs
 T

o
ta

l
61

4
22

6
38

0
8

10
10

78
H

ea
tin

g
C

uf
f P

t 0
7/

08
 H

ea
tin

g 
ris

er
s 

&
 p

la
nt

 r
oo

m
R

ep
la

ce
 r

is
er

s&
 r

en
ew

 p
la

nt
P

h 
1 

ris
er

P
h 

2 
in

te
rn

al
30

9
30

0
9

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

10
83

H
ea

tin
g

B
oi

le
r 

pr
og

ra
m

m
ed

 r
ep

la
ce

m
en

t 2
00

8 
/2

B
oi

le
r 

re
ne

w
al

 p
ro

gr
am

m
ed

1,
78

8
1,

78
4

4
0

A
ll

10
13

21
H

ea
tin

g
R

ap
le

y 
H

se
  1

-3
3 

co
m

m
 b

oi
le

r
C

om
m

un
al

 b
oi

le
r 

&
 p

ip
ew

or
k

35
8

1
34

9
9

W
ea

ve
rs

10
16

57
H

ea
tin

g
B

oi
le

r 
pr

og
ra

m
m

ed
 r

ep
la

ce
m

en
t 1

0/
11

 p
h2

B
oi

le
r 

re
ne

w
al

 p
ro

gr
am

m
ed

2,
23

7
1,

99
2

24
5

0
A

ll
10

17
27

H
ea

tin
g

B
oi

le
r 

pr
og

ra
m

m
ed

 r
ep

la
ce

m
en

t 1
0/

11
 P

h3
R

en
ew

 b
oi

le
rs

 s
ee

 1
01

65
7 

fo
r 

ph
2

40
4

0
39

2
13

A
ll

11
05

43
H

ea
tin

g
B

oi
le

r 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
09

/1
0

B
oi

le
r 

re
ne

w
al

 p
ro

gr
am

m
ed

1,
65

2
1,

64
8

4
0

A
ll

12
06

26
H

ea
tin

g
R

ho
de

sw
el

l R
d 

86
-3

78
e 

P
ar

nh
am

 S
t 1

-1
2

C
om

m
un

al
 b

oi
le

r 
&

 p
ip

ew
or

k&
ra

ds
30

3
20

1
95

7
Li

m
eh

ou
se

12
06

45
H

ea
tin

g
P

la
nt

 R
oo

m
 r

em
ot

e 
m

on
ito

rin
g 

up
gr

ad
e 

P
h 

1 
R

em
ot

e 
m

on
ito

rin
g 

up
gr

ad
e 

to
 p

la
nt

 r
oo

m
s

25
8

17
0

A
ll

13
06

61
H

ea
tin

g
S

id
ne

y 
S

t b
oi

le
rs

Jm
an

/K
er

P
h1

U
pg

ra
de

 h
ea

t p
ar

tia
l t

o 
fu

ll
1,

22
4

1,
22

3
1

0
W

hi
te

ch
ap

el
13

06
62

H
ea

tin
g

S
id

ne
yS

tb
oi

le
rs

Jm
an

/K
er

P
h 

2 
up

gr
ad

e 
he

at
U

pg
ra

de
 h

ea
tin

g 
pa

rt
ia

l t
o 

fu
ll 

- 
pl

 p
er

m
 d

el
ay

1,
23

8
1,

10
8

13
0

0
W

hi
te

ch
ap

el
13

07
08

H
ea

tin
g

A
ns

el
l b

oi
le

r/
pi

pe
w

or
k/

ra
ds

U
pg

ra
de

 b
oi

le
r,

ne
w

 p
ip

ew
or

k&
ra

di
at

or
s-

pr
t t

o 
fu

ll-
69

5
67

8
17

0
W

hi
te

ch
ap

el
H

ea
ti

n
g

 T
o

ta
l

10
,2

33
8,

94
4

1,
26

2
28

10
16

04
K

no
ck

th
ro

ug
h

K
T

 N
or

th
es

k 
3/

4
K

no
ck

th
ro

ug
h 

be
tw

ee
n 

no
 3

 a
nd

 n
o 

4
69

69
0

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
10

16
87

K
no

ck
th

ro
ug

h
K

T
 H

an
bu

ry
 3

81
 in

to
 s

to
re

ro
om

1 
x 

th
re

e 
be

d 
in

to
 s

to
re

ro
om

 fo
r 

1 
x 

fiv
e 

be
d

98
19

79
0

S
pi

ta
lfi

el
ds

 &
 B

an
gl

at
ow

n
10

16
94

K
no

ck
th

ro
ug

h
K

T
 G

re
at

or
ex

 1
5/

16
1 

x3
be

d 
an

d 
1 

x2
be

d 
in

to
 1

 x
5b

ed
65

13
53

0
S

pi
ta

lfi
el

ds
 &

 B
an

gl
at

ow
n

10
17

23
K

no
ck

th
ro

ug
h

K
T

 H
an

bu
ry

 3
17

   
3 

be
d 

in
to

 3
 b

ed
 p

lu
s 

K
no

ck
th

ro
ug

h 
3 

be
d 

in
to

 3
 b

ed
 +

 s
to

re
ro

om
13

2
11

0
S

pi
ta

lfi
el

ds
 &

 B
an

gl
at

ow
n

13
07

51
K

no
ck

th
ro

ug
h

K
T

 A
ns

el
l P

ra
m

 S
he

d 
A

re
a

K
no

ck
th

ro
ug

h 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 2
 b

ed
 fl

at
63

65
-3

0
W

hi
te

ch
ap

el
13

09
08

K
no

ck
th

ro
ug

h
K

T
 G

os
lin

g 
66

/6
7

K
no

ck
th

ro
ug

h
65

65
0

0
S

ha
dw

el
l

13
09

21
K

no
ck

th
ro

ug
h

K
T

 C
ol

ve
rs

on
 1

9
K

no
ck

th
ro

ug
h

40
30

10
0

W
hi

te
ch

ap
el

13
09

28
K

no
ck

th
ro

ug
h

K
T

 G
os

lin
g 

2/
3

K
no

ck
th

ro
ug

h
37

36
1

0
S

ha
dw

el
l

13
09

36
K

no
ck

th
ro

ug
h

K
T

 C
ol

ve
rs

on
 2

1/
22

2 
x 

on
e 

be
d 

in
to

 1
 x

 th
re

e 
be

d
42

4
38

0
W

hi
te

ch
ap

el
13

09
39

K
no

ck
th

ro
ug

h
K

T
 J

ea
n 

P
ar

di
es

 4
,5

,6
 to

 1
x 

4b
ed

3x
 b

ed
si

ts
 to

 1
x 

4 
be

d
65

24
41

0
W

hi
te

ch
ap

el
13

09
46

K
no

ck
th

ro
ug

h
K

T
 J

ea
n 

P
ar

di
es

 1
/2

/3
   

 3
 x

 b
ed

si
t i

nt
o 

1 
x 

4b
ed

K
no

ck
th

ro
ug

h 
3 

be
ds

its
 in

to
 1

 x
 4

 b
ed

66
24

42
0

W
hi

te
ch

ap
el

13
09

47
K

no
ck

th
ro

ug
h

K
T

 J
ea

n 
P

ar
di

es
 9

/1
0 

   
 2

 x
 b

ed
si

t i
nt

o 
1 

x 
3 

be
d

K
no

ck
th

ro
ug

h 
2 

x 
be

ds
its

 to
 1

 x
 3

 b
ed

49
17

32
0

W
hi

te
ch

ap
el

K
n

o
ck

th
ro

u
g

h
 T

o
ta

l
67

1
36

7
30

4
0

10
10

20
Li

fts
K

en
to

n 
 5

-2
0 

 li
ft 

gt
13

0
R

en
ew

 li
ft 

  4
 p

er
so

n 
 5

 s
to

re
y 

 g
f 1

-4
11

6
11

3
2

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
10

10
21

Li
fts

O
rio

n 
 1

-7
5 

 li
ft 

bg
51

/5
2

R
ef

ur
b 

lif
ts

 2
x8

pe
rs

on
  1

1 
st

or
ey

28
8

28
2

6
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
10

22
Li

fts
R

yd
er

 5
-2

4 
 li

ft 
gt

14
1

R
en

ew
 li

ft 
 5

 s
to

re
y 

gf
 1

-4
11

6
11

3
2

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
10

10
95

Li
fts

B
ra

bn
er

  1
-4

0 
lif

t b
g 

3 
&

 4
lif

t r
en

ew
 5

 s
to

re
y

29
6

29
4

1
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
11

17
Li

fts
R

ic
km

an
 1

-1
6 

al
l i

nc
 li

ft 
gt

 1
32

Li
ft 

re
ne

w
 n

o 
gf

 p
ro

ps
  5

 s
to

re
y

13
1

12
8

3
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
11

20
Li

fts
M

ar
k 

1-
60

  l
ift

 g
t 2

02
 &

 2
03

 &
 2

04
Li

ft 
re

ne
w

  6
 s

to
re

y
47

6
46

4
12

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 N
or

th
10

11
43

Li
fts

E
ve

rs
le

y 
1-

20
 li

ft 
 B

G
 8

R
en

ew
 li

ft 
5 

st
or

ey
14

3
14

2
1

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

11
46

Li
fts

Ly
go

n 
6-

30
  l

ift
 B

G
 1

1
R

en
ew

 li
ft 

 5
 s

to
re

y 
gf

 1
-6

13
2

12
8

4
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
11

52
Li

fts
B

er
ry

 H
se

 1
-2

5 
 li

ft 
gt

46
R

en
ew

 li
ft 

 5
 s

to
re

y 
gf

 1
-5

14
4

13
8

6
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
11

53
Li

fts
E

ag
le

 H
se

 1
-6

4 
lif

t b
g 

49
R

en
ew

 li
ft 

 4
 s

to
re

y
14

5
14

4
1

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
10

16
68

Li
fts

Y
at

es
 H

se
  1

-6
4 

lif
ts

 b
g 

19
,2

0
R

en
ew

 li
fts

 b
g1

9 
bg

20
  1

1 
st

or
ey

33
5

17
31

0
8

W
ea

ve
rs

11
04

49
Li

fts
H

ey
ly

n 
S

q 
1-

70
  l

ift
  b

ow
 2

66
 &

 2
67

Li
ft 

re
ne

w
  7

 s
to

re
y 

no
t 1

-1
0=

gf
33

2
33

1
1

0
B

ow
 W

es
t

11
04

50
Li

fts
S

he
ffi

el
d 

S
q 

 3
3-

74
 li

ft 
bo

w
 2

70
 &

 2
71

Li
ft 

re
ne

w
  n

ot
 3

3-
44

=g
f  

7 
st

or
ey

30
6

30
5

1
0

B
ow

 W
es

t
11

05
46

Li
fts

B
ro

di
ck

 H
se

  1
-1

30
  l

ift
 n

o 
30

3/
30

4
R

en
ew

 li
ft 

 2
2 

st
or

ey
39

0
35

1
27

12
B

ow
 E

as
t

11
05

47
Li

fts
G

ue
rin

 S
q 

1-
6,

 2
3-

28
 li

ft 
no

 b
ow

 2
65

R
en

ew
 li

ft 
bo

w
 2

65
   

5 
st

or
ey

13
2

13
0

3
0

B
ow

 W
es

t
12

05
90

Li
fts

K
iln

 C
t  

1-
63

  l
ift

 p
op

 6
94

Li
ft 

re
ne

w
   

no
t 1

-2
4=

gf
  7

 s
to

re
y

15
6

15
5

1
0

Li
m

eh
ou

se
12

05
91

Li
fts

O
as

t 1
-4

2 
lif

t  
po

p 
69

7
Li

ft 
re

ne
w

 7
 s

to
re

y
14

6
14

5
1

0
Li

m
eh

ou
se

12
05

92
Li

fts
B

et
hl

eh
em

 1
-2

4 
lif

t p
op

 7
40

Li
ft 

re
ne

w
  n

ot
 1

-6
 =

 g
f  

 5
 s

to
re

y
14

2
13

9
3

0
Li

m
eh

ou
se

13
04

62
Li

fts
M

oo
re

 1
-3

0 
V

og
le

r 
H

se
 1

-2
4 

 li
ft 

w
ap

73
2

Li
ft 

R
en

ew
al

 W
A

P
 7

32
  6

 s
to

re
y

13
9

13
4

3
0

S
ha

dw
el

l

Page 106



ID
T

yp
e

S
ch

em
e

D
et

ai
ls

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

S
p

en
d

 P
ri

o
r 

to
 3

1/
03

/1
0

E
st

im
at

e 
20

10
/1

1
E

st
im

at
e 

20
11

/1
2

W
ar

d

13
07

12
Li

fts
W

el
st

ea
d 

 9
-1

6 
19

-2
6 

 li
ft 

71
6 

(7
-1

6)
 &

 7
17

 (
19

-
Li

ft 
re

ne
w

   
7,

8,
17

,1
8,

  =
 g

f  
5 

st
or

ey
30

3
29

5
8

0
W

hi
te

ch
ap

el
13

07
59

Li
fts

H
an

so
n 

H
se

  1
-2

0 
lif

t W
ap

 7
11

R
en

ew
 4

 p
er

so
n 

lif
t (

 d
el

ay
-d

is
cu

ss
io

n 
ov

er
 la

rg
er

 li
ft)

  
15

3
12

11
3

28
W

hi
te

ch
ap

el
13

07
60

Li
fts

D
an

ve
rs

 H
se

 1
-1

2 
 li

ft 
W

ap
 7

05
R

en
ew

 4
 p

er
so

n 
lif

t  
4 

st
or

ey
  (

 d
el

ay
-d

is
cu

ss
io

n 
ov

er
 

15
3

12
11

3
28

W
hi

te
ch

ap
el

13
07

61
Li

fts
B

at
so

n 
H

se
 1

-1
0,

 1
2-

35
 li

ft 
W

ap
 7

04
R

en
ew

 li
ft 

 5
 s

to
re

y
14

5
14

3
1

0
W

hi
te

ch
ap

el
13

08
32

Li
fts

A
ns

el
l 1

-2
2(

1)
 2

3-
76

(2
) 

77
-9

8(
1)

 li
ft4

27
/8

/9
/4

30
R

en
ew

 li
fts

   
6 

an
d 

8 
st

or
ey

   
 li

ft4
27

/8
/9

/3
0

77
6

30
66

2
85

W
hi

te
ch

ap
el

L
if

ts
 T

o
ta

l
5,

59
5

4,
14

4
1,

28
7

16
2

10
05

66
R

ef
ur

b 
- 

M
ul

ti 
E

le
m

en
t

G
eo

rg
e 

Lo
ve

le
ss

 J
am

es
 H

am
m

et
t c

on
cr

et
e

C
on

cr
et

e 
&

 w
in

do
w

 r
ep

ai
r,

ex
t d

ec
s&

bi
n 

ch
am

be
rs

4,
72

5
4,

50
8

14
8

69
W

ea
ve

rs
10

06
08

R
ef

ur
b 

- 
M

ul
ti 

E
le

m
en

t
A

bi
ng

do
n 

&
 B

en
so

n 
H

ou
se

s
R

ef
ur

bi
sh

m
en

t
2,

32
4

2,
11

6
20

8
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
06

23
R

ef
ur

b 
- 

M
ul

ti 
E

le
m

en
t

S
ul

ki
n 

&
 T

re
ve

ly
an

 H
se

s
S

tr
uc

tu
ra

l&
ro

of
 (

&
ne

w
 li

ft 
S

ul
 )

3,
23

8
3,

23
8

0
0

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
10

06
89

R
ef

ur
b 

- 
M

ul
ti 

E
le

m
en

t
F

lo
rid

a2
-4

0 
G

os
se

tt 
10

0-
13

4e
 R

ob
er

ta
2-

60
e

C
on

cr
et

e 
re

ps
, n

ew
 w

in
do

w
s 

an
d 

de
cs

91
5

87
6

40
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
10

14
R

ef
ur

b 
- 

M
ul

ti 
E

le
m

en
t

S
ul

ki
n 

&
 T

re
ve

ly
an

N
ew

 G
at

eh
ou

se
s,

 te
na

nt
 F

E
D

's
&

 s
om

e 
sc

re
en

s 
-

17
6

56
12

0
0

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
10

10
16

R
ef

ur
b 

- 
M

ul
ti 

E
le

m
en

t
E

ag
le

 h
ou

se
R

oo
f &

W
in

do
w

, c
on

cr
et

e 
&

 e
x 

de
cs

 &
 a

sb
st

 e
na

bl
in

g
1,

06
3

1,
03

0
33

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
10

10
27

R
ef

ur
b 

- 
M

ul
ti 

E
le

m
en

t
C

la
rk

so
n2

-4
8e

,E
lls

w
or

th
 S

t1
-5

5o
18

-4
8e

 
R

oo
f &

 C
on

cr
et

e 
R

ep
ai

rs
,a

sp
ha

lt,
de

cs
&

 p
ig

eo
n 

pr
oo

f
1,

08
1

1,
07

1
11

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 N
or

th
10

11
80

R
ef

ur
b 

- 
M

ul
ti 

E
le

m
en

t
M

od
lin

g 
H

ou
se

(1
-5

2)
H

 &
 S

 W
or

ks
 to

 S
ta

irc
as

e 
La

nd
in

gs
38

37
1

0
M

ile
 E

nd
 &

 G
lo

be
 T

ow
n

10
13

53
R

ef
ur

b 
- 

M
ul

ti 
E

le
m

en
t

C
lif

to
n 

1-
43

M
ol

se
y 

1-
15

W
ar

gr
av

e 
1-

35
R

ep
ai

r 
w

al
ls

,w
in

do
w

s 
re

as
ph

al
t b

al
c,

ex
t&

co
m

 d
ec

s.
1,

62
9

1,
53

7
56

36
W

ea
ve

rs
10

14
99

R
ef

ur
b 

- 
M

ul
ti 

E
le

m
en

t
O

ld
 F

or
d 

R
oa

d 
99

re
st

or
e 

sh
or

t l
ife

 to
 fu

ll 
le

tti
ng

47
53

-6
0

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
12

07
36

R
ef

ur
b 

- 
M

ul
ti 

E
le

m
en

t
K

em
ps

 S
al

tw
el

l t
en

an
te

d 
ho

us
es

 -
w

in
do

w
 e

tc
W

in
do

w
 r

en
ew

/d
ec

s 
K

em
ps

 D
r 

S
al

tw
el

l S
t

15
0

14
5

4
0

Li
m

eh
ou

se
13

03
39

R
ef

ur
b 

- 
M

ul
ti 

E
le

m
en

t
W

ai
nw

rig
ht

 H
ou

se
 1

-1
5

C
an

op
y 

re
ne

w
al

, s
ta

irc
as

e 
&

 e
xt

 d
ec

s 
+c

ty
ar

d
16

5
11

6
19

30
S

t. 
K

at
ha

rin
e'

s 
&

 W
ap

pi
ng

13
07

52
R

ef
ur

b 
- 

M
ul

ti 
E

le
m

en
t

S
te

pn
ey

 G
re

en
(6

8)
 o

t w
or

ks
ne

w
 g

ro
un

d 
flo

or
 e

xt
en

si
on

92
92

0
0

S
t. 

D
un

st
an

's
 &

 S
te

pn
ey

 G
re

en
13

07
87

R
ef

ur
b 

- 
M

ul
ti 

E
le

m
en

t
M

ar
tin

ea
u3

 -
 G

os
lin

g 
D

on
ov

an
 C

ha
m

be
rla

in
 

N
ew

 c
ar

pa
rk

 , 
T

od
dl

er
s 

pl
ay

 a
re

a
49

6
49

5
1

0
S

ha
dw

el
l

13
09

27
R

ef
ur

b 
- 

M
ul

ti 
E

le
m

en
t

N
ew

to
n 

tr
a

co
nv

er
si

on
51

13
37

0
S

ha
dw

el
l

13
09

38
R

ef
ur

b 
- 

M
ul

ti 
E

le
m

en
t

B
in

 e
nc

lo
su

re
 P

IL
O

T
- 

B
er

ne
r

P
ilo

t B
in

 e
nc

lo
su

re
s

17
17

0
0

W
hi

te
ch

ap
el

R
ef

u
rb

 -
 M

u
lt

i E
le

m
en

t 
16

,2
07

15
,4

00
67

2
13

5
10

11
01

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
O

ffe
nb

ac
h 

 r
&

l l
ig

ht
s

R
ew

ire
  -

 r
&

l a
nd

 li
gh

ts
12

0
11

8
2

0
M

ile
 E

nd
 &

 G
lo

be
 T

ow
n

10
12

03
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

E
ag

le
 H

ou
se

 1
-6

4 
r&

l &
 li

gh
ts

R
ew

ire
 -

 R
&

L 
lig

ht
s

11
4

11
3

1
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
12

13
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

O
rio

n 
 1

-7
5 

r&
l &

 li
gh

ts
R

ew
ire

 -
 R

&
L

13
3

13
1

1
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
13

85
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

W
es

tb
ro

ok
 1

-3
9 

r&
l &

 ll
or

ds
R

ew
ire

 r
&

l a
nd

 la
nd

lo
rd

s
53

0
49

4
M

ile
 E

nd
 &

 G
lo

be
 T

ow
n

10
13

87
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

B
en

n 
1-

8 
r&

l &
 ll

or
ds

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 la

nd
lo

rd
s

14
0

14
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
13

89
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

C
he

yl
es

m
or

e 
1-

8 
r&

l &
 li

gh
ts

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 li

gh
ts

15
0

15
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
13

91
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

C
re

w
e 

1-
8 

r&
l &

 li
gh

ts
R

ew
ire

 r
&

l a
nd

 li
gh

ts
14

0
14

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

13
93

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
D

en
ce

1-
24

 r
&

l &
 li

gh
ts

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 li

gh
ts

44
0

42
2

W
ea

ve
rs

10
13

95
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

D
ic

ki
ns

on
 1

-1
6 

r&
l &

 li
gh

ts
R

ew
ire

 r
&

l a
nd

 li
gh

ts
26

0
26

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

13
97

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
G

ill
et

t 1
-8

 r
&

l &
 ll

or
ds

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 la

nd
lo

rd
s

14
0

14
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
13

99
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

H
um

e 
1-

8 
r&

l &
 ll

or
ds

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 la

nd
lo

rd
s

13
0

13
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

01
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

H
ut

to
n 

1-
16

 r
&

l &
 ll

or
ds

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 la

nd
lo

rd
s

26
0

26
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

03
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

Ja
ck

so
n 

1-
8 

r&
l &

llo
rd

s
R

ew
ire

 r
&

l a
nd

 la
nd

lo
rd

s
15

0
15

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

14
05

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
M

cD
ou

ga
ll 

1-
8 

r&
l &

 ll
or

ds
R

ew
ire

 r
&

l a
nd

 la
nd

lo
rd

s
15

0
15

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

14
07

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
M

cK
in

no
nw

oo
d 

1-
16

 r
&

l &
 ll

or
ds

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 la

nd
lo

rd
s

26
0

26
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

09
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

M
on

kb
re

tto
n 

1-
8 

r&
l &

 ll
rd

s
R

ew
ire

 r
&

l a
nd

 la
nd

lo
rd

s
13

0
13

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

14
11

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
M

on
ks

w
el

l 1
-8

 r
&

l &
 ll

or
ds

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 la

nd
lo

rd
s

14
0

14
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

13
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

O
ns

lo
w

 1
-8

 r
&

l &
 ll

or
ds

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 la

nd
lo

rd
s

13
0

13
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

15
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

S
an

ge
r 

1-
8 

r&
l &

 ll
or

ds
R

ew
ire

 r
&

l a
nd

 la
nd

lo
rd

s
13

0
13

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

14
17

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
S

im
m

on
s 

1-
16

 r
&

l &
 ll

or
ds

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 la

nd
lo

rd
s

26
1

25
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

19
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

S
ne

ll 
1-

8 
r&

l &
 ll

or
ds

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 la

nd
lo

rd
s

13
0

13
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

21
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

S
pi

ce
r 

1-
8 

r&
l &

 ll
or

ds
R

ew
ire

 r
&

l a
nd

 la
nd

lo
rd

s
14

0
14

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

14
23

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
S

w
in

to
n 

1-
16

 r
&

l &
 ll

or
ds

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 la

nd
lo

rd
s

24
0

24
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

25
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

T
or

ra
nc

e 
1-

8 
r&

l &
 ll

or
ds

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 la

nd
lo

rd
s

13
0

13
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

27
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

W
ar

bu
rg

 1
-8

 r
&

l &
 ll

or
ds

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 la

nd
lo

rd
s

13
0

13
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

32
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

P
ep

ys
 1

-1
2 

13
-3

8 
r&

l
R

ew
ire

 r
&

l a
nd

 li
gh

ts
61

0
57

4
M

ile
 E

nd
 &

 G
lo

be
 T

ow
n

10
14

38
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

S
tu

ar
t H

se
 1

-8
 r

&
l

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 li

gh
ts

14
0

14
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

40
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

S
pe

ak
m

an
 1

-8
 r

&
l

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 li

gh
ts

14
0

14
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

48
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

K
ar

sl
ak

e 
1-

8 
r&

l
R

ew
ire

 r
&

l a
nd

 li
gh

ts
14

0
14

0
W

ea
ve

rs

Page 107



ID
T

yp
e

S
ch

em
e

D
et

ai
ls

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

S
p

en
d

 P
ri

o
r 

to
 3

1/
03

/1
0

E
st

im
at

e 
20

10
/1

1
E

st
im

at
e 

20
11

/1
2

W
ar

d

10
14

54
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

E
ve

sh
am

 H
se

s 
1-

24
 r

&
l

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 li

gh
ts

39
0

37
2

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
10

14
56

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
C

ul
pi

n 
1-

8 
r&

l
R

ew
ire

 r
&

l a
nd

 li
gh

ts
14

0
14

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

14
58

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
C

ob
b 

1-
8 

r&
l

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 li

gh
ts

14
0

14
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

64
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

F
irt

h 
1-

24
 r

&
l

R
ew

ire
 r

&
l a

nd
 li

gh
ts

40
0

40
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
15

01
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

G
eo

rg
e 

Lo
ve

le
ss

 la
nd

lo
rd

s 
pl

us
 R

&
L 

ad
de

d 
R

ew
ire

 -
 la

nd
lo

rd
s 

pl
us

 R
&

L 
ad

de
d 

2/
2/

09
25

6
24

2
14

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

15
02

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
Ja

m
es

 H
am

m
et

t l
an

dl
or

ds
 p

lu
s 

r&
l

R
ew

ire
 -

 la
nd

lo
rd

s 
pl

us
 r

&
l a

dd
ed

 0
2/

02
/0

9
25

6
24

0
15

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

15
14

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
M

as
si

ng
ha

m
 S

t 1
-3

9 
lig

ht
s 

on
ly

R
ew

ire
 -

  l
ig

ht
s

15
15

0
0

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
10

15
31

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
T

ho
m

as
 H

ol
ly

w
oo

d 
1-

47
 r

&
l

R
ew

ire
 -

 r
&

l a
nd

 li
gh

ts
11

9
1

11
1

7
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 N
or

th
10

16
54

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
H

or
w

oo
d 

E
st

 li
gh

tin
g

R
en

ew
 e

st
 a

nd
 c

om
m

 li
gh

t N
ew

co
ur

tN
or

de
nH

or
w

oo
d

77
77

0
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
17

24
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

C
ad

og
an

 1
-8

 la
nd

lo
rd

R
ew

ire
 la

nd
lo

rd
s 

lig
ht

s
7

0
7

0
W

ea
ve

rs
12

06
51

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
P

ad
st

ow
 1

-7
9r

&
l a

nd
 lg

ht
s

R
ew

ire
 -

 r
&

l a
nd

 li
gh

ts
10

6
0

10
5

1
Li

m
eh

ou
se

12
06

61
R

ew
ire

 -
 C

om
m

un
al

S
au

nd
er

s 
C

lo
se

 1
-1

8 
r&

l
R

ew
ire

 -
 r

&
l a

nd
 lg

ht
s

37
0

36
1

Li
m

eh
ou

se
13

07
85

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
T

ro
on

 H
&

S
 e

le
c 

af
te

r 
fir

e 
da

m
ag

e
R

ew
ire

 -
 R

&
L

22
13

10
0

S
t. 

D
un

st
an

's
 &

 S
te

pn
ey

 G
re

en
13

08
23

R
ew

ire
 -

 C
om

m
un

al
B

rid
ge

n 
1-

15
 r

&
l a

nd
 lg

ht
s

R
ew

ire
 -

 r
&

l a
nd

 li
gh

ts
36

34
1

0
W

hi
te

ch
ap

el
R

ew
ir

e 
- 

C
o

m
m

u
n

al
 

1,
93

8
98

6
93

0
22

10
12

06
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

F
re

m
an

tle
 1

-3
8 

dw
el

R
ew

ire
 -

 d
w

el
lin

g 
&

 s
m

ok
e

26
25

1
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
12

08
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

H
ea

dl
am

 S
t 2

-3
6 

dw
el

R
ew

ire
 -

 d
w

el
lin

g 
&

 s
m

ok
e

9
8

1
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
12

10
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

P
el

le
w

 1
-3

8 
(3

5)
dw

el
R

ew
ire

 -
 d

w
el

lin
g 

&
 s

m
ok

e
33

18
15

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
10

12
18

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
H

ea
th

po
ol

 C
t 1

-4
5 

dw
el

R
ew

ire
 d

w
el

lin
gs

 &
 s

m
ok

e
31

30
1

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
10

12
44

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
T

re
ve

s 
1-

18
 d

w
el

R
ew

ire
 -

 d
w

el
lin

g 
&

 s
m

ok
e

11
6

5
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
14

06
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

M
cD

ou
ga

ll 
1-

8 
dw

el
R

ew
ire

 d
w

el
lin

g
6

3
2

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

14
18

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
S

im
m

on
s 

1-
16

 d
w

el
R

ew
ire

 d
w

el
lin

g
27

21
6

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

14
24

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
S

w
in

to
n 

1-
16

 d
w

el
R

ew
ire

 d
w

el
lin

g
22

17
5

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

14
33

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
W

el
lin

gt
on

 R
ow

 6
8-

12
6e

 d
w

el
R

ew
ire

 d
w

el
lin

gs
45

39
5

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

14
35

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
T

ill
et

t W
ay

 1
-2

5 
dw

el
R

ew
ire

 d
w

el
lin

gs
 &

 s
m

ok
e

31
30

1
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

41
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

P
ak

en
ha

m
 1

-4
0 

dw
el

R
ew

ire
 d

w
el

lin
gs

 &
 s

m
ok

e
21

21
0

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

14
43

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
Ly

go
n 

1-
30

 d
w

el
 ?

 P
os

s 
do

ne
 2

00
3

R
ew

ire
 d

w
el

lin
gs

 &
 s

m
ok

e 
if 

re
q'

d 
af

te
r 

su
rv

ey
17

16
1

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

14
65

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
B

uc
kf

as
t S

t 4
-2

6(
e)

 d
w

el
R

ew
ire

 d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

18
18

1
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

86
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

R
am

se
y 

S
t 2

-9
6 

dw
el

R
ew

ire
 -

 d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

63
62

1
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
14

90
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

D
er

by
sh

ire
 S

t 2
-2

4(
e)

 d
w

el
R

ew
ire

 -
 d

w
el

 &
 s

m
ok

e
14

12
1

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

15
09

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
Li

tc
ha

m
 1

-1
2 

dw
el

R
ew

ire
 -

 d
w

el
lin

g 
&

 s
m

ok
e

5
5

0
0

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
10

15
12

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
Lo

ng
no

r 
2-

10
8 

e 
dw

el
R

ew
ire

 -
 d

w
el

lin
g 

&
 s

m
ok

e
50

48
1

0
M

ile
 E

nd
 &

 G
lo

be
 T

ow
n

10
15

18
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

R
av

en
sc

ro
ft 

S
t 1

3-
27

b 
dw

el
R

ew
ire

 -
  d

w
el

 &
 s

m
ok

e
21

21
0

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

15
20

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
R

ay
nh

am
 1

-7
5 

dw
el

R
ew

ire
 -

  d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

11
3

10
8

5
0

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
10

15
22

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
R

us
si

a 
La

ne
 2

-8
0 

dw
el

&
sm

ok
e

R
ew

ire
 -

  d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

44
44

1
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 N

or
th

10
15

27
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

S
ta

yn
er

s 
R

d 
1-

31
 d

w
el

 &
 s

m
k

R
ew

ire
 -

  d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

14
6

8
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
15

45
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

H
ar

pl
ey

 S
q 

1-
96

R
ew

ire
 -

  d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

82
80

1
0

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
10

15
59

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
W

al
te

r 
B

es
sa

nt
 1

-4
0

R
ew

ire
 -

  d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

34
33

1
0

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
10

15
77

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
B

oy
to

n 
C

ls
 4

1-
71

R
ew

ire
 -

  d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

9
7

2
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
16

92
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

E
m

er
ge

nc
y 

R
ew

ire
 r

ef
er

al
s

re
w

ire
10

1
20

81
0

A
ll

12
06

31
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

B
rit

le
y 

1-
32

 d
w

el
R

ew
ire

 d
w

el
45

35
9

0
Li

m
eh

ou
se

12
06

46
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

R
ho

de
sw

el
l  

86
- 

37
8 

dw
el

R
ew

ire
 -

  d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

15
3

15
2

2
0

Li
m

eh
ou

se
12

06
48

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
Jo

se
ph

 Ir
w

in
 1

-3
0 

dw
el

 &
 s

m
k

R
ew

ire
 -

  d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

36
35

1
0

Li
m

eh
ou

se
12

06
50

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
P

ad
st

ow
 1

-7
9 

dw
el

 &
 s

m
k

R
ew

ire
 -

  d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

70
69

2
0

Li
m

eh
ou

se
12

06
52

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
R

oc
he

 1
-1

00
 d

w
el

 &
 s

m
k

R
ew

ire
 -

  d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

10
4

10
4

1
0

Li
m

eh
ou

se
12

06
54

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
W

es
t I

nd
ia

 1
-3

1 
dw

el
 &

 s
m

k
R

ew
ire

 -
  d

w
el

 &
 s

m
ok

e
41

40
1

0
Li

m
eh

ou
se

12
06

56
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

B
et

hl
eh

em
 1

-8
,1

0-
30

 d
w

el
R

ew
ire

 -
  d

w
el

 &
 s

m
ok

e
31

30
1

0
Li

m
eh

ou
se

12
06

60
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

S
au

nd
er

s 
C

lo
se

 d
w

el
 1

-1
8

R
ew

ire
 -

 d
w

el
20

18
2

0
Li

m
eh

ou
se

12
06

70
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

C
om

m
od

or
e 

1-
24

 d
w

el
 &

 s
m

k
R

ew
ire

 -
  d

w
el

 &
 s

m
ok

e
44

44
0

0
B

la
ck

w
al

l &
 C

ub
itt

 T
ow

n
12

06
72

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
M

or
an

t S
t 5

1-
79

 o
 d

w
el

&
sm

ok
e

R
ew

ire
 -

  d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

16
13

3
0

Li
m

eh
ou

se
12

06
74

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
S

al
tw

el
l 4

-2
6,

 5
2-

86
 e

 d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

R
ew

ire
 -

  d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

32
30

2
0

Li
m

eh
ou

se
12

06
78

R
ew

ire
 -

 D
w

el
lin

gs
A

rb
or

fie
ld

 H
se

 1
-2

1 
22

-3
3 

dw
el

 &
 s

m
k

R
ew

ire
 -

  d
w

el
 &

 s
m

ok
e

36
35

1
0

Li
m

eh
ou

se

Page 108



ID
T

yp
e

S
ch

em
e

D
et

ai
ls

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

S
p

en
d

 P
ri

o
r 

to
 3

1/
03

/1
0

E
st

im
at

e 
20

10
/1

1
E

st
im

at
e 

20
11

/1
2

W
ar

d

12
06

80
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

D
or

a 
H

se
 1

-2
5 

 d
w

el
 &

 s
m

k
R

ew
ire

 -
  d

w
el

 &
 s

m
ok

e
24

24
0

0
Li

m
eh

ou
se

12
06

84
R

ew
ire

 -
 D

w
el

lin
gs

E
as

t I
nd

ia
 B

ld
gs

 1
-9

,1
4-

37
 d

w
el

&
sm

k
R

ew
ire

 -
  d

w
el

 &
 s

m
ok

e
31

30
1

0
B

la
ck

w
al

l &
 C

ub
itt

 T
ow

n
R

ew
ir

e 
- 

D
w

el
lin

g
s 

T
o

ta
l

1,
53

0
1,

35
7

17
3

0
10

16
67

R
oa

ds
/P

av
in

g
P

av
in

g 
10

/1
1

R
en

ew
 p

av
in

g 
as

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
by

 s
ur

ve
y

28
9

0
28

9
0

A
ll

10
16

74
R

oa
ds

/P
av

in
g

P
av

in
g 

9/
10

R
en

ew
 p

av
in

g 
as

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
by

 s
ur

ve
y

44
8

43
8

10
0

A
ll

R
o

ad
s/

P
av

in
g

 T
o

ta
l

73
7

43
8

29
9

0
10

09
90

R
oo

fin
g

D
on

eg
al

 H
ou

se
(1

-9
4)

,S
ov

er
ei

gn
 H

ou
se

(1
-6

8)
ro

of
 r

en
ew

al
33

8
33

0
7

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
10

13
67

R
oo

fin
g

K
ey

 C
lo

se
 1

-6
 7

-2
0 

21
-3

4 
ro

of
 &

 d
ec

s
ro

of
 &

 d
ec

or
at

io
ns

28
8

28
2

6
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
15

87
R

oo
fin

g
S

om
er

fo
rd

 S
t 4

7&
48

R
en

ew
 fl

at
 r

oo
f, 

w
in

do
w

s,
do

or
s 

&
 c

on
cr

et
e 

re
pa

ir#
64

63
1

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
12

05
11

R
oo

fin
g

P
in

ef
ie

ld
 C

lo
se

F
la

t r
oo

f r
en

ew
al

80
79

1
0

Li
m

eh
ou

se
12

05
13

R
oo

fin
g

K
em

ps
 1

-3
1o

 P
en

ny
fie

ld
s

R
oo

f r
en

ew
al

 c
om

bi
ne

 w
ith

 1
20

72
2 

ca
no

py
25

1
24

5
5

0
Li

m
eh

ou
se

13
06

91
R

oo
fin

g
C

ro
fts

 S
t (

41
) 

&
 W

hi
te

 H
or

se
 L

an
e(

62
)

ro
of

 r
en

ew
al

28
26

2
0

S
t. 

K
at

ha
rin

e'
s 

&
 W

ap
pi

ng
13

07
28

R
oo

fin
g

B
ee

ch
y,

C
ha

nc
el

lo
r,

F
ro

bi
sh

er
 H

ou
se

s
R

oo
f r

en
ew

,r
ep

oi
nt

in
g,

as
ph

al
t,b

al
us

tr
ad

es
.

1,
12

6
1,

11
9

7
0

S
t. 

K
at

ha
rin

e'
s 

&
 W

ap
pi

ng
13

07
29

R
oo

fin
g

F
lin

de
rs

P
ar

ry
W

ill
ou

gh
by

F
en

ne
rV

an
co

uv
er

R
oo

f r
en

ew
l &

 R
ep

oi
nt

in
g-

sp
al

lin
g 

to
 c

om
 s

ta
ir 

&
 w

1,
63

6
1,

58
9

47
0

S
t. 

K
at

ha
rin

e'
s 

&
 W

ap
pi

ng
R

o
o

fi
n

g
 T

o
ta

l
3,

81
1

3,
73

3
77

0
10

09
81

T
V

 A
er

ia
ls

T
V

 A
er

ia
ls

 a
lo

gu
e 

to
 IR

S
 P

h5
 0

5/
06

T
V

 A
er

ia
ls

34
3

33
5

7
0

A
ll

10
10

67
T

V
 A

er
ia

ls
T

V
 A

er
ia

ls
 a

lo
gu

e 
to

 IR
S

 P
h8

 0
7/

08
T

V
 A

er
ia

ls
99

5
95

6
39

0
A

ll
10

10
68

T
V

 A
er

ia
ls

T
V

 A
er

ia
ls

 a
lo

gu
e 

to
 IR

S
 P

h9
 0

8/
09

A
er

ia
ls

 to
 d

ig
ita

l
1,

10
7

97
1

13
5

0
A

ll
10

10
69

T
V

 A
er

ia
ls

T
V

 A
er

ia
ls

 a
lo

gu
e 

to
 IR

S
 P

h1
0 

09
/1

0
A

er
ia

ls
 to

 d
ig

ita
l a

nd
 s

ky
pl

us
 a

nd
 h

d
96

1
80

5
15

6
0

A
ll

T
V

 A
er

ia
ls

 T
o

ta
l

3,
40

6
3,

06
7

33
8

0
10

10
71

V
en

til
at

io
n

E
xt

 F
an

s/
M

ec
h 

ve
nt

s 
07

/0
8c

om
m

R
ef

ur
b 

co
m

m
un

al
 e

xt
 fa

ns
 P

h 
4 

su
rv

ey
 a

nd
 s

om
e 

22
8

22
7

1
0

A
ll

10
10

72
V

en
til

at
io

n
E

xt
 F

an
s/

M
ec

h 
ve

nt
s 

08
/0

9 
P

h5
.2

 w
ith

 lh
ol

d 
no

tif
R

ef
ur

b 
co

m
m

un
al

 e
xt

 fa
ns

,g
ril

ls
,d

uc
ts

 p
la

nt
13

3
12

9
5

0
A

ll
10

10
73

V
en

til
at

io
n

E
xt

 F
an

s/
M

ec
h 

ve
nt

s 
09

/1
0 

 1
0/

11
 c

om
m

R
ef

ur
b 

co
m

m
un

al
 e

xt
 fa

ns
  P

h 
6 

se
e 

10
16

88
24

2
92

15
0

0
A

ll
10

16
47

V
en

til
at

io
n

E
xt

 F
an

s/
M

ec
h 

ve
nt

s 
08

/0
9 

P
h5

.1
 n

o 
lh

ol
d 

no
tif

C
om

m
un

al
 E

xt
 fa

ns
,d

uc
ts

,g
ril

ls
 p

la
nt

 u
pd

at
e

97
96

1
0

A
ll

13
07

48
V

en
til

at
io

n
S

ie
ge

 H
ou

se
 H

&
S

 v
en

til
at

io
n

C
om

m
un

al
 V

en
til

at
io

n 
R

ep
ai

rs
32

31
1

0
W

hi
te

ch
ap

el
V

en
ti

la
ti

o
n

 T
o

ta
l

73
3

57
4

15
9

0
10

10
07

W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y
H

an
bu

ry
 S

t  
22

5-
34

7,
 3

55
-3

95
  b

oo
st

ed
B

oo
st

ed
 w

at
er

 in
st

al
 &

 p
la

nt
 r

oo
m

 to
 6

 s
to

re
y 

bl
oc

ks
77

2
73

2
S

pi
ta

lfi
el

ds
 &

 B
an

gl
at

ow
n

10
10

12
W

at
er

 S
up

pl
y

B
ra

dl
ey

 L
yn

ch
 b

oo
st

ed
B

oo
st

ed
 w

at
er

 r
en

ew
  -

 tr
ac

in
g 

pr
ob

le
m

27
0

27
1

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
10

10
44

W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y
C

le
ev

e 
H

se
 b

oo
st

ed
B

oo
st

ed
 w

at
er

 in
st

al
57

5
51

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

10
47

W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y
R

ap
le

y 
H

se
 b

oo
st

ed
B

oo
st

ed
 w

at
er

 in
st

al
10

6
88

18
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
11

25
W

at
er

 S
up

pl
y

C
le

la
nd

G
oo

dr
ic

hK
em

pP
ig

go
tt 

bo
os

te
d

B
oo

st
ed

 w
at

er
 p

la
nt

 r
oo

m
 b

ui
ld

11
4

11
1

2
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 N

or
th

10
11

67
W

at
er

 S
up

pl
y

R
yd

er
 (

2)
 in

te
rn

al
 w

at
er

 s
up

pl
y

In
te

rn
al

 w
at

er
 s

up
pl

y 
pi

pe
s

98
96

2
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
11

74
W

at
er

 S
up

pl
y

B
ar

ba
ne

l (
12

) 
in

te
rn

al
 w

at
er

 s
up

pl
y

In
te

rn
al

 w
at

er
 s

up
pl

y 
pi

pe
s

98
85

13
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
11

75
W

at
er

 S
up

pl
y

S
to

th
ar

d 
(1

1)
 1

-3
0 

in
te

rn
al

 w
at

er
 s

up
pl

y
In

te
rn

al
 w

at
er

 s
up

pl
y 

pi
pe

s
99

97
2

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
10

11
76

W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y
R

ed
cl

yf
 (

10
) 

in
te

rn
al

 w
at

er
 s

up
pl

y
In

te
rn

al
 w

at
er

 s
up

pl
y 

pi
pe

s
98

95
2

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
10

11
77

W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y
B

ra
in

tr
ee

 (
6)

 in
te

rn
al

 w
at

er
 s

up
pl

y
In

te
rn

al
 w

at
er

 s
up

pl
y 

pi
pe

s
13

9
13

6
3

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
10

11
78

W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y
D

ov
et

on
 (

9)
 in

te
rn

al
 w

at
er

 s
up

pl
y

In
te

rn
al

 w
at

er
 s

up
pl

y 
pi

pe
s

94
91

3
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
11

79
W

at
er

 S
up

pl
y

W
ic

kf
or

d 
(8

) 
in

te
rn

al
 w

at
er

 s
up

pl
y

In
te

rn
al

 w
at

er
 s

up
pl

y 
pi

pe
s

13
4

13
0

4
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

10
16

71
W

at
er

 S
up

pl
y

W
el

lin
gt

on
 b

oo
st

ed
 (

P
on

so
nb

yM
ai

tla
nd

 2
6-

65
)

In
st

al
 b

oo
st

ed
 w

at
er

 -
P

on
so

nb
y 

&
 M

ai
tla

nd
10

8
10

7
1

0
Li

m
eh

ou
se

10
16

86
W

at
er

 S
up

pl
y

T
ur

in
 E

st
  E

as
t w

at
er

 m
ai

n
In

st
al

 n
ew

 w
at

er
 m

ai
n 

an
d 

pi
pe

s 
to

 a
ll 

bl
oc

ks
69

67
2

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

17
25

W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y
W

el
lin

gt
on

 (
C

ol
vi

lle
,H

al
ke

tt,
M

ai
tla

nd
 1

-2
5)

B
oo

st
ed

 w
at

er
 jo

in
 to

 e
xi

st
in

g 
sy

st
em

31
0

30
1

Li
m

eh
ou

se
10

17
33

W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y
O

rio
n 

bo
os

te
d 

w
at

er
 u

rg
en

t H
&

S
R

en
ew

 b
oo

st
ed

 p
la

nt
 a

fte
r 

flo
od

 d
am

ag
e

17
0

17
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

12
06

01
W

at
er

 S
up

pl
y

B
re

w
st

er
 b

oo
st

ed
 0

9/
10

B
oo

st
ed

 w
at

er
18

0
18

0
Li

m
eh

ou
se

12
07

31
W

at
er

 S
up

pl
y

R
ed

bo
ur

ne
 H

se
 b

oo
st

ed
R

en
ew

 b
oo

st
ed

 w
at

er
65

63
2

0
Li

m
eh

ou
se

12
07

37
W

at
er

 S
up

pl
y

G
at

w
ic

k 
bo

os
te

d
In

st
al

 b
oo

st
ed

 w
at

er
 fr

om
 2

72
 a

llo
ca

tio
n

69
67

2
0

Li
m

eh
ou

se
13

06
65

W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y
G

os
lin

g 
bo

os
te

d
B

oo
st

ed
 w

at
er

 in
st

al
11

3
11

2
1

0
S

ha
dw

el
l

W
at

er
 S

u
p

p
ly

 T
o

ta
l

1,
63

1
1,

35
3

27
4

5
10

16
90

W
at

er
 T

an
ks

C
ol

d 
w

at
er

 ta
nk

 r
em

ov
al

re
m

ov
e 

 C
W

 ta
nk

s 
w

he
re

 c
om

m
 s

ys
te

m
19

1
18

3
8

0
A

ll
12

06
38

W
at

er
 T

an
ks

W
at

er
 ta

nk
 0

9/
10

R
en

ew
 c

om
m

un
al

 ta
nk

s
27

9
79

20
0

0
A

ll
13

09
19

W
at

er
 T

an
ks

A
dd

is
 H

se
 1

-8
R

en
ew

 w
at

er
 ta

nk
s 

dr
aw

n 
fr

om
 2

72
 a

llo
c

4
4

0
0

W
hi

te
ch

ap
el

W
at

er
 T

an
ks

 T
o

ta
l

47
5

26
6

20
8

0
10

05
65

W
in

do
w

s
H

ea
th

po
ol

 C
t  

1-
45

W
in

do
w

 r
en

ew
al

 &
 C

on
cr

et
e 

R
ep

ai
rs

&
ex

 d
ec

s
81

8
81

5
3

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th

Page 109



ID
T

yp
e

S
ch

em
e

D
et

ai
ls

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

S
p

en
d

 P
ri

o
r 

to
 3

1/
03

/1
0

E
st

im
at

e 
20

10
/1

1
E

st
im

at
e 

20
11

/1
2

W
ar

d

10
05

85
W

in
do

w
s

W
in

gf
ie

ld
 H

ou
se

 -
R

oo
f &

 W
in

do
w

 r
en

ew
al

28
0

27
8

1
0

W
ea

ve
rs

10
06

51
W

in
do

w
s

E
be

ne
ze

r 
M

us
se

l H
ou

se
W

in
do

w
 r

en
ew

al
27

0
26

9
1

0
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 N
or

th
10

06
66

W
in

do
w

s
Ja

m
es

 D
oc

he
rt

y 
H

ou
se

W
in

do
w

 r
en

ew
al

,c
on

cr
et

e 
&

 e
x 

de
cs

46
5

46
4

1
0

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 N

or
th

10
06

85
W

in
do

w
s

R
am

se
y 

S
t 2

-9
6,

 9
8-

12
8 

D
er

by
sh

ire
2-

24
W

in
do

w
 r

en
ew

al
 &

 e
xt

 d
ec

s
64

2
62

7
15

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

07
71

W
in

do
w

s
M

oo
dy

 S
tr

ee
t 3

8-
42

,4
8-

52
W

in
do

w
 r

en
ew

al
10

0
99

0
0

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
11

04
36

W
in

do
w

s
B

ra
ck

en
 H

ou
se

W
in

do
w

 R
en

ew
al

 /r
ef

ur
b&

 D
ec

s 
&

 d
ra

in
ag

e
62

7
22

6
37

3
28

B
ro

m
le

y 
B

y 
B

ow
11

04
62

W
in

do
w

s
T

re
lli

s 
S

q 
3 

bl
oc

ks
-

R
en

ew
 w

in
do

w
s 

&
 a

ss
t d

ec
s 

 a
sp

ha
lt&

pi
pe

w
or

k
48

4
49

9
-1

5
0

B
ow

 W
es

t
11

04
66

W
in

do
w

s
W

hi
tto

n 
W

al
k 

21
-3

8,
57

-7
0,

71
-8

4,
85

-9
8

R
en

ew
 w

in
do

w
s

59
5

58
4

11
0

B
ow

 W
es

t
11

04
67

W
in

do
w

s
S

he
ffi

el
d 

S
q 

1-
8,

25
-3

2;
9-

24
R

en
ew

 w
in

do
w

s 
&

 d
ec

s 
at

 tw
o 

4 
st

or
ey

 b
lk

s
28

3
27

3
11

0
B

ow
 W

es
t

11
05

51
W

in
do

w
s

A
nn

ie
 B

es
an

t C
l h

se
s(

x1
3)

R
en

ew
 w

in
do

w
s-

sp
lit

 in
 2

sc
hs

 -
 1

 fl
at

s 
&

 1
 h

ou
se

s
16

9
16

4
5

0
B

ow
 E

as
t

11
05

55
W

in
do

w
s

A
nn

ie
 B

es
an

t f
la

ts
 3

6,
37

 a
-f

R
en

ew
 w

in
do

w
s 

to
 fl

at
s

89
87

2
0

B
ow

 E
as

t
12

07
23

W
in

do
w

s
C

ot
ta

ge
 S

t 1
5-

11
9o

 &
 9

4-
10

0 
ev

en
R

en
ew

 s
te

el
 s

in
gl

e 
gl

z 
w

in
do

w
s 

&
 c

on
cr

et
e 

re
pa

irs
 

56
9

0
55

2
17

Li
m

eh
ou

se
13

07
31

W
in

do
w

s
Li

pt
on

 1
-2

0 
21

-6
1 

B
ill

in
g,

D
ow

so
n1

-1
5C

om
m

R
d 

W
in

do
w

 R
en

ew
, C

on
cr

et
e 

R
ep

&
ex

 d
ec

s 
P

h3
 w

lk
w

ay
 

2,
05

2
30

6
98

2
76

4
S

ha
dw

el
l

W
in

d
o

w
s 

T
o

ta
l

7,
44

3
4,

69
1

1,
94

2
81

0
G

ra
n

d
 T

o
ta

l
64

,0
87

51
,1

28
11

,7
07

1,
25

0

Page 110



ID
T

yp
e

S
ch

em
e

D
et

ai
ls

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

S
p

en
d

 P
ri

o
r 

to
 3

1/
03

/1
0

E
st

im
at

e 
20

10
/1

1
E

st
im

at
e 

20
11

/1
2

W
ar

d

Page 111



Page 112

This page is intentionally left blank



ID
T

yp
e

S
ch

em
e

D
et

ai
ls

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

S
p

en
d

 P
ri

o
r 

to
 3

1/
03

/1
0

E
st

im
at

e 
20

10
/1

1
E

st
im

at
e 

20
11

/1
2

W
ar

d

£ 
00

0'
s

£ 
00

0'
s

£ 
00

0'
s

£ 
00

0'
s

10
05

69
D

ec
en

t H
om

es
Li

st
er

 T
re

ve
s 

 P
h 

1 
D

H
 P

ilo
t t

en
an

te
d 

kb
's

R
en

ew
 te

na
nt

ed
 k

itc
he

ns
 &

 b
at

hs
 (

se
e 

10
05

69
 fo

r 
71

7
22

2
48

3
12

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 N

or
th

10
17

26
D

ec
en

t H
om

es
D

on
eg

al
 a

nd
 S

ov
er

ei
gn

   
P

h 
2 

D
H

 P
ilo

t E
xt

er
na

l
P

ha
se

 2
 E

xt
er

na
l w

or
ks

 w
in

do
w

s,
co

nc
re

te
,d

ec
s 

(s
ee

 
3,

35
5

0
1,

65
0

1,
52

5
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
10

17
38

D
ec

en
t H

om
es

Li
st

er
 1

-3
4 

T
re

ve
s 

1-
18

   
 P

h2
 D

H
 P

ilo
t(

se
e 

W
in

do
w

s/
E

xt
,R

ep
ai

rs
/ R

oo
f/d

ec
s 

pl
us

 
1,

92
4

0
11

0
1,

76
4

B
et

hn
al

 G
re

en
 S

ou
th

12
07

56
D

ec
en

t H
om

es
T

rin
id

ad
 G

re
na

da
   

   
   

   
   

P
h 

2 
D

H
 P

ilo
t 

E
xt

er
na

l r
ef

ur
bi

sh
m

en
t (

se
e 

12
04

75
 fo

r 
ph

1)
1,

44
3

0
1,

02
9

37
8

Li
m

eh
ou

se
13

09
51

D
ec

en
t H

om
es

M
ay

o 
W

ex
fo

rd
   

   
   

   
   

  P
h 

2 
D

H
 P

ilo
t E

xt
er

na
l

P
h 

2 
W

in
do

w
s/

E
xt

 R
ep

ai
rs

/R
oo

f/D
ec

s 
re

fu
rb

 (
se

e 
93

5
0

77
0

16
5

W
hi

te
ch

ap
el

10
16

03
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
M

ul
be

rr
y 

1-
40

D
oo

r 
en

tr
y 

re
ne

w
al

#
30

0
29

1
M

ile
 E

nd
 &

 G
lo

be
 T

ow
n

11
05

39
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
W

hi
tto

n 
W

al
k 

ad
d 

al
l b

lk
s 

-1
-9

5 
La

w
re

nc
e 

C
l 3

0-
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
 r

en
ew

al
#3

9-
56

 to
 c

ab
 o

nl
y

17
3

0
16

7
5

B
ow

 W
es

t
11

05
72

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

D
ev

on
s 

R
oa

d 
25

0-
29

6 
ad

de
d 

to
 p

ro
g 

3 
fe

b 
10

D
oo

r 
en

tr
y

35
0

33
2

B
ro

m
le

y 
B

y 
B

ow
12

05
97

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

M
al

tin
g 

1-
56

 d
 e

nt
ry

R
en

ew
 d

oo
r 

en
tr

y-
 b

al
lo

t
66

0
64

2
Li

m
eh

ou
se

12
06

08
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
E

as
t I

nd
ia

 B
ld

gs
 1

-9
 1

4-
37

 d
 e

nt
D

oo
r 

E
nt

ry
 r

en
ew

al
-s

ur
ve

y
57

0
56

1
B

la
ck

w
al

l &
 C

ub
itt

 T
ow

n
12

07
34

D
oo

r 
E

nt
ry

A
bb

ot
t H

se
 1

-1
8

In
st

al
 d

oo
r 

en
tr

y
37

0
36

1
Li

m
eh

ou
se

13
09

35
R

ef
ur

b 
- 

M
ul

ti 
E

le
m

en
t

P
ilo

t B
lu

e 
A

nc
ho

r 
1/

2,
 R

oy
al

 M
in

t P
la

ce
 1

9-
22

 2
3-

P
ilo

t b
lo

ck
s 

fr
om

 s
ch

em
e 

13
06

76
 (

sa
m

e 
to

t v
al

ue
)

29
5

0
28

3
12

S
t. 

K
at

he
rin

e'
s 

&
 W

ap
pi

ng
12

06
17

R
oo

fin
g

C
ar

m
ic

ha
el

  r
oo

f, 
C

ar
m

ic
ha

el
/C

om
m

od
or

e 
C

ar
 r

oo
f(

ph
1)

C
ar

 C
om

 c
on

c,
 a

sp
ha

lt 
&

 d
ec

s(
P

h2
)

55
1

2
52

7
22

B
la

ck
w

al
l &

 C
ub

itt
 T

ow
n

10
16

16
W

at
er

 S
up

pl
y

B
en

tw
or

th
 C

t b
oo

st
ed

 w
at

er
 fr

on
t o

f b
ui

ld
in

g
R

en
ew

 b
oo

st
ed

 w
at

er
19

0
19

0
W

ea
ve

rs
10

16
17

W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y
B

en
tw

or
th

 b
oo

st
ed

 w
at

er
 r

ea
r 

of
 b

ui
ld

in
g

R
en

ew
 b

oo
st

ed
 w

at
er

 -
dr

aw
n 

fr
om

10
12

52
21

0
21

0
W

ea
ve

rs
11

04
69

W
in

do
w

s
A

m
br

os
e 

W
k 

 1
-1

7,
18

-3
1,

32
-4

5C
re

sw
ic

k 
W

k1
-

R
en

ew
 w

in
do

w
s 

&
 d

ec
s 

an
d 

r&
l c

om
bi

ne
 w

ith
 

1,
19

5
5

73
7

45
3

B
ow

 W
es

t
11

05
63

W
in

do
w

s
A

rm
ag

h/
O

ld
 F

or
d 

R
d 

w
in

do
w

s 
to

 te
na

nt
ed

 h
se

s
R

en
ew

 w
in

do
w

s 
to

 te
na

nt
ed

 h
se

s
17

5
0

17
2

3
B

ow
 E

as
t

12
07

47
W

in
do

w
s

E
as

t A
rb

ou
r 

S
t t

en
an

te
d 

hs
es

R
en

ew
 w

in
do

w
s 

&
 d

ec
s 

in
 te

na
nt

ed
 h

se
s

67
0

66
1

Li
m

eh
ou

se
U

n
co

m
m

it
te

d
 P

ri
o

ri
ty

 1
 S

ch
em

es
11

,0
95

22
9

6,
25

3
4,

34
7

10
16

02
C

on
cr

et
e

H
ol

m
an

 H
ou

se
 c

on
cr

et
e

C
on

cr
et

e 
in

ve
st

ig
at

io
n/

re
m

ed
ia

l w
or

k 
ro

of
 &

 w
in

do
w

19
3

2
60

13
0

M
ile

 E
nd

 &
 G

lo
be

 T
ow

n
10

17
31

H
ea

tin
g

B
oi

le
r 

P
ro

g 
10

/1
1 

P
h 

4
R

en
ew

 b
oi

le
r

44
6

0
43

5
11

A
ll

13
07

36
R

ef
ur

b 
- 

M
ul

ti 
E

le
m

en
t

C
ol

et
 F

la
ts

 (
1-

6)
 r

oo
f &

 b
ric

kw
or

k 
pl

us
 h

&
s 

R
en

ew
 r

oo
f &

sp
al

lin
g 

br
ic

kw
or

k 
an

d 
re

ta
in

in
g 

w
al

l 
10

6
0

10
0

5
S

t. 
D

un
st

an
's

 &
 S

te
pn

ey
 G

re
en

10
13

66
R

ef
ur

b 
- 

M
ul

ti 
E

le
m

en
t

B
ar

ns
le

y 
S

t 3
0-

52
 H

ea
dl

am
 S

t 2
-3

6
ro

of
 w

in
do

w
s 

de
cs

60
2

2
30

0
28

5
B

et
hn

al
 G

re
en

 S
ou

th
13

07
89

R
oo

fin
g

C
or

rin
gh

am
 H

se
 1

-2
8 

C
ha

lk
w

el
l 1

-1
2,

P
its

ea
1-

R
en

ew
 r

oo
f &

 w
in

do
w

s
52

0
20

25
0

25
0

S
ha

dw
el

l
11

04
68

W
in

do
w

s
D

ev
on

s 
R

d 
22

6-
24

8e
, 2

50
-2

96
e

R
en

ew
 w

in
do

w
s 

&
 s

ou
nd

 a
tte

nu
at

io
n.

 P
os

s 
ro

of
 x

1 
54

2
0

44
9

94
B

ro
m

le
y 

B
y 

B
ow

U
n

co
m

m
it

te
d

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
 2

 S
ch

em
es

2,
40

9
24

1,
59

4
77

5

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l -

 S
ch

em
es

13
,5

03
25

3
7,

84
7

5,
12

2

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 B
H

o
u

si
n

g
 In

ve
st

m
en

t 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

20
10

-1
1

T
o

w
er

 H
am

le
ts

 H
o

m
es

 P
ro

p
o

se
d

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
 S

ch
em

es

Page 113



Page 114

This page is intentionally left blank



S
u

m
m

ar
y 

A
n

al
ys

is
 o

f 
C

o
m

m
it

te
d

 a
n

d
 T

H
H

 P
ro

p
o

se
d

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
 S

ch
em

es
 b

y 
C

at
eg

o
ry

20
10

-1
1

20
11

-1
2

C
o

m
m

it
te

d
 

S
ch

em
es

 / 
R

et
en

ti
o

n
s

U
n

co
m

m
it

te
d

 
T

H
H

 P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
S

ch
em

es
T

o
ta

l

C
o

m
m

it
te

d
 

S
ch

em
es

 / 
R

et
en

ti
o

n
s

U
n

co
m

m
it

te
d

 
T

H
H

 
P

ro
p

o
se

d
 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

S
ch

em
es

T
o

ta
l

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

(A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
)

(A
p

p
en

d
ix

 B
)

(A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
)

(A
p

p
en

d
ix

 B
)

£,
00

0
£,

00
0

£,
00

0
£,

00
0

£,
00

0
£,

00
0

£,
00

0

C
ar

et
ak

er
s 

A
cc

o
m

m
o

d
at

io
n

67
  

0 
 

67
   

   
   

   
   

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
67

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
C

o
n

cr
et

e 
W

o
rk

s
26

  
60

  
86

   
   

   
   

   
 

0 
 

13
0 

 
13

0 
 

21
6

   
   

   
   

   
 

D
ec

en
t 

H
o

m
es

2,
97

5 
 

4,
04

2 
 

7,
01

7
   

   
   

  
75

  
3,

84
4 

 
3,

91
9 

 
10

,9
36

   
   

   
  

D
o

o
rs

 / 
D

o
o

r 
E

n
tr

y
71

3 
 

38
6 

 
1,

09
9

   
   

   
  

14
  

12
  

26
  

1,
12

5
   

   
   

   
 

H
ea

ti
n

g
1,

26
2 

 
43

5 
 

1,
69

7
   

   
   

  
28

  
11

  
39

  
1,

73
6

   
   

   
   

 
L

if
ts

1,
28

7 
 

0 
 

1,
28

7
   

   
   

  
16

2 
 

0 
 

16
2 

 
1,

44
9

   
   

   
   

 
R

ef
u

rb
is

h
m

en
t 

/ K
n

o
ck

th
o

u
g

h
s

97
6 

 
68

3 
 

1,
65

9
   

   
   

  
13

5 
 

30
3 

 
43

8 
 

2,
09

7
   

   
   

   
 

R
ew

ir
in

g
 -

 C
o

m
m

u
n

al
 / 

D
w

el
lin

g
s

1,
10

3 
 

0 
 

1,
10

3
   

   
   

  
22

  
0 

 
22

  
1,

12
5

   
   

   
   

 
R

o
ad

s 
/ P

av
in

g
29

9 
 

0 
 

29
9

   
   

   
   

  
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
29

9
   

   
   

   
   

 
R

o
o

fi
n

g
77

  
77

7 
 

85
4

   
   

   
   

  
0 

 
27

2 
 

27
2 

 
1,

12
6

   
   

   
   

 
T

V
 A

er
ia

ls
33

8 
 

0 
 

33
8

   
   

   
   

  
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
33

8
   

   
   

   
   

 
V

en
ti

la
ti

o
n

15
9 

 
0 

 
15

9
   

   
   

   
  

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

15
9

   
   

   
   

   
 

W
at

er
 S

u
p

p
ly

 / 
T

an
ks

48
2 

 
40

  
52

2
   

   
   

   
  

5 
 

0 
 

5 
 

52
7

   
   

   
   

   
 

W
in

d
o

w
s

1,
94

3 
 

1,
42

3 
 

3,
36

6
   

   
   

  
80

9 
 

55
0 

 
1,

35
9 

 
4,

72
5

   
   

   
   

 

11
,7

07
  

7,
84

6 
 

19
,5

53
  

1,
25

0 
 

5,
12

2 
 

6,
37

2 
 

25
,9

25
  

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 C
H

o
u

si
n

g
 In

ve
st

m
en

t 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

20
10

-1
1

Page 115



Page 116

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D

�
�
�
���
�
�	


�
��

�



�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
��


��
�
��


�
�	


�
��

�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
	


�
��

�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��


��
�
��
�
� 
�
�
�	


�
��

�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�!
��
"
��
#
�$


�
��

�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�%
� 
�&
'�
	


�
��

(
�
�
�


��
�
�

�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

)

��
��


�

*
�
��
�+


,�

!


��
��
�


��

Page 117



Page 118

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

Committee/Meeting: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
8th September 
2010 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted  
 

 

Report No: 
 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director Aman Dalvi 
 
Originating officer(s) Sian Pipe 
 
 

Title:  
 
Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency 
Scheme 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 
Lead Member 
 

Councillor David Edgar, Lead Member Resources 

Community Plan Theme 
  

A Great Place to Live / A Prosperous Community 

Strategic Priority 
 

 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report serves to inform members about the Council’s mandatory 

participation in the Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency 
Scheme.     

 
2. DECISIONS REQUIRED 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 
2.1 Note the obligation placed on it by the CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme, note 

the steps taken and potential risks. 
 
 
 
3. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1 Cabinet is asked only to note the information provided in the report, which 

relates to a scheme that is mandatory under the Climate Change Act 2008. 
 
 
 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 No alternative options are presented, as the report only provides information 

about a mandatory scheme. 
 
 
 
    

Agenda Item 6.3

Page 119



 
 

 

 
5. BACKGROUND 
 
5.1 The CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme is an obligatory emissions trading 

scheme covering defined public and private sector organisations, and is a 
central part of the UK’s strategy to deliver the emission reduction targets set 
in the Climate Change Act 2008.  Qualification for the scheme took place in 
2008 and registration takes place from April – September 2010.  Failure to 
register carries civil penalties of £5,000 + £500 per working day (top limits 
apply), several other substantial fines are also applicable. 

 
5.2 The Council has a legal obligation to participate in the scheme and to take 

responsibility for state funded schools.  This means that all council 
operations are included, e.g. administrative offices, social care homes.  It 
also includes landlord tenant relationships and may extend to certain PFI 
and joint ventures.   

 
5.3 Success within the scheme is dependent on a league table position, 

therefore reducing carbon emissions and improving energy efficiency are 
essential, not just in the ‘energy manager’ domain, but facilities 
management, schools, investment in energy administration and 
infrastructure.  The cooperation of all directorates is essential to effectively 
meet the terms of the scheme and ensure full compliance. 

 
5.4 Basic compliance with CRC, is largely an administrative overhead (i.e. 

process).  However, to do well and benefit from energy saving a cross 
council cultural and management approach would be required.  The Local 
Authority Carbon Management Board is overseeing a number of 
carbon/energy reduction projects.   These projects have both cost reduction 
and carbon saving implications that will enable the Council to meet its 
obligations under the CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme. 

 
5.5 The Council has a number of energy and carbon reduction projects which 

have been implemented or are ongoing and some in need of investigation, 
defining and funding. These are shown in the table below. 

 
 

Project 
Description 

Comments Timescale CO2 savings/year 
(tonnes) 

Improving Energy 
Monitoring 

Identify directorate 
champions to be 
responsible 
achieving reduction 
targets 

By March 2011 Not defined as yet 

The Big Switch Off Staff awareness 
campaign 

In progress 340 

Albert Jacobs 
House – Voltage 
Optimiser 

Achieving electricity 
and carbon savings 

Installation April 
2010 

30 

Parks operational 
buildings 

Draft proofing, 
energy efficiency 

2010/11 24 

Page 120



 
 

 

measures, insulation 
Automatic meter 
reading equipment 

To be installed 
across the estate to 
promote accurate 
billing and energy 
monitoring 

Gas AMR 
installation 
complete.  
Electricity AMR 
started phase 1 

Can be defined 
after first year of 
operation 

Utility company 
feed-in tariff for 
council buildings & 
schools 

Energy companies to 
donate and install 
renewable energy 
technologies (solar 
thermal, photovoltaic 
panels) the site 
benefits from 
renewables and 
energy company 
from the Feed-in-
Tariff 

Investigation and 
site identification 
in progress 

 

    
 
 
6. THE SCHEME 
 
6.1 The CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme is a mandatory scheme and has 

implications of fines for non compliance, initial set up costs, budget 
uncertainty and reputation.  The Council has a programme of Automatic 
Meter Reading (AMR) equipment installation in progress and an excellent 
data capture mechanism in place.  Energy efficiency and carbon reduction 
projects are in place throughout the borough to begin the energy reduction, 
such as the voltage optimiser at Albert Jacobs House. 

 
6.2 In the introductory phase the Council must estimate how much carbon it will 

use in the first year and then purchase allowances to that level.  Later in that 
financial year, actual performance against that original estimate will be 
ascertained and a ‘recycled’ payment made back to the Council.  If usage is 
lower than estimated then the recycle payment will be greater than the 
original amount paid into the scheme.  If performance is worse then the 
opposite will be true. 

 
6.3 For the first years of the scheme the price of carbon allowances will be fixed 

at £12 per tCO2.  The total cost to the Council of allowances is estimated at 
£442,620, based on an estimated baseline of 36,885 tonnes of CO2.  

 
6.4 The usage by directorate is estimated as shown in the table below. 
 

Page 121



 
 

 

 

Directorate 

 
Percentage 

Share 
 (%) 

Baseline 
Usage 
(tCO2) 

 
Cost 

(Year 1) 
(£) 

Adult's Health & 
Wellbeing 2.07 764 9,168 

Communities, 
Localities & Culture 24.66 9,094 109,128 

Children, Schools & 
Families 48.60 17,925 215,100 

Development & 
Renewal 3.91 1,444 17,328 

Resources 20.76 7,658 91,896 

Council Total 100.00 36,885 442,620 

 
 
 
6.5 The repayment to the Council will be dependent upon performance against 

the estimated usage for the year.  It should be noted that in the first three 
years of the project repayments will be capped at +/- 10%, +/- 20% and +/- 
50% respectively. 

 
6.6 The recycled payments that the Authority will receive in the first three years 

of the scheme will therefore fall within the following parameters :-   
 
  
Emissions 

year 
Payment Recycled 

payment 
received 
best case 

Gain Recycled 
payment 
received 
worst case 

Loss 

2011 £442,600 £486,882 £44,282 £398,358 (£44,242) 
2012 £442,600 £531,144 £88,544 £354,096 (£88,544) 
2013 £442,600 £663,930 £221,330 £221,310 (£221,330) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122



 
 

 

6.7 Participants’ position in the league table will not only depend on how they 
score in the performance matrix but it will also depend on relative 
performance against other participants. It is therefore possible to be bottom 
of the league table even if emission reductions have been achieved.  
Nevertheless, there will be cost benefits as a result of the energy saved. 

 
6.8 The Carbon Trust estimate £150 saving in electricity costs for every tonne of 

CO2 saved.  This cost saving far outweighs the financial incentives 
associated with revenue recycling even if the maximum bonus/penalty factor 
+/- 50% is used. 

 
6.9 In the Government’s annual energy statement, presented on July 27th 2010, 

under the section ‘Helping business and industry use energy more 
efficiently’, it was stated that ‘The introduction of CRC has already increased 
attention on energy efficiency amongst the target group of large energy 
users and there are emerging signs of the financial and reputational drivers 
influencing participants’ behaviour.  We will keep the operation of this 
scheme under active review with a particular eye on simplifying it and 
ensuring it properly incentivises those who do most to improve energy 
efficiency.  We aim to introduce changes ahead of the capped phase.’ 

 
6.10 Further information on the scheme can be downloaded from: 

  www.environment-agency.gov.uk 
 
 
7. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
7.1  The CRC Energy Efficiency scheme is an obligatory emissions trading 

scheme covering defined public and private organisations.   
 
7.2 Paragraph 5.1 of the report indicates that there are financial penalties for 

non-registration of £ 5,000 plus £ 500 per working day.  The Authority is 
stage 1 registered but will need to register fully for the scheme by September 
30th 2010 in order to avoid incurring those charges. 

 
7.3 The scheme operates by purchasing carbon allowances at an initial rate 

(applicable during the first three years of the scheme) of £ 12 per carbon 
tonne.  The Energy team has calculated that the Authority will require 36,885 
tonnes giving a cost of £ 442,620, as shown in the table in paragraph 6.4.  
This amount will be payable on the 1st April 2011.   

 
7.4 Interim results will be analysed and a recycling payment will be due to the 

Authority on 1st October 2011 based on performance against the estimated 
consumption of 36,885 tonnes.  The possible range of refunded payments is 
set out in the table in paragraph 6.6 of the report.  It can be seen that, in 
2011/12 the repayment will be capped at +/- 10% of the original payment.  In 
2012/13 this will become +/- 20% and in 2013/14 +/- 50%. 

 
7.5 It should be recognised that there is a cash-flow issue in that a carbon 

payment will be payable on 1st April of each year with the re-cycling payment 

Page 123



 
 

 

not coming back until 1st October.  The initial payment will need to be 
financed from available cash reserves. It should also be noted that an element 
of risk is involved in that, if the Authority does not purchase enough units, then 
the re-cycling payment will be less than the payment made at the beginning of 
the year. In that event, the deficit would need to be funded from within the 
Council’s General Fund budget.   This issue has been highlighted in reports to 
Members on the Council’s budget and will need to be dealt with as a financial 
risk in setting the 2011/12 – 2013/14 budget.  

 
7.6 The financial outflows for the first three years of the scheme are estimated 

and based on information held by the Energy Team.  They are deemed to be 
constant for the first three years although payments for the second and third 
year of the scheme will be revised dependent on actual performance nearer 
the time.  Maximum and minimum payments (based on the estimated 
payments) are set out in Paragraph 6.6 above although it should be noted that 
those figures assume that all aspects of the scheme are complied with. 

  
7.7 Various financial penalties and risks are associated with this project. These 

are laid out in Section 11 and will be managed through the arrangements set 
out in paragraph 11.3.  If any penalties are incurred they will be in addition to 
the figures laid out in Paragraph 6.6 above, but these can be avoided through 
appropriate management.    

 
 
 
8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

(LEGAL SERVICES) 
 
8.1. The report informs Cabinet about the CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme made 

under the Climate Change Act 2008.  The detail of the Scheme is contained in 
the CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme Order 2010, which came into effect in 
March 2010.  As a relevant public body, the Council is required to register as 
a participant in the Scheme.  The Environment Agency administers the 
scheme in England and may take enforcement action if a person fails to 
comply with a requirement of the Order. 

 
8.2. There will be a need for the Council to take care when awarding contracts to 

external providers to ensure that they appropriately reflect the Council’s 
energy efficiency objectives.  There may be a need to review the Council’s 
procurement procedures to ensure that provision is made for these objectives 
to be considered. 

 
9. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 The CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme will contribute to One Tower Hamlets       

objectives.  The reduction of both carbon and energy consumption will benefit 
all.  The proposed approach will ensure that all energy efficiency schemes are 
identified and maximised 

 
10. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 

Page 124



 
 

 

 
10.1 Climate change and energy efficiency are identified as one of four priority 

action areas in the Government’s Sustainable Development Strategy.  The 
introduction of the CRC is a tool to ensure the cost of carbon is factored into 
the decision making processes of all large organisations.   

 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 The following risks have been identified to date.  These risks will be 

managed and controlled by an identified risk owner. 
 
Description of 
Risk Event 

Mitigating 
actions 

Status Financial 
implications 

Current 
Risk Score 

Providing false or 
misleading 
information  

Data collection 
procedure in 
place.  Internal 
Audit 
procedures as 
set up by CRC 
officers working 
group 

Most schools 
are now 
compliant 

£116,120 to 
£232,240 

 
4 

Failing to report 
annual data on 
time 

Procedures in 
place with meter 
readers and 
utility company 
reports 

Usage of TEAM 
Sigma and 
automatic meter 
reading kit 

£34,029  
3 

Failing to 
maintain 
adequate records 

Database in 
place.  
Dedicated 
resource to 
populate 
evidence file 
(Skills match 
placement) 

 £145,145  
6 

Provision of false 
annual emissions 
data 

As CRC is a self 
certification 
scheme the 
audits will be 
carried out 
internally 

Publication of 
non-compliance 

£40 per tCO2 
incorrectly 
reported 

 
12 

Failure to 
surrender 
allowances 
corresponding to 
the reported 
emissions 

Complying with 
the London 
Centre of 
Excellence good 
practice 
guidelines 

Publication of 
non-compliance 

Fine of £40 in 
respect of 
each 
allowance that 
should have 
been obtained 
and 
surrendered 

 
12 
 

Failure to pay for 
allowances on 

As above Publication of 
non-compliance 

Immediate fine 
equal to 

 
6 

Page 125



 
 

 

time amount of 
allowances, 
worst case 
scenario 
£443,000 

11.3 All risks will be reported to the Carbon Management Board and escalated 
where appropriate to the Asset Management Board and Development & 
Renewal DMT.  The risk relating to financial penalties has been identified 
corporately as a strategic risk and is being monitored by the Corporate 
Management Board. 

   
 
12. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 The report has no implications on crime and disorder.  
  
13. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 
13.1 Close monitoring of the scheme, through the audit controls, will ensure 

efficient use of the Councils resources.   
 
14. APPENDICES 
 

 
There are no appendices 
 
 

 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

  
Brief description of “background papers” Name and telephone number of holder  

and address where open to inspection. 
 

None N/A 
 
 

Page 126



Committee/Meeting: 
 
Cabinet 

Date: 
 
8th September, 
2010 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted 

Report No: 

Report of: 
 
 
Originating Officer(s) 
 
 

Title: 
 
Renewal of Housing General Build 
Repair and Gas Servicing and Repair 
Contracts 
 
 
Wards Affected:  All Wards 

 
Lead Member Marc Francis 
Community Plan Theme A great place to live 
Strategic Priority  
 
 
1 SUMMARY 

 
1.1 When the Council’s Procurement Forward Plan was presented to Cabinet 

on the 10th March, 2010, Cabinet requested more information on the two 
new Housing Repair Contracts  - the General Build Housing Repair and 
Gas Servicing and Repair Contracts which are due to be let in December, 
2010. These are now at the Invitation to Tender stage and have been 
offered in two Lots one for the General Build Housing Repair and the other 
for the Gas Servicing and Repair.  

1.2 The procurement strategy for these contracts means that both Lots could 
be awarded to the same contractor or they could be awarded to separate 
contractors depending on what represent best value to the Council. The 
award criteria take into account quality as well as price in making this 
determination 

1.3 This report provides more information on these contracts so that they can 
proceed to be awarded at the appropriate time.  

2 DECISION REQUIRED 

2.1 Cabinet is requested to;- 

2.1.1 Agree that the contracts for General Build Housing Repair and 
Gas Servicing and Repair contracts can proceed to Award 
stage. 

2.1.2 Authorise the Corporate Director of Development and Renewal 
to award the contract or contracts and in consultation with the 
Assistant Chief Executive (Legal Services) to execute all 
necessary contract documents  

 

Agenda Item 6.4

Page 127



 
3 REASONS FOR THE DECISION 

3.1 The repair and maintenance of homes and environment is one of the key 
areas of service provided to the Council’s tenants and leaseholders by 
Tower Hamlets Homes. It is also a statutory responsibility for the Council to 
carry out repairs and maintenance to its housing stock.  These contracts 
are being procured in such a way to ensure that residents are provided 
with the highest level of service possible in as efficient a way as possible.  

3.2 To ensure that all relevant stakeholders are fully able to participate at the 
start of these contracts a mobilisation period of a full three months is 
required.  The contract has a start date of 1st April, 2011 which does not 
allow sufficient flexibility for a further report to Cabinet before the award 
decision is finalised.  In order to achieve the deadline Cabinet is requested 
to note, discuss and provide comments on the content of this report to 
ensure the contracts are let in accordance with Members’ wishes but 
permit the final decision on award to be made by the Corporate Director, 
Development and Renewal.  

4 ALTERNATIVE PROPOSALS 

4.1 Extend existing contracts.  The existing contracts have provision within 
them to be extended by up to two years. One year of that extension has 
already taken place.  To re-extend for the further year will mean the re-
procurement process will have to be repeated in the very near future with 
some reputational damage and additional costs arising for both the Council 
and the bidders. There is also the risk that existing bidders will not bid due 
to the abortive bidding costs.  Efficiency savings will be limited by 
extending existing contracts and not entering into new more effective 
arrangements. The new contracts also have a focus on improved service  
delivery and client satisfaction which will be lost. Residents are also aware 
that new contract management techniques will provide a fresh focus on 
this important service which, along with any efficiency savings, will be 
deferred if existing contracts are simply extended.   

5 BACKGROUND 

 
5.1 The current contracts were let in April, 2005 on a five year term with an 

option to extend by a further two years. The repair contract (covering voids, 
reactive repairs, minor planned works) and the gas servicing and repair 
contracts (the subject of this report) were extended by one year until 31st 
March, 2011 with the other specialist contracts being extended until 31st 
March, 2012.  Therefore, new contracts for responsive repair and gas are 
required for April, 2011 with indicative values of £10m per annum for 
responsive repair and £2m per annum for gas servicing and repair. This 
procurement represents approximately 80% (by value) of the Repair and 
Maintenance spend on Housing properties.  

Page 128



5.2 Tower Hamlets Homes (THH) is responsible for the delivery of the repairs 
service as part of a Management Agreement entered into in July 2008.   

5.3 After receiving expressions of interest a shortlist of eight contractors was 
identified, all of which were sent tender packs on the 16th July, 2010.  

5.4 In December, 2009 as part of the resident consultation process, statutory 
consultation commenced with leaseholders for the responsive repair 
contract. This consultation outlined the content of the new contracts and 
the relevant comments that were made, have been taken on board.  

5.5 Prior to this, in early 2009, a group of residents had been formed with the 
aim of improving delivery through the existing contracts.  This group 
subsequently became the Residents Repair Procurement Group (RRPG) 
helping THH develop and shape the ideas that were needed to construct a 
contract that would most appropriately meet the needs of the residents. 
This is an important innovation in a citizen centric service and the 
involvement of the RRPG will be key in the award and future scrutiny of 
contractor performance.    

5.6 One of the major areas of focus was on the number of contractors that 
were needed.  Currently one contractor carries out our gas servicing and 
repair work and this same contractor shares the general build responsive 
repair with another one.  The proposal, agreed through this residents group 
and the Council’s procurement tollgate process, is to appoint one or two 
contractors to do this work for us from April, 2011.  

5.7 In addition in May and June, 2010 a group of officers from the technical 
and housing sections of THH were formed to look at how residents view 
the existing repair service particularly looking at what they value.  This 
exercise used existing and new data derived from telephone surveys and 
analysis of the issues raised in repairs calls to the Council’s call centre.   

5.8 The key findings from this exercise were that residents value the following: 

5.8.1 Being offered an appointment at the time that suits them 

5.8.2 A tradesperson who is empowered to diagnose and fix the 
repair in one visit.  

5.8.3 Tradespersons who are free to complete a quality repair in the 
time it takes 

5.8.4 Van stock which is based on what is regularly used and 
needed. It is recognised that insufficient van stock interrupts the 
flow of work.  

5.8.5 The skills of tradespersons are related to customer demand 

5.8.6 A tradesperson who checks for additional repairs that are 
THH/Council responsibilities and, where budgets allow,  carries 
out this work in the same visit or by appointment.  

Page 129



5.9 The ability to meet these expectations will be built into the final award 
process ensuring that some of the softer but still measurable aspects of 
what residents require in a repair service are delivered.  

 
 
6 FORMAT OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

 
6.1 For a number of reasons set out within this report the form of contract will 

be a term partnering contract, theTPC2005. This is a modern form of 
contract that was specifically written for partnering taking account not only 
of the client/contractor relationship but other stakeholders, most important 
of which are residents.  The non-adversarial nature of this contract allows a 
much more collaborative and flexible approach to problem solving and 
continuous improvement and can be very specific about what is required to 
move forward.    

6.2 The benefits of this form of contract over a traditional  measured term 
contract is the delivery of a more transparent service in terms of isolating 
the real costs of repairs, offering real prospects of continuous improvement 
and more consistent with lean, flexible services focused on the customer.  

It is possible to achieve greater budget certainty, particularly if labour is 
allocated to neighbourhoods, and greater planning of work to suit the 
needs of the resident. Additionally, methods of remuneration are more  
transparent because profit, head office overheads and site overheads are 
separated from work costs. This makes it possible to target savings in 
management and drive down works costs allowing the contractor to 
enhance profits via a risk share by enhancing delivery within budget rather 
than simply boosting turnover via variations or more order generation as 
can be the case with a JCT contract based solely on a schedule of rates. 

6.3 Continuous improvement becomes an integral part of the contract and the 
timetable for implementation will be formally incorporated via the 
Partnering Timetable. The Partnering Timetable is a key contract 
document that is managed through a Core Group of officers and contractor 
staff who meet on a monthly basis to ensure that we deliver what has been 
agreed.  The contract allows for ‘interested parties’ to have a real influence 
on the partnering timetable and it is envisaged that residents will be key 
amongst the interested parties.   

6.4 Although procured for mainly Housing properties the contract itself allows 
for its use by other clients and non-residential stock. This offers potential 
cost efficiencies to other clients. Thus flexibility is built into procurement 
structures in that a range of services can be offered on a fully accountable 
basis. 

 
 
 

Page 130



7 AIMS OF THIS PROCUREMENT 

 
7.1 Focus on the Customer 

7.1.1 With a focus on Neighbourhood delivery of services the 
contractor will be obliged to not only work with local officers but 
with Tenants Resident Association (TRA) groups and other 
residents where appropriate.  To this end the contract requires 
suitably senior managers on the contractor side to be co-
located in each of the three Area offices. This ensures close 
cooperation and working with officers, residents and resident 
groups.  

7.1.2 Maximising the use of our assets by timely and appropriate 
repairs enables residents to enjoy the full benefit of their homes 
and their environment.  For instance the contract requires the 
contractor to regularly inspect playgrounds and maintain them 
on a planned basis.  Another example is the focus on rapid 
turnaround of empty properties to ensure we maximise the rent 
and subsequently the budget available for spending on 
resident’s homes and environment.  

 
 

7.2 Access to the Service 

7.3 There is currently a range of access methods for residents requesting a 
repair to be carried out in their home or on their estate.  The main method 
is through the Council’s Call Centre where there has been some recent 
innovation by co-locating contractor’s staff to improve the accuracy of 
repair diagnosis. 

7.4 No change is envisaged in the call receipt and diagnostic process for first 
time calls for the start of the contract. As this is a 5 year term with the 
option for the Council/THH to extend the term by up to a further 5 years 
bidders will be asked to submit written proposals for taking first emergency 
calls and then full call receipt. Bidders will be asked to submit outline costs 
with their methodologies and should LBTH/THH wish to proceed with this 
transfer the proposals and costs will form the basis of discussions.  

 
7.5 Early exploration with the new contractor around how best to limit the 

number of chase up calls (as opposed to first time calls) together with a 
simple method of them taking the main responsibility for dealing with these 
calls will take place within the first six months of the contract.  In addition, 
by incorporating the contractor into some of our current systems eg 
answering complaints, they will better understand the focus of our 
customers.  

 

Page 131



7.6 Maximising Planned works (in a reactive service) 

7.6.1 Certain areas of the service such as gas lend themselves to pre-
planning and some level of budget risk transfer to the partner. 
This has been undertaken in the current contract and will be built 
upon for the new one. 

7.6.2 THH encourage residents to attend neighbourhood inspections 
and regular neighbourhood events are now well established.  In 
the development of such repair days and neighbourhood days, 
existing contractors are involved in working with residents to 
identify and, where possible, complete jobs in a more planned 
way.  The new contracts will continue and build upon this 
practice so that residents can have a real involvement and say 
in what is important to their particular neighbourhood.   

7.6.3 Other areas such as reactive internal and communal repairs and 
voids can occur randomly and THH will adopt a policy of 
‘planning for the reactive’ as open book techniques become 
developed.   

7.6.4 Historic demand levels are well documented and will be included 
for information in tender documents. In a service of this type 
levels of demand are reasonably constant but their incidence 
cannot be predicted. There are exceptions e.g. gas servicing 
which can be planned on an annual basis and is to be let on a 
lump sum per home basis. 

7.6.5 The response repair service can best be illustrated by an 
example. THH knows that it undertakes approximately (say) 
10,000 plumbing repairs per year. Rather than just referring 
orders as they come up it would be more cost effective to staff 
the contract with sufficient operatives to undertake the likely 
volume and increase their efficiency. Slack time can be filled 
with back up jobs in planned preventative maintenance such as 
gutter clearing , further reducing the reactive maintenance bill, 
and periods of excessive demand can be covered with additional  
labour possibly via a sub-contractor. 

7.6.6 Additionally, the contract allows for a proportion of small 
planned schemes (up to £150,000 each) to be facilitated 
through this contract. These can be funded from any saving 
achieved through efficiencies or by capitalisation where 
appropriate.  For instance, the replacement of individual boilers 
on a programme is more straightforward, therefore cheaper, to 
manage if carried out by the same contractor who installed 
them.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 132



8 EVALUATION, MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE OF THE 
CONTRACT 

 
8.1 The evaluation process is not based purely on financial considerations.  

THH/LBTH will implement the evaluation split as detailed in Tollgate 1 – 
60% based on cost, 15% based on quality and 25% reserved for customer 
confidence. 

8.2 The contractor is required to evidence alignment to THH/LBTH vision, 
values, aims and objectives and in particular how they ensure an efficient, 
continuously improving value for money service.  

8.3 Within the method statements requested from bidders, an Employment and 
Skills Plan (ESP) has been requested which will identify the manner that 
the contractor will provide additional benefits to the local community and 
economy. It is important to note that ‘promises’ made in this ESP will be 
built into the contract terms and as such capable of being monitored and 
implemented. This marks a significantly different approach to our previous 
contracts and will be used as a vehicle to stimulate the local economy by 
encouraging local employment and supply chain patronage by partners. 

8.4 THH is aware that any new contract, especially one as important as this, 
needs to fit a neighbourhood operating model. A review will be undertaken 
of the current operational management skills set and their capacity to 
manage a modern partnering contract in this context. THH acknowledge 
that this will require significant change moving from a current skills set of 
process management, specification, checking and variation monitoring to 
one of management by outputs and incentives for maximising delivery 
within budgets and an understanding of managing a partner by risk sharing 
and reward. This will be undertaken in parallel with the procurement 
process and will inform the direction and content of some of the training 
mentioned earlier. An outline programme and content is being formulated 
with the project sponsor and the result, aimed for completion by December 
2010, will be a lean and flexible client model driving the Council’s 
localisation agenda.  

 

9 PROGRAMME 

Cabinet Report 8th September, 2010 
Evaluation Completed End October, 2010 
Director/Competition Board Approval to 
Proceed to Proposal to Leaseholders 

End October, 2010 

2nd Stage Leaseholder Consultation 1st November, 2010 
Director/Competition Board Approval to 
Proceed to Tender Award after taking 
into account leaseholder comments. 

Mid-December, 2010 

Tender Award Mid-December, 2010 
Mobilisation Period January – March, 2011 

Page 133



Start on Site Midnight, 31st March, 2011 
 
 

10 COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

10.1 This report seeks Cabinet approval to agree that two major contracts, the 
General Build – Housing Repair; and Gas Servicing and Repair; can 
proceed to award stage subject to the approval of the Corporate Director of 
Development and Renewal. It is intended that the contracts will come into 
effect from 1 April 2011. 

10.2 The indicative total annual value of these contracts is £12 million, 
estimated as £10 million for responsive repairs and £2 million for gas 
servicing. These costs form the major elements of the Housing Revenue 
Account Repairs and Maintenance budgets managed by Tower Hamlets 
Homes on behalf of the Authority. The costs must be contained within the 
annual budget set for the works element of the Repairs and Maintenance 
budget – currently £14.3 million in 2010-11, and the contract must be 
flexible in order that it can be varied in future to reflect available resources.  

10.3 The form of contract to be utilised is outlined in section 6, with the 
efficiencies that are expected to be generated from the procurement 
process detailed in section 16. The contract lends itself to a more 
transparent service, based on a partnering approach between the Council, 
the contractor and key stakeholders, including residents. The contract will 
be operated on an open book system which will separate the real cost of 
repairs from the profit generated by the contractor, and will incorporate a 
performance system based on customer satisfaction levels. Tenderers 
have been asked to indicate the amount of their profit that they are willing 
to put at risk if their performance does not meet the Authority’s standards. 

10.4 As mentioned above it is essential that the contract is structured in order 
that the Authority is able to adapt to any future budgetary pressures that 
might arise which may necessitate a reduction in available funding. 

10.5 The contract must only be let with the full support and involvement of the 
Authority’s procurement and legal teams, and it is essential that all 
necessary statutory consultation is undertaken prior to the finalisation of 
the contract in order that any appropriate future rechargeable repair costs 
can be recovered from tenants and leaseholders as necessary. 

10.6 In conjunction with the procurement process an exercise is being 
undertaken to review and improve the systems and methodology that is in 
place to manage the contracts. This has identified potential duplication of 
functions between the contractor and THH (paragraph 16.1) which will be 
addressed as part of the process. 

10.7 The contract includes scope for other Council departments to utilise the 
contractor’s services for repairs on non-residential stock. The utilisation of 

Page 134



this facility would need to be assessed on an individual basis but offers 
potential for further cost efficiencies to be realised across the Council. 

 

11 CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
(LEGAL SERVICES) 

11.1  The Council has a number of statutory duties in relation to the 
maintenance of its housing stock and this contract or contracts will help to 
fulfil these. The procurement has been conducted in accordance with EU 
and UK procurement law and will be assessed on the basis of most 
economically advantageous proposal for the Council. The selection 
criteria take into account not only price but quality of service and the 
contractor’s proposals on how to improve the service.  

 

11.2  The proposal to enter into the 5 year contract/s with the provision for 
extension for up to a further five years has been subject to leaseholder 
consultation and so will be a qualifying long term agreement enabling the 
Council to recover costs from leaseholders if they receive work under the 
contract. There are also provisions in the contract documentation so that 
leaseholders can elect to receive repairs and maintenance work from the 
contractors direct e,g, if they wanted their gas servicing done at the same 
time as other flats in their block.  

11.3    Given the timetable to ensure mobilisation starts at the beginning of 
January to ensure a smooth transition on 1st April  it is not possible for the 
award to the specific contractor/s to come back to Cabinet so an 
authorisation is sought for the Corporate Director of Development and 
Renewal to award this contract and then in consultation with the Assistant 
Chief Executive (Legal Services) to execute the contract documents.  

 

12 ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 

12.1 THH diversity strategy seeks to ensure that all services are accessible, 
inclusive and fairly delivered.  The repair contracts and their method of 
delivery through external organisations is an area of service that affects 
most residents.  Nearly 80% of tenants have direct contact with a repair 
contractor each year and leaseholders, through work carried out to 
communal areas for which they are recharged, equally benefit.  The 
contract specifically requires the contractor to report back issues of 
vulnerability identified and, as a partner, together we will seek to meet our 
aims.  

12.2 These contracts support the community plan theme of making Tower 
Hamlets a great place to live.  It provides safety for our tenants through the 

Page 135



gas servicing programme and maintains both the communal and internal 
environment of the homes we own.  

12.3 The contracts allow, as far as legally permissible, the encouragement of 
the future contractor to maximise the number of local staff, particularly 
through training initiatives.  

12.4 A considerable part of the Council’s budget will be paid to the successful 
contractor(s) and the encouragement to use local businesses will be part of 
the monitoring process.  

12.5 An Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) for repairs is in place but a specific 
EQIA has been completed for this procurement in order to ensure that the 
focus is appropriate.  The main focus is on ensuring that the evaluation 
process takes account of diversity issues as far as is legally permissible 
and that the contract contains specific elements on working with and 
engaging the local community and ensuring that tradespersons are aware 
of the diverse needs of residents.    

13 SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 

13.1 The contractors(s) will be required to set up a local operation minimising 
CO2 emissions in travelling costs.  

13.2 The contractor(s) will be obliged to conform to LBTH policies on use of 
sustainable timber and other associated building elements. 

Environmental sustainability will be a key strategic aim for this service. All 
bidders have an in-depth capacity to deliver a ‘green’ service as their 
policies were vetted at the short-listing stage and a company falling short 
on sustainability would not have been short-listed. 

Some service specific measures will include: 

• controlled disposal of waste materials arising from demolition works 

• material specification from sustainable supply chains e.g. timber 
from accredited renewable sources 

• reduction of CO2 emissions by minimising travel  by placing labour 
on a neighbourhood basis, employing locally and use of a local 
supply chain 

• recording travel distances of labour and the supply chain and 
working with partners to minimise this 

In addition, partners will be expected to comply with the Council’s 
sustainability policies which have been included in tender documents. 
Partners will also be expected to keep information to contribute to the 
relevant National Indicators for sustainability. 

Page 136



14 RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

14.1 Our current contract structure for this work is with a single provider for gas 
servicing and repair and that same provider carrying out general building 
maintenance on a shared basis with another contractor.  The new 
arrangement is to potentially continue with two contractors but with a 
different split of work.  The risk of any of the contractors who have returned 
tenders ceasing to trade is extremely low and the benefits of managing one 
contractor outweigh the appointment of more than one for each element of 
work. The contract contains a Parent Company Guarantee in the case of 
sections of a large plc ceasing to trade and a Performance Bond has been 
included to cover any reprocurement costs. 

14.2 The TPC has a  hierarchy for non-adversarial dispute and problem solving 
which will minimise the risk that the aims and objectives of the 
procurement will not be achieved.  Risks are also reduced through joint risk 
management to achieve these aims.  

14.3 Although the contract does not formally commence until 1st April, 2011 the 
TPC covers the mobilisation period which allows transitional arrangements 
with previous providers to take place more effectively (bearing in mind that 
some of the existing contractor’s staff may transfer to the new employer 
under statutory processes). Such transitional management processes are 
built into the contract via the Partnering Timetable which shows 
commencement of activities in January, 2011. 

15 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

15.1 Amongst other things these contracts will be used to provide appropriate 
answers to security issues within and around our stock.   

15.2 Ensuring that the contracts are managed locally using, wherever possible, 
the same contractor’s operatives in local areas will allow awareness to be 
maximised which may help avoid/solve issues of anti-social behaviour.  

16 EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 

16.1 A concurrent exercise to the procurement is being carried out to look at the 
systems we have in place to manage these contracts.  This has identified 
areas of duplication between the contractor and THH which, when reduced 
or eliminated, will allow the appropriate savings to be made.  

16.2 The separation of overheads and the potential to undertake open book 
accounting for this and/or all work will allow us to work cooperatively with 
the contractor(s) to rationalise costs and make savings over time ensuring 
that we are able to contribute to the realisation of cost savings required 
under the HRA Medium Term Financial Strategy and thus forms a key part 
of THH’s overall economic strategy. Innovations such as open book 
accounting will be entirely controlled by THH and only used where there is 
a clear service and economic advantage to customers to do so. 

Page 137



16.3 This contract is currently one of the most attractive in the London area 
given its size and potential term of 10 years. Market interest at the short-
listing stage proved intense and the procurement team are confident that it 
can take full advantage of the current market to secure keen prices 
consistent with quality of service delivery. 

The contract also contains attractive economic terms from the Council’s 
perspective . For example any extension to the 5 year term is completely at 
the Council’s discretion and annual price increases are limited to 75% of 
inflation indices encouraging our partners to seek economies from within 
available budgets to maintain their levels of return. 

16.4 Pain/gain mechanism.  The tenderers were asked, as part of the evaluation 
process, to indicate the amount of their profit they are willing to put at risk if 
their performance does not meet our standards.  In addition additional profit 
can be made if our targets are exceeded.  The only measure to be used in this 
regard will be resident satisfaction with the repair service. In a truly customer 
centric service there is only one performance measure that really counts and 
that is customer satisfaction. Thus tenderers will be offered the opportunity to 
place a proportion of their profit at risk for failing to meet agreed customer 
satisfaction levels measured by completely independent customer satisfaction 
surveys. 

This is an important innovation in that under the existing contract there 
could be an incentive to enhance profits by undertaking a greater volume 
of work and claiming variations on work instructed. The new approach will 
re-focus our partners with incentives not to exceed budgets and deliver the 
best for available resources by adopting ‘lean’ processes  

Other performance measures may be used for operational purposes and to 
monitor and control the efficiency of service delivery and these will 
underpin the citizen centric overall objective. 

16.5 Although the aim is to move to an at cost method of payment the pricing 
will always be capped by what we would have paid if we continued with 
payment under a schedule of rates system which itself had any annual 
increases  limited to 75% of the appropriate inflation index.  

16.6 As stated earlier these contracts are able to be used by other clients within 
the Council providing additional value through economies of scale.  

16.7 Joint working between the Council’s and THH’s procurement teams has 
delivered  a  flexible contract capable of fully accountable multi-client use. 
The companies short listed have the capacity to work across a number of 
client sources and contract management structures will ensure that the 
THH core business is properly resourced should other sources of work 
come on stream. Other Council sections can therefore immediately buy 
into the competitiveness of contract prices with a clear efficiency saving on 
time and procurement costs. 

 

Page 138



17. APPENDICES 
There are no appendices 

 
 
______________________________________________________________
________ 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 

List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
 
Brief description of “back ground 
papers” 

Name and telephone number of 
holder and address where open to 
inspection. 
 

None N/A 
 
 

Page 139



Page 140

This page is intentionally left blank



  

Committee/Meeting: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
8th 
September 
2010 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted  
 
 
 

Report No: 
 

Report of:  
Kevan Collins, 
Chief Executive 
 
Originating officer(s) 
Mohammed Ahad,  
Scrutiny Policy Officer 
  

Title:  
The Private Rented Sector: Report of the 
Scrutiny Working Group  
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 
Lead Member 
 

Cllr Marc Francis  

Community Plan Theme 
  

Great Place to Live. 

Strategic Priority 
 

Providing affordable housing and strong 
neighbourhoods 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report submits the report and action plan in response to the 

recommendations of the Scrutiny Working Group review on the Private 
Rented Sector (PRS). The Working Group recommendations set out the 
areas requiring consideration and action by the Council and the Partnership 
to help fill the gaps that exist in the PRS.   

 
 
2. DECISIONS REQUIRED 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 
2.1 Consider the report of the Scrutiny Working Group on the Private Rented 

Sector as set out in Appendix 1. 
 
2.2 Agree the response to the recommendations from the Working Group as set 

out in Appendix 2 noting that continuing consideration is to be given to the 
emerging policy changes and public sector funding decisions of the new 
coalition government that have been made since the agreement of these 
recommendations by O&S in April 2010.   

 
3. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1 It is consistent with the Constitution and the statutory framework for Cabinet 

to provide a response. 

Agenda Item 6.5

Page 141



  

3.2 In responding to the recommendations this report outlines how the issues 
raised will be taken forward by the Council. 

 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 In responding to the recommendations full consideration has been given on 

how the recommendations can be incorporated within existing and future 
work streams.  

  
It is essential to recognise that this review and its recommendations were 
developed before the election of the new coalition government and the 
announcement of significant reductions in public sector funding and 
emerging policy changes.  Therefore, the action plan will need to be 
reviewed in line with emerging government policy and given the financial 
constraints ensure that activities can be met within existing budgets.   

 
Any alternative response to the recommendations will be considered by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee as part of their recommendation tracking 
report every six months. 

 
5. BACKGROUND 
 
5.1 In June 2009 the Scrutiny Lead for a Great Place to Live, Councillor Alex 

Heslop, identified the Private Rented Sector as a priority for review and in 
July 2009 this Scrutiny Working Group was established. Reasons for this 
review include the negative publicity within the sector as well as the notion 
that residents who have no real chance of social housing and cannot afford 
to buy are reliant on the Private Rented Sector. The key aim for the review 
was to identify gaps and issues that exist within this very important housing 
sector in Tower Hamlets and recommend potential initiatives which could 
improve service delivery. 

 
5.2 The main objectives of the review were: 
 

• To analyse issues facing tenants of the PRS 
• To identify gaps in the support available to tenants of the PRS 
• To examine issues that may effect landlords who are renting out to 

tenants 
• To analyse the growing number of private tenants of leaseholders and 

how the housing partners should interact with such tenants 
• To consider the merits and demerits of possible initiatives such as the 

Council providing a full management service for leaseholders who are 
subletting 

 
5.3 The Working Group undertook various evidence gathering sessions and 

heard from key stakeholders including Crises, Shelter, Tower Hamlets 
Homes, the National Landlords Association and local RSLs. Members also 
heard  from a number of Council Services. The resulting report and 
recommendations were agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 

Page 142



  

April 2010 as attached in Appendix 1. An Action Plan responding to these 
recommendations has been developed and is attached in Appendix 2.   

 
6. BODY OF REPORT 
 
6.1 The housing challenge in Tower Hamlets is immense despite the borough 

continuing to witness major new housing development and redevelopment. 
Between 2004 and 2008 up to 9,000 new homes have been built in the 
borough, 3,238 of them have been affordable homes. This makes Tower 
Hamlets one of the largest deliverers of affordable housing in the country. 
However, the borough still has 9,446 overcrowded households in socially 
rented homes and 1,798 of these are severely overcrowded. This makes the 
option of private rented accommodation in the borough very important. 

 
6.2 The importance and reliance on the Private Rented Sector nationally is 

enormous. The sector is used to house a range of different communities 
including professionals and the homeless. In Tower Hamlets the sector is 
also widely utilised by students attending the borough’s two local Universities 
(Queen Mary College and the London Metropolitan). In addition to this the 
borough is historically seen as a settling ground for migrant workers which 
has meant a long history of the PRS housing the homeless.  

 
6.3 Recommendations outlined by the Working group looked at strategic aspects 

such as the need to undertake a full Private Sector Condition Survey to 
provide an evidence base for the Private Sector Housing Strategy and the 
update to the Private Sector Housing Renewal and Empty Properties 
Framework.  Operational recommendations looked at strengthening the role 
of landlords as well improving the health aspects of the PRS. 

 
7. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
7.1 This report describes the action plan in response to the review 

recommendations of the Scrutiny Working Group on The Private Rented 
Sector (PRS) to deal with overcrowding in the Borough.   

 
7.2 Since this report was originally taken to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee in April 2010, the coalition government has published its 
emergency budget for 2010-11 which may have an impact on some of the 
recommendation set out in this report. In particular, the restriction of housing 
allowance from January 2011 to £400 per week.  The significance of this is 
to limit Housing Benefit claimed by tenants to £400 which may have an 
impact on R1 with regards to potential increase in homelessness and R5 as 
a potential reduction in private sector stock available where rent is more than 
£400 to people claiming Housing Benefit. 

 
7.3 There are no other specific financial implications emanating from this report   

but in the event that the Council agrees further action in response to this 
report’s recommendations then officers will be obliged to seek the 
appropriate financial approval before further financial commitments are 
made. 

Page 143



  

8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
(LEGAL SERVICES) 

 
8.1. The provision by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of reports and 

recommendations to the Executive in connection with the discharge of the 
Council’s executive and non-executive functions is consistent with Article 6 of 
the Council’s Constitution, in turn reflecting the requirements of section 21 of 
the Local Government Act 2000.  Cabinet should provide a response and one 
is proposed in the attached Action Plan. 

 
8.2. The Council has broad housing functions as a housing provider, a housing 

enabler and as a regulator of the standard of housing accommodation.  The 
Council also has power pursuant to section 2 of the Local Government Act 
2000 to take action to promote the well-being of people in Tower Hamlets, 
provided that consideration is given to the Community Plan and the 
contribution to well-being is evidenced. 

 
8.3. The recommendations set out in the report appear capable of being carried 

out within the Council’s statutory functions.  Whether or not each 
recommendation is lawful will ultimately depend on the detail of how it is 
carried out.  If, ultimately, the Council pursues the recommendations, it will be 
for officers to ensure that legal advice is taken as appropriate and the 
recommendations are carried out lawfully. 

 
8.4. Recommendation 3 proposes the creation of a management service, 

particularly for properties sub-let by leaseholders.  The draft executive 
response suggests that this will be explored in the course of working with 
selected RSL partners.  Legal advice will need to be taken as to the detail of 
any proposed management service as it develops, to ensure that any 
contribution by the Council remains within its statutory functions.  This will be 
particularly important, as the ways in which the Council may trade or engage 
in shared services are controlled. 

 
9. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 A number of recommendations in this report have One Tower Hamlets 

implications as the intended outcome is to reduce housing inequalities within 
the borough with the greater use of the private rented sector.  

  
9.2 Recommendations 2, 4, 6, and 7 are to ensure that private rented properties 

meet the decent homes standards.  The decent homes standards is a priority 
of the ‘Great Place to Live’ strand of the Community Plan and contributes to 
the cohesion agenda, by providing a safe, comfortable and secure 
environment for people to live in.  

 

Page 144



  

10. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
10.1 There are no direct environmental implications arising from this report. 
 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 There are no direct risk management implications arising from this report. 
 
12. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report. 
  
13. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 
13.1 Although Tower Hamlets is one of the largest affordable housing deliverers 

in the country, the housing challenge in the borough remains.  The 
recommendations expect to achieve the effective use of PRS and efficient 
housing management to tackle the problem, which will promote greater 
efficiency. 

  
13.2 The recommendations also advocate developing a partner strategy to deal 

with homes in poor condition, which will contribute to efficiency through 
sharing resources between partners.   

 
14. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 – The Private Rented Sector: Report of the Scrutiny Working 
Group 
Appendix 2 – Action Plan and responses to the Working Group’s 
Recommendations 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

  
No Background Papers were used in this 
report 

Mohammed Ahad x4363 

Page 145



  

 
  

Page 146



  

Appendix 1  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report of the Scrutiny Review Working 
Group on 

The Private Rented Sector 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
March 2010 

 
 
 
 

Page 147



  

Contents 
 
 
 
 
           
          Page 
 
 
 
 
Acknowledgments        2 
          
Recommendations         3 
         
Introduction          5 
          
Background         7 
          
Key Findings 
 
Strategic Recommendations      13 
 
Operational recommendations      17 
        
Conclusion         23 

         

Page 148



  

Acknowledgments 
 
The Working Group would like to thank all the officers and partners that 
supported this review. The views and perspectives of all that were involved 
have been fundamental in shaping the final recommendations of this report.  
 
Working Group Chair: 
Councillor Alex Heslop 
 
Working Group Members: 
Councillor Rachel Saunders 
Councillor Shahed Ali 
Councillor Bill Turner 
Councillor Abjol Miah 
Councillor Shirley Houghton 
 
Other Members: 
Councillor Marc Francis - Lead Member, Housing and Development 
Councillor Sirajul Islam - Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets: 
 
Alan Warner    Private Sector Housing and HIA Co-ordinator 
Alison Thomas   Private Sector and Affordable Housing Manager 
Aman Dalvi    Corporate Director, Development and Renewal 
Colin Cormack   Head of Homeless and Housing Services 
David Farrell    Head of Environmental Health and Environmental 
Control 
Fiona Wellington   Family Rent Deposit Scheme Team Leader 
Jackie Odunoye   Service Head for Strategy, Regeneration and 
Sustainability 
Jane Gardner-Hayter  Team Leader for Health and Housing 
John Coker    Strategic Housing Manager 
Lee Fearon    Benefits Policy and procedures Manager 
Moyowa Ekperigin   Housing Advisor 
Noella Ling    Housing Advice Team Leader 
Steve Hill    Benefits Services Manager 
 
Scrutiny and Equalities: 
Afazul Hoque   Scrutiny Policy Manager 
Michael Keating   Service Head, Scrutiny and Equalities 
Mohammed Ahad   Scrutiny Policy Officer 
Shamima Begum   Future Job Fund Trainee 
 
External: 
Barbara Ashcroft   Residences Office Manager, Queen Mary College 
David Hewitt    Private Renting and Housing Development 
Manager, Crisis 
Elliot Altman    Director, ElliotLeigh 
EuGin Song    West London Representative, National Landlords 
    Association 
Jack Ashdown   Service Improvement Team, Tower Hamlets  
    Homes 

Page 149



  

Jamie Carswell   Director of Strategy and Performance, Tower  
    Hamlets Homes 
 
 
Joan Murphy   Director of Strategic Operations, Poplar HARCA 
June Barnes    Group Chief Executive, East Thames 
Kobir Gofur    Director, Hamletts 
Leigh Young    Director, ElliotLeigh 
Naz Rahman   Director, Hamletts 
Paul Perkin    Head of Homelessness, Look Ahead 
Robert Smyth   Policy and Performance Manager, Look Ahead 
Sharon Allen   Area Housing Manager, Tower Hamlets Homes 
Vaughan Jones   Chief Executive, Praxis 
 
 

Page 150



  

 Recommendations 
 
The Working Groups recommendations set out the areas requiring 
consideration and action by the Council with regards to the Private Rented 
Sector in the Borough. The recommendations have been split into strategic 
and operational issues and cover areas around partnership and efficiency, 
health and housing and the role of landlords. 
 
Strategic 

 
R1  That the Development and Renewal Directorate develops a new 

  Private Sector Housing Strategy which incorporates 
  recommendations from this review and issues highlighted in the 

  Housing Strategy and Housing and Homelessness Strategy 
 
R2  That the Development and Renewal Directorate undertake a full 
  Private Sector Condition Survey to provide an evidence base for 
  the Private Sector Housing Strategy and the update to the  
  Private Sector Housing Renewal and Empty Properties  
  Framework 
 
R3  That the Development and Renewal Directorate, Tower Hamlets 
  Homes and local Registered Social Landlords explore the  
  feasibility of providing a full management service for   
  leaseholders that sub-let their properties 

 
R4 That the Communities, Localities and Culture Directorate 

develops a partnership strategy which includes NHS Tower 
Hamlets, the London Fire Brigade and the third sector to deal 
with homes in poor condition. This should include the sharing of 
resources as highlighted by the Healthy Homes programme in 
Liverpool City Council 

 
Operational 
 

R5  That the Development and Renewal Directorate commit to  
  utilising Private Rented Sector stock to its full capacity instead of 
  using Bed and Breakfast and Hostels where possible 

 
R6 That the Environmental Health Team implements the new 

powers given to local authorities which allows the licensing of all 
landlords including those with Houses of Multiple Occupations 
(HMOs) 

 
R7  That the Tower Hamlets Landlords Forum uses local media to 
  increase awareness of the benefits of the London Landlord  
  Accreditation Scheme (LLAS) and publicises which local  
  landlords are accredited and registered on its website 

 
R8  That the Tower Hamlets Landlords Forum and Tower Hamlets 
  Homes publicise the Landlords Forum through the greater use 
  of local media and an annual “Landlord of the Year” award 
 

Page 151



  

R9 That a representative from the Tower Hamlets Landlords Forum 
have a standing invitation on the Great Place to Live Community 
Plan Delivery Group 

 
R10 That the Development and Renewal Directorate support private 
  landlords access grant or loan funding to improve the quality  
  and energy efficiency of the PRS  
 
R11 That the Tower Hamlets Landlords Forum takes lead in 

exploring the development of a regional landlord’s forum 
 
R12 The Housing Benefits Service continue moving from a process 
  of paying housing benefits through cheques to payments  
  through BACs 
 
R13 The Housing Benefits Service explore the possibility of sending 
  schedules of payment to landlords through email along with  
  written copies to increase efficiency 

 
R14 That the Housing Benefits Services and Housing Advice Service 
  explore the possibility of a Benefits Officer being based within 
  the Housing Advice Team 

 

Page 152



  

Introduction 
 
1. The housing challenge in Tower Hamlets is immense, as the borough 

continues to witness major new house building and redevelopment. 
Between 2004 and 2008 up to 9,000 new homes have been built in the 
borough, 3,238 of them have been affordable homes. This makes Tower 
Hamlets one of the largest deliverers of affordable housing in the country. 
However, the borough still has 9,446 overcrowded households in socially 
rented homes, and 1,798 of these are severely overcrowded1. This makes 
private rented accommodation in the borough very important. 

 
2. The importance and reliance on the private rented sector (PRS) nationally 

is immense. The sector is used to house a range of different communities 
including students, professionals and the homeless. In Tower Hamlets the 
sector is also widely utilised by students attending the borough’s two local 
Universities (Queen Mary College and the London Metropolitan). In 
addition to this the borough is historically seen as a settling ground for 
migrant workers which have meant a long history of the PRS housing the 
homeless. It is stated that satisfaction with the PRS is better than the 
social sector according to tenants as highlighted by the national 
homelessness charity Crisis. This is also consistent with the Government’s 
response to the Rugg Review (2009)2 which states that three quarters of 
all private tenants are either very or fairly satisfied with their landlords. 

 
3. However a number of questions remain unanswered. What is the impact of 

the PRS in Tower Hamlets? What issues do tenants and landlords face 
and what support is available to them? What partnership working is 
currently in place relating to the PRS and finally in what condition is the 
borough’s housing stock and what impact does this have on health and 
housing in the borough. These are some of the questions this review 
considered.  

 
4. This review will build on the reviews undertaken over the last three years 

to support the improvement of the housing stock in the borough and the 
service provided to local residents. The three previous scrutiny reviews in 
this area include: 

 
• Affordable Home Ownership 2008/09 
• Choice Based Lettings 2007/08 
• Leaseholders: A case study of Customer Care 2006/07 

 
5. In June 2009 the Scrutiny Lead for a Great Place to Live, Councillor Alex 

Heslop, identified the PRS as a priority for review and in July 2009 the 
Scrutiny Working Group was established. Reasons for this review include 
the negative publicity within the sector as well as the notion that residents 
who have no real chance of social housing and can’t afford to buy are 
reliant on the PRS. The key aim for the review was to identify gaps and 
issues that exist within the PRS in Tower Hamlets and recommend 
potential proposals which could improve service delivery.  

 
 
1LBTH Overcrowding reduction Strategy, 2009-12  
2 http://www.york.ac.uk/inst/chp/publications/PDF/prsreviewweb.pdff  

 

Page 153



  

6. The review had a number of key objectives: 
• To analyse issues facing tenants of the PRS 
• To identify gaps in the support available to tenants of the PRS 
• To examine issues that may effect landlords who are renting out to 

tenants 
• To analyse the growing number of private tenants who rent from 

leaseholders and how housing partners should interact with such 
tenants 

• To consider the merits and demerits of possible initiatives such as the 
Council providing a full management service for leaseholders who are 
subletting 

 
7. The following methodology for the review was agreed by the Working 

Group: 
 
Introductory Review Meeting (September 2009) 

• Members heard evidence on the current local, regional and national 
policies relating to the PRS as well as the Council’s vision for the 
sector in the near future. 

 
Issues Effecting Tenants of the PRS 

• Members received presentations from the Environmental Health 
Service, Housing Advice Services and Crisis on the health issues 
which some tenants face when residing in the PRS. 

 
Private Landlords in the PRS 

• Presentations were received from the National Landlords Association, 
Tower Hamlets Landlords Forum and landlords themselves on some of 
the issues which landlords involved with the PRS face. 

 
Leasehold Properties being Sub-Leased in the Borough 

• The Working Group heard from the Council’s Benefits Service, Tower 
Hamlets Homes and others regarding the high number of leaseholders 
that are sub-letting their properties and some of the issues which exist. 

 
Private Sector Leasing and the role of RSLs 

• Evidence was presented by the Council’s Homeless and Housing 
Advice Services as well as RSLs and Homelessness charities on 
different models which could be incorporated into the PRS such as 
intermediate renting and the Council having its own PRS management 
service. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154



  

Background 
 
The National Context 
 
8. The PRS (PRS) can be defined as accommodation that is privately owned 

(i.e. not owned by a Council or Housing Association) and that is being 
rented out by a landlord, normally for some profit. The landlord could be an 
individual or a company. Sometimes management companies or estate 
agents will manage and let out the property on the owner's behalf. Unlike 
renting in the social housing sector, most private rental properties are let 
out on a purely commercial basis, with no allowance for affordability, and 
typically on relatively insecure, fixed-term contracts.  The PRS nationally is 
complex and includes a number of niche markets both at the high and low 
end of the market. These niche markets include young professionals, 
students, the housing benefits market, slum rentals, high income renters, 
migrants, asylum seekers and temporary accommodation. The PRS 
consists of approximately 3.2m households which equates to around 13% 
of all households3. Even though some see the PRS as a transient sector it 
is suggested that 21% tend to stay in the PRS for more then five years 
whilst a further 40% stay for less then a year4. 

 
9. The PRS was generally seen as an unregulated sector however since 

2002 a number of changes have occurred within the sector to increase 
regulation. The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) Order in 2002 
required all councils to have a Private Sector Renewal Strategy. The 
Housing Act 2004 introduced a fundamental change to the way local 
authorities deal with housing condition problems. The Act recognised the 
council as the primary enforcement agency for conditions of health and 
safety in the private sector. It introduced the Housing Health and Safety 
Rating System (HHSRS) which directs councils to consider a range of 29 
identifiable hazards within dwellings and assesses the risk posed by such 
hazards. The most serious of hazards is ‘Category 1’ which the council 
has a duty to take action to eliminate or significantly reduce.  

 
Rugg Review - the PRS: Its Contribution and Potential 
 
10. The Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) 

commissioned an independent review by Julie Rugg entitled The PRS: Its 
Contribution and Potential 5in October 2008. The review produced a 
number of key conclusions: 

 
• The PRS is a key component of the housing market in England. The 

flexibility of the PRS needs to be protected. 
• Expansion of the PRS often means a reduction in supply in other parts 

of the market 
• The task of policing the PRS should be expanded so that the burden 

does not rest so heavily on the local authority 
• The industry has a role to play in promoting accreditation and in 

ensuring that managing agents offer higher levels of consumer 
protection to tenants and landlords 

 
 
3 Shelter Presentation, 30th September 2009 
4 Shelter Presentation, 30th September 2009 
5http://www.york.ac.uk/inst/chp/publications/PDF/prsreviewweb.pdf   

Page 155



  

• Local authorities should focus on targeting the worst properties and 
expelling the worst landlords from the market. Policies should 
concentrate on helping good landlords of all sizes to expand their 
portfolios (e.g. changes to stamp duty and capital gains tax) 

 
11. In addition to this a number of key findings from the review included that: 
 

• Property conditions in the PRS have been improving, but are still worse 
then in either social housing or owner occupation. 

• There is scope for introducing competition amongst landlords for 
tenants at the bottom end of the sector. If tenants on Housing Benefit 
had access to a wider selection of properties, landlords owning the 
worst quality accommodation would be pushed out of the market or let 
to those not eligible for Housing Benefit and therefore more vulnerable 

 
12.  The review also included a number of recommendations to the 

government. Some of these included: 
 

• Introducing a light touch licensing system for landlords and mandatory 
regulation for letting agencies, to increase protection for both 
vulnerable tenants and good landlords.  

• Introducing a new independent complaints and redress procedure for 
consumers, to help end long drawn out disputes.  

• Tax changes to encourage good landlords to grow, including changes 
to stamp duty to encourage them to buy more properties.   

• Looking at ways for the PRS to be more accommodating towards 
households on lower incomes, including considering more support for 
landlords prepared to house more vulnerable people.  

• Local authorities taking steps to better understand the sector and 
support good landlords whilst tackling poorly performing landlords and 
promoting tenants rights. 

 
Government Response to the Rugg Review: 
 
13. The Labour government announced a number of new initiatives aimed at 

improving the quality of the PRS by increasing professionalism, driving out 
bad landlords and strengthening protections for tenants affected by 
repossessions. In addition to these new proposals, which have been 
consulted on, the government’s responses included: 

 
• Introducing a light-touch national register of every private landlord in 

England to increase protection for both vulnerable tenants and good 
landlords. Landlords would need to include their registration number on 
all tenancy agreements and could be removed from the register for 
persistent poor performance like failing to carry out essential repairs, or 
not protecting tenants' deposits  

• Full regulation for private sector letting agents. Letting and managing 
agents do not currently need to have professional credentials. This 
means that both tenants and landlords have no realistic redress when 
things go wrong. To tackle these problems, the government proposed 
creating an independent regulator for all letting and managing agents  

• An improved complaints and redress procedure for tenants. For the 
first time, the Government would look to set up a mechanism whereby 

Page 156



  

tenants are able to register official complaints about sub-standard 
landlords, and if these complaints are substantial and proven then 
landlords may be removed from the national register  

• Greater local authority support for good landlords. Local authorities 
would  be encouraged to create 'local lettings agencies' to better 
facilitate tenancies in the PRS for those in housing need, including 
Housing Benefit recipients  

 
14. In addition to this the government also announced that tenants will have a 

minimum of two months notice if they have to leave their home because 
their landlord has been repossessed.  

 
The Regional Context 

 
15. London’s first statutory housing strategy was published on 27 February 

2010, embodying the Mayor’s vision for housing in London to: 
 

• Raise aspirations and promote opportunity: by producing more 
affordable homes, particularly for families, and by increasing 
opportunities for home ownership through the new First Steps housing 
programme;  

• Improve homes and transform neighbourhoods: by improving design 
quality, by greening homes, by promoting successful, strong and mixed 
communities and by tackling empty homes;  

• Maximise delivery and optimise value for money: by creating a new 
architecture for delivery, by developing new investment models and by 
promoting new delivery mechanisms.  

 
16. The strategy makes a number of key points on how to improve the PRS 

regionally in order to meet its vision ‘to promote a vibrant and attractive 
PRS to support London’s economic vitality.6’. 

 
17. The strategy highlights the mayor’s intention to provide more private 

rented homes through greater investment with private renting being 
promoted. The strategy also notes that 45% of all privately rented homes 
are non-decent compared to 35% of homes across all tenures. The need 
to improve the quality and access of the PRS will be improved with at least 
a doubling in the number of accredited landlords by the end of 2011. In 
addition to this it is also highlighted that  

 

better information on rent levels will be available to those seeking a 
home in the PRS. Furthermore, the PRS will play a key role in 
housing homeless and vulnerable households, where it provides 
high quality housing management and reasonable security of tenure 
and support is available where needed. 
 
 
 

6 http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/Housing_Strategy_Final_Feb10.pdf  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 157



  

The Local Context 
 
18. There has been a huge increase in the PRS in Tower Hamlets due to the 

high volume of leaseholders sub-leasing their properties and becoming 
landlords. In 1990 there were 10,000 PRS properties but this has now 
increased to about 24,0007. 

 
19. The responsibility for the PRS in Tower Hamlets is currently divided 

amongst a number of different services. The Environmental Health Team 
deal with the enforcement of the Housing Acts including the licensing of 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs). Furthermore the Homeless and 
Housing Advice Service deals with tenants seeking accommodation or 
experiencing problems with their landlords. They also operate the 
Council's Rent Deposit Scheme to assist tenants to take up private sector 
lettings and the Temporary Housing Scheme to provide for the homeless 
using licensed and leased properties.  

 
20. The Private Housing Improvement Team (PHIT) offers grant aid to 

landlords to help create dwellings for lettings and to bring long term empty 
properties back into use. Disabled Facilities Grants are available to private 
landlords and tenants. Also landlords and tenants may be eligible to apply 
for Hazard Removal Grants to deal with category one hazards under the 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System.  

 
21. The Affordable Housing Team identifies empty private properties and 

works with the owners to bring them back into beneficial use. However, 
where the owner is unwilling or unable to return the properties to use the 
Team will use statutory powers, including Compulsory Purchase, to ensure 
the properties are returned to use. The work of the PHIT and The 
Affordable Housing Team are covered by the Private Sector Housing 
Renewal and Empty Property Framework which is in the process of being 
reviewed. 

 
22. The borough is also a member of the London Landlord Accreditation 

Scheme (LLAS) which is a pan London scheme to encourage private 
sector landlords to become more aware of the rules and regulations 
covering landlord and tenancy issues, health and safety, contracts and 
property management. The scheme runs training courses for landlords 
and encourages them to keep up to date with government policies by 
attending local Landlord Forums. The Council encourages landlords to 
attend the courses and provides venues and support for the training days. 
In Tower Hamlets Empty Property Grants are only available to landlords 
who are LLAS accredited. The Rent Deposit Scheme will only deal directly 
with LLAS accredited landlords. Landlords seeking a HMO License are 
required to become LLAS accredited to show they can be regarded as a 'fit 
and proper' person. Tower Hamlets has its own Landlords Forum 
organised by the Housing Advice Team which is open to all landlords and 
agents. 

 
The Tower Hamlets Community Plan suggests that market housing – both 
to rent and to buy – will remain a key issue. Helping residents to rent 
 
 
7 Tower Hamlets, Environmental Health Team 

Page 158



  

homes in the private sector is an important part of this theme and the 
Partnership is committed to seeing the Decent Homes Standard delivered for 
vulnerable tenants in the PRS.  
 
23. The Tower Hamlets Private Sector Renewal Strategy 2004/07 

framework outlined ways of improving the living conditions for owner-
occupiers and private sector tenants, mainly by: 

 
• Reducing the number of properties containing category 1 hazards 

(including Houses in Multiple Occupation) and where possible bringing 
them up to the Decent Homes Standard.  

• Increasing the number of vulnerable tenants living in the private sector 
which meet the decent homes standard. 

• Reducing the number of private sector empty properties, bringing 
certain properties up to Decent Homes Standard and where possible 
for let though the Council’s rent deposit guarantee scheme 

 
24. Furthermore the Tower Hamlets Housing Strategy 2009/12 includes a 

number of commitments to the PRS, in particular making sure the PRS is 
up to decent homes standards. In addition to this further components of 
the strategy include: 

 
• Exploring the feasibility of using additional selective licensing of certain 

private sector properties  in multiple occupation - Some tenants of 
Right to Buy properties have proven to be perpetrators of anti-social 
behaviour and a blight in their neighbourhoods. If taken up, this would 
be used as a final sanction. (action plan timescale: 2009) 

• Refreshing the existing Private Sector Renewal Strategy that will 
deliver decent homes in the PRS and using enabling methods (such as 
grants, loans and equity release) to achieve a reduction of category 1 
hazards. (action plan timescale: 2010 refresh) 

• Tower Hamlets will seek to reduce the number of non-decent homes in 
the PRS occupied by vulnerable tenants. (action plan timescale: 
ongoing) 

• Delivering the Council’s 2008/13 Homelessness Strategy , which 
includes making the PRS a better option for homeless applicants 

• Tower Hamlets will ensure the delivery of a service that will entitle 
eligible residents to claim Disabled Facilities Grants which will benefit 
tenants of private sector landlords 

 
25. The Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 highlights that rapid economic 

development alongside persistently high levels of worklessness and 
deprivation mean that home ownership or the PRS is out of reach for 
many local residents. The strategy suggests therefore to increase access 
to the PRS and make it a more attractive option: 

 

• As a prevention option, through increased incentives and choice 
• Developing a more proactive and assertive options service for 

households in temporary accommodation 
• Facilitating more move-on from hostels into the PRS through a pilot 

project with Look Ahead Housing and Care and Westminster City 
Council  

• Providing more tenancy support for households in PRS 

Page 159



  

Key Findings 
 
A number of strategic and operational recommendations have been put 
forward by the Working Group which covers areas including partnership 
working and efficiency, health and housing and the role of landlords.  
 
Strategic Recommendations 
 
26. The PRS has generally been seen as an unregulated sector however 

since 2002 this has been improved by Government legislations. One such 
piece of legislation includes the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) 
Order in 2002 which requires all Council’s to have a Private Sector 
Renewal Strategy. An issue which was consistent at a number of scrutiny 
sessions was the lack of up-to-date information on the status of the PRS 
locally. This meant that Members did not have a clear understanding of 
what state the sector was currently in and in turn identify what gaps in 
services potentially existed. The main reason for this was is due to the 
Council’s current Private Sector Renewal and Empty Properties 
Framework 2004-07 being outdated and in need of a refresh. Members 
were therefore keen for this strategy to be refreshed in order to give an up 
to date record of the current status of the PRS locally. In addition it was 
noted that the recommendations from this review should also be 
incorporated into any future Private Sector Renewal and Empty Properties 
Strategy. 
 

27. The Council’s website suggests that the borough has some of the best and 
worst private sector housing in the country. The private sector house 
condition survey carried out in Tower Hamlets in 2002, revealed that a 
disproportionate number of elderly people in the borough live in the worst 
of the private sector housing stock. Poor quality housing has a detrimental 
effect on the health of the people living in those houses and on the quality 
of life in an area. Elderly or vulnerable homeowners do not always have 
the necessary resources to keep their homes in good repair without 
assistance 

 
28. The Council's holistic stock condition survey was last completed in 2000. 

However, the stock database has been periodically updated with capital 
works refurbishment carried on affected properties. Recently, Tower 
Hamlets Homes in agreement with the Council, commissioned a stock 
condition survey for 1500 properties on top of the 300 done earlier in the 
year. 

 
29. Members were keen to find out what the current status of the PRS was 

and what percentage of the PRS stock was currently up to decent home 
standard however with the last private sector condition survey taking place 
in 2002 and with constant changes in the housing sector locally it was 
difficult to tell. Members felt that it was important that the Council 
undertook a full private sector condition survey in order to greater 
understand what issues are currently being faced within the sector and 
also to provide an evidence base for both the upcoming Private Sector 
Housing Strategy and the update to the Private Sector Housing Renewal 
and Empty Properties Framework. It was suggested that funds should be 
made available for a full Private Sector Condition survey to be carried out 

Page 160



  

in order to identify, analyse and understand the current status of the PRS 
locally. 

 
 
R1 That the Development and Renewal Directorate develops a new 

Private Sector Housing Strategy which incorporates 
recommendations from this review and issues highlighted in the 
Housing Strategy and Housing and Homelessness Strategy 

 
R2 That the Development and Renewal Directorate undertake a full 

Private Sector Condition Survey to provide an evidence base for the 
Private Sector Housing Strategy and the update to the Private 
Sector Housing  Renewal and Empty Properties Framework 

 
 
30. Members discussed how to drive out poor landlords and rogue agents who 

know that their properties are in bad condition but have no intention of 
improving them. Members of the Working Group discussed how good 
landlords could take over the work of poor landlords in the management of 
properties. It was also suggested that an Arms Length Management 
Organisation (ALMO) could potentially do this rather then the Council. 

 
31. The idea that the Council explore providing a full management service 

particularly aimed at leaseholders that sub-let their properties was 
discussed during a number of sessions. The Working Group felt that the 
Council, Tower Hamlets Homes and RSLs should work together and build 
a partnership to manage properties, with Lambeth’s Lettings First being 
highlighted as a possible model of best practice. Furthermore, Members 
also felt that an in-house management agent was needed so the Council 
knew who was living in properties and in turn reduce the number of 
absentee landlords.  

 
32. Lambeth Council set up Lettings First8 to provide a link between social and 

private housing.  The aims of the Lettings First Agency were to provide a 
service to customers who wish to rent or let properties in the PRS. As well 
as assisting customers to rent homes in the PRS, Lettings First also offers 
advice and assistance to both landlords and letting agents.  They are 
involved in many aspects of the PRS including landlord accreditation, 
HMO licensing and Decent Homes Standards. 

 
33.  Lambeth Council has a partnership with Avenue Lettings, who are part of 

the Amicus Housing Group. Avenue Lettings has over ten years of 
experience in providing and managing Private Sector properties for short 
term accommodation. This experience has proved priceless for the 
Council in establishing this programme. Avenue Lettings are experts in 
many aspects of property management and provide a quality service and 
is unique in that they unite the private and public sectors in order to meet 
needs and demands.  
 

 

 

34. In Tower Hamlets up to 40% of leaseholders sublease their properties 
although there is no accurate record of whose living where. It was however 
suggested that this information is available through Land Registry.  Tower  
 

8 http://www.lettingsfirst.com/index.php?id=62  

Page 161



  

Hamlets Homes presented the current levels of leasehold properties that 
were being subleased to private tenants. Tower Hamlets Homes manages 
approximately 22,000 properties of which 40% are leasehold. In turn a 
quarter of those are being sub-let to private tenants.  
 

35. A number of issues and challenges were highlighted including the service 
not knowing who resides in all properties within the borough and hence the 
full extent of the number of properties being sub-leased. Tower Hamlets 
Homes is looking into finding out this information and has sent out two 
questionnaires to all leaseholders to obtain details of unknown sub-lets. 
They have also commissioned an external company to conduct a 
telephone survey to collate diversity information.  

 
36. Tower Hamlets Homes have a number of plans for the future which 

include: 
 
• Campaign to all leaseholders to identify sublets which will include 

making direct contact with the occupier 
• Promote buy-in to gas servicing contract for landlord safety checks by 

reminding landlords of potential manslaughter charges for possible 
accidents 

• Continue to send out questionnaire with quarterly statements and 
estimates/ actuals to identify new sublets and gather information on the 
tenants. 

• Information sharing with neighbourhood teams to help deal with anti 
social behaviour  

• Produce sub-tenants handbook  
 
37. Members felt that the Council should explore the feasibility of providing a 

full management service for leaseholders that sub-let their properties; 
Members suspected that there could be a critical mass of non-residential 
Council leaseholders to make this financially viable. It was suggested that 
the borough should seek to adopt a similar service for PRS as that of 
Lambeth’s Lettings First which not only provides information and advice 
but also provides a full management service.  

 
 

R3 That the Development and Renewal Directorate, Tower Hamlets 
Homes and local Registered Social Landlords explore the feasibility 
of providing a full management service for leaseholders that sub-let 
their properties 

 
 
38. A number of challenges face the Environmental Health Team. The team 

consists of 8 members of staff which have to deal with both PRS issues 
and a high number of RSL complaints. The new Housing Health and 
Safety Rating System inspections policy is more complex and now 
includes an increase to 29 possible hazards which has meant more time 
being consumed by officers.  Another issue which was complex and time 
consuming was HMO licensing although good landlords were the ones 
who proactively applied for this. Finally also highlighted was the difficulty in 
recruiting and retaining qualified Environmental Health Officers and 
Technical Officers. At present the service is mainly employing agency 
staff. A professional qualification at graduate level is needed to qualify as 

Page 162



  

an Environmental Health Officer. The issue with this included that 
graduates needed to complete a log book as part of their course for them 
to be registered and qualified but this tends to take time to devise. 

 
39. A best practice initiative mentioned at the session included that of 

Liverpool Council who successfully managed to secure revenue funding 
from the PCT and Fire Brigade specifically to aid the work of 
Environmental Health in order to collectively and efficiently deal with 
issues arising from the PRS. It was suggested that the Council should look 
into this model and increase the partnership working between the various 
services, particularly with public sector finances expected to be cut in 
2011-12. 

 
40. Liverpool City Council's Healthy Homes Programme (HHP) was launched 

to prevent death and illness due to poor housing conditions and accidents 
in the home. It is mainly aimed at the PRS and helps many of the most 
vulnerable residents in Liverpool. In 2006, the House Condition and 
Energy Survey found that 5.7% of Liverpool's housing stock is unfit, 
compared to the national figure of 4.2%. Accidental injuries in Liverpool 
are the eighth major cause of death in the city. The Healthy Homes 
Programme in Liverpool is carried out by the Public Protection Business 
Unit who use environmental health powers to tackle unhealthy and unsafe 
housing conditions. The programme includes working with partners such 
as the PCT, Merseyside Fire and Rescue and the voluntary sector in order 
to reduce health inequalities and winter deaths, and in turn increase life 
expectancy. 

 
41. In addition to this, the Healthy Homes Programme uses a comprehensive 

questionnaire to identify specific needs of each tenant and then co-
ordinate the delivery of a range of support services to improve their quality 
of life. Help given include advice on: 
• Healthy eating. 
• Home safety. 
• Fuel poverty. 
• How to get help from a number of different agencies and how to 

maximise income 
 
42. Members of the Working Group were keen for the Council to explore 

greater partnership working with those local services which are impacted 
upon due to health and safety issues in the PRS as well as the 
introduction of a Healthy Homes Programme. Both these were seen as 
initiatives to reduce health inequalities which plague the lower end of the 
PRS. The Working Group heard that a Healthy Housing Link is already 
something the Council is exploring and looking into but Members were still 
keen for this to be actively set up. 

 
 
R4 That the Communities, Localities and Culture Directorate develops 

a partnership strategy which includes NHS Tower Hamlets, the 
London Fire Brigade and the third sector to deal with homes in poor 
condition. This should include the sharing of resources as 
highlighted by the Healthy Homes programme in Liverpool City 
Council 

 
Page 163



  

Operational Recommendations 
 
43. The Working Group heard from the Homeless and Housing Advice Service 

who suggested that the PRS can be better utilised and this would be a 
great opportunity to build a stronger relationship with this large and 
important sector in the borough. Members agreed and stated that more of 
those residing in hostels should be encouraged to move into the PRS as 
this would aid the vulnerable such as those most at risk of re-offending or 
relapsing 

 
44. In addition to this, Members felt that Hostels were not always appropriate 

for all groups taking into consideration cultural and gender issues. The 
Working Group noted the 2006/07 scrutiny review on the Tower Hamlets 
Hostel Strategy which made a number of recommendations to increase 
access for people into hostels. The review also noted that the hostel 
population didn’t fully reflect the diversity of the borough’s population. 

 
45. Furthermore, Crisis and Shelter stated that as hostels were usually full and 

local housing not possible due to overcrowding the PRS needs to be better 
utilised as more support was needed to increase the awareness of this 
sector and make it stronger. This is also consistent with a report by the 
London Housing Foundation9 which states that there is no prospect of 
social housing meeting all of the move-on needs of hostels and supported 
housing residents and hence there was a need to expand the use of the 
PRS. Currently only around 11 per cent of residents leaving London 
hostels were moving into the PRS. 

 
 
R5 That the Development and Renewal Directorate commit to utilising 

PRS stock to its full capacity instead of using bed and breakfast and 
hostels where possible 

 
 

46. The Housing Act 2004 introduced fundamental changes to the PRS and in 
particular housing condition problems with the introduction of the Housing 
Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS). Houses of Multiple 
Occupations (HMOs) were most likely to be of a health risk to tenants. 
According to the Council’s Housing Strategy 2009-12, currently HMOs with 
three or more storeys and with five or more occupants are covered by the 
mandatory licensing scheme bought in under the 2004 Act. Smaller  
(non-mandatory) HMOs on social housing estates are typically ex-Right to 
Buy properties owned by distant landlords and sublet to private tenants. 
Some tenants of these properties have proven to be perpetrators of anti-
social behaviour and blight in their neighbourhoods.  

 
47. The government in January 201010 announced new local powers to control 

the spread of high concentrations of shared rented homes and to tackle 
pockets of unsafe and substandard accommodation run by bad landlords. 
These new powers also include changes to the planning rules, giving local 
authorities the powers to manage the development of HMOs in their area, 
in turn helping stem the growth of large pockets of shared homes - which 
can change the balance and nature of communities. 

 

9    Improving Access to the PRS for Homeless Single People in London, London Housing Foundation, Geoffrey  
Randall, March 2008 

Page 164



  

10 http://www.communities.gov.uk/news/housing/1447621  

 
48.  In addition to this and as a result of the Rugg review the government has 

also proposed to give general consent for councils to introduce licensing 
schemes in hotspot areas where landlords do not maintain or manage 
their properties properly. This would be allowed without seeking prior 
permission from Central Government. Members were keen for the Council 
to look into developing such landlord licensing schemes and a general 
consent amongst Elected Members would ensure that decisions on the 
quality of rented homes are made by those who are aware of the local 
issues and needs of the community.  

 
 
R6      That the Environmental Health Team implements the new powers 

given to local authorities which allows the licensing of all landlords 
including those with Houses of Multiple Occupations (HMOs) 

 
 
49. The review included a specific session which looked at the role of private 

landlords in the borough’s PRS. At the session Members heard evidence 
from the National Landlords Association (NLA), Queen Mary College, the 
Tower Hamlets Landlords Forum and the borough’s Family Rent Deposit 
Scheme. Also in attendance at the session were Directors of some local 
Landlords including Hamletts and ElliotLeigh. 

 
50. The Tower Hamlets Landlord Forum is an essential point of contact 

between the Council and the PRS to enable the exchange of ideas and 
allow discussion between people who are promoting and developing a 
partnership between providers and regulators.  The forum currently meets 
three times a year and key experts from the Council, private businesses 
and other landlord organisations are encouraged to contribute at the 
meetings.  

 
51. Benefits of joining the forum include training and being made aware of the 

current government polices and legislations relating to the PRS as well as 
learning from other landlords experiences. In addition to this there is an 
opportunity to work towards accredited Continuous Professional 
Development points. It was discussed that bad landlords tended to be 
concentrated in the lower end of the PRS market and were due to their 
lack of knowledge rather then not wanting to do anything and in turn just 
needed support and signposting, which the Landlords Forum could deliver.  

 
52. This was echoed by David Hewitt (Shelter, Housing Development 

Manager) who also suggested that this was due to landlord’s ignorance 
rather then having poor quality properties on purpose and not wanting to 
do anything about them. Greater information and advice was needed for 
both tenants and landlords. It was suggested that the role of the Council 
should be to engage more with landlords through advice and driving out 
bad landlords. A number of landlords were also not accredited which was 
an issue and in turn were not aware of the basic legal responsibilities 
including those of health and safety. 

 
53. Some of the issues that the Landlords Forum is currently facing include 

the small numbers that attend or are engaged, at present 20-30 

Page 165



  

landlords/agents attend the sessions. This is taking into consideration that 
1000 invites were sent out in 2007 when the forum was launched and 100 
landlords attended the first session. Members felt that more publicity 
should be introduced to encourage landlords to engage with the landlords 
Forum and in turn take up some of the accredited courses it delivers, 
namely the London Landlord Accredited Scheme (LLAS).  Members and 
Officers felt that the accreditation scheme should not be just a one day 
course but needs to include continuous learning and development on 
aspects such as new government legislation. 

 
54. Further challenges that were noted during the session included poor 

landlords being heard about but not seen. It was suggested that the 
Council should publicise a list of local landlords on its website which it 
endorses and are accredited, as is done by the London Borough of 
Newham. It was however difficult to identify how many landlords in the 
borough were accredited although it is estimated to be around 260. 

 
55. As an incentive it was suggested that landlords who were accredited and 

seen as good landlords could be offered benefits which range from 
publicity in Council literature to increased awareness of and help in 
accessing grant or loan funding to improve the quality and energy 
efficiency of the PRS 

 
56. Members discussed a points system could also be introduced where 

landlords who are poor and tally up a specific amount of points are struck 
off the list. Such a register was also supported through the Rugg Reviews 
summary of consultation responses compiled by the Department for 
Communities and Local Government. It is suggested that although the 
main landlord organisations expressed cautious support, housing charities 
such as Crisis and Shelter were strongly supportive. Furthermore, the 
Working Group heard that Queen Mary College also has a list of landlords 
which it uses with the notion if any landlord receives two complaints they 
are struck off the list. 

 
57. Landlord registrations at Queen Mary College number 150 or so each 

year, with 40 of these being new registrations.  This number has seen a 
50% increase, due to the recession, to bring the total number of new 
landlords registering since May 2009 to 62.  Queen Mary does not use any 
advertising medium to promote this service.  Registration fees cost £20 
per property per year. 

 
The College has a database which is essential to allow students access to:  
• Affordable rents  
• No fees to tenants  
• Better negotiated contract lengths 
• Speedier response to repair issues 
• Direct intervention from the Residences Office on a tenant’s behalf. 

 
58. There was a need to better use the Council’s website which was seen as 

relatively poor compared to neighbouring boroughs such as Newham as 
well as the use of various local media in promoting the Landlords Forum 
and the benefits in attending. In addition to this it was suggested that the 
Council should build and develop the profile of the Forum through the use 
of a “Landlord of the Year” Award. Members suggested that this could 

Page 166



  

even go one step further with the introduction of a range of housing 
awards which also take into consideration Registered Social Landlords 
and Tenants and local Leaseholder Associations.  

 
59. The huge importance of the PRS locally was noted and the need for 

landlords to be involved in local decision making on a strategic level.  With 
this it was felt that a representative from the Tower Hamlets Landlords 
Forum should sit on the Great Place to Live Community Plan Delivery 
Group. Members were keen for the sector to have a voice within the 
borough considering the contribution it makes locally as well as the 
possibilities around the greater use of the sector. 

 
60. A further issue which was highlighted by the Landlord’s Forum was that 

many Tower Hamlets landlords or agents operated in other local 
authorities and attend the Forum where they reside at rather than where 
their properties are. This made it difficult to engage with a number of 
landlords.  With this, Members suggested that the Landlords Forum should 
explore developing a regional Landlords Forum in partnership with the 
other local authorities. This would not only allow greater engagement with 
those landlords who reside outside of the borough but would also 
encourage the sharing of best practice and resources amongst local 
authorities in order to tackle cross borough and London wide issues. 

 
 
R7 That the Tower Hamlets Landlords Forum uses local media to 

increase awareness of the benefits of the London Landlord 
Accreditation Scheme (LLAS) and publicises which local landlords 
are accredited and registered on its website 

 
R8 That the Tower Hamlets Landlords Forum and Tower Hamlets 

Homes publicise the Landlords Forum through the greater use of 
local media and an annual “Landlord of the Year” award 

 
R9 That a representative from the Tower Hamlets Landlords Forum 

have a standing invitation on the Great Place to Live Community 
Plan Delivery Group 

 
R10 That the Development and Renewal Directorate support private 

landlords access grant or loan funding to improve the quality and 
energy efficiency of the PRS  

 
R11 That the Tower Hamlets Landlords Forum takes lead in exploring 

the development of a regional landlord’s forum 
 
 
61. Members noted that discussions took place with regards to the need for a 

Housing Benefits Officer to be based with the Housing Advice Team. This 
would be to advise on aspects of the Rent Deposit Scheme, for a few days 
a week although this request was turned down. However, it was later 
suggested that the officer may have limited work to do. Members were 
keen to find out why this was the case and if there was a need for an 
officer to be based with the Housing Advice Team, then it should 
potentially be looked into again.  

 
Page 167



  

62. Members at the session heard a number of concerns from landlords 
relating to the payment of Housing Benefits to them from the Council 
through tenants. It was highlighted that Tower Hamlets were either the 
only or one of a few local authorities in London who still paid housing 
benefits through cheques and not BACs; this had a knock on effect on 
landlords due to late payments.  

 
63. Another concern included the notion that housing benefits were being paid 

straight to tenants through the new system, this again meant that landlords 
were receiving payments late. Further potential problems included when 
tenants were in overdraft and half of their housing benefit was taken away 
to pay for overdraft fines. This again had a knock on effect on landlords 
receiving payments. Also highlighted was that the local authority does not 
email its schedule of payments and this goes through the post which 
potentially delays payment to landlords again. 

 
64. Members heard from the Housing Benefits Services on the current local 

housing benefit policies along with the national aims of the Local Housing 
Allowance (LHA) which included the notion of personal responsibility as 
part of the government’s agenda to tackle the perception of “a nanny 
state”. This looked at encouraging and supporting residents to be more 
independent and active rather then reliant on the state.  Furthermore, the 
LHA at a local level supoprted financial inclusion by encouraging residents 
to open bank accounts and an improved and faster process by the housing 
benefit service.  

 
65. Key aspects of LHA payments were also highlighted, in particular that the 

LHA should go to the tenant and not the landlord which has been made 
clear by government. There is however some instances where it can be 
paid to the landlord if the local authority consider the tenant to have 
difficulties in managing their affairs; however there is a requirement by the 
local authority to regularly review this. The local authority must pay the 
landlord in instances where the tenant has rent arrears of 8 weeks or more 
and where the Department for Work and Pensions are making deductions 
from any income support or jobseekers allowance to pay of rent arrears.  

 
66. It was highlighted that Payment of LHA is through either bank cheque or 

BACs. The latter is now encouraged with the service producing information 
and advice for tenants on opening a bank account. The service is 
committed to moving to BACs and this is currently available to landlords as 
part of a phased approach. However this may create some issues with 
vulnerable claimants in wanting to open up a bank account.  In terms of 
schedules the service emails this to RSLs and landlords upon request, 
however this is resource intensive as the current IT system is not designed 
for mailing. In addition it is also a legal requirement for Council’s to post a 
hard copy of schedules to landlords.  

 
67. The service has a number of new initiatives in place at the moment 

including the use of new technology mobile tablets which are used during 
home visits in order to reduce the number of defective claims. The service 
also has future initiatives in the pipeline including the use of a new on-line 
claim form which would drastically reduce the current 22 day turnaround; 
there has also been positive feedback here from customers.   

 

Page 168



  

 
 
R12 The Housing Benefits Service continue moving from a process of 

paying housing benefits through cheques to payments through 
BACs 

 
R13 The Housing Benefits Service explore the possibility of sending 

schedules of payment to landlords through email along with written 
copies to increase efficiency 

 
R14 That the Housing Benefits Services and Housing Advice Service 

explore the possibility of a Benefits Officer being based within the 
Housing Advice Team 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 169



  

Conclusion 
 
 
68. The PRS has been described as being very complex with many sub-

divisions and in turn devising recommendations for the sector is 
challenging, particularly in an era where housing policy is constantly 
changing. 

 
69. The Working Group recognised the good work that is already being 

delivered by the Council and its partners with regards to the PRS and in 
particular the services of the Private Sector and Affordable Housing Team, 
The Environmental Health Team, The Housing Benefits Services and the 
Homeless and Housing Advice Services.  

 
70. In addition to these the Working Group heard from external organisations 

such as Tower Hamlets Homes, the National Landlords Association and 
Queen Mary College. Registered Social Landlords including Poplar 
HARCA and East Thames Housing also gave evidence. Furthermore 
national charities Praxis, Shelter, Crisis and Look Ahead put forward their 
experiences of the PRS.  

 
71. A number of recommendations have been put forward for consideration. At 

the heart of these recommendations include the need to develop a new 
Private Sector Housing Strategy in order to understand and analyse the 
current status of the sector locally. The review recognised that the private 
sector can no longer be the sector of default but rather needs to be the 
sector of choice for many of our local residents. Furthermore, there was a 
need to move away from a policy of enforcement to one of self regulation 
by increasing our support for good landlords. There was a need to 
publicise the work of good landlords and endorse them on the Council’s 
website. Good landlords should also be supported in accessing grant or 
loan funding to improve the quality and energy efficiency of their 
properties. Members felt that landlords should also have a greater voice by 
having a standing invitation on the Great Place to Live Community Plan 
Delivery Group. 

 
72. With expected cuts in public services looming the Working Group 

suggested the urgent need to work in greater partnership with 
organisations who have an interest and are effected by the PRS and in 
particular the issues relating to Health and Housing. Members were also 
keen for the borough to explore developing models to see the feasibility of 
providing a full management service for those leaseholders that are sub-
letting their properties.  

 
73. On a final note, the Working Group hope that the recommendations of this 

report go some way in strengthening the PRS for the benefit of both 
tenants and landlords in the borough and provide a real alternative to 
many of the residents seeking sustainable housing in Tower Hamlets. 

Page 170



  

Scrutiny and Equalities in Tower Hamlets 
 
 
To find out more about Scrutiny in Tower Hamlets: 
 
Please contact: 
 
Scrutiny Policy Team 
Tower Hamlets Council 
6th Floor, Mulberry Place 
5 Clove Crescent 
London E14 2BG 
 
 
Telephone: 020 7364 4636 
E-mail: scrutiny@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
Web: www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/scrutiny 
 
 

Page 171



  

 
 
 
 

Page 172



  

 

Appendix 2 -  Response to Scrutiny Review Working Group Report on Private Rented Sector  
 

Recommendation 
 

Response / Comments 
 

Responsibility 
 

Date 

 
R1 That the Development 

and Renewal Directorate 
develops a new Private 
Sector Housing Strategy 
which incorporates 
recommendations from 
this review and issues 
highlighted in the Housing 
Strategy and Housing and 
Homelessness Strategy 

 

 
This in the Directorate Plan and a steering group will be 
set up and will meet in July 2010.  This will need to be 
done.  More importance will be placed on how we use the 
private rented sector.  There are no financial implications. 
 
 
 

 
Alison Thomas 
(Private Sector and 
Affordable Housing 
Manager) 
 
John Coker 
(Strategic Housing 
Manager) 
 
Colin Cormack 
(Service Head, Housing 
Options) 

 
January 2011 

 
R2 That the Development 

and Renewal Directorate 
undertake a full Private 
Sector Stock Condition 
Survey to provide an 
evidence base for the 
Private Sector Housing 
Strategy and the update 
to the Private Sector 
Housing Renewal and 
Empty Properties 
Framework 
 

 
This is in the Directorate Plan and the Private Housing 
Improvement Team Plan.  The funding for this Survey has 
been identified and officers are now researching similar 
surveys in other London Boroughs. 
We have a statutory duty to assess the Boroughs private 
sector housing stock every five years.  The last Private 
Sector Stock Condition Survey was published in 2004.   
We are currently commissioning a new Private Sector 
Stock Condition Survey with the help of BRE.  Costs are 
expected to be in the region of £80k.  We have identified a 
budget for the project are now in contact with BRE.  We 
are also under a statutory duty to have an up to date 
Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy.  The current policy 
expired in 2009.  We cannot produce a new policy without 
the evidence base. 

 
Alison Thomas 
(Private Sector and 
Affordable Housing 
Manager) 
 
Alan Warner 
(Private Sector Housing 
and Home Improvement 
Agency Co-ordinator) 

 
January 2011 P

age 173



  

 
R3 That the Development 

and Renewal Directorate, 
Tower Hamlets Homes 
and local Registered 
Social Landlords explore 
the feasibility of providing 
a full management 
service for leaseholders 
that sub-let their 
properties 

 
D&R have recently selected 15 RSL’s as 
preferred development partners with the borough, 
the Housing Strategy also seeks an action that 
requires all local registered partners to improve 
their standard of management, this action can be 
incorporated into the developing Action Plan for 
the preferred partner process.  There are no 
financial implications. 

 
John Coker 
(Strategic Housing 
Manager) 
 

 
March 2011 

 
 
R4 That the Communities, 

Localities and Culture 
Directorate develops a 
partnership strategy 
which includes NHS 
Tower Hamlets, the 
London Fire Brigade and 
the third sector to deal 
with homes in poor 
condition. This should 
include the sharing of 
resources as highlighted 
by the Healthy Homes 
programme in Liverpool 
City Council 

 
The Environmental Protection Service will 
establish links with the PCT and the voluntary 
sector to tackle poor housing conditions and poor 
health in the rented sector throughout the 
borough.  Referrals can then be made to these 
partners, for a range of support services to 
improve the residents’ quality of life, for example, 
health issues, Fire Safety. 
Information from the proposed Private Sector 
Condition Survey will help formulate the focus of 
the strategy. 
Funding will need to be sought for this additional 
proactive workload as our current resources 
would not enable us to take on this extra workload 

 
Jane Gardner-Hayter 
(Acting Team Leader, 
Environmental Control) 

 
October 2010 

 

P
age 174



  

 
R5 That the Development 

and Renewal Directorate 
commit to utilising Private 
Rented Sector stock to its 
full capacity instead of 
using bed and breakfast 
and hostels where 
possible 

 

 
The need to rely on this resource for emergency 
situations remains but the use of B&B has 
diminished considerably in the last 12 months.  It 
would be reasonable, in the context of some 
1,800 temporary accommodation placements, to 
commit to continue this reduction by setting a 
ceiling of a maximum of no more than 5% 
placements being in B&B.  Hostels are typical 
used for non-statutory homeless households and 
remain a vital source of accommodation, 
particularly where modest support needs are 
necessarily.  It would be inappropriate then not to 
continue to use hostel accommodation.  There are 
no financial implications. 

 
Colin Cormack 
(Service Head, Housing 
Options) 

 
March 2011 

 
R6 That the Environmental 

Health Team implements 
the new powers given to 
local authorities which 
allows the licensing of all 
landlords including those 
with Houses of Multiple 
Occupations (HMOs) 

 

 
The Environmental Protection Service will review 
the effectiveness of the current Licensing 
Scheme. 
Information from the proposed Private Sector 
Condition Survey will help identify problem areas 
and the Service will need to work together with 
the Anti Social Behaviour Team. 
Funding will need to be sought for any further 
Licensing schemes. 

 
Jane Gardner-Hayter 
(Acting Team Leader, 
Environmental Control) 

 
November 2010 

 
R7 That the Tower Hamlets 

Landlords Forum uses 
local media to increase 
awareness of the benefits 
of the London Landlord 
Accreditation Scheme 
(LLAS) and publicises 
which local landlords are 
accredited and registered 
on its website 

 
We will place an article into East End Life to 
publicise both the Landlords Forum and the 
accreditation scheme and ensure the website is 
updated. There are no financial implications in 
delivering. 

 
David Gingell, 
(Service Manager- 
Housing Advice) 

 
September 2010 

P
age 175



  

 
 
R8 That the Tower Hamlets 

Landlords Forum and 
Tower Hamlets Homes 
publicise the Landlords 
Forum through the 
greater use of local media 
and an annual “Landlord 
of the Year” award 

 

 
The service will explore the possibility of 
developing an annual awards ceremony and look 
at best practice from other boroughs who may 
already have this in place. There are no financial 
implications in delivering. 

 
David Gingell, 
(Service Manager- 
Housing Advice) 

 
September 2010 

 
R9 That a representative 

from the Tower Hamlets 
Landlords Forum have a 
standing invitation on the 
Great Place to Live 
Community Plan Delivery 
Group 

 

 
Request was put forward to the Great Place to 
Live CPDG Co-chairs and members at the 8th 
June 2010 GPtL CPDG meeting.  The group 
agreed to have a representative from the Tower 
Hamlets Landlords Forum so they receive a 
standing invitation on the GPtL CPDG.   Tower 
Hamlets Partnership Governance Officer has now 
invited a representative to attend future meetings. 
There are no financial implications for delivering 
this recommendation. 
 

 
Afiya Begum 
(Governance Team 
Leader) 

 
September 2010 
 

 
R10 That the Development 

and Renewal Directorate 
support private landlords 
to access grant or loan 
funding to improve the 
quality and energy 
efficiency of the PRS 

 
 

 
The new Private Sector Housing Renewal and 
Empty Property Policy will be launched in 
February 2011 which will incorporate this. This will 
then be widely publicised.  These grants will be 
discretionary and dependant on funding – either 
sub regional TFS or LPP. 

 
Alison Thomas 
(Private Sector and 
Affordable Housing 
Manager) 
 

 
February 2011 

P
age 176



  

 
R11 That the Tower Hamlets 

Landlords Forum takes a 
lead in exploring the 
development of a regional 
landlord’s forum 

 

 
Tower Hamlets already plays an active part in the 
London Landlords Forum and London Landlords 
Day.  We are members of the London Landlord’s 
Accreditation Scheme and joint hosts of London 
Landlords Day.  Costs are currently met from the 
sub-regional TFS.  If the Borough had to support 
these costs it would be in the region of £3,000 pa 

 
Alison Thomas 
(Private Sector and 
Affordable Housing 
Manager) 
 

 
July 2010 

 
 
R12 The Housing Benefits 

Service continue moving 
from a process of paying 
housing benefits through 
cheques to payments 
through BACs 

 

 
This process has commenced and further roll out 
is included as part of the Benefits Service Team 
Plan for 2010/11.  The Benefits ICT system now 
has this functionality, however Corporate ICT are 
required to automate the interface process 
between the Councils Financial Systems and the 
Benefits System. 
This is still achievable and desirable.  The move 
from Cheque payments to BACs payments would 
deliver savings as the method of payment itself is 
cheaper.  The Benefits Service has included this 
work as part of its current year Team Plan and 
therefore the necessary finance for the ICT 
development has already been secured by the 
Service. 
 

 
Steve Hill 
(Benefits Service 
Manager) 

 
December 2010 

 
R13 The Housing Benefits 

Service explore the 
possibility of sending 
schedules of payment to 
landlords through email 
along with written copies 

 
Data Protection issues associated with sending 
emails including Benefits payment details to 
Landlords. However, the benefits Service and 
Corporate ICT are exploring the possibility of 
providing Landlords with access to their own 
schedules electronically. 

 
Steve Hill 
(Benefits Service 
Manager) 

December 2010 

P
age 177



  

to increase efficiency 
 

Mindful of this recommendation, the Benefits 
Service has procured the “Landlord Portal” as part 
of the Council’s core Benefits ICT system.  The 
Portal should enable Landlords to securely 
access their payment schedules by direct access 
to the Council’s Benefits system.  The “Landlord 
Portal” requires testing and work on satisfying 
Security access but the necessary finance for this 
ICT development has been secured by the 
Benefits Service.  It is envisaged that enabling the 
necessary ICT Security access may take several 
months to implement.     

 
 
R14 That the Housing Benefits 

Services and Housing 
Advice Service explore 
the possibility of a 
Benefits Officer being 
based within the Housing 
Advice Team 

 

 
This issue has been explored.  Agreed that the 
problems are around gathering of information and 
evidence in support of the Claim (as all New 
Claims are processed on average within 20 days 
of receipt of the Claim being made).  The Benefits 
Service Review will include a Visiting Officer 
resource for the Family Rent Deposit Scheme and 
the provision of a new “Assisted Claim” process. 
Key to the “Assisted Claims” process is the roll out 
of electronic Benefit Claim forms identified in the 
Channel Strategy as way of making efficiencies.  
The cost of implementing this ICT enhancement  
will be met from the Benefits Service budget, it is 
expected that implementation costs will be 
minimal. ICT Security access for this initiative may 
take several months to implement. 

 
Steve Hill 
(Benefits Service 
Manager) 

 
September 2010 

 

P
age 178



  

Committee/Meeting: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
8 September 
2010 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted 
 
 

Report No: 
 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director Development and 
Renewal 
 
Originating officer(s) Andy Algar 
Service Head, Asset Management 
 

Title:  
 
Poplar Baths – proposed procurement 
route 
 
Wards Affected:  
 

Limehouse 

 
 
Lead Member 
 

Cllr Jones, Culture and Creative Industries 

Community Plan Theme 
  

A great place to live 

Strategic Priority 
 

Strengthening and connecting communities by 
ensuring communities have good access 
to a full range of facilities - including health 
services, schools and leisure 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report details sets out details of the proposed procurement route to 

seek tenders for the refurbishment of Poplar Baths 
 
2. DECISIONS REQUIRED 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 
2.1 Approve the proposed procurement route and authorise the Corporate 

Director, Development and Renewal to commence the process to invite 
developers/contractors to express an interest in the scheme by completing a 
pre qualification questionnaire. 

 
2.2 Note the capital funding requirement and the fact that the procurement 

process cannot proceed to shortlist phase without funding being in place. 
 
2.3 Instruct the Corporate Director, Development and Renewal to explore the 

scope for the capital receipt from any enabling development on Housing 
Revenue Account land being used to support this scheme. 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6.6

Page 179



  

3. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1 To enable progress to be made on the procurement of a 

developer/contractor to provide new leisure facilities on the Poplar Baths 
site. 

 
 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 Cabinet has previously decided to pursue a proposal to bring the baths back 

into use. 
 
 
5. BACKGROUND 
 
5.1   In March 2010 Cabinet agreed a proposal to pursue design work on a new 

baths to what is known as Design Stage D - this is defined as “Development 
of concept design to include structural and building services systems, 
updated outline specifications and cost plan”. It is a precursor to be able to 
finalise a full specification to enable works to be formally tendered. The costs 
of this initial design work was estimated at £516,000 

 
5.2 These costs excluded any design work for the proposed enabling 

development. 
 
5.3   Officers have reviewed possible options for the delivery of the scheme and 

are proposing an alternative procurement route which will significantly 
reduce up front revenue costs and also enable developers/contractors more 
scope to innovate in both design and driving value via any enabling 
development. The revised procurement route will not alter the overall 
timescale. 

 
 
6.   BODY OF REPORT 
 
6.1   The previous report highlighted the costs of taking the design forward and 

also the risks of these costs potentially being required to be funded from 
mainstream revenue in the event of the scheme not proceeding for any 
reason. There is also a requirement to find funding for the design of the 
enabling development. Given the worsening financial climate officers 
decided to review options for design to establish whether the same 
outcomes could be achieved without the same level of up front revenue 
exposure 

 
6.2   An alternative procurement route is being suggested – this will reduce up 

front revenue costs and should encourage innovation from 
contractors/developers (as they will seek competitive advantage to make the 
lowest bid for the works) but still gives the Council significant influence over 
final design. 

 

Page 180



  

6.3   It is suggested that the following procurement route is adopted (the Council 
is working on a similar basis with Poplar HARCA on the proposed 
regeneration of Chrisp Street market). The main difference is that the 
Council does not do detailed design work itself but sets out an initial broad 
specification for contractors/developers to work against. 

 
6.4  The revised process is summarised below 
 
 

• Procure and appoint advisory team for procurement process 
 

• Commence OJEU procurement process for developer/contractor. 
 

• Stage 1 developer selection (based on financial and technical issues 
including design quality/track record). 

 
• Short listed developers asked submit a response to the Invitation to 
Tender which will include firming up design proposals and bids 

 
• Preferred developer selected 

 
• Contract completed 

 
• Detailed design concluded and agreed 

 
• Commencement of works 

 
6.5  The previous Cabinet report suggested the new facilities could be opened in 

2013/14 and this revised works to the same timescale so no time is lost. 
 
6.6   The Council will be unable to go beyond Stage 1 developer selection unless 

committed capital funding is in place. Therefore, capital will need to be 
allocated as part of the budget setting process for 2011/12 onwards. 

 
6.7   The previous report identified that this proposal has a significant capital 

requirement that can only be partially offset by possible enabling 
development. Depending on the option selected the council capital funding 
needed for the redevelopment of Poplar Baths will range between £7.1m and 
£16.6m. These figures would need to be adjusted to reflect building cost 
inflation. 

 
6.8   The earlier decision agreed that part of the enabling development (i.e. 

residential development to off-set scheme costs) occurs on land that is 
currently held by the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  There are 
restrictions on what HRA capital receipts can be spent on and officers will 
need to explore the financial and legal issues around this. If this cannot be 
resolved then the capital cost of the scheme will increase. 

 
 
 

Page 181



  

7. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
7.1 Further to Cabinet’s consideration of the ‘Poplar Baths Development Plans’ 

report on 10 March 2010, this report seeks approval for a proposed 
procurement route to seek tenders for the refurbishment. 

 
7.2 Capital cost implications of the proposal were detailed in the previous report 

to Members and indicated that the cost of the redevelopment of the facility 
will range between £7.1m and £16.6m, dependent upon the option to be 
pursued and the results of detailed design work required to address risks 
associated with the project. These estimates are based on current prices 
and are therefore subject to market fluctuations (see paragraph 6.4). 
Progressing the scheme beyond RIBA Design Stage D will depend upon a 
financially affordable solution being identified, including funding from the 
Council.  

 
7.3 An option that has been proposed to provide funding towards the scheme is 

that the project will be partly financed from the application of capital receipts 
realised from the development of Housing Revenue Account land. Under the 
present arrangements only 25% of the capital receipt from a dwelling or 50% 
from housing land can be used for general capital purposes. The remainder 
of the capital receipts are pooled and paid to the Government.  

 
7.4 Cabinet in March resolved that officers be directed to allocate sufficient 

resources from available developer contributions to cover the costs of the 
Poplar Baths restoration and leisure centre scheme development to RIBA 
(Royal Institute of British Architects) Design State D; Funding for the initial 
work to manage the procurement process will be considered at a meeting of 
the Planning Contribution Overview Panel in August and an update will be 
provided at the Cabinet meeting. If a capital budget for the development is 
approved in future, then all procurement and project management costs 
associated with the scheme must be incorporated. 

 
7.5 Members should be aware that if the Poplar Baths project were not to move 

beyond the design stage, developer contributions will have contributed to the 
design only, with no resulting facilities improvement. As a consequence, 
there is a risk that at that stage, developers might wish to request repayment 
of contributions made. 

 
7.6 The initial design contract must only be let with the full support and 

involvement of the Authority’s procurement and legal teams, and it is 
essential that the Authority does not commit itself to any funding beyond this 
initial stage. 

 
7.7 Once the design process is complete further reports must be submitted to 

Cabinet to enable Members to take a fully informed decision before any 
formal commitment can be made to incurring further expenditure on capital 
works. 

 

Page 182



  

7.8 The revenue implications of the project must be considered in any future 
reports. These costs have not been factored into the Council’s medium term 
financial strategy and as a consequence options to identify necessary 
funding would need to be determined. 

 
 
8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 (LEGAL SERVICES) 
 
8.1 Section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 requires best value authorities, 

including the Council, to “make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard 
to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness” 

 
8.2 The procurement procedure described above complies with EU and UK law 

and the Council’s procurement procedures. It is open for Cabinet to conclude 
that the proposed procurement plan will result in best value having regard to 
the duty outlined above. As the procurement is a two stage process the 
Council can begin work on the project, examine the developers’ proposals 
and then identify the capital resources necessary to complete the project.  

 
8.3 As it is likely the development scheme will involve a transfer of an interest in 

the land in any pre-contract discussions, officers will need to have regard to 
the power in section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 for the Council 
to   dispose of land and the need to get the best consideration reasonably 
obtainable unless the Secretary of State consents to the disposal. Officers 
will have to examine any proposal and take legal advice to ensure that it 
complies with the public procurement regulations. There is an exemption for 
straightforward disposals of land, but care will need to be taken with any 
proposal that involves development of the site. Any development project 
worth over £3.5 million is subject to the EU public procurement regulations. 

 
 
9. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1   It is a priority of the Council through the Leisure Facilities Strategy and the 

Local Development Framework to ensure continued access to indoor sports 
facilities to all sections of the community. As such this report is consistent 
with the Council's duties to promote equality in the areas of race, gender and 
disability 

 
10. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
10.1  Leisure facilities by their very nature have high energy demands. The 

Leisure Facilities Strategy identifies the need to reduce the carbon emissions 
from the Council’s leisure facilities wherever possible. Any specification for 
bringing Poplar Baths back into use will include measures which seek to 
maximise energy efficiency within the constraints of the listing and the cost 
envelope of the scheme. 

 

Page 183



  

 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 A risk register is attached as Appendix 1. These risks will be managed as 

part of the project management process. 
 

12. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1  Poplar Baths are located in a prime location within the Chrisp Street town 

centre and adjacent to a busy Docklands Light Railway station. The 
redevelopment of a building which is currently boarded up is likely to have a 
positive impact on perceptions of personal safety. A re-opened leisure centre 
in this location would provide an active frontage and passive surveillance of 
the southern side of East India Dock Road. 

 
12.2  Research commissioned by Sport England has found that appropriately 

designed sports activities and facilities can reduce the likelihood of people 
participating in crime or anti-social behaviour. It does so by addressing some 
of the factors that increase the risk of offending, and by strengthening some 
of the protective factors that reduce the likelihood of crime.  

 
13. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 
13.1  The Leisure Facilities Strategy requires that any detailed proposals must 

take into account the following key efficiency criteria  
 

• Wherever possible wet and dry facilities should be brought together as 
this reduces the subsidy requirement and allows the Council to 
potentially benefit from profit share arrangements embedded in the 
leisure management contract. 

 
• Facilities should be located in the most accessible locations to benefit 
from high footfall and generate the highest possible use of facilities, 
ensuring reduced cost per visit and potential increases in income for 
future investment. 

 
13.2  Controlling energy costs must be a key consideration for all investment in 

new leisure facilities. Improving energy efficiency will in turn benefit the 
Council through the leisure management contract surplus share 
arrangements with its current contractor. 

 
14. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 – Risk Register 
 

 
_______________________________________________________ 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 

List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

Page 184



  

  
Brief description of “background papers” Name and telephone number of holder  

and address where open to inspection. 
 

None N/A 
 
 

Page 185



Page 186

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 2
 –

 H
ig

h
lig

h
t 

R
is

k 
R

eg
is

te
r

R
ef

 
R

is
ks

  
In

te
rn

al
 C

o
n

tr
o

ls
 E

xi
st

in
g

 
L

ik
el

ih
o

o
d

 
Im

p
ac

t 
T

o
ta

l 

1

O
ut

lin
e 

op
tio

ns
 w

er
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
on

 th
e 

ba
si

s 
of

 s
ke

tc
h 

sc
he

m
es

 o
nl

y 
an

d 
ca

pi
ta

l c
os

ts
 a

re
 th

er
ef

or
e 

in
di

ca
tiv

e.
 A

s 
th

e 
pr

ef
er

re
d 

op
tio

n 
is

 b
ei

ng
 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
to

 R
IB

A
 S

ta
ge

 D
, t

he
 c

ap
ita

l c
os

t r
eq

ui
re

m
en

t m
ay

 c
ha

ng
e.

 

F
ur

th
er

 r
ep

or
t t

o 
M

em
be

rs
 u

po
n 

co
nc

lu
si

on
 o

f R
IB

A
 S

ta
ge

 D
 

de
si

gn
 a

nd
 p

rio
r 

to
 m

ov
in

g 
to

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
st

ag
e.

 

3 
3 

9

2

S
ig

ni
fic

an
t d

ev
el

op
er

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 h

av
e 

be
en

 a
gr

ee
d 

on
 a

 n
um

be
r 

of
 

la
rg

e-
sc

al
e 

of
fic

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

ts
 in

 th
e 

C
an

ar
y 

W
ha

rf
 a

re
a.

 T
he

se
 c

ou
ld

 
co

nt
rib

ut
e 

to
 th

e 
fu

nd
in

g 
pa

ck
ag

e 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 r
ei

ns
ta

te
 P

op
la

r 
B

at
hs

. D
ue

 
to

 th
e 

on
go

in
g 

re
ce

ss
io

n,
 th

er
e 

is
 g

re
at

er
 u

nc
er

ta
in

ty
 th

an
 u

su
al

 a
bo

ut
 th

e 
po

in
t a

t w
hi

ch
 th

es
e 

co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

 m
ay

 tr
ig

ge
r 

an
d 

be
co

m
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
to

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il.

 D
el

ay
 o

r 
no

n 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
ts

 c
ou

ld
 r

es
ul

t i
n 

a 
fu

nd
in

g 
pa

ck
ag

e 
no

t c
om

in
g 

to
ge

th
er

 a
t t

he
 m

os
t a

dv
an

ta
ge

ou
s 

po
in

t.

F
ur

th
er

 w
or

k 
to

 b
e 

un
de

rt
ak

en
 in

 p
ar

al
le

l t
o 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t 

of
 th

e 
de

si
gn

 p
ro

ce
ss

 to
 q

ua
nt

ify
 r

is
ks

 a
ss

oc
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 
in

di
vi

du
al

 c
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 c
on

ta
in

ed
 w

ith
in

 s
10

6 
le

ga
l 

ag
re

em
en

ts
.

2 
3 

6

3

O
ut

lin
e 

re
ve

nu
e 

m
od

el
lin

g 
is

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
st

an
da

rd
is

ed
 a

ss
um

pt
io

ns
 a

bo
ut

 
th

e 
op

er
at

io
n 

of
 le

is
ur

e 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

co
m

pr
is

in
g 

ce
rt

ai
n 

le
is

ur
e 

el
em

en
ts

 (
gy

m
, 

sp
or

ts
 h

al
l, 

sw
im

m
in

g 
po

ol
) 

an
d 

as
su

m
ed

 s
ta

ffi
ng

 le
ve

ls
.  

D
iff

er
en

t o
pt

io
ns

 
w

ill
 r

es
ul

t i
n 

di
ffe

re
nt

 r
ev

en
ue

 im
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 a
s 

ou
tli

ne
d 

in
 th

e 
re

po
rt

. T
he

 
re

ve
nu

e 
po

si
tio

n 
fo

r 
th

e 
pr

ef
er

re
d 

op
tio

n 
m

ay
 c

ha
ng

e 
as

 d
et

ai
le

d 
de

si
gn

 
an

d 
fa

ci
lit

y 
m

ix
 w

ill
 in

fo
rm

 d
et

ai
le

d 
re

ve
nu

e 
m

od
el

lin
g.

 

F
ur

th
er

 d
et

ai
le

d 
re

ve
nu

e 
m

od
el

lin
g 

to
 b

e 
ca

rr
ie

d 
ou

t a
lo

ng
si

de
 

de
si

gn
 p

ro
ce

ss
 a

nd
 le

is
ur

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t c
on

tr
ac

to
r 

in
vo

lv
em

en
t i

n 
de

si
gn

 p
ro

ce
ss

 to
 d

es
ig

n 
ef

fic
ie

nt
 fa

ci
lit

ie
s.

 
M

od
el

lin
g 

re
su

lts
 to

 fo
rm

 p
ar

t o
f f

ur
th

er
 C

ab
in

et
 r

ep
or

t. 
3 

3 
9

4

P
op

la
r 

B
at

hs
 is

 a
 h

is
to

ric
 s

tr
uc

tu
re

 w
hi

ch
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

di
su

se
d 

fo
r 

a 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 y
ea

rs
. P

rio
r 

to
 th

is
, i

t w
as

 u
se

d 
as

 a
 c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 fa
ci

lit
y 

an
d 

th
is

 
us

e 
m

ay
 h

av
e 

im
pa

ct
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

hi
st

or
ic

 fa
br

ic
 o

f t
he

 b
ui

ld
in

g.
 It

 is
 n

ot
 

pr
es

en
tly

 k
no

w
n 

w
ha

t t
he

 le
ve

l o
f d

et
er

io
ra

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
hi

st
or

ic
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

fa
br

ic
 is

. T
hi

s 
m

ay
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

re
st

or
at

io
n 

co
st

s.
 

F
ul

l s
tr

uc
tu

ra
l s

ur
ve

y 
to

 b
e 

co
nd

uc
te

d 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

cl
ea

rin
g 

ou
t o

f 
th

e 
bu

ild
in

g 
(c

ur
re

nt
ly

 in
 p

ro
gr

es
s)

. C
on

tin
ge

nc
y 

of
 2

0%
 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 a

ll 
ca

pi
ta

l c
os

t e
st

im
at

es
. 

3 
3 

9

5

C
ap

ita
l r

ec
ei

pt
 n

ot
 b

ei
ng

 a
ch

ie
ve

d.
 

A
ny

 P
op

la
r 

B
at

hs
 r

ef
ur

bi
sh

m
en

t s
ch

em
e,

 w
hi

ch
 r

el
ie

s 
on

 
en

ab
lin

g 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t a
s 

a 
ge

ne
ra

to
r 

fo
r 

ca
pi

ta
l s

ub
si

dy
 c

an
 

on
ly

 p
ro

gr
es

s 
in

 ta
nd

em
 w

ith
 o

r 
af

te
r 

th
e 

en
ab

lin
g 

sc
he

m
e’

s 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t. 
A

t t
he

 p
oi

nt
 a

t w
hi

ch
 th

e 
sc

he
m

e 
ha

s 
be

en
 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
to

 R
IB

A
 D

es
ig

n 
S

ta
ge

 D
, l

an
d 

va
lu

es
 a

ss
oc

ia
te

d 
w

ith
 e

na
bl

in
g 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t w

ou
ld

 b
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

. I
nd

ic
at

iv
e 

la
nd

 
va

lu
es

 w
ou

ld
 b

e 
re

vi
ew

ed
 a

s 
pa

rt
 o

f t
he

  

3 
3 

9

6

F
ix

ed
 d

ep
en

de
nc

y 
on

 a
 s

in
gl

e 
su

bs
id

y 
m

ec
ha

ni
sm

.  
T

he
 r

ou
te

 fo
r 

en
ab

lin
g 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t m

ay
 c

ha
ng

e 
as

 n
ew

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
ar

is
e 

ov
er

 ti
m

e 
an

d 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
w

ill
 n

ee
d 

to
 k

ee
p 

th
is

 u
nd

er
 r

ev
ie

w
. 

F
ur

th
er

 w
or

k 
to

 b
e 

un
de

rt
ak

en
 b

y 
th

e 
D

ire
ct

or
 o

f D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
&

 R
en

ew
al

 to
 d

ev
el

op
 o

pt
io

ns
 fo

r 
en

ab
lin

g 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t. 

2 
4 

8

Page 187



Page 188

This page is intentionally left blank



 
BCChargesReportdraftv12DG0608100630am0.doc 

 

Committee/Meeting: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
8 September 
2010 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted  
 
 

Report No: 
 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director Aman Dalvi 
 
Originating officer(s) Peter Hamilton 
Head of Building Control 
 

Title:  
 
Building Control Charges 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 
Lead Member 
 

Councillor Marc Francis 

Community Plan Theme 
  

Great Place to Live 

Strategic Priority 
 

 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1   Councils are authorised to fix charges by means of a scheme to recover costs 

  associated with the performance of functions relating to building regulations  
   and this report recommends the adoption of a new scheme of building 
   regulations charges in accordance with the requirements of the Building (Local 
   Authority Charges) Regulations 2010. 
 
 
2. DECISIONS REQUIRED 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 
2.1 Agree the London Borough of Tower Hamlets Building Regulations Charging 

Scheme No1 2010 in Appendix A  
 
2.2 Authorise the Corporate Director Development and Renewal to approve 

standard charges tables in the proposed charges scheme and to amend, 
revoke or replace any future London Borough of Tower Hamlets Building 
Regulations Charging Scheme made under the Building (Local Authority 
Charges) Regulations 2010. 

 
 
3. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1 The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 authorise local 

authorities to fix by means of a charges scheme for and in connection with the 
performance of their functions relating to building regulations. 

 

Agenda Item 6.7

Page 189



 
BCChargesReportdraftv12DG0608100630am0.doc 

 

3.2 This report seeks to establish a scheme and the means to ensure that this is 
regularly reviewed and updated to ensure costs associated with the function 
are fully recovered.  

 
 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 The fixing of a charges scheme is mandatory.  The Regulations specify the 

basis on which charges may be determined.  For reasons set out in the 
report it is considered that the proposed scheme best complies with the 
requirements of the Regulations. 

 
 
5. BACKGROUND 
 
5.1 Local Authorities have been authorised to set down scales of fees for the 

performance of their building control functions since the 1st April 1999. 
 In 2009, the Government published a consultation paper ‘Proposed Changes 

to the Local Authority Building Control Charging Regime’ which took into 
account the responses received to the previous consultation paper ‘The 
Future of Building Control’. 

 
5.2 Following responses to the consultations, The Building (Local Authority 

Charges) Regulations 2010 were laid before Parliament on the 25th February 
2010 and came into force on the 1st April 2010.  The Council is obliged to 
make a new charging scheme under the regulations by the 1st October 2010. 

 
 
6. BODY OF REPORT 
 
6.1 The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 1998, which came into force 

on the 1st April 1999, for the first time required each local authority to prepare a 
scheme fixing charges for the performance of their building control functions 
aimed at recovering the cost of the service. The Tower Hamlets Building 
Regulations Charges Scheme No.1 was made on the 1st April 1999, and 
subsequent amending charges schemes have been made since then. 

 
6.2 The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 extend the devolution 

of building regulation charge setting to local authorities and introduce more 
flexibility and discretion to enable local authorities to relate their charges to the 
actual costs of carrying out their main building regulation functions.  

 
6.4 A new overriding accounting objective requires local authorities to ensure that 

“taking one financial year with another” their charges income as nearly as 
possible equates to the costs incurred by the authority in carrying out their 
chargeable functions and providing chargeable advice, i.e. to breakeven and 
achieve full cost recovery. 

 
6.5 The regulations also provide that local authorities are required to set out the 

accounting treatment of income, costs and any surplus income or deficit in an 

Page 190



 
BCChargesReportdraftv12DG0608100630am0.doc 

 

annual financial statement to be approved by the appropriate local authority 
officer with the necessary financial authority prior to publication.  Local 
authorities must calculate their charges by relating the average hourly rate of 
building control officers to the time spent carrying out their building control 
services in relation to particular building work or building work of particular 
descriptions. The regulations also provide for an increased number of factors 
which local authorities can take into account in determining the estimated time to 
be spent on their building control services. 

 
6.6 The Council will have the power to determine standard building regulation 

charges or individually assessed building regulation charges.  A charge can now 
be made for the giving of chargeable building regulation advice.  Where charges 
are made and the amount of work undertaken will be less than originally 
estimated, a refund will have to be made.  But, conversely, if more work is 
undertaken than originally estimated, a supplementary charge may be made. 

 
6.7 An individual determination can be made in all cases where there is no standard 

charge or, where one or more standard charges apply to the work, with the 
agreement of the applicant. 

 
6.8 The proposed Tower Hamlets Building Regulations Charging Scheme 2010 

made under the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 is shown 
in Appendix A.   The proposed Tower Hamlets Building Regulations Charging 
Scheme 2010 is based on the London District Surveyors Association Model 
Charging Scheme 2010, which has been adopted as a model scheme in 
London. 

 
6.9 The new charging scheme should result in fairer charges, helping to avoid under 

or over charging and the consequent deficits or surpluses arising there from.  
The regulations introduce more transparency into the building regulations 
charging regime to safeguard income.  The main effect will be to allow local 
authorities to more accurately relate their charges to the actual costs in carrying 
out their main building control functions for individual building projects. 

 
6.10 The building control function is subject to private sector competition in the form 

of Approved Inspectors and the new charges are set both to recover costs and 
in order to remain competitive thereby retaining market share. 

 
6.11 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) has 

produced an amended guidance document (Local Authority Building Control 
Accounting Guidance for England and Wales, 2010 edition) to support the new 
regulations and to isolate chargeable costs from other building control activities. 
The proposed Building Regulations Charging Scheme 2010 has been prepared 
based on the CIPFA guidance document. 

 
6.12 Cost recovery of all competitive activities is covered by the Building Control 

trading account.  All other non-competitive activities such as enforcement, 
dealing with dangerous structures; administering Approved Inspector regulations 
(all as set out in the CIPFA guidance document) are covered by the Building 
Control revenue account. 

Page 191



 
BCChargesReportdraftv12DG0608100630am0.doc 

 

 
 
 
7. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
7.1 This report seeks Cabinet approval to agree to the hourly rate to be adopted 

by the Building Control section in the calculation of its revised charging 
scheme. This revised scheme is due to come into effect from 1st October 
2010. The authority has a statutory duty under the Building (Local Authority 
Charges) Regulations 2010 to adopt the new legislation by this date. 

 
7.2 Under the 2010 Regulations, the authority is required to set an hourly rate 

which is to be used in the calculation of its charging scheme. Guidance on the 
calculation of this rate has been supplied by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and this has been utilised as necessary.  

 
7.3 The draft scheme of charges for which approval is sought is included in 

appendix A and this includes an hourly rate of £75.13 (point 15). 
 
7.4 The hourly rate will be incorporated into the calculation of the standard charges 

to be implemented from 1st October 2010 and will be inserted into the schedule 
(see appendix A) as necessary.  

 
7.5 Delegated approval is required by Cabinet to allow the Corporate Director of 

Development and Renewal to approve the standard charges tables in the 
proposed charges scheme and in addition to amend, revoke or replace any 
future London Borough of Tower Hamlets Building Regulations Charging 
Scheme made under the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010. 

 
7.6 The budgeted expenditure for the service for 2010/2011 on its trading account 

activity is set out below and is consistent with previous years: 
 
 Employees £1,164,473 
 Premises £139,189 
 Transport £38,152 
 Supplies & Services £138,402 
 Third Party Payments £488 
 Support Services £88,621 
 Total £1,569,325 
 
7.7 The 2010 Regulations allow the authority to build into the calculation of its 

hourly rate, an allowance to provide for any previous year surplus or deficits 
accrued. 

 
7.8 Following previous year on year surpluses, the service incurred a loss during 

the 2009/10 financial year. This is reported in Note 5 of the recently published 
annual accounts. After applying the previous accrued surpluses, the residual 
net deficit of £99,000 was funded from corporate balances and must be repaid 
as a first call against any future surpluses generated. 

 

Page 192



 
BCChargesReportdraftv12DG0608100630am0.doc 

 

7.9 It should be noted that the failure to break even or generate a surplus in 
2010/2011 will require a further movement on corporate balances which will 
need to be reflected in future fee planning estimates. 

 
7.10 The calculation of the 2010/2011 hourly rate (£75.13) has been calculated 

based on a total cost of £1,668.325 i.e. the budgeted expenditure of 
£1,569.325 shown above (paragraph 7.6) plus the required repayment of 
£99,000 to corporate balances.  

   
7.11 The Building Control service maintains a detailed activity based time recording 

system. Based on this, the total number of productive hours to be used in the 
calculation is 22,206. 

 
7.12 The hourly rate for use in the charging scheme has therefore been calculated 

as follows: 
 
 Target income level £1,668,325  (Paragraph 7.9) 
 Divided Productive Hours 22,206  (Paragraph 7.10) 
 
 Hourly Rate                                             £75.13 
 
7.13 The hourly rate of £75.13 will only be used to calculate the scheme of charges 

for Building Control for the trading account activity. There is expected to be no 
effect on the general fund budget arising from the implementation of the new 
regulations. 

 
7.14 The 2010 Regulations requires for an annual disclosure to be made by the 

Section 151 Officer (Director of Resources) setting out the expenditure and 
income received by the service in their trading activity and the treatment of any 
surplus of deficit accrued/incurred (paragraph 6.5). It is also expected that 
there will continue to be disclosure of the performance of the trading activity 
and revenue of the Building Control department in the Annual Statement of 
Accounts 2010. 

 
 
8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

(LEGAL SERVICES) 
 
8.1. Cabinet is asked to agree a new charging scheme for building charges (the 

Scheme). 
 
8.2. The Council is empowered to make a scheme to fix and recover charges by 

the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010, which commenced 
on 1 April 2010.  If Cabinet approves the Scheme, then the Council will have 
to publish the scheme not less than 7 days before the date on which it is to 
come into effect. 

 
8.3. The functions for which the Council may charge are prescribed in the 

Regulations and these are correctly reflected in the Scheme. 
 

Page 193



 
BCChargesReportdraftv12DG0608100630am0.doc 

 

8.4. The overriding principle expressed in the Regulations is that the income 
derived by the Council from charges should equate as nearly as possible to 
the costs incurred in performing the chargeable functions.  The Regulations 
specify that charges should be based on an hourly rate at which officer time 
will be charged and a number of specified factors.  The Scheme that has been 
prepared reflects these requirements. 

 
8.5. The Regulations prescribed provisions that schemes must contain in respect 

of payments, complaints, refunds and supplementary charges.  The Scheme 
is in accordance with these requirements. 

 
8.6. It is proposed that a delegation be made to the Corporate Director to amend, 

revoke or replace the Scheme.  This is permissible pursuant to section 14 of the 
Local Government Act 2000 and paragraph 3.5.1 of the Council’s Constitution. 

 
9. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 Regulation 4 of the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 

outlines the principles of the charging scheme in relation to building work solely 
required for disabled persons.  No building regulation charge can be authorised 
in relation to providing means of access solely to an existing dwelling occupied 
as a permanent residence by a disabled person or for the provision of facilities 
and accommodation (including the provision or extension of a room in limited 
circumstances) designed to secure the greater health, safety, welfare or 
convenience of such a disabled person.  

 
9.2 Similarly, no building regulation charge can be authorised in relation to an 

existing building to which members of the public are admitted in similar 
circumstances as stated above. 

 
9.3 The proposed charging scheme reflects the requirements in the Regulations 

and it is considered that the scheme is consistent with the Council’s positive 
equality duty in respect of persons with disabilities.  

 
9.4 The proposed scheme is based on the principle of cost recovery for individual 

projects thereby eliminating the potential differential impact associated with 
cross subsidy which is a feature of the current charges Regulations. 

 
 9.5 Building Control interacts with all parts of the community and provides a 

service that benefits all individuals that reside, visit or work as well as all 
businesses and organisations that trade or operate within the Borough. 
Service information is provided through the Council’s website and officers 
visiting site.  Duty officers are available to assist all service users to 
understand and achieve the minimum standards required by national building 
regulations. 

 
 
10. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
10.1 There are no sustainability implications   

Page 194



 
BCChargesReportdraftv12DG0608100630am0.doc 

 

 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 This scheme of charges has been formulated using historic data to ensure the 

full recovery of Building Control’s competitive costs on a year on year basis. 
 
11.2 The scheme will be reviewed quarterly and revised as often as is necessary to 

ensure that it continues to achieve cost recovery and to fulfil the requirements of 
the charges regulations.  

 
12. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 There are no crime and disorder reduction implications.  
  
13. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 
13.1 A published charges scheme and schedules together with guidance notes will 

enable customers to clearly understand the process and to make applications in 
a form that will maximise administrative and officer efficiency. 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
14. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix A – London Borough of Tower Hamlets Building Regulations 
Charging Scheme No1 2010 
 
 

 
 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 

List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
  

Brief description of “background papers” Name and telephone number of holder  
and address where open to inspection. 
 

CLG Consultation on Proposed Changes 
to the Local Authority Building Control 
Charging Regime 
 

Peter Hamilton 020 7364 5254 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 195



Page 196

This page is intentionally left blank



page 1 of 12                                                  Version 1 

APPENDIX A 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 BUILDING REGULATIONS CHARGING SCHEME  

No1 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 197



page 2 of 12                                                  Version 1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS  
 

The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 
 

BUILDING REGULATIONS CHARGING SCHEME No. 1 2010 
 
1. This scheme may be cited as the London Borough of Tower Hamlets Building 

Regulations Charging Scheme No. 1, 2010 (the Charging Scheme), and comes 
into effect on the 1 October 2010. 

 
2. This Charging Scheme is made under the Building (Local Authority Charges) 

Regulations, 2010 (the Charges Regulations). The Charging Scheme includes 
the following paragraphs and definitions and tables of standard charges and 
advice on assessed charges, as set out in Annexes A and B respectively, which 
are an integral part of it.  It may be advisable to read this Charging Scheme in 
conjunction with the Charges Regulations. 

 
3. The London Borough of Tower Hamlets (the Council) is authorised, subject to 

and in accordance with the Charges Regulations, to fix such charges as it may 
determine from time to time by means of its Charging Scheme for or in 
connection with the performance of its functions relating to building regulations 
(subject to the exception for building work solely required for disabled persons); 
and to recover those charges from relevant persons as provided by the Charges 
Regulations. 

 
4. The Council is authorised, subject to and in accordance with the Charges 

Regulations, to amend, revoke or replace any scheme which has been made by 
them in accordance with paragraph 2 above. 

 
5. The following definitions apply to this Charging Scheme and should be read in 

conjunction with the other paragraphs and tables which constitute the Charging 
Scheme: 

 
‘building’ means any permanent or temporary building but not any other kind of 
structure or erection, and a reference to a building includes a reference to part of 
a building. 
‘building notice’ means a notice given in accordance with regulations 
12(2)(A)(a)and 13 of the Building Regulations 2000 (as amended). 
‘building work’ means: 
(a) the erection or extension of a building; 
(b) the provision or extension of a controlled service or fitting in or in 

connection with a building; 
(c) the material alteration of a building, or a controlled service or fitting; 
(d) work required by building regulation 6 (requirements relating to material 

change of use); 
(e) the insertion of insulating material into the cavity wall of a building; 
(f) work involving the underpinning of a building; 
(g) work required by building regulation 4A (requirements relating to thermal 

elements); 
(h) work required by building regulation 4B (requirements relating to a 

change of energy status); 

Page 198



page 3 of 12                                                  Version 1 

(i) work required by building regulation 17D (consequential improvements to 
energy performance); 
‘chargeable function’ means a function relating to the following – 
(a) the passing or rejection of plans of proposed building work which has 

been deposited with the Council in accordance with section 16 of the 
Building Act 1984 (as amended). 

(b) the inspection of building work for which plans have been 
deposited with the Council in accordance with the Building 
Regulation 2000 (as amended) and with section 16 of the Building 
Act 1984 (as amended) 

(c) the consideration of a building notice which has been given to the 
Council in accordance with the Building Regulations 2000 (as 
amended) 

(d)  the consideration of building work reverting to the Council under 
the Building (Approved Inspectors etc.) Regulations 2000 (as 
amended) 

(e) the consideration of a regularisation application submitted to the 
Council under regulation 21 of the Building Regulations 2000 (as 
amended). 

‘chargeable advice’ is a charge made by the Council in relation to a request for 
building regulation advice as regards any particular case where such a charge is 
made in anticipation of the future exercise of their chargeable functions in relation 
to that case, save that no charge is made for the first hour of time spent by an 
officer of the Council in providing such chargeable advice. 
‘cost’ does not include any professional fees paid to an architect, quantity 
surveyor or any other person. 
‘dwelling’ includes a dwelling-house and a flat. 
‘dwelling-house’ does not include a flat or a building containing a flat. 
‘estimated cost’ in relation to the factors to be taken into account in estimating 
the time required by officers of the Council for performing a chargeable function 
or chargeable advice means the amount accepted by the Council as that which a 
person engaged in the business of carrying out building work would reasonably 
charge for carrying out the work in question, excluding value added tax and 
professional fees. 
‘financial year’ is the period of 12 months beginning with 1st. April. 
‘flat’ means a separate and self-contained premises constructed or adapted for 
use for residential purposes and forming part of a building from some other part 
of which it is divided horizontally. 
‘floor area of a building or extension’ is the total floor area calculated by 
reference to the finished internal faces of the walls enclosing the area, or, if at 
any point there is no enclosing wall, by reference to the outermost edge of the 
floor. 
‘relevant person’ means: 
(a) in relation to a plan charge, inspection charge, reversion charge or 

building notice charge, the person who carries out the building work or on 
whose behalf the building work is carried out; 

(b) in relation to a regularisation charge, the owner of the building; and 
(c) in relation to chargeable advice, any person requesting advice for which a 

charge may be made pursuant to the definition of ‘chargeable advice’ 
‘total floor area of a building’ is the total of the floor area of all the storeys which 
comprise that building. 

Page 199



page 4 of 12                                                  Version 1 

‘total floor area of an extension’ is the total of the floor areas of all the storeys in 
the extension. 

 
6. The Council has not fixed by means of its scheme, nor intends to recover a 

charge in relation to an existing dwelling which is, or is to be, occupied by a 
disabled person as a permanent residence; and where the whole of the building 
work in question is solely- 
 
(a) for the purpose of providing means of access for the disabled person by 

way of entrance or exit to or from the dwelling or any part of it, or  
(b) for the purpose of providing accommodation or facilities designed to secure 

the greater health, safety, welfare or convenience of the disabled person.  
 
7. The Council will only treat building work as falling within paragraph 6 (b) above, 

where it is satisfied that such work consists of- 
 
(a) the adaptation or extension of existing accommodation or an existing facility 

or the provision of alternative accommodation or an alternative facility 
where the existing accommodation or facility could not be used by the 
disabled person or could be used by the disabled person only with 
assistance; or  

(b) the provision of extension of a room which is or will be used solely- 
(i)  for the carrying out for the benefit of the disabled person of medical 

treatment which cannot reasonably be carried out in any other room in 
the dwelling, or 

(ii) for the storage of medical equipment for the use of the disabled 
person, or 

(iii) to provide sleeping accommodation for a carer where the disabled 
person requires 24-hour care. 

 
8. The Council has not fixed by means of its scheme, nor intends to recover a 

charge in relation to an existing building to which members of the public are 
admitted (whether on payment or otherwise); and where the whole of the building 
work in question is solely- 
 
(a) for the purpose of providing means of access for disabled persons by way of 

entrance or exit to or from the building or any part of it; or  
(b) for the provision of facilities designed to secure the greater health, safety, 

welfare or disabled persons. 
 

Note: ‘disabled person’ means a person who is within any of the descriptions of 
persons to whom Section 29(1) of the National Assistance Act 1948, as extended 
by virtue of Section 8(2) of the Mental Health Act 1959, applied but disregarding 
the amendments made by paragraph 11 of Schedule 13 to the Children Act 
1989.The words in section 8(2) of the Mental Health Act 1959 which extend the 
meaning of disabled person in section 29(1) of the National Assistance Act 1948, 
are prospectively repealed by the National Health Service and Community Care 
Act 1990, section 66(2), Schedule 10, as from a day to be appointed. 
 

9. The Council is authorised within its Charging Scheme to make a charge for or in 
connection with each of the following functions which it carries out- 

 

Page 200



page 5 of 12                                                  Version 1 

(a) the passing or rejection of plans of proposed building work deposited with 
the Council in accordance with Section 16 of the Building Act 1984 (as 
amended) ( referred to as a “plan charge”). 

(b) the inspection of building work for which plans have been deposited with 
the Council in accordance with the Building Regulations 2000 (as 
amended) and with Section 16 of the Building Act 1984 (as amended) ( 
referred to as an “inspection charge”). 

(c) the consideration of a building notice which has been given to the Council 
in accordance with the Building Regulations 2000 (as amended) (referred to 
as a “building notice charge”). 

(d) the consideration of building work reverting to the London Borough of 
Tower Hamlets  Council under the Building (Approved Inspectors etc.) 
Regulations 2000 (as amended) (referred to as a “reversion charge”) and. 

(e) the consideration of an application made to the Council under Building 
Regulation 21 (unauthorised building work) of the Building Regulations 
2000 (as amended) and the inspection of any building work to which the 
application relates (referred to as a “regularisation charge”). 

 
10. The Council is also authorised within its Charging Scheme to make a charge in 

relation to a request for advice as regards any particular case where such a 
charge is made in anticipation of the future exercise of its chargeable functions in 
relation to that case (referred to as “chargeable advice”); save that no charge is 
to be made for the first hour of time spent by an officer of the Council in providing 
such chargeable advice. 

 
11. The Council Charging Scheme has been fixed such that its objective is to ensure 

that, taking one financial year with another, the income to be derived by the 
Council from performing chargeable functions and providing chargeable advice 
(referred to as “chargeable income”) as nearly as possible equates to the costs 
incurred by the Council in performing chargeable functions and providing 
chargeable advice (referred to as “chargeable costs”).  At the end of the financial 
year within which the Council first made this Charging Scheme and of each 
subsequent financial year, the Council will conduct a review of the level of 
charges set out under this Charging Scheme for the purpose of achieving the 
Charging Scheme’s objective above. 

 
12. Immediately following the review of the level of charges, the Council will prepare 

a “building control statement” setting out as regards the financial year to which it 
relates, the chargeable costs, the chargeable income and the amount of any 
surplus or deficit.  Such “building control statement” will be approved by the 
Council’s Head of Resources and will be published not more than six months 
after the end of the financial year to which the statement relates. 

 
13. Each charge determined within the Council Charging Scheme has been related 

to the costs of providing building regulation services in relation to particular 
building work or building work of particular descriptions having regard to the 
objective outlined in paragraph 11 above.  Where this Charging Scheme is first 
made and takes effect at any time other than the beginning of a financial year, 
the Council will have regard to any estimated surplus or deficit arising for that 
part of the financial year for which its existing scheme made under the Building 
(Local Authority Charges) Regulations 1998 continues to have effect. 

 

Page 201



page 6 of 12                                                  Version 1 

14. The costs of providing Council building regulation services in relation to 
chargeable functions or chargeable advice will be calculated using the hourly rate 
at which the time of its officers will be charged in paragraph 15 and the factors 
paragraphs 17 and 18, in the manner specified in paragraphs 19 and following. 

 
15. The hourly rate of London Borough of  Tower Hamlets Council building regulation 

officers has been calculated as £75.13 /hr 
 
16. Where the Council considers it necessary to engage and incur the costs of a 

consultant to provide specialist advice or services in relation to a particular 
aspect of building work, those costs will be included in the determination of the 
charges referred to in this Charging Scheme. 

 
17. In calculating the costs and in estimating the time required by its officers for 

performing a chargeable function or providing chargeable advice (in relation to 
particular building work or building work of particular descriptions), both in 
relation to standard and assessed charges, the London Borough of  Tower 
Hamlets Council has taken or will take some or all of the following factors into 
account: 

 
(a) the existing use of a building, or the proposed use of the building after 

completion of the building work; 
(b) the different kinds of building work described in regulation 3(1)(a) to (i) of the 

Building Regulations 2000 (as amended). (see definition of ‘building work’ in 
paragraph 5 above); 

(c) the floor area of the building or extension. (see definitions of ‘floor area of a 
building or extension’, ‘total floor area of a building’ and ‘total floor area of an 
extension’ in paragraph 5 above); 

(d) the estimated duration of the building work and the anticipated number of 
inspections to be carried out. 

  
18. In calculating the costs and in estimating the time required by its officers for 

performing a chargeable function or providing chargeable advice (in relation to 
particular building work or building work of particular descriptions), in relation to 
assessed charges for individual projects, the Council will take some or all of the 
following additional factors into account in assessing the charges:  

 
(e) the estimated cost of the building work;  
(f) the nature of the design of the building work and whether innovative or high 

risk construction techniques are to be used; and 
(g) whether the person who intends to carry out part of the building work is a 

person named in a self-certification scheme or list of exemptions under 
schedule 2A of the Building Regulations  2000 (as amended); or is carrying 
out the descriptions of work where no building notice or deposit of full plans is 
required under schedule 2B of the Building Regulations 2000 (as amended)  
both as mentioned in building regulation 12(5), or is a person who is 
registered by the British Institute of Non-destructive Testing under regulation 
20B(4) of the Building Regulations 2000 (as amended); 

(h) whether in respect of the building work a notification has been made that 
design details approved by Robust Details Limited  are to be used as outlined 
in regulation 20A(4) of the Building Regulations 2000 (as amended); 

Page 202



page 7 of 12                                                  Version 1 

(i) whether an application or building notice is in respect of two or more buildings 
or building works all of which are substantially the same as each other; 

(j) whether an application or building notice is in respect of building work which 
is substantially the same as building work in respect of which plans have 
previously been deposited or building works inspected by the Council; 

(k) whether chargeable advice has been given which is likely to result in less 
time being taken by the Council to perform the chargeable function; and 

(l) whether it is necessary to engage and to incur the costs of a consultant to 
provide specialist advice or services in relation to a particular aspect of the 
building work. 

 
19. The Council has determined standard building regulation charges for building 

work or building work of particular descriptions.  These are set out in a schedule 
of standard charges listed in Annex A).  In preparing these, the Council has taken 
into account the hourly rate in paragraph 15 and the factors listed in paragraph 
17 above. 

 
20. Charges for work outside that covered by the standard charges in Annex A will 

be subject to an individual assessment. 
 
21. On receipt of a request for advice, an application or notice relating to particular 

building work, the Council in determining its building regulation charges by 
reference to an individual assessment of the charge to be made (see guidance 
on assessed charges in Annex A), will take into account the factors listed in 
paragraphs 17 and 18 above and such individually determined charges will be 
confirmed in writing specifying the amount of the charge and the factors which 
have been taken into account. 

 
22. No charge will be made for the first hour of an officer’s time in respect of 

chargeable building regulation advice given by such officer of the Council. 
 
23. Where in relation to a request from a relevant person, one or more standard 

charges would apply to the building work in question, the Council may, with the 
consent of the relevant person, determine the charge otherwise than by applying 
the standard charge or (in the case of two or more standard charges) 
aggregating the amounts of the standard charges; and if it does so, it will give the 
relevant person notice in writing specifying the amount of the charge and the 
factors which have been taken into account as listed in paragraphs 17  and 18 
above. 

 
24. Any plan charge (excluding exception for disabled persons under paragraphs 6, 

7 and 8 above) shall be payable when the plans of the building work are 
deposited with the Council but see also paragraph 35 below. 
 

25. Any inspection charge shall be payable on demand made after the Council carry 
out the first inspection in respect of which the charge is payable but see also 
paragraph 35 below. 

 
26. Any building notice charge shall be payable when the building notice is given to 

the Council but see also paragraph 35 below. 
 
27. Any reversion charge shall be payable for building work in relation to a building- 

Page 203



page 8 of 12                                                  Version 1 

(i) which has been substantially completed before plans are first deposited 
with the Council in accordance with regulation 20(2)(a)(i) of the Building 
(Approved Inspectors etc.) Regulations 2000 (as amended) 

(ii) in respect of which plans for further building work have been deposited 
with the Council in accordance with regulation 20(3) of the Building 
(Approved Inspectors etc.) Regulations 2000 (as amended), 

 
on the first occasion on which those plans have been deposited. 
 

28. Any regularisation charge shall be payable at the time of the application to the 
Council in accordance with regulation 21 (unauthorised building work) of the 
Building Regulations 2000 (as amended). 
 

29. Any charge for chargeable advice shall be payable on demand after the Council 
has given notice to the relevant person in writing specifying the amount to be 
charged and the factors which have been taken into account as listed in 
paragraphs 17 and 18 above. 

 
30. Any plan charge, inspection charge, building notice charge, reversion charge, 

regularisation charge and charge for chargeable advice is to be payable by the 
relevant person (see definition, paragraph 5 above). 
 

31. Any charge which is payable to the Council shall be paid together with an amount 
equal to any value added tax payable in respect of that charge. 

 
32. The building notice charge is equal to the plan charge plus the inspection charge 

for the corresponding building work using the tables of standard charges (Annex 
A). 

 
33. The reversion charge is individually determined. 
 
34. The regularisation charge is 25% greater than the plan charge plus the 

inspection charge for the corresponding building work using the tables of 
standard charges (Annex A). 

 
35. Any charge which is payable to the Council, for chargeable building regulation 

services or chargeable advice, may in a particular case, and with the agreement 
of the Council be paid in instalments of such amounts payable on such dates as 
may be specified by the Council.   All instalments must be paid to the Council 
before the completion of building work. 

 
36. There is no entitlement to a complete refund of any regularisation charge paid, if 

the Council, after incurring costs, subsequently cannot determine what work is 
required to comply with the relevant requirements. 

 
37. Where plans are deposited and no plan charge has been payable or agreed 

charges instalments have not been made, the plans are not considered as being 
deposited in accordance with building regulations for the purposes of section 16 
of the Building Act, 1984 (as amended). 

 

Page 204



page 9 of 12                                                  Version 1 

38. Where a building notice is given and no building notice charge has been payable 
or agreed charges instalments have not been made, the building notice is not 
considered as being valid in accordance with building regulations. 

 
39. Where an individual assessment of a plan charge or building notice charge has 

been made, (other than a standard charge) any individually assessed plan 
charge or building notice charge shall not be payable until such plan charge or 
building notice charge has been specified by the Council and confirmed in writing 
if such confirmation is provided later than the deposit of the plan or (as the case 
may be) the giving of the building notice.  

 
40. The Council is authorised to require the supply of any information where such 

information is necessary to determine any building regulation charge listed in 
paragraph 9 above. 

 
41. The Council operates, maintains and makes available on request, to any 

interested party, an appropriate complaints procedure regarding its building 
regulations services.  If a person is dissatisfied with the decision made relating to 
the determination of charges for building work and wishes to make a complaint, 
such complaint will be dealt with within the Council’s agreed complaint’s 
procedure.  In the first instance, such complaints should be addressed at a local 
level to: 

 
Head of Building Control 
Mulberry Place (AH) 
PO Box 55739 
5 Clove Crescent 
London 
E14 1BY 
T 020 7364 5254 
 

 
42. Where for any reason (except where the person by whom or on whose behalf 

plans were deposited fails to supply information necessary to meet the Council’s 
duty under section 16 of the Building Act, 1984) the Council do not give notice of 
passing or rejection of plans within the period required by Section 16 of the 
Building Act 1984 (as amended), any plan charge paid will be refunded. 
 

43. No refund will be given by the Council where the reason for not giving notice of 
passing or rejection of plans within the period required by section 16 of the 
Building Act, 1984 is due to the failure by the person by whom or on whose 
behalf the plans were deposited to supply information within a reasonable time, 
necessary to meet the Council’s duty under that section. 

 
44. Where the Council has determined a charge in relation to a chargeable function 

or chargeable advice, payment of the charge has been made to the Council and 
the actual amount of work required of an officer of the Council is less than that 
which was originally assessed, the Council (subject to paragraph 44 below) will 
make a refund in respect of the proportion of the charge relating to the excess 
payment. 

 

Page 205



page 10 of 12                                                  Version 1 

45. Where the Council has determined a charge in relation to a chargeable function 
or chargeable advice, payment of the charge has been made to the Council and 
the actual amount of work required of an officer of the Council is more than that 
which was originally estimated in the assessment, the Council (subject to 
paragraph 45 below) will raise a supplementary charge in respect of any 
additional work carried out its officer. 

 
46. In relation to the assessment of a refund or supplementary charge, the Council 

will discount one hour of an officer’s time from the calculation of the refund or, as 
the case may be, the supplementary charge. 

 
47. Where in respect of plans deposited with the Council under section 16 of the 

Building Act, 1984, the plan charge and inspection charge are to be aggregated 
for the purposes of calculating any refund or supplementary charge. 

 
48. The payment of any refund or request for a supplementary charge will be 

accompanied by a statement setting out the reason for the assessment and the 
calculation of the refund or supplementary charge. 

 
49. Contravention of any of the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 

and or the non- payment of any charge which becomes payable are not treated 
as offences under Section 35 of the Building Act 1984 (penalty for contravening 
building regulations) (as amended). 

 
50. The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 1998 are revoked by the 

Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010. 
 
51. The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Building Regulations Charges Scheme 

No.1 1999 [as amended] made under the Building (Local Authority Charges) 
regulations 1998, will continue to apply to building work within the London 
Borough of Tower Hamlets area for which plans were first deposited or a building 
notice was given or a reversion charge became payable, or a regularisation 
certificate application was made, before the 1st October 2010. 

 
52. Further information and advice concerning building regulation charges and the 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets Charging Scheme, can be obtained from 
 

 
Building Control 
Mulberry Place (AH) 
PO Box 55739 
5 Clove Crescent 
London 
E14 1BY 
T 020 7364 5254 

 
 

Signed……………………………………………………. 
 

 
 
Dated                                 2010. 

Page 206



page 11 of 12                                                  Version 1 

Annex A 
 

 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets Charges Scheme 2010 

With effect from 1 October 2010  
 

STANDARD CHARGES  
 
Standard charges includes works of drainage in connection with the erection or 
extension of a building or buildings, even where those works are commenced in 
advance of the plans for the building(s) being deposited.  
 
These standard charges have been set by the authority on the basis that the 
building work does not consist of, or include, innovative or high risk construction 
techniques (details available from the authority) and/or the duration of the 
building work from commencement to completion does not exceed 12 months.  
 
The charges have also been set on the basis that the design and building work is 
undertaken by a person or company that is competent to carry out the design and 
building work referred to in the standard charges tables, that they are 
undertaking. If not, the work may incur supplementary charges.  
 
If chargeable advice has been given in respect of any of the work detailed in these 
tables and this is likely to result in less time being taken by the authority then a 
reduction to the standard charge will be made.  
 
 
 

Insert Tables for all Standard Charges 
 
 
 
 
Note:  The above standard charges take into account the factors listed in paragraph 17 
above and relate to standard productive hourly rates based on an assessment of 
standard productive time for providing chargeable services.   
 
Where the Council has set a standard building regulation charge and the actual amount 
of work required of an officer of the Council is more than that which was originally 
determined and for which payment has been made, the Council will raise a 
supplementary charge in respect of any additional work carried out its officer.  The 
request for any supplementary charge will be accompanied by a statement setting out 
the reason for the assessment and the calculation of the supplementary charge 
necessary. Similarly, where the amount of work required of an officer is less than that 
which was estimated, and where payment has been made, the Council will refund an 
amount equal to the charge attributable to the work that was not required.  In either 
case, one hour of an officer’s time may be disregarded. 
 
 
 
 

INDIVIDUALLY DETERMINED CHARGES 

Page 207



page 12 of 12                                                  Version 1 

 
 

Individually determined building regulation charges on a project by project basis are to 
be applied in respect of full plans, inspections, building notices, reversion applications, 
and regularisation applications where standard charges do not apply.  The charges 
determined will be specified and confirmed in writing taking into account the factors 
listed in paragraphs 17 and 18 above. The charges may be increased or decreased 
depending on the assessment which will be specified and confirmed in writing. 
 
Individual assessment of chargeable building regulation advice, on a project-by-project 
basis when projects arise, will be determined before such advice is given.  The charge 
determined will be confirmed in writing taking into account the factors listed in 
paragraphs 17 and 18 above. The charge may be increased or decreased depending on 
the assessment which will be specified and confirmed in writing. 

 
 
Note: Where the Council has determined a building regulation charge, and the actual 
amount of work required of an officer of the Council is more than that which was 
originally determined and for which payment has been made, the Council will raise a 
supplementary charge in respect of any additional work carried out its officer.   
 
The request for any supplementary charge will be accompanied by a statement setting 
out the reason for the assessment and the calculation of the supplementary charge 
necessary.  
 
Similarly, where the amount of work required of an officer is less than that which was 
estimated, and where payment has been made, the Council will refund an amount equal 
to the charge attributable to the work that was not required.  In either case, one hour of 
an officer’s time may be disregarded. 

 

Page 208



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\1\AI00026193\EYSCapitalCabinetReport8Sept1020.do
c 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

Committee/Meeting: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
8 September 
2010 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted  
 
 

Report No: 
 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director, Children, Schools and 
Families 
 
Originating officer(s)  
Anne Canning, Service Head,  
Learning & Achievement.  
 

Title:  
 
Childcare Capital Projects  
 
Wards Affected: Bow West and Weavers   

 
 
Lead Member 
 

Cllr Shiria Khatun 

Community Plan Theme 
  

A Prosperous Community  

Strategic Priority 
 

Priority 3.1: Supporting excellent learning 
opportunities for all 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The report seeks Cabinet approval for two capital development projects as 

part of the Early Years Service Capital Funding (Childcare Quality and 
Access) programme 2008-11: Bow Wharf Montessori School (£400K) and 
Allen Gardens Nursery & Playgroup (£450K). 

 
2. DECISIONS REQUIRED 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 
2.1 Approve the award of a grant of £400,000 to Bow Wharf Montessori School 

to contribute to the conversion of a large warehouse into a 78-place day care 
and educational facility and 32-place playgroup. 

  
2.2 Approve the award of a grant of £450,000 to Allen Gardens Nursery & 

Playgroup to support the development of a disused caretaker’s house at 
Thomas Buxton School; to allow the setting to move from its current building, 
which is in a very poor state of repair.  

 
3. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1 Both of the projects have been selected by the Early Years Capital Funding 

Panel (comprising: the Childcare Sufficiency Manager and Childcare 
Development Manager from the Early Years Service and an independent 

Agenda Item 7.1

Page 209



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\1\AI00026193\EYSCapitalCabinetReport8Sept1020.do
c 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

representative of a private/ voluntary sector childcare provider) based on 
their strategic fit with the priorities of this capital funding programme. 

 
3.2 These projects are the final two major allocations of capital funding to be 

made from the Early Years Service Capital Funding  (Childcare Quality and 
Access) programme; all previously agreed allocations are detailed at 
Appendix 1- Early Years Service Capital Funding (Childcare Quality and 
Access) programme - Funding Allocations.  

 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 The report addresses the way in which options were considered by the Early 

Years Capital Funding Panel.  The selected projects are recommended on 
the basis that they meet the strategic priorities of the funding programme, 
offer value for money, support the borough’s duty to ensure sufficiency of 
quality childcare, and are viable for completion before the end of 2010/11. 

 
5. BACKGROUND 
 
5.1 This report advises members of two further projects that have been awarded 

funding through the Early Years Service Capital Funding (Childcare Quality 
and Access) programme.  

 
5.2 The Early Years Service Capital Funding (Childcare Quality and Access) 

programme is an allocation of capital funding (£1.57 m per year for three 
years, equating to a total allocation of £4.7m for 2008-11); that aims to: i) 
improve the quality of the environment in early years settings to support the 
delivery of the Early Years Foundation Stage, with a particular emphasis on 
improving play and physical activities; and ICT resources; ii) ensure all 
children, including disabled children are able to access provision, and iii) 
enable private, voluntary and independent providers to deliver the extension  
to the free offer for 3 and 4 year olds and to do so flexibly.  

 
5.3 The Council is limited in its discretion to award funding in line with the 

strategic priorities of the capital programme, within the allocated funding.  
 
5.4 All funding must be spent and all projects funded through this programme 

completed by March 2011.  
 
5.5 The Government expects that the majority of this capital grant should be 

used to improve the environment in private, voluntary and independent 
sector (PVI) early years and childcare settings; although spending on the 
maintained sector is not precluded.  

 
5.6 A global works estimate has already been adopted by Cabinet for this 

funding programme. Applications for funding are considered by the Early 
Years Capital Funding Panel, comprising: the Childcare Sufficiency Manager 
and Childcare Development Manager from the Early Years Service and an 
independent representative of a private or voluntary childcare provider. Once 

Page 210



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\1\AI00026193\EYSCapitalCabinetReport8Sept1020.do
c 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

these projects have been agreed they are then passed on for formal 
agreement either by the Corporate Director (projects awarded less than 
£250K funding) or by Cabinet (projects awarded more than £250K funding).  

 
5.7 Major capital funding allocations previously agreed by Cabinet have been 

included in the Children, Schools and Families Capital Programme report; 
please see Appendix 1- Early Years Capital Funding (Childcare Quality and 
Access) programme – Funding Allocations, for details of when these were 
agreed by Cabinet.  

 
5.8 From the commencement of the capital programme, the Business & Finance 

Officer with the Early Years Service has worked with childcare providers 
from the private, voluntary and independent sectors to identify potential 
capital development projects that fit with the strategic aims of the funding 
programme. Once projects were identified, the providers were supported in 
refining and developing their projects, incorporating ongoing feedback from 
the Funding Panel.   

 
5.9 The funding application process follows a grant-based model in that the 

provider will apply for either all or a proportion of the total costs of the 
project. The Funding Panel bases its decisions on the projects to award 
funding upon consideration of the following factors: the number of new 
childcare places that would be created as a result of the project; how 
essential the proposed building works are; whether the childcare provider is 
from the private or voluntary sector; other potential sources of funding 
available to the childcare provider; the childcare provider’s location and the 
impact upon other childcare settings within the local area; the affordability 
and quality of childcare provision; value for money; and the completion 
deadline and timescale.  

 
5.10 DfE is currently reviewing all capital allocations through the Sure Start Early 

Years and Childcare Grant in terms of projects that are committed and those 
that are not (uncommitted projects are where a contract has not been 
signed). These two projects are currently considered to be uncommitted 
although an appeal has been raised with DfE.  

 
5.11 Cabinet approval is being sought to ensure that should these projects be 

agreed by DfE, they will be able to be delivered by the March 2011 deadline. 
Should the projects not be approved by DfE, they will not progress.  

 
5.12 Once a project has been awarded funding, the delivery of the project by the 

provider is managed and overseen by the Early Years Service’s Business & 
Finance Officer. While the provider is not necessarily required to adhere to 
the Borough’s procurement rules; the provider is required to follow a clear 
and transparent procurement process, which ensures value for the money 
invested through competitive tendering by at least 3 contractors.  

 

Page 211



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\1\AI00026193\EYSCapitalCabinetReport8Sept1020.do
c 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

5.13 To date a total of £1,128,779 of the total funding has been spent, with a 
further £3,582,709 allocated to be spent by March 2011 (including the 
funding awarded to the two projects detailed in this report).  

 
 
6. BODY OF REPORT 
 
6.1 The following projects have been agreed by the Early Years Service Capital 

Funding Panel:  
 
6.2  Bow Wharf Montessori School – the project consists of the conversion of a 

large warehouse owned by British Waterways into a 78-place day care and 
educational facility for children aged three months to five years. In addition, 
there will three classes for 48 children aged six to eleven. This facility is a 
private facility, in order to ensure benefit for local families and those on lower 
incomes: 

 
ð 25% of the 78 full daycare places (19.5 places in total) are capped at £220 

per week (rising by 3% per annum) for 5 years after the launch of the 
provision. (This fee rate is based on benchmarking against the London 
average).  

 
ð A minimum of 50% of the 78 full daycare places (39 places) are reserved 

for use by Tower Hamlets residents only, for 5 years after the launch of the 
provision.  

  
The project will also create a new 32 place playgroup to benefit local 
residents, funded entirely through funding from the Department for Education.   
 

Total start-up costs = £788,582 
 

Bank Loan = up to £250,000 (the provider is entering into this loan 
arrangement, and it only affects the Council, in that the Council is not 
contributing funding for the total costs of the project.)  
Investor = £150,000 (Mark Payne) 
EYS Capital Funding requested = £400,000 
Total Funding secured = £800,000 

 
6.3  Allen Gardens Nursery & Playgroup – the nursery & playgroup has 

occupied a Parks building on the Allen Gardens site for a number of years 
following their relocation from another Council building.  

 
 Early Years has looked at the possible development of Allen Gardens Nursery 

& Playgroup’s current building, which is in a very poor state of repair. 
Remedial works to the building would not be cost effective and if the current 
site were to be used demolition and rebuild would be the only option.  

 
 However, Children, Schools and Families been advised that the land occupied 

by the current building is Public Open Space and redevelopment of this land 

Page 212



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\1\AI00026193\EYSCapitalCabinetReport8Sept1020.do
c 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

would not be an appropriate use and would lead to a disposal of public open 
space which is currently contrary to the Council’s Open Space Strategy.  

 
Early Years have, consequently, looked at other options for the nursery & 
playgroup. The best available is to develop a disused caretaker's house at 
Thomas Buxton School, next door to Allen Gardens.  

 
The anticipated cost of this development is £450,000; this would be fully 
funded through the capital grant. 

 
7. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
7.1 The recommendations involve the allocation of Early Years Capital monies 

that have already been agreed by Cabinet as part of the Children Schools 
and Families Capital Programme. The Bow Wharf scheme costs £0.400m 
and is expected to be completed before 31st March 2011.  The Allen 
Gardens scheme costs £0.450m and would only be able to proceed if the 
plan demonstrated that it could be completed by 31st March 2011.  This 
capital expenditure would be supported by government capital grant for Early 
Years and Childcare. Unspent grant at the end of March 2011 would be lost. 

 
 There are no additional revenue costs for the Allen Gardens Playgroup, as it 

is currently operational. The 32 place Bow Wharf playgroup will run 
alongside the day-care at Bow Wharf and will offer the Free Entitlement for 3 
and 4 Year Olds, 15 free hours of childcare per week for all 3 and 4 year 
olds for 38 weeks per year.  This is funded exclusively through the Early 
Years Single Funding Formula, which is a component of the Dedicated 
Schools Grant.   

 
8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 (LEGAL SERVICES) 
 
8.1 It is proposed that Cabinet agree capital estimates for two projects to provide 

early years provision in the form of day care, education and a play group. 
 
8.2 The Council has a duty under section 18 of the Children Act 1989 to provide 

appropriate day care within Tower Hamlets for children who are aged 5 or 
under and not yet attending school.  The Council has broad discretion as to 
how it gives effect to that duty. 

 
8.3 The Council has separate obligations under the Childcare Act 2006 to 

secure the provision of integrated early childhood services, sufficient 
childcare to enable parents to work or undertake education or training and 
free early years provision (childcare).  Childcare includes education and any 
other supervised activity. 

 
8.4 The Council is specifically empowered to enter into arrangements with 

providers of childcare that include financial assistance.  Where such 
arrangements are made, the Council is required under the Childcare Act 

Page 213



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\1\AI00026193\EYSCapitalCabinetReport8Sept1020.do
c 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

2006 to exercise its functions to ensure compliance by the provider with the 
requirements of the arrangement. 

 
8.5 The projects will have to be carried out consistently with the legislative 

framework established by the Children Act 1989 and the Childcare Act 2006.  
The Council will also have to comply with the conditions of any grant. 

 
8.6 The Local Government Act 1999 requires the Council as a best value 

authority to “make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the 
way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness”.  The process followed in respect of 
the Bow Wharf project appears to be appropriately competitive and 
consistent with the Council’s procurement procedures. 

 
8.7 The Allen Gardens project is dependent upon the chosen site being suitable 

for use as a nursery and playgroup, including by reference to planning law 
and any restrictions on the land.  There will be a need to investigate these 
matters, including by obtaining a title report. 

 
9. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 The successful implementation and delivery of the Early Years Service 

Capital Funding (Childcare Quality and Access) programme offers a key 
contribution under the ‘A Prosperous Community’ theme of the Tower 
Hamlets Community Plan.  

 
9.2 Improving the quality of childcare provision and facilities throughout the 

borough will support the creation of excellent learning opportunities for all by 
investing in the under 5’s whose development provides the best possible 
foundation for long term success.  

 
9.3 Unemployment levels in Tower Hamlets are higher than both the London 

and national averages, due mainly to a comparatively low level of basic skills 
but also because of a range of other factors which affect worklessness. The 
availability of accessible, quality childcare is seen as a key factor in 
supporting parents of very young children in developing their skills and in 
(re)entering the labour market, and ultimately as a means of addressing child 
poverty.  

 
9.4 The take-up of childcare by families from black and minority ethnic 

communities is noticeably lower in Tower Hamlets than the London and 
national averages. It is anticipated that a key impact of increasing the 
availability of accessible, quality childcare through the projects funded 
through the Early Years Service Capital Funding (Childcare Quality and 
Access) programme will be an increase in the take-up of the newly created 
places by families from black and minority ethnic groups.     

 

Page 214



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\1\AI00026193\EYSCapitalCabinetReport8Sept1020.do
c 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

9.5  Both projects are focused on increasing the capacity of provision and will 
incorporate mechanisms for ensuring that places are reserved for Tower 
Hamlets residents and those on lower incomes.  

 
 
 
10. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
10.1 The proposed capital projects aim to improve, enhance and preserve the 

quality of the facilities within which childcare is provided within the borough. 
Sustainability considerations will be incorporated, as far as possible, into all 
elements of the design and build processes and the materials used.  

 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 The individual projects will be closely monitored to ensure that programmes 

are completed on time and within the budget provision.    
 
12. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 There are no specific implications arising.  
 
13. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 
13.1 The capital works identified in the report will seek to improve energy 

efficiency and reduce ongoing maintenance.    
 
14. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 – Early Years Capital Funding (Childcare Quality and Access)   
  programme – Funding Allocations.  

 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

  
Brief description of “background papers” Name and telephone number of holder  

and address where open to inspection. 
 

None N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 215



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\1\AI00026193\EYSCapitalCabinetReport8Sept1020.do
c 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 – Early Years Capital Funding (Childcare Quality and Access) 
programme – Funding Allocations  
 
Completed Projects  

 
Provider 

 
Project Description  

Funding 
Allocated 

 
Approval Details  

Limehouse Arches  Expansion of capacity and 
improvement of outdoor play area. 

£509,100 Approved by Cabinet (over 
£250K) 3/11/08. 

My Nursery LLP  Creation of an outdoor play area and 
installation of signage.  

£49,942 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 16/12/08. 

Montessori on the 
Park  

Series of minor repairs and 
refurbishment.  

£20,033 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 16/12/08. 

Mile End Nursery 
& Playgroup  

Improve outdoor play area.  £7,260 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 16/12/08. 

Poplar Play Centre  Repairs and refurbishment.  £37,013 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 16/12/08. 

Precious Kids Day 
Nursery  

Installation of an intercom.  £6,015 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 16/12/08. 

Overland 
Children’s Centre  

Improvements to security and fencing.  £12,200 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 16/12/08. 

Island House 
Playgroup 

Development/ enhancement of 
outdoor play area.  

£67,541 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 16/12/08. 

Pillar Box Gardens 
Nursery  

General refurbishment of premises.  £12,651 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 16/12/08. 

The Nursery @ St 
Paul’s Church  

Replacement of roof and 
improvement/ enhancement of 
outdoor play area.  

£122,912 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 16/12/08. 

Pillar Box 
Montessori 
Nursery  

Refurbishment and remodelling of 
reception area.  

£25,000 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 21/4/09. 

Montefiore 
Children’s Centre/ 
Precious Kids 
Nursery  

General repairs and improvements to 
daycare area.  

£23,964 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 21/4/09. 

Weavers 
Adventure 
Playground  

Construction of an extension with age-
appropriate WC’s to allow use by 
under 5’s.  

£70,330 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 21/4/09. 

Scallywags 
Playgroup  

Improvement/ enhancement of 
outdoor play area.  

£49,582 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 21/4/09. 

Montessori on the 
Park  

Further series of general repairs and 
refurbishment.  

£30,666 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 21/8/09. 

Gatehouse School  Replacement of toilets.  £54,595 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 21/8/09. 

Lincoln & Burdett 
Children’s Centre  

To move the toilets in the crèche room 
and carry out some refurbishment 
works.  

£29,975 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 15/4/10. 

Page 216



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\1\AI00026193\EYSCapitalCabinetReport8Sept1020.do
c 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

 Completed Projects Sub-Total £1,128,779  
 
 
 
 
 
Committed Projects  

 
Provider 

 
Project Description  

Funding 
Allocated 

 
Approval Details 

Matchbox Day 
Nursery Ltd 

Creation of a new outdoor play area 
and expansion of the capacity of 
nursery.  

£330,406 Approved by Cabinet (over 
£250K) 3/11/08. 

Meath Gardens 
Children’s Centre  

Creation of a playgroup space within a 
new children’s centre.  

£228,500 Approved as part of overall 
Children’s Centre Phase 3 
project.  

Lincoln Hall 
Playgroup  

Construction of a transitional space 
and expansion of capacity.  

£381,313 Approved by Cabinet (over 
£250K) 7/7/10. 

Gatehouse School  Installation of a canopy on the roof 
which forms the outdoor play area.  

£39,671 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 15/4/10. 

Gatehouse School  Development/ enhancement of 
outdoor play area. 

£115,350 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 15/4/10. 

Mile End Nursery 
& Playgroup  

Refurbishment of toilets and creation 
of additional storage space.   

£13,225 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 12/7/10. 

Step-by-Step/ 
Wapping 
Children’s Centre  

Improvements to premises and 
development/ enhancement of 
outdoor area. 

£143,853 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 10/8/10. 

 Committed Projects Sub-Total  £1,252,318  
 
Contractually Uncommitted  

 
Provider 

 
Project Description  

Funding 
Allocated 

 
Approval Details 

Mudchute Nursery Expansion/ development and 
improvement of facilities.  

£590,750 Approved by Cabinet (over 
£250K) 7/7/10. 

Mile End 
Children’s Centre  

Creation of a playgroup space within a 
new children’s centre.  

£198,600 Approved as part of overall 
Children’s Centre Phase 3 
project. 

Vernon Playgroup  To develop and enhance the facilities 
in which the playgroup is based.  

£150,000 Project still in development- 
not yet approved.  

Wapping Playzone  Creation of a sensory garden. £20,800 Project still in development- 
not yet approved. 

Allen Gardens  To create new facilities within a site 
immediately adjacent to the provider’s 
current building.  

£350,000 Included in Cabinet Report 
8/9/10 (over £250K). 

Avebury Playgroup To improve and enhance the facilities, 
specifically focusing on the outdoor 
area.  

£75,000 Project still in development- 
not yet approved. 

Ranwell Playgroup  To enhance the outdoor play area that 
serves the playgroup.  

£25,000 Project still in development- 
not yet approved. 

Weavers Fields 
Community 
Nursery  

To expand the space available to the 
nursery by building into an unused 
corridor.  

£75,000 Approved on RCDA form 
(under £250K) 10/8/10. 

Headstart Nursery  To contribute to the fit out costs of a £150,000 Approved on RCDA form 

Page 217



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\1\AI00026193\EYSCapitalCabinetReport8Sept1020.do
c 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

new custom-built nursery with a 
capacity of 100 children.  

(under £250K) 10/8/10. 

Page 218



 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\9\1\AI00026193\EYSCapitalCabinetReport8Sept1020.do
c 
Report authors should insert the file name and path in the draft stages to regulate version control.  This will be removed 
from the final version by Democratic Services prior to the report being published in the agenda. 

 

 
Bow Wharf To contribute to the fitting out of a 

large unused warehouse building to 
create a new 78 place nursery. 

£400,000 Included in Cabinet Report 
8/9/10 (over £250K). 

Bethnal Green 
Montessori  

Improvement of the facilities to 
improve transition from indoors to 
outdoor area and development of 
outdoor play area.  

£100,000 Project still in development- 
not yet approved. 

 Contractually Uncommitted 
Projects Sub-Total  

£2,135,150  

 
 
Completed Projects  £1,128,779 
Committed Projects   £1,252,318 
Contractually Uncommitted  £2,135,150 
Total Allocated  £4,516,247 
  
Total Funding  £4,711,488 
Unallocated funding  £195,241 
 
With regard to the £195,241 unallocated funding, the following projects are on the 
reserve list:  
 

 
Provider 

 
Project Description  

Potential 
Funding  

Barkantine 
Community 
Nursery  

Extension to the baby room, new flooring and other 
improvements  
 

£50,000 
 
 

Bow Childcare  Development/ enhancement of outdoor play area  £40,000 
Pillar Box 
Montessori  

Redecoration and refurbishment of building  
 

£35,000 
 

Bigland Children's 
Centre  

Development of crèche’s outdoor area  
 

£50,000 
 

Matilda 
Community 
Nursery  

Replacement of windows and other refurbishment 
work. 
 

£35,000 
 

 Sub-Total £210,000 
 

Page 219



Page 220

This page is intentionally left blank



  

Committee/Meeting: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
8 September 
2010  

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted  
 
 

Report No: 
 

Report of:  
 
Acting Corporate Director, Children, 
Schools & Families 
 
Originating officer(s) Pat Watson, Head 
of Building Development  
 

Title:  
 
Culloden Primary School – Proposed 
Expansion 
 
Wards Affected: East India and Lansbury 

 
 
Lead Member 
 

Lead Member for Children, Schools & Families 

Community Plan Theme 
  

A Prosperous Community 

Strategic Priority 
 

Priority 3.1: Support lifelong learning opportunities 
for all 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report explains the background to the proposals and informs Cabinet of 

the consultation that has taken place to date.   The report recommends that 
statutory proposals are now published for the enlargement of the school.   

 
2.    DECISIONS REQUIRED 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 
2.1 Agree that statutory proposals may be published for the enlargement of 

Culloden Primary School to admit 90 pupils in each year from September 
2012. 

 
3.  REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1 Proposals have been developed to expand Culloden Primary School to assist in 

the LA’s programme to provide primary school places to meet growing local 
need.   Initial consultation on the proposals has been held.   Cabinet is asked to 
consider the proposed expansion, the response to the initial consultation and 
the recommendation that statutory proposals for the expansion should be 
published.   The publication of statutory proposals is required in order to 
implement this change to the school.   

 

Agenda Item 7.2

Page 221



  

4.  ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 In order to meet the rising need for school places, the Council has implemented 

a number of school expansion projects and continues to develop further 
schemes to meet need.   Longer term development plans for the borough 
include proposals for new primary schools.   However, further expansion 
proposals are needed to keep pace with the need, so taking no action would 
leave the Council at risk of being unable to discharge its statutory functions.   
The options for expansion have been considered having regard to the factors 
set out in paragraphs 6.8 to 6.11 of the report. 

 
5.  BACKGROUND 
 
5.1  Culloden Primary School is in Dee Street, E14.   At present it admits 60 pupils 

in each year group (2 forms of entry) and has a maximum capacity of 420 
pupils, plus two nursery classes.  There is a rising need for primary school 
places in the borough.   The greatest pressure for admission to primary 
schools is being experienced in the central and eastern areas of the borough.   
The Local Authority has to ensure that there are sufficient school places 
available to meet the needs of the population.   

5.2 A number of school sites have been investigated for their capacity to expand 
to accommodate more pupils.   Culloden School has been identified as having 
the potential to expand.   

5.3 Preliminary consultation has taken place on the proposal to expand the 
school.   The feedback from this consultation supported the proposals.   This 
report gives details of the consultation and the action that is now required to 
publish proposals formally. 

 
6.  BODY OF REPORT 
 

Decision-making on school expansion proposals 
6.1  There is a statutory framework for implementing certain alterations to schools, 

including enlargements, as in this case.   The requirements are included in the 
Education & Inspections Act 2006 with associated regulations.   For 
community schools, the Local Authority (LA) can propose certain alterations, 
including enlargements.    

6.2 The prescribed process requires a two stage consultation process.   The 
initial, pre-statutory consultation should provide information on the proposals 
and include a wide range of consultees.    The outcome of this stage is then 
considered and, if the LA agrees, statutory proposals are published for a 
specified period (usually four weeks).   After this period, the LA must consider 
any responses to the second consultation and decide whether or not to 
implement the proposals, or modify them in the light of the consultation.    

6.3 There is a right of appeal to the Schools Adjudicator for certain parties against 
the LA’s decision.     

6.4 The timetable for the process is shown in paragraph 6.29, taking into account 
the legal requirements of the consultation and decision-making process. 

Page 222



  

  THE NEED FOR ADDITIONAL PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES 

6.5 The LA keeps the need for additional school places under regular review to 
ensure that there are sufficient places to meet need.   Annual school roll 
information is used to project the need for places in future years.   The 
projection methodology takes into account the trend in school rolls, actual 
birth data and population projections.   This information is compared with data 
on the capacity of existing schools and the extent of unfilled places in schools 
in order to assess if additional capacity has to be planned for, or if there is 
excess capacity which can be reduced.    

6.6 In taking into account the anticipated scale of new residential development in 
the borough it has been clear for some time that new primary school places 
will be required.   The LA has been experiencing pressure on admission to 
Reception year particularly in the areas in the centre and east of the borough 
where new residential development has been taking place. 

 Current places available 

Reception  3161 

Total R-Y6 22127 

 

 January 2010 actual roll January 2013 projected roll 

Reception  3163 

 

3358 

Total R-Y6 20631 

 

22824 

 

6.7 The pattern for many years has been that reception and lower year groups in 
schools are filled at or near capacity and upper years tend to have some 
unfilled places.   This reflects some movement out of the borough by families 
as their children grow up.   However, the LA has to plan for meeting the 
numbers of children needing reception class places.    

IDENTIFICATION OF POTENTIAL SITES FOR EXPANSION 

6.8 The Local Development Framework indicated that some new primary schools 
are likely to be required, even after allowing for some schools which are not 
now completely full and that some schools could be expanded on their 
existing sites.   In managing the best use of its assets and the available 
finance, the LA has first considered which of the existing school sites could be 
expanded.  Proposals have been or are being implemented to expand 
Manorfield, Ben Jonson, Arnhem Wharf, Marner and Wellington Primary 
Schools.    

6.9 In identifying potential sites for expansion, the following factors have been 
considered: 

• the physical capacity of the existing site and buildings to be expanded; 

• the suitability of the site, including initial contact with planning; 

• the location of the school – is it in an area where the need is rising; 

Page 223



  

• the practical implications of the scheme – can it be implemented with an 
acceptable level of disruption to the school; 

6.10 In addition to the above factors, in taking the decision to proceed with the 
proposals at any site, the LA will consider the strength of the individual school, 
its popularity and success, and its capacity to adapt to the increase in size. 

6.11 Having regard to all these factors, expansion at Culloden School is considered 
the best option as set out below, particularly in view of the proposed new 
residential development around the Aberfeldy Estate.  

Culloden School  

6.12 The potential for Culloden School to expand was identified and some initial 
work to assess the proposal was carried out.   The governing body discussed 
the initial proposal and agreed to work with the LA to develop the proposal 
further and to consider the implications for the school and the neighbourhood.   
It is recognised that the proposals under development by Poplar HARCA for 
significant new residential development around the Aberfeldy Estate will lead 
to additional pupils seeking primary school places in the local area.   As 
Culloden School has been shown to have the site area to enable expansion, it 
is regarded as a suitable proposal to meet part of the rising demand for school 
places locally. 

6.13 The plans for the school include providing new classrooms and new multi-
purpose rooms, extra toilets and an additional nursery class.   The new 
extension will be two stories and a lift will be installed to allow access for 
people with disabilities. There will be enhanced staff facilities.    The school 
has a Deaf Support Base.  The scheme will not increase the number of 
children with this specific special educational need, but the new areas of the 
school will have acoustic treatment to allow the school to be fully inclusive.   
Because of the need to carefully plan the works to manage the impact on the 
running of the school, the works will be phased and planned in agreement 
with the Headteacher. 

6.14 The building scheme seeks to ensure that principles of sustainability are 
central to the design and this is reflected in the proposed use of materials.  
The whole scheme and construction method will fall within the requirements of 
BREEAM with the intention of seeking a minimum rating of good. 

6.15 The governing body has agreed to the scheme designed.    The governing 
body has responded positively to the proposal in recognising the benefits that 
the increased size will offer to the school.   The scheme will provide improved 
facilities for pupils and staff and the enhanced budget and staffing levels will 
allow greater curriculum flexibility and range of offer, and enhanced career 
prospects for staff in the larger school.   

6.16 The increased roll will take effect over 7 years as additional children are 
admitted.   This will allow the school to introduce management changes over 
time to accommodate the increase, eg. changes to lunchtime arrangements.   
The school also plans to develop the external play areas so that better use 
can be made of the available space and support the increase in numbers. 

Page 224



  

Financial Implications 

6.17 The project will be funded from future allocations of Basic Need funding from 
the Department for Education (DfE) and s. 106 contributions, to be confirmed.   
This funding is specifically for the provision of additional school places.    

6.18 A capital estimate for this scheme of £5.5m was adopted by Cabinet on 7 July 
2010.   The main expenditure will fall in the period of the next round of 
Department for Education (DfE) capital funding allocations.   However, due to 
the time taken to implement these projects, planning has to proceed at this 
stage in order to ensure that sufficient supply of primary school places can be 
achieved.   Any implications for proceeding with the scheme will be reviewed 
when allocations of capital funding for 2011/12 are known.   The programme 
assumes that the contract would not be entered into until spring 2011. 

6.19 Additional revenue funding will be provided to the school through the LA’s 
funding formula. 

Implementation of the Expansion 

6.20 It is proposed that the increase should take effect from the school year 
2012/13  subject to the approval of the statutory proposals.   This means that 
the first increased year group of 90 will be admitted in September 2012.    

6.21 It is proposed to admit the extra pupils to the school at reception year only 
until all year groups are full to three forms of entry.   This will mean that the 
school has time to gradually adapt to the increase in size and introduce any 
new management arrangements as the pupil numbers increase.   

CONSULTATION 

6.22 The initial consultation period was from 14 June to 23 July 2010.  The 
proposed building design was on display in the school for parents and children 
to see.  Pupils were consulted about the proposals.  A copy of the consultation 
paper issued is included as Appendix A.   The consultation paper was sent to: 
• all parents and carers of children now at Culloden School 
• all staff at Culloden School 
• all governors of Culloden School 
• all headteachers and chairs of governors of primary schools in Tower 

Hamlets 
• all councillors in Tower Hamlets 
• local MPs 
• the London Boroughs of Newham and Hackney 
• the London Diocesan Board for Schools and the Westminster Diocese 

Education Service 
• local trades unions 

6.23 Consultation meetings were held to discuss the proposals with parents. 

6.24 The overall response to the proposed expansion of the school was positive.   
The consultation paper included a form to return and the analysis of those 
returned is as follows: 

 

Received from For Against Not sure 

Page 225



  

Parents 47 2 3 

Staff 13   

Others 8 1  

6.25 Two parents’ meetings were held at the school.   The response from parents 
who attended these meetings was positive and they welcomed the proposal to 
invest in the school and generally saw this as something positive for their 
children.   At the parents’ meetings there were questions and discussion on a 
number of issues which were responded to by the LA officers and the 
headteacher in the meetings: 

• impact on the playground  

• how will the school be affected by the works on site 

These issues were also raised in comments on the returns noted above.   
Officers and the Headteacher will be carefully planning and managing works 
on site to ensure safety at all times.   The playground will be enhanced to 
ensure that the usable space is maximised and break periods managed to 
make the best use of space.  

The consultation that has been conducted complies with the requirements of 
the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2007 and the Secretary of State’s guidance on 
consultation. 

FURTHER ACTION NOW PROPOSED  

6.26 The outcome of the consultation has been reviewed and it is clear that there is 
support for the proposal in the local community.   Officers are continuing to 
work with the Headteacher and governing body to plan the details of the 
building works scheme and the implementation of the works.    

6.27 The Cabinet is recommended to agree to publication of statutory proposals for 
the expansion of Culloden School.  The statutory proposals will be published 
in East End Life and made available at the school.    Any comments or 
representations on the proposals should be submitted to the Council by the 
end of the four week period.    

6.28 As referred to above, after the statutory representation period, there will be a 
further report to Cabinet.  This will include details of any comments made 
during the representation period.   Cabinet will be asked to take account of 
these and the detail of the report in reaching a decision on whether to proceed 
to implement the proposals.  An appeal against the decision can be made to 
the Schools Adjudicator by the Roman Catholic or Church of England 
Diocese, or the governing body of the school concerned.  If the Council is 
unable to reach a decision on the proposals within two months of the end of 
the representation period, they have to be referred to the Schools Adjudicator.    

6.29 The timetable for the process is set out below: 

Initial consultation 14 June to 23 July 
2010 

Page 226



  

Cabinet receives a report on the consultation 
and decides on publishing formal statutory 
proposals 

8 September 2010  

Statutory proposals published with 4 weeks 
allowed for comments 

1 November to 26 
November 2010 

Cabinet meets to consider any comments from 
the 4 week period and, in the light of these, to 
decide on implementing the proposals as 
published or with any modification 

February 2011  

Building works commence Summer 2011 

Additional pupils admitted to Reception year September 2012 

 
7.  COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 

 Capital funding 

7.1 Cabinet in July 2010 agreed to adopt a preliminary capital estimate of £5.5m 
for the Culloden scheme.  As indicated in the previous Cabinet report, the 
source of funding for this scheme will be dependent on the amount of basic 
need capital agreed by the Department for Education in future years and the 
availability of Section 106 Planning Gain monies.  This is a priority expansion 
project which would have first call on any future schools capital monies that 
were available.  In the event of no future capital money being available for 
schools and no scope to reprioritise the CSF capital programme this project 
would not be able to continue.  The first £0.5m to be incurred in 2010/11 is 
being met from supported borrowing, but if the capital project does not take 
place, this expenditure would need to be written off to revenue.  It is expected 
that the DfE will have announced their capital allocations for local authorities 
before a final decision is needed on whether the expansion can take place (ie 
February 2011, following the consultation process). 

Revenue funding 

7.2 The school’s revenue budgets will be increased to reflect the increased size of 
the building and the rise in pupil numbers.   This funding is within the 
Dedicated Schools Grant which reflects increases in the total roll in the 
Borough. 

 
8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

(LEGAL SERVICES) 
 

8.1. Section 19 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 provides that where a 
local authority proposes to make prescribed alterations to a maintained 
school, it must publish its proposals.  The School Organisation (Prescribed 
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (“the 
Prescribed Alterations Regulations”) specify what alterations made by local 
authorities are prescribed alterations and specify the procedure to be followed 

Page 227



  

when publishing and determining such proposals.  The enlargement of a 
school’s premises so as to increase the school’s capacity by: (a) more than 30 
pupils; and (b) 25% or 200 pupils (whichever is the lesser) is a prescribed 
alteration.  The proposal here is to increase the total capacity of a community 
school by 50% (210 pupils) and so the proposal is prescribed and the 
procedure in the Prescribed Alterations Regulations must be followed. 

8.2. The Prescribed Alterations Regulations require the Council to follow a two 
stage process involving consultation prior to publication of a proposal, 
followed (assuming the Council wishes to proceed) by publication of the 
proposal.  The consultation must include prescribed persons.  The Council is 
required to have regard to the Secretary of State’s guidance as to consultation 
on proposals.  The guidance recommends that the consultation allows 
adequate time, provides sufficient information for those being consulted to 
form a considered view and makes clear how the views can be made known.  
Proposers must be able to demonstrate how they have taken into account the 
views expressed during the consultation in reaching any subsequent decision 
as to the publication of proposals.  The report states that consultation 
complies with the requirements of the Regulations and guidance and so the 
Council is in a position to determine whether to publish a proposal. 

8.3. The Prescribed Alterations Regulations prescribe what information must be 
specified in a proposal and how it should be publicised.  The proposal should 
be published within a reasonable timeframe following consultation so that it is 
informed by up to date feedback.  A statutory notice containing specified 
information and stating how complete copies of the proposals can be obtained 
must be published in a local newspaper, and also posted at the main entrance 
to the school (and all the entrances if there are more than one) and at some 
other conspicuous place in the area served by the school (eg. local library, 
community centre).  It is essential that the published notice complies with the 
statutory requirements as set out in the Regulations otherwise it may be 
judged invalid. 

 
9. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1. The Local Authority has a key role in planning service provision to ensure 

there are sufficient school places to meet local need.   The proposals to 
expand the school are part of this planning process to ensure access to 
education.    The works to the schools will include provision of a lift and 
improved accessibility and will thus have a positive effect in respect of 
equalities and diversity. 

9.2. Strategies to raise educational attainment, including ensuring sufficient school 
places, support students in a successful period of statutory education and 
then moving into employment 

 
10.  SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
10.1. The design of the building and materials proposed to be used have taken 

account of sustainability and energy efficiency.   Cladding products have been 
chosen that offer significant energy saving values; insulation products that 

Page 228



  

have an approved environmental profile; and timber from certified sustainable 
sources.   The aim will be to ensure the building is sustainable in its operation 
and raw energy usage, waste and effect on the environment.    

10.2. The design must comply with Building Regulations, Part L which has strict 
guidelines in respect of carbon emission levels and energy efficiency.   To 
conserve biodiversity it is also proposed to include a grassed sedum roof 
which it is hoped will encourage bird life and become a natural habitat for 
insects.  

 
11.  RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1. The project has a high capital value and close monitoring of the project 

through the preparatory stages is in place and will continue through 
implementation stages with appropriate, experienced project management 
resources.    If the proposals do not proceed, there will be a risk to be 
managed that some children will be without a school place local to their home. 

   
12.  CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1. There are no specific implications arising.  
  
13.  EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 
13.1. The Council is using its assets efficiently by seeking to extend and expand 

existing school sites to meet the needs of the rising school age population 
before acquiring land to build a new school 

14.  APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 – Consultation document 
 

 
_______________________________________________________ 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 

List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
  

Brief description of “background papers” Name and telephone number of holder  
and address where open to inspection. 
 

Results of consultation Pat Watson, 020 7364 4328 
 
  

Page 229



  

 

Page 230



 11

 
 

APPENDIX 1 
LB TOWER HAMLETS 

 
CONSULTATION ON PROPOSALS TO EXPAND 

CULLODEN PRIMARY SCHOOL 
 
 
Introduction 
 
In Tower Hamlets there is a rising school age population.  The Council has to 
ensure there are sufficient school places so that all resident children can 
attend school locally.   The Council considers that Culloden Primary School 
can be successfully developed to improve facilities and accommodate 
additional places and this paper is published for consultation on this proposal. 
 
Consultation Process 
 
This paper is being sent to: 

- all parents and carers of children now at Culloden School 
- all staff at Culloden School 
- all governors of Culloden School 
- all headteachers and chairs of governors of primary schools in Tower 

Hamlets 
- all councillors in Tower Hamlets 
- local MPs 
- the London Boroughs of Newham and Hackney 
- the London Diocesan Board for Schools and the Westminster Diocese 

Education Service 
- local trades unions 

 
This consultation period runs from 14 June to 23 July 2010.   A form is 
included at the end of this paper for the return of your views.   Two meetings 
for parents will be held at the school to hear about the proposals and let us 
know your views.  The meetings will be held on: 
 
21 June at 9.00 am 
23 June at 3.00 pm 
 
Why are more school places needed? 
 
In Tower Hamlets there has recently been considerable development to 
provide new homes and this is anticipated to continue for some time.   The 
London Mayor’s Plan proposed that 42,000 new homes would be built in 
Tower Hamlets over a period of about 15 years.  Approximately 3,000 new  

Page 231



 12

 
 
 
homes will be built each year in the next few years.   Although many of these 
homes will be occupied by people who already live in Tower Hamlets, it is 
clear that the population trend is rising and that the Council needs to plan for 
the services that the population will need, including schools. 
 
In spring term 2010 there were 21,600 children on roll of our primary schools 
and there is a total of 21,917 primary school places in the borough.   Our 
projections show that by 2012 the need for places will exceed the existing 
capacity.   This means that Council has to plan now to provide extra school 
places.   It is already the case that some children living in the eastern part of 
the borough are not able to gain admission to their nearest primary school 
and have to travel to other areas of the borough. 
 
The main areas where the need for school places is rising are in the central 
and eastern areas of the borough, including the Isle of Dogs.  These areas  
will benefit from a large amount of the new residential development.   In time, 
the projections of the increase in the school roll will require one or more new 
primary schools to be built.   However, because providing a new school is a 
very substantial investment, the Council has first considered if any of the 
existing schools could be expanded to take more children.  Where this is 
possible, this is a good use of the Council’s assets before the purchase of 
more land and building a new school is undertaken.    
 
Culloden School 
 
Culloden School is in an area of the borough where the school age population 
is rising.   The Council has considered the existing school site and buildings 
and, working with the headteacher and governing body, we have shown that it 
is possible to provide new accommodation and improvements to the existing 
school which will allow the size of the school to be increased. The Council 
considers this to be an exciting development opportunity for the school. 
 
Culloden is a successful school and the Council believes that the strong ethos 
and management of the school will enable the Headteacher and staff to 
effectively include the increased roll whilst maintaining the standards for all 
children and the character of the school which parents value.   The 
admissions criteria for the school will not change and so the children at the 
school will continue to be those who live in the local area.    
 
Expanding the school will bring additional resources to the school, so that the 
range of opportunities for children will be enhanced. In addition there will be 
more teaching and support staff and increased professional development 
opportunities for existing staff. 
 
 
The building plans for the school   
 
The building plans for the school to accommodate the increased roll have 
been drawn up in close cooperation with the Headteacher and governors.   
The building plans are on display in the school during the consultation period.    
 
 

Page 232



 13

 
 
 
 
The new building will provide new classrooms; multi-purpose rooms; SEN 
support spaces; extra toilets and deaf support rooms, with the space to hold a 
new audiology clinic. The size of the hall will be increased and there will be an 
extra nursery class. The new block will include a lift to allow access for people 
with disabilities. There will be a new office with a secure entrance lobby and 
enhanced staff facilities.  Because of the need to carefully plan the works to 
manage the impact on the running of the school, the works will be phased 
over a period of about 12 months. There will need to be some temporary 
decanting of classrooms during works.   This will be planned and managed 
closely with the Headteacher.   
 
The design of the expanded school has carefully considered the impact on the 
school’s playground and the valuable mature trees which we have aimed to 
maintain as far as possible.  The footprint of the new build areas has been 
kept to a minimum and the design aims to make better use of the existing 
outside areas so that there is more useful play area for children. The location 
and aspect of the new block will provide maximum natural light to all areas 
and is in the most energy efficient position because it is south facing.  It will 
have a heating and ventilation system that will rely heavily on renewable 
resources.  Existing areas of the school will not be refurbished unless they are 
directly affected by the works so this aims to keep the disruption to the rest of 
the school to the minimum possible. 
 
Size of the increase in roll  
 
The school now has 60 places in each year group with 2 nursery classes.   
Under the new proposals, there will be 90 places in each year and 3 nursery 
classes.   The total school roll over time will eventually be 630, plus the 
nursery classes.   There will be no change to the admissions arrangements to 
the school. 
 
How will the increase take effect 
 
The extra children will be admitted to the school in Reception year only, so 
that the full increase will arise after 7 years.   Additional children will not be 
admitted above the total of 60 for a year group where 60 was the original year 
group number.   (However, there may be admissions where there are 
vacancies in any year group).    The first additional children will be admitted in 
the school year from September 2012. 
 
Effect on children now at the school 
 
The increase in roll will happen over a 7 year period which will allow the 
school to gradually absorb the changes.  The children now on roll of the 
school will be in the school during the building works to create the new space.   
Very careful planning is continuing by the Authority and the Headteacher to 
ensure that the disruption to school life is kept to the minimum possible.   The 
construction work will be planned with the highest priority given to the safety 
of everyone at the school.    
 
 

Page 233



 14

 
 
 
 
 
Deaf Support Base 
 
The number of places in the DSB will not be increased as part of the 
expansion proposals.   However, the design for all the new areas will allow the 
full use of the teaching areas by all children at the school.    
 
 
Other expansion proposals in the area 
 
The Council is considering other options for schools where it may be possible 
to expand.  Consultation on proposals will take place as they are developed.   
The eastern part of the borough is one of the areas where the highest levels 
of new housing are anticipated and it is likely that a new primary school will 
eventually be built. 
 
Timing 
 
This consultation runs from 14 June to 23 July 2010.   The timetable for 
consultation and taking decisions following this stage of consultation is: 
 
 

Initial consultation 14 June to 23 July 2010 

The Council’s Cabinet receives a report on the 
consultation and decides on publishing formal 
statutory proposals 

8 September 2010  

Statutory proposals published with 4 weeks 
allowed for comments 

1 November to 26 
November 2010  

The Council’s Cabinet meets to consider any 
comments from the 4 week period and, in the 
light of these, to decide on implementing the 
proposals as published or with any modification 

February 2011  

Major building works commence Summer 2011 

Additional pupils admitted to Reception year September 2012 

 
Next steps  
 
During this current consultation period, the Council wants to hear from as 
many people as possible.   Please let us know your views by completing and 
returning the form on the next page.   
 
There will be parents’ meetings at the school on 21 June at 9.00 am and 
on 23 June at 3.00 pm – we hope as many parents as possible will be 
able to come to one of the meetings to hear about the proposals and let 
the Council know your views. 

Page 234



 15

 
 
 
 
CULLODEN PRIMARY SCHOOL  
 
CONSULTATION ON THE PROPOSED EXPANSION OF CULLODEN 
SCHOOL 

 

 Please tick as 
appropriate 

I agree with the proposal to expand the school o 

  
I do not agree with the proposal to expand the school o 
  
I am not sure o 
  
 

Other comments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NAME  

PARENT, GOVERNOR, 
OTHER (please state) 

 

DATE  

 

Please return this page by 23 July 2010 to: 
The school administration office; or 
Pat Watson, Head of Building Development, Children’s Services, Town Hall, 
Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG, or 
e-mail to: pat.watson@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
    

 

Page 235



Page 236

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

 
 
 
 
 
 
Committee/Meeting: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
8 September 
2010  

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted  
 
 

Report No: 
 

Report of:  
 
Acting Corporate Director, Children, 
Schools & Families 
 
Originating officer(s) Pat Watson, Head 
of Building Development  
 

Title:  
 
Thomas Buxton Infant and Junior 
Schools – Proposed Amalgamation 
 
Wards Affected: Weavers 

 
 
Lead Member 
 

Lead Member for Children, Schools & Families 

Community Plan Theme 
  

A Prosperous Community 

Strategic Priority 
 

Priority 3.1: Support lifelong learning opportunities 
for all 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report explains the background to the proposals and informs 

Cabinet of the consultation that has taken place to date.   The report 
recommends that statutory proposals are now published for the 
amalgamation of the schools.   

 
2.    DECISIONS REQUIRED 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to:- 
2.1 Agree that statutory proposals should be published both for the closure 

of Thomas Buxton Junior School from 31 March 2011 and the change 
of age range of Thomas Buxton Infant School from 1 April 2011 in 
order to implement the amalgamation of the existing Thomas Buxton 
Infant and Junior Schools. 

 
3.  REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1 The LA has held consultation with the governing bodes, parents and 

staff of both schools.   The proposal has been put forward to benefit the 
leadership and management of the schools and the effect this will have 
on teaching and learning for the children.  Cabinet is asked to consider 
the proposed amalgamation, the response to the initial consultation and 
the recommendation that statutory proposals should be published.   The 
publication of statutory proposals is required in order to implement this 
change to the school. 

 

Agenda Item 7.3

Page 237



 2

 
 
 
 
 
4.  ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 This proposal relates to this school only.   The benefits of amalgamation 

are set out below and proposals of this kind have previously been 
implemented successfully for other schools.   Taking no action would put 
at risk the success of the school and the educational outcomes for the 
children. 

 
5.  BACKGROUND 
 
5.1 Thomas Buxton Infant and Junior Schools occupy the same site in 

Buxton Street, E1.   There are 60 places in each year group across the 
two schools, and two nursery classes.    The Headship of the Junior 
School had been vacant for some time when the Headship of the Infant 
School also became vacant.   By agreement with the governing bodies, 
a substantive appointment was made of one Head of both schools from 
January 2010.  This has already brought benefits in the two schools 
working together. 

5.2 Preliminary consultation has taken place on the proposal to 
amalgamate the two schools into a single all-through primary school.   
The feedback from this consultation supported the proposals.   This 
report gives details of the consultation and the action that is now 
required to publish proposals formally. 

 
6.  BODY OF REPORT 
 

Decision-making on school expansion proposals 
6.1  There is a statutory framework for implementing certain alterations to 

schools.  The requirements are included in the Education & Inspections 
Act 2006 and regulations made under that Act.   For community 
schools, the Local Authority (LA) can propose discontinuance and 
prescribed alterations.    Prescribed alterations include a change in the 
upper age limit of a school.     

6.2 Prescribed alterations require a two stage consultation process.   The 
initial, pre-statutory consultation should provide information on the 
proposals and include a wide range of consultees.    The outcome of 
this stage is then considered and, if the LA agrees, statutory proposals 
are published for a specified period, in this case 6 weeks.  After this 
period, the LA must consider any responses to the second consultation 
and decide whether or not to implement the proposals, or modify them 
in the light of the consultation.    

6.3 There is a right of appeal to the Schools Adjudicator for certain parties 
against the LA’s decision.     

6.4 The timetable for the process is shown in paragraph 6.23 taking into 
account the legal requirements of the consultation and decision-making 
process 

 

Page 238



 3

 

 

 

 

6.5 In order to achieve the amalgamation, the formal process for the 
statutory proposals will require simultaneous proposals to discontinue 
the Junior School and extend the age range of the Infant School.   The 
published proposals will state that the two proposals are dependent, 
i.e. one will not be implemented without the other.   

  Benefits of amalgamating Thomas Buxton Infant & Junior Schools 

6.6 The LA has put forward proposals for the amalgamation because it 
recognises there are clear education benefits.   The need for primary 
places in the Borough continues to rise and therefore the LA has no 
justification for considering closure of the schools.    The amalgamation 
proposal will not reduce existing places or create additional places.    

6.7 The benefits include: 

- better opportunities for recruiting good staff, including Headteachers 
and other senior leaders.  The LA has experience of the difficulties 
of recruiting good Headteachers to smaller schools.   Research 
shows that the quality of the Headteacher and staff is critical to a 
school’s success; 

- a larger school allows better opportunities to retain staff as there are 
more opportunities for career progression and additional 
responsibilities within the school; 

- better continuity of curriculum between the Key Stages 1 and 2.  
There will be one set of plans and linked schemes of work which will 
smooth children’s progression through the school and help raise 
standards; 

- a larger school is able to use its financial resources more flexibly 
and can more easily afford to pay for teachers to have additional 
responsibilities; 

- no need for arrangements for children to transfer schools at age 7. 

6.8 If the proposals go ahead, there will be no changes to the current 
admission criteria for the schools and all children now on roll will 
remain on roll.    

Financial Implications 

6.9 If the schools are amalgamated, there will be minimal impact on the 
revenue budget.  The school will continue to be funded from the DSG 
(Dedicated Schools Grant) according to its size. 

6.10 There may be a need for minor capital funding in order to carry out 
some accommodation alterations to support the amalgamation (eg. 
alterations to create a single main entrance).   This will be considered 
further with the Headteacher and programmed at a later date as 
required. 

 

 

 

Page 239



 4

 

 

 

Implementation of the Amalgamation 

6.11 It is proposed that the amalgamation should take effect from 1 April 
2011.    The amalgamation will have no impact on children now on roll 
of the school. 

 

CONSULTATION 

6.12 The initial consultation period was held in May 2010.  Parents, staff and 
children were consulted.  A copy of the consultation paper issued is 
included as Appendix A.   The consultation paper was sent to: 
• all parents and carers of children now at Thomas Buxton Infant and 

Junior Schools  
• all staff at Thomas Buxton Infant and Junior Schools  
• all governors of Thomas Buxton Infant and Junior  Schools 

6.13 Consultation meetings were held at the school to discuss the proposals 
with parents and staff. 

6.14 The overall response to the proposed amalgamation of the schools was 
positive.   The consultation paper included a form to return and the 
analysis of those returned is as follows: 

 

Thomas Buxton Infant School 

Received from For Against Not sure 

Parents 60 10 4 

Staff 7 1  

Thomas Buxton Junior School 

Received from For Against Not sure 

Parents 30 6 2 

Staff 12   

6.15 Two parents’ meetings were held at the school.   The response from 
parents who attended these meetings was positive and they welcomed 
the proposal.  At the parents’ meetings there were questions and 
discussion on a number of issues which were responded to by the LA 
officers and the headteacher in the meetings.    These principally 
related to matters about the management of the school and any impact 
on the process on the education of children now on roll.    Where 
concerns about amalgamation were expressed by parents, these 
principally related to the possibility of any adverse impact on children 
now on the roll of the school.   The Headteacher and LA responded to 
these matters by setting out the benefits of amalgamation (addressed 
in paragraph 6.6 and following of this report) and the positive 
experience elsewhere. 

6.16 The consultation that has been conducted is in accordance with the 
requirements of the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to 
Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 and the Secretary of  

Page 240



 5

 

 

 

 

State’s guidance on consultation.  There is some continuing 
consultation required to complete compliance with the Regulations.  
This will be concluded prior to the Cabinet meeting and, if necessary, 
an addendum provided on the results of that consultation. 

Impact on staff 

6.17 It is not envisaged that there will be any significant impact on staff now 
employed at each school.   There are existing vacancies in the senior 
management and a decision on amalgamating the schools will allow a 
revised structure to be developed. 

Arrangements for the governing bodies 

6.18 If statutory proposals are agreed to be implemented, arrangements will 
be made with the governing bodies for an interim governing body to 
work with the headteacher from the end of the Autumn term 2010.   
The new governing body will be in place for the date of implementation, 
subject to the outcome of the statutory proposals process. 

FURTHER ACTION NOW PROPOSED  

6.19 The outcome of the consultation has been reviewed and it is clear that 
there is support for the proposal.  Officers are continuing to work with 
the Headteacher and governing bodies to plan for the transition to the 
amalgamated school.   

6.20 The Cabinet is recommended to agree to publication of statutory 
proposals for the closure of Thomas Buxton Junior School and the 
simultaneous change of the age range of Thomas Buxton Infant School 
to include children up to the age of 11 years.  The statutory proposals 
will be published in East End Life and made available at the schools.    
Any comments or representations on the proposals should be 
submitted to the Council by the end of the six week period.    

6.21 As referred to above, after the statutory representation period, there will 
be a further report to Cabinet.  This will include details of any 
comments made during the representation period.   Cabinet will be 
asked to take account of these and the detail of the report in reaching a 
decision on whether to proceed to implement the proposals.  An appeal 
against the decision can be made to the Schools Adjudicator by the 
Roman Catholic or Church of England Diocese, or the governing body 
of the school concerned.  If the Council is unable to reach a decision on 
the proposals within two months of the end of the representation 
period, they have to be referred to the Schools Adjudicator.    

6.22 The timetable for the process is set out below: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 241



 6

 

 

 

 

Initial consultation May 2010  

Cabinet receives a report on the consultation 
and decides on publishing formal statutory 
proposals 

8 September 2010  

Statutory proposals published with 6 weeks 
allowed for comments 

1 November to 10 
December 2010 

Cabinet meets to consider any comments from 
the 4 week period and, in the light of these, to 
decide on implementing the proposals as 
published or with any modification 

February 2011  

Amalgamation takes effect 1 April 2011 

 
7.  COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
7.1 The school’s revenue budgets will be increased to reflect the increased 

size of the building and the rise in pupil numbers.   This funding is 
within the Dedicated Schools Grant which reflects increases in the total 
roll in the Borough. 

7.2 The report does not identify any specific capital works that arise from 
this amalgamation, but it does indicate that some minor works may 
need to be prioritised within the CSF programme and will be funded 
from available capital resources. 

 
8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

(LEGAL SERVICES) 
 

8.1. The report proposes discontinuance of Thomas Buxton Junior School 
and consequent change in upper age limit of Thomas Buxton Infant 
School. 

8.2. The report correctly identifies that the Council may bring forward such 
proposals as the local education authority, but must comply with the 
requirements specified in Part 2 of the Education and Inspections Act 
2006, Schedule 2 to the Act and regulations made under the Act.  The 
School Organisation (Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2007 (“the Discontinuance Regulations”) govern 
the proposed discontinuance.  The School Organisation (Prescribed 
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (“the 
Prescribed Alterations Regulations”), govern the proposed change in 
upper age limit 

8.3. In respect of both the discontinuance and the change in age limit, the 
Council is required to publish its proposals.  In respect of the change in 
age limit, the Prescribed Alterations Regulations require the Council to 
follow a two stage proposal.  This is set out in the report.  The Council  

Page 242



 7

 

 

 

 

must be able to demonstrate how it has taken into account the views 
expressed during the initial consultation before taking a decision to 
publish a formal proposal.  The report states that consultation complies 
with the requirements of the Regulations and guidance and so the 
Council is in a position to determine whether to publish a proposal. 

8.4. The Discontinuance Regulations and the Prescribed Alterations 
Regulations prescribe what information must be specified in, 
respectively, the discontinuance proposal and the change in age limit 
proposal.  They also specify how the proposals should be publicised.  
Statutory notices containing specified information and stating how 
complete copies of the proposals can be obtained must be published in 
a local newspaper, and also posted at the main entrance to the school 
(and all the entrances if there are more than one) and at some other 
conspicuous place in the area served by the school (eg. local library, 
community centre).  It is essential that the published notices comply 
with the statutory requirements as set out in the Regulations otherwise 
the may be judged invalid. 

8.5. The statutory scheme prescribes how proposals may be determined by 
the Council after consultation and officers will need to take advice to 
ensure that these are correctly followed. 

 
9. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1. The Local Authority has a key role in securing effective and successful 

schools.   This proposal is put forward to ensure the success of 
Thomas Buxton School and sustain educational achievement. 

9.2. Strategies to raise educational attainment, including ensuring sufficient 
school places, support students in a successful period of statutory 
education and then moving into employment 

 
10.  SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
10.1. There are no specific proposals arising from this report.   
 
11.  RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1. The timetable for implementation of the amalgamation will be managed 

with the Headteacher and governing bodies to ensure that it is 
effectively dealt with. 

   
12.  CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1. There are no specific implications arising.  
 
 
 

Page 243



 8

 
 
  
13.  EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 
13.1. The LA is seeking to ensure efficient organisation of local services by 

proposing the amalgamation. 
 
14.  APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 – Consultation document 
 

 
 

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

 
Brief description of “background 
papers” 

Name and telephone number of 
holder  
and address where open to 
inspection. 
 

Results of consultation  Pat Watson 020 7364 4328 
 
  
 

 

Page 244



 9

  
 

APPENDIX 1 
 

THOMAS BUXTON INFANT AND JUNIOR SCHOOLS 
 
CONSULTATION WITH PARENTS ABOUT PROPOSALS TO 
AMALGAMATE THE SCHOOLS 
Summer Term 2010 
 
What is being proposed? 
 

1. Tower Hamlets Local Authority (LA) and the Governors of the Infant 
and Junior schools are considering amalgamating them.  That 
would mean that in the future the schools would become one 
school, with Lorraine Flanagan as Headteacher and one governing 
body rather than the current two. 

 
2. Before the LA and Governors go ahead they want to know what you 

think. 
 
3.  Details about the proposals and how you can make your voice 

heard are set out below. 
 
When might all this happen? 
 

4. Amalgamating schools takes quite a long time.  The earliest it could 
happen is January 2011 so there is plenty of time to discuss the 
proposal with you thoroughly before decisions are taken. 

 
5. The consultation process has two stages.  This first stage asks for 

views, mainly from parents, staff and governors of the two schools.  
Depending on the outcome of that consultation the LA will decide 
whether or not to go ahead with the second, formal stage.  If at this 
stage the governing bodies of both schools decided that they did 
not want to amalgamate, it is very unlikely that the LA would go 
ahead with the proposal. 

 
6. If it is decided to go ahead, the second, formal stage will probably 

take place during the autumn term next year.  During that time 
anyone can object to the proposal and details about how they can 
do that will be available at the schools and in the local press.   After 
that, the Council’s Cabinet receives a report on the consultation and 
makes the final decision on the amalgamation going ahead. 

Why is amalgamation being proposed?  
 

7. The LA and Governors want the best education possible for your 
children.  We want both schools to be outstanding - it is what your 
children deserve. But as education changes it becomes more 
difficult to keep those standards high in smaller schools. 

8. The key to making both schools outstanding is the quality of the 
teachers and the Headteacher. 

9. Recruiting good quality teachers is harder when the range of 
experience in the school is limited to one key stage.  It limits their 
experience and makes it harder for them to develop their career.  

Page 245



 10

 
10. Now that Lorraine Flanagan has been appointed as head of both 

schools, the schools will be run in the same way, with the same 
policies, teaching and expectations. 

 
11. Larger schools have more flexibility in how they organise the 

school, use their money and staff to the greater benefit of all 
children.  They also do not have to spend time and energy on 
organising the transfer from one school to the other. 

 
12. Since the appointment of Lorraine Flanagan as head all staff have 

started to work together and collaborate to improve things for all 
children.  As parents you will already have seen the benefits of 
working with one head, although the two schools remain separate. 

 
13. Parents on the other hand in general like small schools particularly 

for very young children.  They like the intimacy.  Tower Hamlets 
believes that the size of school proposed strikes the right balance 
between keeping that personal contact whilst creating an institution 
that is large enough to attract good staff, benefits from economies 
of scale and avoids the distraction of transfer at age seven. 

 
How big would the new school be? 

 
14. The new school would be for 420 pupils plus nursery.  On paper 

that is twice as big as either of the current schools and might sound 
really big to some of you.  In practice of course it is exactly the 
same size as the two schools are now in total.  Those of you with 
children in both schools will already be familiar with a school of this 
size.  The new school will occupy the same buildings as now.  The 
only difference will be that as well as one Headteacher there will be 
one governing body. These arrangements are much simpler and 
clearer to parents. 

 
15. The schools are not full. The planned admission number (i.e. the 

maximum number of places offered each year for both schools is 60 
with 2 nursery classes.  The January rolls of the school for the last 
four years have been: 

 
 Places 2007 2008 2009 2010 
Infant incl. nursery 232 211 210 214 236 
Infant Yr R to Yr 2 180 159 158 208 193 
Junior 240 202 194 196 196 

 
 

16. There are no proposals to alter the size of the school.  The planned 
admission number for the amalgamated school would also be 60 
with 2 nursery classes.  The LA believes that there is and will be 
sufficient demand for places in the area to justify maintaining the 
size of the school.  It believes that as a stronger, well led all through 
primary school it will attract more pupils and in the medium term will 
fill to or much nearer to its capacity. 

 
Will my child still have a place at the school? 

 

Page 246



 11

 
 
 
17. Absolutely yes.  Every child at the schools when amalgamation 

happens is guaranteed a place in the amalgamated school.  There 
are no exceptions. 

 
Will it be harder for me to get my child into the school? 
 

18. The answer is no. 
 
19. The maximum number of children to be admitted each year, 60, will 

be exactly the same as it is now.  The rules about who gets priority 
if more than 60 applications are made remain exactly the same.  
The special rules about admission to a nursery class place stay 
exactly the same as will the special arrangements for moving from 
the nursery class to year Reception. 

 
20. However transfer from year 2 to year 3 will become simpler and 

more certain if the schools amalgamate.  At the moment 
transferring from the infant school to the junior school is actually not 
automatic.  To date all year 2 pupils who have wanted a place in the 
junior school have got one.  That is because the schools are not 
quite full.  If redevelopments in the local area boost numbers as is 
predicted that may not always be the case and a few parents of 
children in the infant school may find that they cannot get their child 
into the junior school.  If this proposal is agreed that problem 
disappears and moving from year 2 to year 3 will become automatic 
and no different from moving from say year 1 to year 2. 

 
Will my child see the same people at school? 

 
21. The simple answer is yes. 

 
22. Your child will go to school with the same children as they go to 

school with now. 
 

23. Of course some pupils, teachers and other staff leave each year 
and new people join the school but amalgamation of it will not 
change that.  This is because the number of staff needed depends 
mainly on the number of children and amalgamation makes no 
difference to that total number. 

 
24. The number of office staff is not directly related to pupil numbers.  

But the two schools are already sharing some of these staff.  So the 
numbers are already related to the total volume of administrative 
work.  It is unlikely that amalgamation will change the need for 
administrative staff.  The existing arrangements for cleaners and 
the premises manager will remain in place.    

25. Although the detailed staffing arrangements will be for the 
governors of the amalgamated school the expectation is that 
amalgamation will make no difference to who the adults are that 
your child will see.  Those relationships will continue just as they do 
now from one year to the next. 

 

Page 247



 12

 
 
 
 
How much money will the Council save? 
 

26. This proposal is not about saving money or closing buildings or 
anything like that.  It is about securing the highest educational 
standards for your children into the future.     

 
27. If anything amalgamation is likely to cost the LA something in the 

short term because some alterations to the buildings are likely to be 
necessary.  For example, it is likely that the school office will need 
some work as the office organisation and reception arrangements 
change to reflect one school.  The staffroom too may need 
relocating to allow all the teachers and classroom support staff to 
come together.  But the LA believes that this would be a good 
investment for the future. 

 
28. How schools are funded is complicated.  In the short to medium 

term there will be no financial loss to the schools by amalgamating.  
In the long term however there may well be a change because the 
schools will no longer get extra funding because they are “small”.  
However as an amalgamated school they will make savings due to 
their size. 

 
How would the change be made? 

 
29. Unfortunately the law makes the process quite complicated.  

Technically the LA has to close the junior school on one particular 
day and extend the age range of the infant school the next day.  
There is no risk to the education of the pupils or the employment of 
the staff.  The current schools cannot be closed or changed unless 
the amalgamated one opens and your child is guaranteed a place in 
that amalgamated school.  In practice your child will not be without 
a school or a school place at Thomas Buxton at any time during this 
process. 

    
30. There are two ways of arriving at amalgamation:  

• to close both schools and open a new one; or 
• close the Junior school and expand the age range of the 

Infant school.    
If this change is to go ahead, the LA would follow the second route. 

 
31. As parents and for your children it will make absolutely no 

difference which way it is done.  It will not make any difference to 
the LA either.  It will however affect the makeup of the new 
Governing Body and the LA intends to facilitate the process so that 
the Governing Body includes a range of Governors from both 
existing schools. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 248



 13

 
 
 
 
What disadvantages might there be? 
 
32. Proposals to make changes to schools sometimes cause concern 

to the school community.  Parents are concerned about disruption 
to their children’s education or getting into the new school; staff are 
concerned about their jobs and the effect on their careers; and 
everyone wonders what will happen to the money, school buildings 
and grounds.  We hope that the answers given to the questions 
about reassure you on all these points. 

 
Conclusion 
 
33. There is no denying that change always causes some anxiety.  

However the Governors and LA are persuaded at this stage that the 
short, medium and long term educational advantages set out above 
for amalgamation far outweigh any transitional difficulties.  It 
currently seems to them that the benefits of having a single school 
with one Headteacher and one governing body are: 

 
 33.1    parents are just as likely to get a place at Thomas Buxton as now 
and   
            every child currently at either school is guaranteed a place in the    
            amalgamated school; 

 
 33.2    amalgamation guarantees your child a place in years 3 to 6 which is 
                 not the case at the moment when they finish year 2 in the infant 
                 school; 
 
 33.3    amalgamation makes no difference to admission arrangements to 
the 
            nursery and reception; 
 
 33.4   a single school can provide better continuity of curriculum for both 
               Key Stages one and two.  It will have one set of plans and linked 
               schemes of work all of which will help smooth children’s progression 
               through the school and help raise standards; 
 
 33.5  it is easier to recruit good headteachers and other staff to all-through 
          primary schools.  Research shows that the quality of the 
Headteacher 
          and staff is critical to a school’s success; 
 
 33.6  amalgamation will not change the number of teachers, classroom 
              support staff and dinner supervisors so your child will come into  
              contact with the same staff as before amalgamation; 
 
 33.7  children’s education will suffer minimal disruption when the change is 
          made amounting to no more than they experience from the usual 
          turnover of staff.  For those children moving from year 2 to year 3 the 
               disruption will in fact be much less; 
 

Page 249



 14

 
 
 
 33.8  the effect of the change on most staff will be positive or these will be 
          no change at all; 
 
 33.9   the financial and other assets of the school remain secure and a 
               larger school can use its bigger budgets more flexibly and can afford 
               to pay for teachers with additional curriculum responsibilities and     
               specialist skills.  In practice the school will seem no bigger than now.  
               It will use the same buildings etc as now. 
 

34.  This change is not about saving money.  There is no saving to the 
Council and any changes to the school’s funding will not happen for 
several years. 

 
35. If the schools are amalgamated, the LA will arrange works after 

consulting the Governors to help unify the school such as creating 
one staff room and one school office. 

 
36. The LA and Governors believe that this is the right time to discuss 

the change following the successful appointment of one, strong 
head for both schools. 

 
What you can do now 

 
37. Please take time to read this consultation paper and let us know 

your views by filling in the reply slip on the last page.  
 
What happens next? 

 
38. Come to a parents meeting to hear more about the proposal and let 

us hear your views.  There will be two meetings at the school on 
 

Wednesday, 28th April  
from 9am – 10am and again from 5pm – 6pm                            

 
39. At the meetings parents and governors will be able to discuss the 

proposals with the chairs of governors and LA officers. 
 
40. The views we hear during the consultation process will be 

considered by the governing bodies and reported to the Cabinet 
when it considers whether to proceed with the formal consultation to 
amalgamate. 

 

Page 250



 15

 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 
 
Possible Timetable 
 
A possible timetable for the consultation and implementation, if agreed is set 
out below.   
 
w/b19th April 2010 Informal Consultation starts 

 
1. 28th April 2010 9am – 10am 
2. 28th April 2010 5pm – 6pm 

Parents of the two schools meet and 
consider the proposal (2 meetings, 
one am the other pm – Monica to 
cover pm)  

4th May 2010 4pm – 5pm Joint staff meeting to consider 
proposal 

End of May Informal consultation ends 
 

July Report to Cabinet on outcomes of 
informal consultation. Cabinet to 
agree whether to move to formal 
consultation  

1st Sept Formal consultation starts. 
Consultation lasts for 6 weeks  
 

Mid October Formal consultation ends 
 

Nov Take outcomes of consultation to 
Cabinet. 
Decision made by Cabinet whether to 
amalgamate or not. 
 

December 
 

If amalgamation agreed, new interim  
Governing body established to lead 
the process to completion 

January 2011 Amalgamation complete and one 
school established. 
 

 

Page 251



 16

 
 
 
 
 

THOMAS BUXTON INFANT AND JUNIOR SCHOOLS 
 
CONSULTATION ON THE PROPOSED AMALGAMATION OF THOMAS 
BUXTON INFANT AND JUNIOR SCHOOLS 
 
 Please tick as 

appropriate 
 

I agree with the proposal to amalgamate the two 
schools. 

   

 
 

   

I do not agree with the proposal to amalgamate 
the two schools. 

   

 
 

   

I am not sure 
 

   

 
Other comments 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Name:________________________________________________________
__ 
 
Parent, Governors, 
Other (please 
state)_______________________________________________ 
 
 
Date:_________________________________________________________
_ 
 
 
Please return this slip by 28th May 2010 to: 
 
The school office 
  
 
   
 
 
  

 

Page 252



  

Committee/Meeting: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
8th September 
2010 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted 
 

 

Report No: 
 

Report of:  
Kevan Collins, 
Chief Executive 
 
Originating officer(s)  
David Sommerfeld,  
Scrutiny and Equalities Support Officer 
 

Title:  
Youth Offenders: Supporting Vulnerable 
Young People.  Report of the Scrutiny 
Working Group 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 
Lead Member 
 

Cllr Shiria Khatun and Cllr Abdal Ullah 

Community Plan Theme 
  

A Safe and Supportive Community 

Strategic Priority 
 

Tackling and preventing Crime 
Focusing on early intervention 

 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1   This report submits the report and action plan in response to the 

recommendations of the Scrutiny Working Group review on Youth Offenders: 
Supporting Vulnerable Young People. The Working Group recommendations 
set out the areas requiring consideration and action by the Council and the 
Partnership to help prevent youth offending.   

 
2. DECISIONS REQUIRED 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 
2.1 Consider the report on Youth Offending as set out in Appendix A. 
 
2.2 Agree the response to the recommendations from the Working Group as set 

out in Appendix B noting that continuing consideration is to be given to the 
emerging policy changes and public sector funding decisions of the new 
Coalition Government that have been made since the agreement of these 
recommendations by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in April 2010.  

 
3. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1 It is consistent with the Constitution and the statutory framework for Cabinet 

to provide a response. 
 
3.2 In responding to the recommendations this report outlines how the issues 

raised will be taken forward by the Council   
 

Agenda Item 8.1

Page 253



  

4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 In responding to the recommendations full consideration has been given on 

how the recommendations can be incorporated to existing and future work 
streams.  

  
 It is essential to recognise that this review and its recommendations were 

developed before the election of the new Coalition Government and the 
announcement of significant reductions in public sector funding and 
emerging policy changes.  Therefore, the action plan will need to be 
reviewed in line with emerging government policy and given the financial 
constraints ensure that activities can be met within existing budgets.   

 
Any alternative response to the recommendations will be considered by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee as part of their recommendation tracking 
report every six months.      

 
5. BACKGROUND 
 
5.1 The Working Group was established in July 2009 by Councillor Denise 

Jones (at the time the Scrutiny Lead Member for a Safe and Supportive 
Community), to investigate the causes of youth crime, looking at what 
interventions are already in place to combat youth crime and what further 
work the Council could do to further reduce youth crime and lower youth re-
offending rates. 

 
5.2 The review had the following objectives: 

• The national agenda on youth crime and prevention; 
• Local monitoring and partnership arrangements and the respective 

roles of partners.  This included the consideration of local youth crime 
trends, along with any diversity issues that may be apparent; 

• Current preventative initiatives across the partnership; 
• Levels of health, the role of families and the links to youth offending; 
• Reasons why young people might be involved in crime and their views 

on preventative initiatives; 
• The support given to the most vulnerable young people in problematic 

and vulnerable families – particularly looking at the support given to 
vulnerable young people who have housing issues. 

 
5.3 To gather evidence the Working Group visited a Young Offenders Institute 

and a Youth Court.  They also undertook a number of interviews and focus 
groups with young people being supported by the Youth Offending Team 
and parents of young offenders.  In addition to this a number of evidence 
gathering sessions were held with key stakeholders such as the Police, the 
Youth Justice Board and the Youth Offending Team.  The evidence gathered 
has helped develop and inform the recommendations of this review. 

 
5.4 The resulting report and recommendations were agreed by the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee in April 2010 as attached in Appendix A.  An action 

Page 254



  

plan responding to these recommendations has been developed and 
attached in Appendix B.  

 
6. BODY OF REPORT 
 
6.1 The Working Group found that youth crime is a complex issue.  There is no 

one reason why a young person may get into crime, instead there are many 
reasons, some obvious and some not.  This is seen in the Youth Justice 
Board’s (YJB) findings, which show the many risk factors that could lead to a 
young person getting involved in crime, grouped into the four categories of 
family, school, community and personal.  Within these categories the risk 
factors stretch from poor housing to alienation.  The Working Group’s 
research showed that areas of particular importance for Tower Hamlets were 
resettlement of young offenders, re engagement of young people with the 
education system, support provided to families of young offenders and the 
provision of activities for young people.  The Working Group also found that 
to combat youth crime communication between organisations needed to be 
improved, training for officers outside of the Youth Offending Team (YOT) 
should be offered, questions over resources needed to be taken into 
account, continual benchmarking of best practice needed to happen and 
support needed to be provided to offenders transitioning from the youth 
justice to the adult justice systems. 

 
6.2 The Working Group’s recommendations include looking at ways to re-

engage young people with the education system and ensuring emergency 
accommodation is available for young people coming out of custody.  If 
engaged with education, the young person is less likely to offend and more 
likely to move away from crime as well as being more employable later on in 
life. 

 
6.3 The Working Group found that the YOT is a high performing team that 

provide an essential service.  They work extremely well with other partners, 
such as schools, Police and the YJB.  This partnership working has helped 
achieve impressive success with youth crime in the borough.  In interviews 
with young people the Working Group continued to come across evidence 
where the YOT’s intervention had helped to reduce the risk of young people 
offending or re-offending.  

 
7. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
7.1 This report describes the action plan in response to the recommendations of 

the Scrutiny Working Group review on Youth Offenders: Supporting 
Vulnerable Young People.  

 
7.2 The majority of the recommendations do not have any immediate financial 

implication except R10 around the possibility of number of work placement 
which could result in additional costs depending on number of work 
placement and the length of time of the placement.  The impact of R15 will 
require the YOT to reduce the programme in line with reduction in funding to 
maintain financial parity. 

Page 255



  

 
7.3 Other than matters raised in Para 7.2, there are no specific financial 

implications emanating from this report but in the event that the Council 
agrees further action in response to this report’s recommendations then 
officers will be obliged to seek the appropriate financial approval before 
further financial commitments are made. Also, the report recommends that 
that the Youth Offending Team reviews its existing funding given the 
constraints on future grant funding of the service. 

 
8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

(LEGAL SERVICES) 
 
8.1. The provision by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of reports and 

recommendations to the Executive in connection with the discharge of the 
Council’s executive and non-executive functions is consistent with Article 6 of 
the Council’s Constitution, in turn reflecting the requirements of section 21 of 
the Local Government Act 2000.  Cabinet should provide a response and one 
is proposed in the attached Action Plan. 

 
8.2. The report contains 17 recommendations relating to the delivery of services in 

respect of youth offenders and related matters.  The Council has a number of 
relevant statutory functions, including requirements under the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 to have and to implement strategies for the reduction of 
crime and disorder, for combating substance misuse and for the reduction of 
re-offending.  The Council is required under the same Act to have a youth 
offending team and to secure the provision of youth justice services in Tower 
Hamlets.  Other relevant functions may be found in the Education Acts. 

 
8.3. The recommendations set out in the report appear capable of being carried 

out within the Council’s statutory functions.  Whether or not each action is 
lawful will ultimately depend on the detail of how it is carried out and it will be 
for officers to ensure that legal advice is taken as appropriate and the 
recommendations are carried out lawfully.  For example, in respect of 
recommendation 6, the form of any support to be provided for an academy will 
need to be the subject of advice to ensure that it is consistent with the 
Council’s statutory functions. 

 
9. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 As this report deals with young people it only focuses on one section of the 

population. However, as youth crime often causes tensions between young 
people and other groups it affects all of our residents.  Therefore if these 
recommendations are adopted, they will help create a more cohesive 
community, and help distil the fear of young people as well as reduce crime.  
Furthermore, recommendations 1 – 10 will help to integrate young offenders 
into the wider, law abiding society and provide young people with 
opportunities to take charge of their future. 

 
9.2 It should also be noted that evidence gathered in this report show some 

concerning trends. For example, in 2008/09 Asian/Asian British young people 

Page 256



  

committed the highest proportion of offences that held a substantive outcome.  
While Black/Black British young people were over represented in the youth 
justice system compared to the proportion of Black/Black British make up of 
Tower Hamlet’s population as a whole.  As the recommendations aim to help 
all young offenders, it is hoped that these trends will also be addressed by the 
action plan.  

 
10. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
10.1 There are no direct environmental implications arising from this report.   
 
11. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
11.1 There are no direct risk management implications arising from this report. 
 
12. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 The recommendations of this report aim to reduce both the occurrence of 

youth crime and the re-offending of young offenders.  
  
13. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 
13.1 The damage caused by youth crime and the work needed to deal with crime 

brings with it a heavy financial cost.  If youth crime is reduced, as the 
recommendations propose, the Council will be able to save money on tackling 
crime in the future.  

 
14. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix A - Youth Offenders: Supporting Vulnerable Young People.  Report 
of the Scrutiny Working Group 
 
Appendix B – Action Plan and Response to Scrutiny Working Group Review, 
‘Youth Offenders: Supporting Vulnerable Young People’ 
 
 

 
_______________________________________________________ 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 

List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
  

No background papers were used in this 
report. 

David Sommerfeld x4454 

  
 
 

Page 257



 1 

Appendix A 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Working Group Report 
 

 
 
 
 

Youth Offenders: Supporting Vulnerable Young People 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The London Borough of Tower Hamlets Council 
March 2010 

 

Page 258



 2 

Contents 
 
          Page 
 
Acknowledgments        3 
 
Chair’s Forward        5 
 
Recommendations        7 
 
Introduction         9 
 
Background 
 National context       11 
  
 Local context        12 
 
 Youth offending in Tower Hamlets    13 
 
 Tower Hamlets Youth Justice Plan     14 
 
 Current preventative and supportive measures    15 
 
 Tower Hamlets’ YOT’s performance    16 
 
Findings 
 Resettlement of young offenders     18 
 
 Re engagement of young people with     19 

the Education system 
 
 Family support       22 
 
 Provision of activities      23 
 
 Communication       24 
 
 Training        24 
 

Resources        25 
 
Benchmarking       26 
 
Transition        26 

 
Conclusions        28 
 
Appendix 1 – The London Youth Resettlement Pledge  29 

Page 259



 3 

Acknowledgements  
 
The Working Group would like to thank HM Young Offenders’ Institution 
Huntercombe for giving them the opportunity to visit the Institution, the Pupil Referral 
Unit at the Harpley Centre to allow them to meet parents and the Thames Youth 
Magistrate Court for allowing them to see a youth court in action and meet court 
officials.  Much of what was learnt at these visits has informed this review.  The 
Working Group also wishes to thank all the young people and parents they 
interviewed and met in focus groups.  Their contribution has influenced many of the 
recommendations. 
 
Working Group Chair: 
 
Councillor Denise Jones Chair, Scrutiny Lead, Safe and Supportive 

Communities 
 
Working Group Members 
 
Councillor Carli Harper-Penman 
Councillor Motin Uz-Zaman 
Councillor Rajib Ahmed 
Councillor Abjol Miah 
Councillor Phil Briscoe 
Councillor Stephanie Eaton 
 
Co – Opted Member 
 
David Chesterton Local Resident, Magistrate, Chair of Advisory 

group for the Young Offenders Academy Project  
 
Other Councillors involved in the review 
 
Councillor Ann Jackson 
Councillor Dulal Uddin 
Councillor Abdul Aziz Sardar 
 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets’ Officers 
 
Mary Durkin     Service Head Youth and Community Learning 
Stuart Johnson     Head of Youth Offending Services 
Douglas Canning Operations Manager - Community Supervision 

Team 
Paul Hains    Resettlement and Aftercare Coordinator 
Peter Bullen Youth Offending Services Information Systems 

Manager 
Mohammed Shahazan  Youth Inclusion and Support Panel and Challenge 

and Support Manager 
Ian Suatt Education Coordinator and Youth Offender Team 

(YOT) Teacher 
Colin Cormack    Head of Homeless & Housing Advice Services  

Page 260



 4 

Jacqueline Rodney   Housing Options Officer 
 
Scrutiny and Equalities 
 
Michael Keating   Service Head Scrutiny and Equalities 
Afazul Hoque   Scrutiny Policy Manager 
David Sommerfeld   Scrutiny and Equalities Support Officer 
 
External Members 
 
Stephen Stachini Senior Performance Advisor, Youth Justice Board 
John Anthony   Youth Justice Board 
Jaswinder Manning   Youth Justice Board 
Chief Inspector Nigel Nottidge Safer Neighbourhoods Team, Metropolitan Police 
Sergeant Peter Grundy  Metropolitan Police 
Nasrine Matin Head of Offender Management Unit at HM Young 

Offenders' Institution Huntercombe 
Jo Easton Teacher at the Pupil Referral Unit at the Harpley 

Centre 
Jennifer Bracher Legal Team Manager (Youth) Thames Magistrate 

Court 

Page 261



 5 

Chair’s Forward 
 
Tower Hamlets Community Plan sets a vision to ‘improve the quality of life for 
everyone living and working in Tower Hamlets’.  

The theme of Safe and Supportive Communities, embedded in ‘One Tower Hamlets,’ 
is central to this vision. It is about creating a place where crime is rare and tackled 
effectively and where communities feel they can live in peace. It recognises that the 
most disadvantaged people are at risk of becoming perpetrators and victims of crime 
and calls for strong targeted support and intervention.  

The aim of this Review was to gather information from the Youth Justice Board, 
Youth Offending Team (YOT), the establishments young offenders are involved in 
(such as the Courts and Young Offending Institutions), and young people and 
parents to enable us to find out why young people in Tower Hamlets get involved in 
crime, how effective the national and local prevention schemes are and to see if we 
could come up with some suggestions that might make improvements.  

As this review developed it became clear that youth offending is complex.  The 
Scrutiny Members found that the majority of young people we interviewed had 
underachieved at school and had opted out of the education system. Many had 
housing problems and most had difficulty with anger management.  We believe that 
closer communications could be developed between local agencies, to ensure that 
families, schools, housing and health providers work together on the progress of 
young offenders. 

The Youth Justice Board point out that as the risk factors of youth offending overlap 
with educational underachievement, young parenthood and adolescent mental 
health problems, addressing them helps to tackle a number of negative outcomes 
and not only youth offending. This is why the 17 recommendations we make are so 
important.  These recommendations also cover a wide set of issues, as each new 
piece of evidence gained, uncovered further issues.  

We were impressed with the quality of the work carried out by the YOT, the YJB, the 
Young Offenders Institutions and the Youth Courts.  We were even more impressed 
by the clear dedication, and care shown by officers for the young people they were 
working with.  

I would like to thank all the young people and their parents who took part in this 
Review. We see this as a first attempt and would like to suggest the London Criminal 
Justice Board and Youth Justice Board could encourage other Boroughs to conduct 
a similar review. I would also like to thank all those listed above for giving their time 
and for making suggestions to improve the system.  

Page 262



 6 

I hope this Review will go some way towards changing systems for the better and 
that maybe, with effective cross-agency working, Tower Hamlets could one day 
become a safe and supportive place for young people.  

Cllr Denise Jones 
Scrutiny Lead, Safe and Supportive. 

Page 263



 7 

Recommendations 
 
Resettlement of young offenders 
 
R1 That the Children, Schools and Families Directorate sign up to the principles 

of the London Youth Resettlement Pledge. 
 
R2 That all young offenders who are at risk of becoming homeless are assessed 

by a housing officer prior to discharge. 
 
R3 That the Children, Schools and Families Directorate and the Housing service 

investigate the provision of additional emergency supported housing within 
Tower Hamlets for young people leaving custody, or appearing before the 
youth court and in need. 

 
Re engagement of young people with the Education system 
 
R4 That the Youth Offending Team maintains up to date data on the number of 

young people in the Youth Offending Team cohort with special educational 
needs. 

 
R5 That, in line with the Rose review, the Children, Schools and Families 

Directorate support schools so that all teachers are made aware of the 
difficulties of dyslexia and specialists teachers in each school are trained to 
recognise the symptoms of dyslexia. 

  
R6 That Cabinet consider supporting the UK Foyer Federation’s proposal to 

create a Young Offenders Academy in East London. 
  
Family support 
 
R7 That the Children, Schools and Families Directorate ensure that parenting 

courses are recommended as a matter of course to parents of young people 
who are entering the Youth Justice system.  

 
R8 That the Youth Offending Team develop exit strategies for families of young 

offenders, linking with targeted youth support and parenting support. 
 
Provision of activities 
 
R9 That the Children, Schools and Families Directorate use innovative methods 

of communication to publicise the activities and courses available through 
Youth Services. 

 
R10 That the Human Resources Team and Skillsmatch explore increasing the 

number of work experience placements, specifically targeting ex-offenders 
(linked with the Worklessness Scrutiny Review). 

 

Page 264



 8 

R11 That the Youth Offending Team discuss with CAMHS (Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services) the provision of anger management training for 
young offenders, as appropriate.  

 
Communication 
 
R12 That the Youth Offending Team and Social Care ensure there is good and 

appropriate communication between them and any Tower Hamlets young 
person placed in a Young Offenders Institution, Secure Training Centres or 
Secure Children’s Homes, whether on remand or sentence.  

 
Training 
 
R13 That the Children, Schools and Families Directorate ensure that as part of 

their basic training all social workers and youth workers are given introductory 
training in local systems for work with young people at risk of offending. 

  
Resources 
 
R14 That Cabinet lobbies Central Government and the Youth Justice Board to 

ensure Young Offenders Institutions are sufficiently funded to provide a full 
range of education, mental health and other support services, to facilitate 
each young offenders transition into responsible, law abiding adulthood. 

 
R15 That in preparation for a period of fiscal tightening the Youth Offending Team 

identifies and tracks all its current and anticipated funding. Many important 
programmes have at risk all or part of their funding. This situation requires 
close monitoring, particularly where partnerships are involved. 

 
Benchmarking 
 
R16 That the Youth Offending Team regularly benchmark against innovative youth 

offending schemes nationally and where appropriate internationally.   
 
Transition 
 
R17 That the Youth Offending Team ensures young offenders are supported 

during the transition from the youth justice to the adult justice system, 
providing full information to Probation services at the point of transfer. 

  
 

Page 265



 9 

Introduction 
 
1. In 2009/10 the Scrutiny Lead for Safe and Supportive Communities, Councillor 

Denise Jones, identified the challenges of youth offending and its impact on 
young people’s lives, aspirations and the wider community as the focus for a 
scrutiny review.  Youth crime is a concern for residents that continues to be 
raised with Councillors.  Neither the Council, nor the Police, can tackle youth 
offending alone; it requires a sophisticated partnership approach.  In addition to 
managing youth offending, it is important that there are interventions in place to 
prevent young people from offending both for their well being and to reduce the 
cost of addressing the aftermath. Crime, anti-social behaviour and the fear of 
crime pose risks to the harmony of communities and challenges community 
cohesion. It is therefore important to have systems in place to help young people 
resist being involved in crime and to support those who succumb to reduce the 
risks of re-offending.  

 
2. Tackling youth crime should not just be about enforcement and punishment or 

prevention and support as required by our regional partners. It should also be 
about listening to local people and developing local solutions with them. This 
review has been a useful opportunity to explore the reasons why local young 
people get involved in crime and what they think preventative measures should 
look like.  In involving both young people and their parents the Working Group 
have gained a better understanding of a young offender’s experience, allowing 
them to identify ways of improving support and intervention. 

 
3. The aims of the review were to find feasible solutions to preventing youth crime 

by looking at: 
• The national agenda on youth crime and prevention; 
• Local monitoring and partnership arrangements and respective roles of 

partners including consideration of local youth crime trends taking into 
consideration diversity issues; 

• Current preventative initiatives across the partnership; 
• Levels of health, the role of families and the links to youth offending; 
• Reasons why young people might be involved in crime and their views on 

preventative initiatives; 
• The support given to the most vulnerable young people in problematic 

and vulnerable families – young people and housing issues    
 
4. To achieve this aim the Working Group agreed the following work programme for 

the review: 
 

Introductory Meeting (November 2009) 
• Agree scoping document 
• The National and Local drivers behind youth offending  
• Young Offenders Academy Project, a new approach to young offenders 

in East London 
 

Page 266



 10 

Visits, Interviews and Focus Groups (October 2009 – February 2010)  
• Visit to Huntercombe Young Offenders Institute in Oxfordshire  
• Interviews with young people on the Intensive Supervision and 

Surveillance Programme (ISSP) 
• Focus group with young people referred to the Youth Inclusion and 

Support Panel (YISP) 
• Interviews with young people on the Resettlement and Aftercare 

Programme (RAP) 
• Focus group with parents of young offenders 
• Focus group with young people on the Triage Programme 
• Visit to Thames Youth Court 

 
Second Review Meeting (December 2009) 

• The Police’s perspective of youth offending 
• Tower Hamlets’ Youth Offending Team’s (YOT) performance  
• Trends of learning difficulties amongst young offenders  
• The current local preventative measures  

 
Third Review Meeting (January 2010) 

• Young offenders and housing  
• The London Youth Resettlement Pledge  
• Review of evidence and discussion of possible recommendations 

 
 

Page 267



 11 

Background 
 
National context 
 
5. The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 sets out measures to prevent offending, as 

part of the youth justice system.  The implementation of this aim is undertaken 
nationally through the Youth Justice Board (YJB) and locally through the Youth 
Offending Team (YOT). With the recent implementation of the Police & Justice 
Act 2006 councils now have powers to scrutinise crime and disorder 
partnerships. The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 also grants powers to review and scrutinise Local Area Agreements and 
the work of partner organisations signed up to targets within them. 

 
6. The YJB for England and Wales is an executive non-departmental public body. 

Its board members are appointed by the Secretary of State for Justice. The YJB 
oversees the youth justice system in England and Wales. It works to prevent 
offending and re-offending by children and young people under the age of 18, 
and to ensure that custody for them is safe, secure, and addresses the causes 
of their offending behaviour.  

 
7. An important part of the youth justice system is the YOT. Every local authority 

in England and Wales has a YOT and their work will involve working in 
partnership with the police, probation service, social services, health, 
education, drugs and alcohol misuse and housing officers. In addressing youth 
offending, YOTs are responsible for putting in place preventative initiatives. 
With key partners the YOT is required to produce an annual Youth Justice Plan 
setting out what youth offending looks like and local preventative measures to 
address the findings. 

 
8. The Government’s Youth Crime Action Plan 20081 is a cross-government 

action plan for tackling youth crime.  Recognising that the majority of young 
people are law abiding citizens, it sets out measures to tackle the issue. 
Enforcement and punishment where behaviour is unacceptable, non-negotiable 
support and challenge where it is needed are the foundations of its approach. 

 
9. The London Reducing Re-offending Action Plan sets out the commitment to 

address the needs of offenders and re-offenders against the backdrop of a 
growing national prison population. It sets out to improve the co-ordination of 
services for prisoners on release from custody which is likely to reduce the risks 
of re-offending.  It promotes better information sharing enabling better co-
ordination and has the potential to reduce costs and tackle social exclusion 
issues for the individual. Following on from the consultation on this, the 
Government has made a commitment to improve the resettlement of young 
offenders. A key part of this is to forge better links between housing and YOTs. 
Part of this would be a Youth Re-settlement Pledge, which aims to place 
children aged 16 and 17 years of age as children in need under the Children 

                                                 
 
 
1 ‘Youth Crime Action Plan 2008,’ HM Government, July 2008.  

Page 268



 12 

Act 1989. The potential negative impact of young people who cannot return to 
their parental home cannot be under-estimated. Recognising the vulnerability of 
children placed in bed and breakfast who then re-offend, the Youth 
Resettlement Pledge sets out to provide suitable accommodation which meets 
their needs.  

 
10. The YJB’s research has classified the risks factors of a young person becoming 

an offender within four different areas of family, school, community and 
personal.2  The risks factors are shown below: 

 
Risks factors for youth offending 
Family School Community Personal 
Poor parental 
supervision and 
discipline 
 
Conflict 
 
History of criminal 
activity 
 
Parental attitudes 
that condone anti-
social and 
criminal behaviour 
 
Low income 
 
Poor housing 

Low achievement 
beginning in 
primary school 
 
Aggressive 
behaviour 
(including bullying) 
 
Lack of 
commitment 
(including truancy) 
 
School 
disorganisation 

Living in a 
disadvantaged 
neighbourhood 
 
Disorganisation 
and neglect 
 
Availability of drugs 
 
High population 
turnover, and lack 
of neighbourhood 
Attachment 

Hyperactivity and 
impulsivity 
 
Low intelligence 
and cognitive 
impairment 
 
Alienation and lack 
of social 
commitment 
 
Attitudes that 
condone offending 
and drug misuse 
 
Early involvement 
in crime and drug 
misuse 
 
Friendships with 
peers involved in 
crime and drug 
misuse 

  
11. The YJB point out that as the risk factors of youth offending overlap with 

educational underachievement, young parenthood and adolescent mental 
health problems, addressing them helps to tackle a number of negative 
outcomes and not only youth offending. 

 
Local context 
 
12. The Community Plan for Tower Hamlets sets out the vision to ‘improve the 

quality of life for everyone living and working in Tower Hamlets’. The theme of 
Safe and Supportive Communities embedded in ‘One Tower Hamlets’ is central 

                                                 
 
 
2 ‘Risk and Protective Factors.’  Youth Justice Board, 2005. 

Page 269



 13 

to this review. It is about creating a place where crime is rare and tackled 
effectively and where communities feel they can live in peace. It recognises that 
the most disadvantaged people are highest at risk of becoming perpetrators 
and victims of crime; it calls for strong targeted support and intervention.  

 
13. Though Resident concerns about crime reduced from 55% in 2007/08 to 47% 

in 2008/093, it is still a key priority for residents. Another key concern for 
residents is anti-social behaviour, although there has been a significant 
reduction in the percentage of residents seeing anti-social behaviour as a 
problem from 2007/08 to 2008/09. Over 50% of residents say teenagers 
hanging around the streets, people using drugs and parents not taking 
responsibility for the behaviour of their children are key anti-social behaviour 
related issues of concern for them.  

 
14. According to the Office for National Statistics, the total population of Tower 

Hamlets was approximately 223,000 in 2005 and was characterised by youth 
and ethnic diversity.  28% of residents are aged 19 years or younger (National 
Statistics, 2005) and 76% of the school age population are from a minority ethnic 
group. GLA (2006) projections for Tower Hamlets demonstrates that the number 
of young people aged 5 to 19 is likely to increase by 2011. This makes Tower 
Hamlets a relatively young borough and has implications for service provision. It 
increases the risk and perceptions of young people being involved in youth 
offending activities and the management of this jointly with partners and parents 
is crucial. A growing young population in a borough ranked as the third most 
deprived could present further challenges in addressing youth offending. 

 
Youth offending in Tower Hamlets 
 
15. The four main offences in the last three years involving 10 to 17 year olds in 

Tower Hamlets have been violence against the person (204 offenders in 08/09, 
relating to 20.1% proportion of youth crime committed that year), drugs (153 
offenders in 08/09, relating to 15.1% of the proportion of youth crime committed 
that year), theft and handling (111 offenders in 08/09, relating to 10.9% of the 
proportion of youth crime committed that year) and public order offences (98 
offenders in 08/09, relating to 9.7% of the proportion of youth crime committed 
that year). There have also been high incidences of motor vehicle crime, 
robbery and criminal damage related offences. Although the numbers of 
offences with substantive outcomes, such as reprimand, final warnings or court 
sentences, have reduced from 1159 in 2006/07 to 1015 in 2008/09, such 
offences impact negatively on the 10 to 17 years olds who are involved and on 
the wider community.  

 
16. Table 1 shows offences in 2008/09 with a substantive outcome committed by 

young people broken down by ethnicity.4  The percentages in the table express 
what proportion of the overall number of offences these numbers relate to.  

                                                 
 
 
3 ‘Annual Residents Survey’ 2008/09 
4 The data highlighted is for 2008/09, any trends identified can change year on year. 
 

Page 270



 14 

Given the diversity of the young population, there appears to be a high 
percentage of Asian young people who are involved in youth crime.  

 
Table 1 
Ethnic Category Number % 
Asian or Asian British 542 53.4% 
White 260 25.6% 
Black or Black British 109 10.7% 
Mixed 96 9.5% 

Chinese or Other Ethnic 
Group 

Figures too small 
for statistical 

analysis 
 
17. Table 2 shows the ethnicity of young offenders over a three year period, against 

ethnicity breakdown of the general population.  This shows that Black or Black 
British youth are over represented in Tower Hamlets’ youth justice system 
compared to the percentage of the population they make up. 

 
Table 2 

Offenders Ethnicity 
All 
Years 

Population 
Estimate 

Asian or Asian British 56.6% 58.5% 
Black or Black British 9.9% 6.2% 
Chinese or Other Ethnic 
Group 0.7% 2.3% 
Mixed 6.3% 3.8% 
Unknown 0.3%  
White 26.2% 29.1% 
 
18. Table 3 shows there appears to be a disproportionate number of young 10 to 17 

year old males involved in youth offending during 2008/09 where there has been 
a substantive outcome. 

 
Table 3 

Gender 

% of 
offences 
committed 
by group 

Male 89.6% 
Female 10.4% 
 
Tower Hamlets Youth Justice Plan  
 
19. It is a requirement of all local authorities and their partners to produce a Youth 

Justice Plan. It sets out local youth offending issues and what preventative 
measures will be put in place. Its remit is to focus on young people aged 10-17 
years at risk of youth offending. The key strategic aims of the Youth Justice 
Plan are to: 

  
• Prevent offending 

Page 271



 15 

• Reduce re-offending 
• Ensure the safe and effective use of custody 
• Increase victim and public confidence. 

 
20. The priorities in the Youth Justice Plan 2008 were informed by the Youth 

Justice Service’s work which aimed to engage with the families and to expand 
on their early intervention work.  It was recognised that this approach would 
have some immediate effect but the impact on youth crime would be seen in 
the long and medium terms. 

 
21. Due to this direction of work the Plan5 recognised the need to develop work 

with First Time Entrants, Custodial Remands and Parenting Support and the 
need to improve performance on Accommodation.  The following preventative 
and support measures have been put in place: 

 
• Youth Inclusion and Support Panel (YISP) 
• Triage 
• Out of School Patrols  

 
Current preventative and supportive measures 
 
22. The YOT already use a number of tools to both prevent youth offending and to 

support young offenders.  A summary of these are given below: 
  

• A case management role - For a significant number of the young offenders 
the YOT works with, the YOT provide a case management role.     

  
• Intensive Supervision and Surveillance Programme (ISSP) - This provides 

an alternative to custody.  It is designed to meet the needs of the community 
and the young offender.  The offender has to spend 25 hours a week under 
intensive supervision for the first 3 months.  After this they have reduced 
supervision (minimum of 5 hours a week and weekend supervision) usually 
for 3 months.  During these supervisions, the young people are engaged in 
activities that look at offending behaviour, interpersonal skills, education, 
training, employment, family support and restorative justice. 

 
• Challenge and Support Programme (CaSP) - This programme aims to 

prevent the escalation of anti social behaviour by children and young people 
by using a ‘triple track’ approach to tackle anti social behaviour and youth 
crime.  The first track is ‘tough enforcement,’ where measures like Anti Social 
Behaviour Orders are used to stop escalation of anti social behaviour.  The 
second track is ‘non-negotiable support,’ where support is given in conjunction 
with the tough enforcement.  The final track is ‘early effective intervention,’ 
where it is ensured young people have access to support, such as the YISP, 
that could help them break down the barriers they face.    

                                                 
 
 
5 ‘Youth Justice Plan Planning Tool,’ 2008/09 
 

Page 272



 16 

 
• Resettlement and aftercare programme (RAP) - This provides support to 

vulnerable children and young people leaving custody by supporting the 
young person with employment and housing issues.  The aim is to help young 
people escape the re-offending cycle.  

 
• Triage Programme - This programme includes the expertise of the YOT in 

the Police’s decision making process for low gravity, first time offences 
committed by 10 -17 year olds.  Young people on the programme participate 
in activities of restorative intervention and crime and consequences sessions.  
Support is also offered to the Parent or Carer of the young person.  

 
• Youth Inclusion and Support Panel (YISP) - 8 – 13 year olds who are seen 

as being at risk of committing crimes (they may not have committed a crime) 
are referred to the panel by social workers, teachers and sometimes 
parents.  Once referred to the panel, the panel will try and find ways to help 
the young person and their family, aiming to help them access mainstream 
services. 

 
Tower Hamlets’ YOT’s performance 
 
23. The Working Group noted that the YOT in Tower Hamlets is successful in the 

work it does.  This is clearly seen by its performance figures as shown in Table 
4. 

 
Table 4 
Indicator Result by 

percentage 
Result by 
number 

London Average 

NI 19 Rate of 
proven re-
offending by 
young offenders 

0.39% (Jan 09 – 
March 09) 

63 re-offences in 
a cohort of 162 
during the period 
Jan – March 2009 

0.28% (Jan 09 – 
March 09) 

NI 111 First time 
entrants to the 
Youth Justice 
System aged 10 – 
17 

14.4% reduction 
when comparing 
the six month 
period of April 09 
– Sep 09 with 
April 08 – Sep 08 

113 (April 09 – 
Sep 09) 
 
132 (April 08 – 
Sep 08)  

14.5% reduction  

NI 43 Young 
people within the 
Youth Justice 
System receiving 
a conviction in 
court who are 
sentenced to 
custody 

6.1% (April 09 – 
Sep 09) 

264 sentences, 
16 of these were 
custodial (April 09 
– Sep 09) 

7.5% (April 09 – 
Sep 09) 

Page 273



 17 

 
NI 45 Young 
offenders’ 
engagement in 
suitable 
education, 
training and 
employment 
(ETE) 

82.2% (April 09 – 
Sep 09) 

67 young people 
aged 16 and over 
are supervised by 
the YOT 
 
58 young people 
aged 16 and over 
in suitable 
education, 
training and 
employment 
(ETE) 
 
85 young people 
aged below 16 
supervised by the 
YOT 
 
69 young people 
aged below 16 in 
ETE. 

75.7% (April 09 – 
Sep 09) 

NI 46 Young 
Offenders’ access 
to suitable 
accommodation 

97.2% (April 09 – 
Sep 09) 

 96.2% (April 09 – 
Sep 09) 

 
24. The Working Group heard from officers at the YJB that Tower Hamlets tends to 

out perform their statistical neighbours.  In particular the performance around 
resettlement has meant the YJB have often sign posted other YOTs to Tower 
Hamlet’s integrated resettlement service as good practice.  The Working Group 
also found that the Council is on track to meet its Local Area Agreement 
indicator of NI 19 (Rate of re-offending by young offenders).  Though this 
shows the YOT work in Tower Hamlets to be effective, this does not mean 
there is not space for improvement.  

 

Page 274



 18 

Findings 
 
Resettlement of young offenders 
 
25. The Government Office for London (GOL), the YJB and Young London Matters 

claim that nationally, approximately 70% of young offenders will re-offend within 
12 months of being released from custody.6  In Tower Hamlets the average 
number of re-offences per young person in the youth offenders cohort, between 
January and March 2009 was 0.39 (out of a cohort of 162 there were 63 re-
offences).  The risk of re-offending increases if support, such as appropriate 
accommodation, is not given to the young offender when leaving custody. 

 
26. These findings were borne out by information gained by Members from the 

interviews and the visit to the Huntercombe Young Offenders Institution.  In 
interviews with young people from Tower Hamlets on the Resettlement and 
Aftercare Programme (RAP), they told stories of being resettled in hostels which 
also housed drug dealers and prostitutes, were dirty and there was no one of 
their own age.  One young person told how the hostel she had been placed in 
was not near her school, resulting in her staying away from school.  All of these 
factors were not conducive to stopping the young person re-offending.  It was not 
until there was further intervention by a support officer from the RAP that the 
young person’s risk of re-offending seemed to be reduced.  When speaking to 
officers at the Young Offenders Institution, Members were told that one of the 
challenges faced was resettlement of the young people after leaving the 
Institution. 

 
27. The Working Group noted that Tower Hamlets is already doing a lot to deal with 

this issue of resettlement.  The Head of Homelessness and Housing Advice 
Services informed the Working Group that the Homelessness Strategy 2008 – 
2013 had changed the originally limited response to resettling homeless young 
offenders.  They now have a Housing Options Support Team (HOST), which 
includes a Criminal Justice Worker and a dedicated Young Persons Worker.  
They are now moving to the cessation of using Bed and Breakfast 
accommodation by mid 2010.  They have also increased the use of ‘supportive’ 
accommodation such as Drapers City Foyer, Kipper: Jeremiah House and 
Whites Row.  All of this is designed so a homeless young offender referred to the 
Homeless Team is both resettled and given adequate support.  

 
28. The London Youth Resettlement pledge was GOL’s, YJB’s and Young London 

Matters response to the issues of resettlement of young offenders leaving 
custody.  The pledge identified 10 key services that a young person should get 
on leaving custody (see Appendix 1).  From the Working Group’s consideration 
of the London Youth Resettlement pledge, it became apparent that the Children 
Schools and Families Directorate are in the process of doing or already do the 
majority of the Pledge’s requirements.  Though the majority of the services 
mentioned by the pledge are being done, Members felt that to ensure this work 

                                                 
 
 
6 ‘London Youth Resettlement Pledge,’ GOL. YJB and Young London Matters, 2008. Page 2. 

Page 275



 19 

continues and we meet all areas of the pledge the Council should sign up to the 
principles of the Youth Resettlement Pledge.  

 
 R1 That the Children, Schools and Families Directorate sign up to the principles 

of the London Youth Resettlement Pledge. 
  
29. One of the key services mentioned in the London Youth Resettlement Pledge is 

the need to ensure that homeless young offenders are assessed for housing 
before they leave custody.  This service is important, as if done fully it will reduce 
the chances of a young person leaving custody homeless and should reduce 
their likelihood of re-offending.  The Working Group felt this service should be 
strengthened and so recommends that young offenders at risk of being 
homeless are assessed before they are discharged.   

 
R2 That all young offenders who are at risk of becoming homeless are assessed 

by a housing officer prior to discharge. 
 
30. Though there is a lot of work happening around resettlement, it was recognised 

by Members that there was space for improvement.  One area that needs 
improvement is that there is not enough emergency supported housing for young 
people.  This was particularly a problem when young people were suddenly 
released from a Young Offenders Institute.  Informed by the findings that the risk 
of re-offending is increased if a young person is not given support on leaving 
custody, the Working Group felt this lack of emergency supported housing was a 
particular risk to seeing an increase in re-offending.  Therefore the Working 
Group recommends that the Children, Schools and Families directorate and 
Housing service explore the provision of additional emergency supported 
housing for young people from Tower Hamlets who are leaving custody.  

 
R3 That the Children, Schools and Families Directorate and the Housing service 

investigate the provision of additional emergency supported housing within 
Tower Hamlets for young people leaving custody, or appearing before the 
youth court and in need. 

 
Re engagement of young people with the Education system 
 
31. The Working Group learnt that many young people in custody had literacy and 

learning difficulties.  According to the YJB, in 2003, 90% of the young people in 
custody in the United Kingdom had difficulty in writing.  In Tower Hamlets, 210 of 
the young people who were part of the YOT during 2003 – 2005 were screened 
for reading recognition and comprehension.  This related to about 40% of the 
young people who had been on the YOT during that period.  Out of this group, 
32% were referred to a Dyslexic assessment.  It became clear to the Members, 
from this information, that young people in custody or on the YOT often have 
learning difficulties.  However, this data was old and therefore was unable to give 
an up to date picture about the learning difficulties faced by young people on the 
YOT.  Without up-to-date data it is difficult to assess the appropriate actions that 
need to be taken.  For these reasons, the Review recommends that up to date 

Page 276



 20 

data on the special education needs of the young people in the YOT should be 
available for all partners working with young offenders.                   

 
R4 That the Youth Offending Team maintains up to date data on the number of 

young people in the Youth Offending Team cohort with special educational 
needs. 

 
32. Though this data is out of date, the Working Group noted that learning difficulties 

can lead to frustration and low self esteem, which in turn can lead to depression 
and violence, though this does not mean that because a young person has 
learning difficulties they will automatically commit a crime.  The point is that a lot 
of young offenders suffer from these problems and need help.   

 
33. The Working Group noted that for some young people, problems with reading 

and writing made it difficult to engage with the education system.  This lack of 
engagement was seen in the interviews undertaken by Members, where the 
young people often described school as ‘boring.’  This boredom seemed to arise 
from a lack of interest in the subject matter covered, some even suggested it 
was, ‘too easy.’  This seems to result in many of the young people the Members 
met having a laissez-faire attitude towards education and school.  However, it 
was also clear that this could lead to frustration, which in turn could lead to 
depression and violence.  A lack of engagement in the education system often 
leads to staying away from school and a higher likelihood of getting in trouble 
with authorities.  If we assume that this lack of engagement also leads to a low 
attainment in literacy and numeracy (due to not being at school), Stephenson 
(Cited in the Department for Education and Skills report ‘Rising Standards’)7 
shows that this has a greater effect on the young person as they get older.  
Having low attainment leads to a failure to achieve qualifications, which in turn 
decrease employability which leads to an increased risk of offending.  Therefore, 
to stop youth offending, even when they are older, it is important that this 
disengagement with the education system is addressed. 

 
34. One way of addressing this disengagement is through dealing with the learning 

difficulties.  Though dyslexia is only one of the learning difficulties, the Rose 
Report, which looked into dyslexia for the Secretary of State for Children, 
Schools and Families, made a recommendation to ensure teachers are 
supported to recognise the difficulties of dyslexia and schools have specialist 
teachers who are trained to identify the symptoms of dyslexia at an early age.  
Rose points out that success in spotting learning difficulties and dealing with 
them is achieved if the teachers know what they are doing and why they are 
doing it.8  It is likely that if teachers are taught to recognise the difficulties of 
dyslexia they may also see the signs of other learning difficulties which they 
would not be able to diagnose but could refer to specialists.            

   

                                                 
 
7 Stephenson cited in ‘Raising Standards, A Contextual Guide to Support Success in Literacy, Numeracy and 
ESOL Provision.’  Department for Education and Skills, 2007  
8 ‘Identifying and Teaching Children and Young People with Dyslexia and Literacy Difficulties.  An 
independent report from Sir Jim Rose to the Secretary of State for Children, Schools and Families’ June 2009.  
Pages 15 -16.  

Page 277



 21 

 
R5 That, in line with the Rose review, the Children, Schools and Families 

Directorate support schools so that all teachers are made aware of the 
difficulties of dyslexia and specialists teachers in each school are trained to 
recognise the symptoms of dyslexia. 

 
35. The belief that we need to find ways to re-engage young offenders with the 

education system is also one of the motivations behind the UK Foyer 
Federation’s proposal to develop a Young Offenders Academy in East London.  
The Chair of the advisory group for the Young Offenders Academy Project 
explained to Members that currently the State is required to provide education to 
young people in custody, however due to lack of resources the education 
provided is not always of good quality or for long periods of time.  What is more, 
by going into custody, the education and any other support the young person 
was receiving, is disrupted, making it more difficult to fully educate or support the 
young person.  The proposed Young Offenders Academy has been designed to 
combat this in a cost effective way. 

 
36. The Young Offenders Academy would be a campus model.  It would consist of 

three units.  The first would be a secure unit that accommodated 75 young 
people, the second would be a residential unit that supported 75 young people 
and the third would be a service hub.  Importantly the Academy would be 
situated somewhere within East London, no further than one hour’s transport 
ride from where the young person lives.  The service hub would have 
organisations based there like the YJB, so outreach work could be done.   

 
37. The importance of the location and having support organisations based on the 

hub is that it will stop the disruption caused by being sent to Young Offenders  
Institutions that are often miles away from home.  In Lord Woolf’s inquiry9 into 
the prison disturbances of the 1990’s, it was found that a way to help the running 
of a prison and reduce the risk of re-offending was to ensure the prisoner was 
situated in a prison that was near enough to home that they could keep their 
links with their community and family. The youth offenders establishments run by 
Fundacion Diagrama in Spain, have found that having a local catchment area 
means that close communications are developed with local agencies, ensuring 
everyone, from families and schools to accommodation and health providers are 
continually involved in the progress of young offenders.  Therefore the location 
also allows the young person’s previous provision of education or social work to 
not be disrupted.   

 
38. The advantage of having the three different units means that the Academy can 

concentrate not only on lowering the risk of re-offending among those in custody 
but also intervene, through the other two units, with those who have not entered 
custody and help lower the risk of them becoming offenders.  Furthermore, 
according to the Foyer Federation’s calculations this type of academy would cost 
less then the amount currently spent on keeping young people in custody.  It is 

                                                 
 
9 Woolf cited in ‘Youth Offenders in East London.’  East Potential, 2008. 

Page 278



 22 

proposed that the Council should look at the possibility of supporting a pilot of 
the Young Offenders Academy in East London.            

 
R6 That Cabinet consider supporting the UK Foyer Federation’s proposal to 

create a Young Offenders Academy in East London. 
 
Family support 
 
39. Through interviews with the young people and the review meetings, it became 

clear to  Members that youth offending has many complex reasons behind why it 
happens and affects more then just the young offender and their victim.  A group 
that youth offending affects in a big way is the family of the offender.  The 
Working Group recognised that the family needed as much support as the 
offender.  An interview with the parent of a young offender showed how they felt 
at a loss to know what they could do to prevent their child from re-offending. 

 
40. It also became apparent to the Working Group that the Family has an important 

role in reducing the risk of a young person offending. It was particularly 
noticeable to Members that many of the young people they saw in their short 
visit to the Thames Youth Court, had a home life that was not very stable.  Some 
of the young people seen at the Court were in foster care and others had 
parents who were very ill. While the majority of the young people seemed to 
have a problem with anger. 

 
41. On speaking to the Legal Team Manager at the Thames Youth Court, the 

Working Group were told that it was felt that parenting orders were not being 
used effectively.  As any form of support for the Family gives them the tools and 
ability to support the young offender not to re-offend, parenting orders are a 
useful tool.  Therefore, the Working group recommends they are readily 
available to parents of young people entering the justice system and that the 
Youth Court could consider summoning absent parents to court to impose a 
parenting order.      

 
R7 That the Children, Schools and Families Directorate ensure that parenting 

courses are recommended as a matter of course to parents of young people 
who are entering the Youth Justice system. 

 
42. When the Working Group interviewed a parent, she said she had found the 

support provided by the YOT, Pupil Referral Unit and Police was brilliant at first.  
However, it was later, when the young person was still getting into trouble and 
the parent had tried everything to solve the problem, she felt the family lacked 
the support they needed.  They no longer knew who they could turn to for help. 

 
43. The Working Group recognised that the YOT cannot provide support to parents 

indefinitely.  However it was felt that exit strategies developed for the families, 
which could signpost families to other support, would ensure they could still 
receive the support they needed.  

 

Page 279



 23 

R8 That the Youth Offending Team develop exit strategies for families of young 
offenders, linking with targeted youth support and parenting support. 

 
Provision of activities 
 
44. In the focus group of young people on the Triage programme and when the 

Working Group met young offenders from Tower Hamlets at the Huntercombe 
Young Offenders Institution, the young people complained that one of the 
reasons they got into crime was because they were bored as there was nothing 
for them to do in their areas, with things like youth clubs open at the wrong times.  
When challenged over this statement, it became apparent that the young people 
did not actually know what was available for them in the Borough or what time 
youth clubs were open.  When Council Officers were questioned about this at the 
review meetings, they pointed out that youth clubs are widely publicised in the 
local areas through East End Life and the Tower Hamlets’ youth website ‘amp.’ 
(http://www.amp.uk.net/). Though this is the case, it was clear that the young 
people still did not know what options they had available.  As young people are 
more likely to use new technologies to find out about what is happening, it is 
recommended that it be investigated how such technologies could be used to 
ensure young people both knew about activities available and got involved in 
them. 

 
R9 That the Children, Schools and Families Directorate use innovative methods 

of communication to publicise the activities and courses available through 
Youth Services. 

 
45. When speaking with young people, Members found that some wanted to go on 

training courses which could help them get a job.  This was particularly the case 
for the young people on the ISSP and Triage programmes.  Looking again at 
Stephenson’s10 model, this would have a positive effect on the young person’s 
future, as it would make them more employable and therefore less likely to re-
offend.  It is suggested that to address this issue the recommendation from the 
Scrutiny Review on Reducing Worklessness (2009/10), that looks at increasing 
the number of work experience placements for ex-offenders is included in the 
recommendations for this review.     

 
R10 That the Human Resources Team and Skillsmatch explore increasing the 

number of work experience placements, specifically targeting ex-offenders 
(linked with the Worklessness Scrutiny Review). 

 
46. It became clear to the Working Group that many of the young people they spoke 

to had anger management difficulties.  It seemed that many had got into trouble 
as they believed the way to solve their problems was through violence.  The 
Working Group understood that problems around aggression was a common 
factor of young offenders in the system.  This alludes to the findings of the YJB 

                                                 
 
10 Stephenson cited in ‘Raising Standards, A Contextual Guide to Support Success in Literacy, Numeracy and 
ESOL Provision.’  Department for Education and Skills, 2007 

Page 280



 24 

that found out of 301 young offenders, 31% had mental health needs.11  It was 
recommended by the young people on the ISSP programme that a way to deal 
with this challenge would be to offer anger management training to young 
offenders on the YOT, where appropriate. The Members agreed that such a 
provision is essential to lower the risk of offending. 

    
R11 That the Youth Offending Team discuss with CAMHS (Child and Adolescent 

Mental Health Services) the provision of anger management training for 
young offenders, as appropriate. 

 
Communication 
 
47. As identified by the UK Foyer Federation, when a young person enters custody 

often their support services and education are disrupted.  This can happen 
because the young person can be sent to a Young Offenders Institution miles 
away from where they live (Feltham, in Surrey, is the nearest Institution to Tower 
Hamlets).  On the visit to the Huntercombe Young Offenders Institution the 
Working Group also heard of this lack of continuity between the support services 
and found another cause of it was a lack of communication between the 
Institution, the YOT and Social Care services.   

 
48. If this disruption is addressed the young person would continue to get the 

support they need to lower their risk of re-offending.  Therefore the Working 
Group recommends that communication between YOT, Social Care and the 
places like Youth Offending Institutes is both good and regular.   

 
R12 That the Youth Offending Team and Social Care ensure there is good and 

appropriate communication between them and any Tower Hamlets young 
person placed in a Young Offenders Institution, Secure Training Centres or 
Secure Children’s Homes, whether on remand or sentence.  

 
Training 
 
49. The Working Group agreed that one of the best ways to stop a young person 

getting into crime was through early intervention.  Programmes like the YISP, 
which work with young people who have been identified as being at risk of 
offending but are not convicted, allow this to happen.  However, for such 
programmes to work they rely on professionals being able to identify the young 
people who would come under this category.  Such identification could happen 
through clear assessments by social workers who had been trained to recognise 
the symptoms.  Additionally, if youth workers undergo training they could identify 
some of the young people they work with. 

 
50. In the first review meeting Members were told about the current development of 

the Youth Crime Action Plan which introduces a scaled approach to intervening 
with young people who are at risk at offending.  It was recognised that such an 

                                                 
 
 
11 ‘Mental Health, Source Document.’  Youth Justice Board, 2008. 

Page 281



 25 

approach was designed to help those who were more likely to offend.  This in 
turn meant that resources were being taken away from those at the lower end of 
the scale, young people who were just getting into criminal activities.  Again, 
training of professionals such as social workers and youth workers would ensure 
those young people on the lower end of the scale were picked up, through tools 
such as assessments, and referred to appropriate help.    

 
51. The Working Group recognised that the YOT deals with young people who could 

be classed as being at the higher end of the scale regarding their likelihood to 
offend or re-offend.   Those at the lower end were likely to be dealt with by 
professions such as youth workers or social workers.  To ensure that these 
young people did not become a higher risk, it is essential that these 
professionals are trained to identify young people at risk of offending and 
signpost them to the local systems for working with such young people.         

  
R13 That the Children, Schools and Families Directorate ensure that as part of 

their basic training all social workers and youth workers are given introductory 
training in local systems for work with young people at risk of offending. 

 
Resources 
 
52. At Huntercombe Young Offenders Institution the Working Group discovered that 

there had been a cut in education provision for the young people in custody 
from 18 hours to 15 hours a week.  They also got 10 hours of prison activities a 
week.  This meant that when the prison was at full capacity, it was unable to 
ensure all young offenders got appropriate activities all day, every day.  This 
can result in the young people spending long periods of time sitting in their cells 
watching TV.  In the long term this also means the young people are not given 
the opportunity to learn the skills that could prevent them from re-offending in 
the future.   

 
53. It was suggested that the key issue was the lack of funding for the Institute to 

allow them to provide appropriate activities and education. Therefore the 
Working Group recommends that while other options, such as the Young 
Offenders Academy are being developed, the Council takes a proactive role in 
lobbying Central Government to ensure Young Offending Institutions have 
adequate funds to provide education and training for young offenders.  

 
R14 That Cabinet lobbies Central Government and the Youth Justice Board to 

ensure Young Offenders Institutions are sufficiently funded to provide a full 
range of education, mental health and other support services, to facilitate 
each young offenders transition into responsible, law abiding adulthood. 

 
54. In a presentation to Members on Tower Hamlets’ performance around youth 

offending, the Youth Justice Board (YJB) identified that a challenge that would 
be faced by Tower Hamlets’ YOT was the likely financial limitations they would 
encounter due to the current recession and future cuts in public sector 
spending.  The Working Group, later found that successful programmes such 
as the YISP did not have secure long term funding, as they were being funded 
through pots of money such as Participatory Budgeting.   

Page 282



 26 

 
55. Therefore, in light of the current economic situation, the Members feel that 

programmes at risk of losing funding should be identified as being at risk and 
closely monitored. 

 
R15 That in preparation for a period of fiscal tightening the Youth Offending Team 

identifies and tracks all its current and anticipated funding. Many important 
programmes have at risk all or part of their funding. This situation requires 
close monitoring, particularly where partnerships are involved. 

 
Benchmarking 
 
56. In researching for this review the Working Group have not only seen innovative 

practices by Tower Hamlet’s YOT but have come across other progressive 
practices around dealing with youth offending elsewhere in the country and 
abroad.  One example is the young offenders establishments managed by 
Fundacion Diagrama in Spain.12  At these establishments, the primary function 
of each member of staff is to facilitate a young offender’s transition into a law 
abiding individual within society.  Their local catchment areas and funding allow 
them to build a close working relationship with all parties involved in a young 
offender’s life.  The Spanish legal system sees the duration of custodial 
sentence for a young person as an opportunity for that young person to pass an 
education or training course.  This idea is so prevalent that the sentences often 
relate to an education cycle.  At the same time, Judges will regularly visit 
custodial establishments and are in frequent communication to review the 
progress of offenders. 

 
57. The Working Group suggests that Tower Hamlet’s YOT can continue to 

improve its work by investigating such innovative schemes as described above 
and so recommends that benchmarking against innovative schemes is carried 
out on a regular bases by the YOT. 

 
R16 That the Youth Offending Team regularly benchmark against innovative youth 

offending schemes nationally and where appropriate internationally. 
 

Transition 
 
58. This Scrutiny review has dealt with many different issues.  However, some of 

the issues that the research identified could not be dealt with fully by this 
review.  One such issue was the difficulty faced by those transitioning from the 
youth justice system to the adult justice system.  Within the youth justice 
system a person is given a lot of targeted support.  This changes when a young 
person becomes an adult, making the transition challenging.  It is suggested by 
the Working Group that a piece of work should be carried out to investigate this 
issue.  However, at the same time, to help this transition, the Working Group 

                                                 
 
 
12 ‘Notes of a brief visit to young offenders establishments managed by Fundacion Diagrama in Spain. 2, 3, 4, 
February 2010.’  Unpublished notes.  Copies available from the Scrutiny and Equalities Team. 

Page 283



 27 

recommend that the YOT work with Probation at the point of transfer, to ensure 
Probation have all the information they require to support the offender.  

  
R17 That the Youth Offending Team ensures young offenders are supported 

during the transition from the youth justice to the adult justice system, 
providing full information to Probation services at the point of transfer. 

 

Page 284



 28 

Conclusions  
 
59. The Working Group welcomed the opportunity to look in depth at the issues of 

youth offending.  The review aimed to find feasible solutions to preventing youth 
crime.  To do this, they looked at what intervention measures are already in 
place, the support given to the vulnerable children and families and why young 
people get involved in crime.  

 
60. The Working Group found that youth crime is a complex issue.  There is no one 

reason for why a young person may get into crime, instead there are many 
reasons, some obvious and some not.  This is seen in the Youth Justice 
Board’s (YJB) findings that shows the many risk factors for a young person 
getting into crime could be grouped into four categories of family, school, 
community and personal.  Within these categories the risk factors stretch from 
poor housing to alienation.  The Working Group’s research showed that areas 
of particular importance for Tower Hamlets were resettlement of young 
offenders, re engagement of young people with the Education system, support 
provided to Families of young offenders and the provision of activities for young 
people.  The Working Group also found that to combat youth crime 
communication between organisations needed to be improved, training for 
officers outside of the Youth Offending Team (YOT) should be offered, 
questions over resources needed to be taken into account, continual 
benchmarking of best practice needed to happen and support needed to be 
provided to offenders transitioning from the youth justice to the adult justice 
systems. 

 
61. The Working Group’s recommendations have suggested include looking at how 

to re-engage young people with the education system and ensuring emergency 
accommodation is available for young people coming out of custody.  If 
engaged with education, the young person is less likely to offend and more 
likely to move away from crime.  This includes being more employable later on 
in life.  It was also noted that by ensuring that there is adequate support 
systems for young people they are less likely to re-offend. 

 
62. The Working Group also found that the YOT is a high performing team that 

provide an essential service.  They work extremely well with other partners, 
such as schools, Police and the YJB.  This partnership working has helped 
achieve impressive successes with youth crime in the borough.  Finally, in 
interviews with young people the Working Group continued to come across 
stories where the YOT’s intervention had helped young people reduce the risk 
of them offending or re-offending. 

 
 
 

Page 285



 29 

Appendix 1 
 

The London Youth Resettlement Pledge 
(The 10 Key Services) 

 
Directors of Childrens Services with local authority partners: 

 
1. Local authority childrens services to carry out CIN assessments  

under Section 17 of the Children’s Act 1989 on all children and young people 
released from custody where the YOT or secure establishment identifies that 
they may be a child in need13 
 
For those young people who reach the threshold for services following a CIN 
assessment, the necessary resettlement and support services should be 
provided to address assessed levels of need.  
 

2. Where a young person is already looked after by the local authority, the 
allocated social worker should continue to discharge their statutory 
responsibilities throughout the period in custody and on release, including co-
ordinating LAC reviews and subsequent care planning.   
 

3. Young people of school age to have a ‘back to school’ interview with a 
representative from childrens services prior to release, or at the latest within 2 
days of release, with an offer of a school place/education placement made within 
5 working days of release. 
 

4. All NEET young people to have an agreed education and training plan prior to 
release and meet with a Connexions PA or equivalent within 5 working days of 
release from custody 
 

5. Where a parent / carer is not able to meet a young person on release, a key 
worker(s) should meet them at the secure establishment in order to accompany 
them home. In the case of young people who are looked after, the allocated 
social worker should meet them.  
 

6. All parents/carers of young people in custody to be given access to parenting/ 
family support prior to release from custody, and for a period after release 
 

7. All young people leaving custody to have prompt access to positive activities on 
release from custody14 
 

8. Joint accommodation assessments between the YOT and Local Authority 
Homeless Persons Unit will be undertaken for all homeless 16/17/18 year olds 
prior to release from custody for advice on housing options and where 
appropriate, provision of accommodation and support 

                                                 
 
13 See Howard League judicial review judgement on Manchester City Council re. Local Authorities 
duties to young people in custody (November 2006) 
14 Education and Inspections Act 2006 (Section 6) 
 

Page 286



 30 

 
And in partnership: 

 
9. Registration with GP and access to sexual health advice within 5 working days 

 
10. All young people with an identified alcohol and substance misuse problem to 

have an agreed careplan prior to release, and meet with their YOT drugs worker 
/ community drugs worker either immediately on release, or within no more than 
5 working days, depending on levels of risk and need.  
 
All young people with significant mental health problems and those who are 
subject to the CAMHS CPA (Care Programme Approach) to be seen by the YOT 
health worker immediately on release, or within no more than 2 working days, 
depending on levels of risk and need.  

Page 287



 31 

Scrutiny and Equalities in Tower Hamlets 
 
To find out more about Scrutiny in Tower Hamlets: 
 
Please contact: 
 
Scrutiny and Equalities Team 
Tower Hamlets Council 
6th Floor, Mulberry Place 
5 Clove Crescent 
London E14 2BG 
 
 
Telephone: 020 7364 4636 
E-mail: scrutiny@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
Web: www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/scrutiny 
 

Page 288



 

 

Appendix B – Response to Scrutiny Working Group Review, ‘Youth Offenders: Supporting Vulnerable Young People’ 
 
As outlined in paragraphs 7.1 to 7.3 of this report all the recommendations will be met within existing budget. Specific 
financial implications on individual recommendations are highlighted in the action plan below.  
 

Scrutiny Review – Youth Offenders: Supporting Vulnerable Young People 
Recommendation Response / Comments Responsibility Date 

Resettlement of young offenders 
R1. That the Children, 

Schools and Families 
Directorate sign up to 
the principles of the 
London Youth 
Resettlement Pledge. 

This action was implemented through the 
‘Making a Positive Contributions Action Plan.’  
This has meant that it has been streamlined 
through the Children and Young People’s Plan 
(CYPP) and continued implementation and 
monitoring will be maintained through the 
Children and Families Trust.   

Stuart Johnson  
(Head of Youth 
Offending Services)  

Completed 
 

R2. That all young 
offenders who are at 
risk of becoming 
homeless are 
assessed by a housing 
officer prior to 
discharge. 

 

Through discussions between the Youth 
Offending Team (YOT) and the Housing 
Options Team, the two teams will look at the 
feasibility of carrying out this action.  There is 
currently a service agreement between the two 
teams which governs joint working, which is to 
be updated soon. 
 
Resources for the recommendation are 
containable within existing resources. 

Stuart Johnson  
(Head of Youth 
Offending Services)  
 
David Gingell  
(Manager of Housing 
Advice and Housing 
Options Service)  

Ongoing 

R3. That the Children, 
Schools and Families 
Directorate and the 
Housing service 
investigate the 
provision of additional 
emergency supported 
housing within Tower 
Hamlets for young 
people leaving custody, 
or appearing before the 
youth court and in 
need. 

The Housing Options Service will consider this 
point within its wider investigations into 
generally increasing provision for young people 
in housing need. 
 
There are likely to be significant financial 
implications although that does not diminish the 
importance of this objective; rather, such 
implications will fundamentally influence the 
joint work to investigate and develop any 
provision. 

David Gingell  
(Manager of Housing 
Advice and Housing 
Options Service) 

March 2011 

P
age 289



 

 

Re engagement of young people with the Education system 
R4. That the Youth 

Offending Team 
maintains up to date 
data on the number of 
young people in the 
Youth Offending Team 
cohort with special 
educational needs. 

It has been agreed by the YOT that this 
information will be logged on to their data 
information system, the Youth Offending 
Information System (YOIS).  The data will be 
placed in the appropriate place of case 
characteristics.  This will indicate whether 
young people have special education needs 
(SEN) and whether this is at School Action, or 
Statutory Statemented level.  The case 
information will be available through our 
standard educational information requests 
made as part of the assessment process for 
their court reports.  This information will then be 
available as a statistic through the Information 
Systems Data draw down mechanisms. 

Ian Suatt 
(Education Coordinator 
and YOT Teacher)  

May 2010 

R5. That, in line with the 
Rose review, the 
Children, Schools and 
Families Directorate 
support schools so that 
all teachers are made 
aware of the difficulties 
of dyslexia and 
specialists teachers in 
each school are trained 
to recognise the 
symptoms of dyslexia. 

The Support for Learning Service (SLS) has 
disseminated national training materials (the 
Inclusion Development Programme) to all 
schools in the Borough and has hosted a 
number of local conferences promoting how to 
improve the skills of all teachers. In the light of 
the Rose report these materials will be updated 
and the SLS will provide further dissemination 
and training opportunities for schools. 

Roland Ramanan 
(Joint Head of Early 
Years – Children and 
Learning) 

July 2011 

R6. That Cabinet consider 
supporting the UK 
Foyer Federation’s 
proposal to create a 
Young Offenders 
Academy in East 
London. 

Cabinet have already pledged their support for 
this proposal as part of their consideration of 
the report into The Public Safety of Young 
People.  Any future development will be 
presented to Cabinet.  

No additional financial implications arising at 
this stage, but if the scheme does go ahead, 
this will need to be considered by Cabinet.  

Mary Durkin 
(Head of Youth and 
Community Learning) 

Ongoing 

P
age 290



 

 

 
Family support 
R7. That the Children, 

Schools and Families 
Directorate ensure that 
parenting courses are 
recommended as a 
matter of course to 
parents of young 
people who are 
entering the Youth 
Justice system. 

A leaflet has been developed which will be 
given to all parents explaining parenting support 
available.  
 
It should be noted that the Parenting courses 
are subject to the continuation of Youth Justice 
Board’s and other grant funding. 

Stuart Johnson  
(Head of Youth 
Offending Services) 

June 2010 

R8. That the Youth 
Offending Team 
develop exit strategies 
for families of young 
offenders, linking with 
targeted youth support 
and parenting support. 

A system for exist strategies is currently in 
development and will address issues 
highlighted by this recommendation.  

Mary Durkin 
(Head of Youth and 
Community Learning) 

September 2010 

Provision of activities 
R9. That the Children, 

Schools and Families 
Directorate use 
innovative methods of 
communication to 
publicise the activities 
and courses available 
through Youth 
Services. 

 

The Children, Schools and Families Directorate 
are doing a number of things to publicise the 
activities and courses available.  These are: 
• Redevelop the amp.uk.net site to provide 

up-to-date information about services in the 
borough. 

• Consolidate thelearninghub.org site into the 
amp.uk.net to provide young people with a 
one stop shop on information about courses 
and activities. 

• Working closely with the London Serious 
Youth Violence Board (LSYVB) in 
promoting their London wide campaign  
which aims to change perceptions of youth 
violence in the capital. 

• Ongoing promotion of holiday activities 
throughout the year (holiday periods) 

• Working closely with the Olympics and Find 

Sukhjinder Nunwa 
(Communications and 
Engagement Service 
Manager) 

 
 
 
June 2010 
 
 
June 2010 
 
 
 
June/July 2010 
 
 
 
Ongoing throughout 
the year 
 
 

P
age 291



 

 

Your Talent teams to host a Summer 
Festival for young people and families 

• Developing a social marketing policy to 
actively engage young people through 
innovative methods 

Festival to start mid 
July 2010 
 
July 2010 

R10. That the Human 
Resources Team and 
Skillsmatch explore 
increasing the number 
of work experience 
placements, 
specifically targeting 
ex-offenders (linked 
with the Worklessness 
Scrutiny Review). 

 

As part of the Local Economic Assessment and 
review of the employment strategy, the 
Employment & Enterprise team will be 
identifying and consulting on the key activities 
targeting different client groups.  Following this 
comprehensive quantitative, qualitative and 
analytical process, action plans will be 
developed in association with available 
investment. 
 
Opportunities and barriers to be scoped with 
HR by June.  Leading to development of action 
plan to deliver 14-19 targets. Action Plan to 
include Directorate targets and ensure some 
opportunities ring fenced for young people most 
at risk 
 
An annual target of 90 work experience places 
(15 in each directorate) has been agreed. 
Placements are being developed between April 
– July and are due to come on steam from 
July/August until the end of the financial year. 
 

Children, Schools and Families Directorate is 
working very closely with partners and asking 
them to identify opportunities for funding for 
work placements.  

 

Andy Scott  
(Employment and 
Enterprise Manager) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Wendy Forrest 
(Director, The HUB) 
Mike Tyler 
(Director, Education 
Business Partnership) 
 
 
Linda Crawford 
(Organisational 
Development and 
Positive Action 
Schemes Manager)  
 
 

LEA Due date July 
2010 
 
Cabinet December 
2012 
 
 
 
 
 
September 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 
August 2010 

P
age 292



 

 

 
R11. That the Youth 

Offending Team 
discuss with CAMHS 
(Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health 
Services) the provision 
of anger management 
training for young 
offenders, as 
appropriate.  

Currently a protocol is being developed 
between CAMHS and the YOT.  Once finalised, 
this item will be incorporated into the working 
arrangements. 

Mick Reid  
(Operational Manager 
of the Youth Offending 
Team) 
 
Emma Fayter  
(Head of Nursing 
CAMHS) 

August 2010 

Communication 
R12. That the Youth 

Offending Team and 
Social Care ensure 
there is good and 
appropriate 
communication 
between them and any 
Tower Hamlets young 
person placed in a 
Young Offenders 
Institution, Secure 
Training Centres or 
Secure Children’s 
Homes, whether on 
remand or sentence.  

 

There is an ongoing discussion happening 
between the Youth Offending Team (YOT) and 
Social Care on this issue.  The YOT will 
continue to ensure that visits take place with a 
Tower Hamlets’ young person in a Young 
Offenders Institution as per the Youth Justice 
Board standard.   
 
The Children’s Social Care will continue to 
ensure: 
• That if a young person is looked after at 

the point of entry to a Young Offenders 
Institute (YOI) or Secure training centre, 
they work in line with the principles of the 
Children Act 1989 in maintaining contact 
with the young person. 

• A young person retaining their looked after 
status in a YOI or Secure training centre, 
the young person receive all services 
commensurate with legislation for looked 
after children. 

• All children are assessed prior to release 
to check whether or not they need social 
care intervention. The YOT team refers to 
the Integrated Pathways and Support team 
where necessary. 

Stuart Johnson  
(Head of Youth 
Offending Services)  
Paul McGee 

Ongoing 

P
age 293



 

 

• In relation to the first two points the 
Children’s Social Care team will be 
involved in the discussing/ planning for a 
young person exiting either a YOI or 
Secure training centre. 

Training 
R13. That the Children, 

Schools and Families 
Directorate ensure that 
as part of their basic 
training all social 
workers and youth 
workers are given 
introductory training in 
local systems for work 
with young people at 
risk of offending. 

The YOT will explore how this could be 
implemented as part of the Induction process 
for new staff in Children, Schools and Families.  
 
Organisation Development are reviewing the 
course structure for those going through the 
Post foundation stage of the Social Workers 
training.  They will look at wither they can 
introduce something around working with young 
people at risk of offending into this redesigned 
course.  

Stuart Johnson  
(Head of Youth 
Offending Services)  
 
Ann Johnson  
(Social Care Training 
Coordinator) 

July 2010 

Resources 
R14. That Cabinet lobbies 

Central Government 
and the Youth Justice 
Board to ensure Young 
Offenders Institutions 
are sufficiently funded 
to provide a full range 
of education, mental 
health and other 
support services, to 
facilitate each young 
offenders transition into 
responsible, law 
abiding adulthood. 

The Director of Children, Schools and Families 
will speak to the Leader and Cabinet about 
developing an appropriate response to this 
recommendation.  

Isobel Cattermole 
(Acting Corporate 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families 
Directorate) 

 

R15. That in preparation for 
a period of fiscal 
tightening the Youth 
Offending Team 
identifies and tracks all 
its current and 

The YOT Manager and the senior managers of 
the Children, Schools and Families Directorate 
are monitoring all budgets, especially grant 
funded targeted work, carefully and will discuss 
particular budgets at risks with appropriate 
stakeholders at an early stage.  In terms of 

Stuart Johnson  
(Head of Youth 
Offending Services)  
 
Mary Durkin 
(Head of Youth and 

Ongoing 

P
age 294



 

 

anticipated funding. 
Many important 
programmes have at 
risk all or part of their 
funding. This situation 
requires close 
monitoring, particularly 
where partnerships are 
involved. 

targeted work they looking at the provision 
provided these across the Directorate.  

 

Community Learning) 
 
Isobel Cattermole 
(Acting Corporate 
Director of Children, 
Schools and Families 
Directorate) 
 

Benchmarking 
R16. That the Youth 

Offending Team 
regularly benchmark 
against innovative 
youth offending 
schemes nationally and 
where appropriate 
internationally.   

In the annual benchmarking exercise which 
compares Tower Hamlet’s YOT performance 
with national and those of its statistical 
neighbours, the Tower Hamlets’ YOT was rated 
as ‘Excellent.’  The service will continue 
benchmarking with similar service providers and 
explore learning from innovative youth offending 
schemes.    

Stuart Johnson  
(Head of Youth 
Offending Services) 

Ongoing 

Transition  
R17. That the Youth 

Offending Team 
ensures young 
offenders are 
supported during the 
transition from the 
youth justice to the 
adult justice system, 
providing full 
information to 
Probation services at 
the point of transfer. 

The YOT will follow the Pan London agreement 
regarding the transfer of cases to London 
Probation.  This agreement is currently in its 
final draft. 

Stuart Johnson  
(Head of Youth 
Offending Services) 

July 2010 

 

P
age 295



Page 296

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Committee/Meeting: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
8th September 
2010 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted  
 
 

Report No: 
 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director, Resources 
 
Originating officer(s) 
Alan Finch: Head of Corporate Finance 
 

Title:  
 
2009/10 Capital Outturn 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 
Lead Member 
 

Cllr David Edgar 

Community Plan Theme 
  

Capital programme supports various Community Plan themes 

Strategic Priority 
 

Capital programme supports various Strategic Priorities, including those 
within Local Priorities Programme. 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 

1.1. This report details the capital expenditure incurred by the Council in the financial year 
ended 31st March 2010 and the resources applied to finance it. 

1.2. The Council incurred capital expenditure of £139.376 million against a budget of 
£164.479 million, which represents an underspend of £25.103 million. The unspent 
resources will be used in future years. 

1.3. The programme was fully funded from available resources. 
  
 
2. DECISIONS REQUIRED 
 
 Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 

2.1 Note the contents of this report 

2.2 Agree to carry forward into 2010/11 approvals of £4.083 million in the Local Priorities 
Programme as detailed in Appendix 2 

 
3. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
3.1 Decision to carry forward capital resources will provide finance for Local Priorities 

Programme for a variety of activities.  
 
4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 Most of this report outlines past capital expenditure, so alternative options llimited to 

reallocation of future Local Priority Programme – this will be assessed as part of 
scheme review. 

 
5. BACKGROUND 
 
5.1 This is the final monitoring report on the 2009/10 Capital Programme.  It is based on 

actual capital expenditure to the 31st March 2010. 

Agenda Item 10.1

Page 297



 
 

 
5.2 It compares actual spend for the year against approved budgets, highlighting the 

reasons for significant variances. 
   
 
6. FINAL CAPITAL BUDGET 2009/10 
 

6.1 The Quarter 3 monitoring report which was approved by Cabinet on 10th March 2010 showed 
an approved total budget of £139.816 million. This has now increased to £164.479 million, for 
the reasons set out below.  Cabinet approval dates are shown where applicable. 

 

 £m 

Budget as at Quarter 3 139.816 

Additional projects approved for Communities, 
Localities and Culture: 

Ø Transport 

Ø Parks  

Ø Culture 

(Corporate Director approved Dec 2009 - Jan 2010 

/ Noted by March 2010 Cabinet) 

 

 

2.016 

0.125 

0.170 
 

Approval of Building Schools for the Future (BSF) 
Wave 5 schemes starting works in the final quarter of 
2009/10 (BSF approved Cabinet June 2006 – tender 
update to August 2010 meeting)  

18.987 

 

Additional projects approved for Children, Schools and 
Families  

 
0.085 

Additional projects approved for Housing Revenue 
Account (approved by Cabinet 4 Nov 2009): 

Ø Cotall Street Demolitions 

Ø Building Britain’s Future 

 

 

0.250 

0.860 

Additional projects approved for Resources 
Directorate: 

Ø Telephony Invest to Save (Cabinet 11 Mar 
2009) 

Ø Software Licences (funded from revenue 
budget) 

 

 

1.138 

1.032 

Final Budget 2009/10 164.479 

  
  
 
 
 
 Page 298



 
 

7. ACTUAL EXPENDITURE COMPARED TO PROGRAMMED BUDGET 
 

7.1 Total spend to the end of the financial year (31st March 2010) represented an 
underspend of £25.103 million as follows: 

 

Budget at Spend to Variance Variance as
31-Mar-10 31-Mar-10 % of Budget

£m £m £m £m
MAINSTREAM PROGRAMME

Communities, Localities and Culture 16.630 13.493 -3.137 -19%
Children, Schools and Families 68.264 54.297 -13.967 -20%
Adults, Health and Wellbeing 0.858 0.454 -0.404 -47%
Development and Renewal 1.730 0.428 -1.302 -75%
Housing Revenue Account 43.797 42.655 -1.142 -3%

MAINSTREAM TOTAL 131.279 111.327 -19.952 -15%

LOCAL PRIORITIES PROGRAMME (LPP)

Communities, Localities and Culture 4.034 3.622 -0.412 -10%
Children, Schools and Families 4.053 0.207 -3.846 -95%
Chief Executive 7.279 4.147 -3.132 -43%
Adults, Health and Wellbeing 0.574 0.141 -0.433 -75%
Development and Renewal 6.700 2.242 -4.458 -67%
Housing Revenue Account 10.560 17.690 7.130 68%

LPP TOTAL 33.200 28.049 -5.151 -16%

GRAND TOTAL 164.479 139.376 -25.103 -15%

 
 

7.2 The final outturn for 2009/10 of £139.376 million was closely in line with the projected 
figure reported to Cabinet at the end of the third quarter on the 10th March 2010 
(£137.479 million). 

7.3 A number of schemes have spent ahead of schedule in 2009/10 as set out in the 
above table and in the detailed appendices.  Where this has taken place, it has been 
possible to fund these by temporarily applying funding identified for other schemes 
which under spent or funding earmarked to be spent in future years.  Care needs to be 
taken that such arrangements can be made before expenditure is incurred. 

7.4 Details of budgets, actual expenditure and variances by project and/or sub programme 
areas, together with Directorates’ reasons for variances are shown in Appendix 1. 

 
8. RESOURCES 
 
 
8.1 The capital programme for this year has been set on the basis of available capital 

resources and amended as further resource announcements have been made by 
Government and other funders, and for Cabinet decisions. The capital programme was 
fully funded from available resources. 

 
8.2 A summary of the resources used to fund the 2009/10 capital programme is set out as 

follows: 
 Page 299



 
 

 

 Directorate 

  CLC   CSF   Chief 
Exec   AHWB   D&R   HRA   TOTAL  

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Funding Source:              

Capital Grants 4.767 47.761 0.000 0.409 1.112 13.722 67.769 

Developers' Contributions 5.721 2.984 0.000 0.000 0.308 0.000 9.013 

Supported Borrowing 0.000 2.359 0.000 0.046 0.000 15.500 17.905 

Prudential Borrowing 3.802 0.000 1.138 0.090 0.000 0.000 5.029 

Direct Revenue Financing 2.825 1.400 3.009 0.051 1.150 6.000 14.437 

Major Repairs Allowance 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 13.836 13.836 

Capital Receipts (Local 
Priorities Programme) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 11.387 11.387 

                

Total Resources Applied 17.115 54.504 4.147 0.595 2.570 60.445 139.376 

8.3 Resources allocated for the mainstream programme are normally earmarked to 
schemes.  However locally generated funding may be applied for the discretion of the 
authority.  Appendix 2 sets out those Local Priority Schemes which under spent in 
2009/10 and Cabinet approval is sought to carry forward the unspent amounts.  These 
schemes will need to be reviewed as part of the forthcoming budget process to ensure 
that the resources allocated are still required or remain budget priorities.   

8.4 A breakdown of the Local Priorities programme allocations and amounts to be agreed 
for carry-forward to 2010/11 are shown in Appendix 2. 

 
 
9. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 

9.1 Under Financial Regulations, it is the responsibility of senior managers to ensure that 
capital budgets are spent in accordance with decisions and any overspends are dealt 
with. 

 
10. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL 

SERVICES) 
 
10.1 The report brings information on the Council’s 2009/2010 capital expenditure to 

Cabinet’s attention.  This is consistent with the proper administration of the Council’s 
financial affairs as required by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
10.2 The report also seeks Cabinet’s approval to bring forward capital estimates of £4.083 

million for the Local Priorities Program.  This request for approval is in accordance with 
the financial procedures established by the chief finance officer. 

 
11. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
11.1 The report concerns the Council’s Capital Programme in which each project had to 

demonstrate its contribution to One Tower Hamlets to be approved. Page 300



 
 

 
12. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
12.1 There are no SAGE implications arising out of this report. 
 
 
 
13. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
13.1 The principal risks identified in the capital programme relate to the Local Priorities 

Programme’s reliance upon the realisation of capital receipts. Forecasting of such 
receipts is inherently risky.  Receipts can only be estimated based on knowledge of 
the market prevailing at the time, and realisation of receipts is susceptible to a range of 
factors outside the control of the Council, as well as the decisions the authority 
chooses to make itself. 

 
13.2 To minimise risk, expenditure is no longer committed in anticipation of the proceeds 

from the sale of assets. 
 
 
14. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1 The evaluation process for projects includes criteria for the delivery of efficiency 

improvements within the Council, prior to the adoption of capital estimates being 
approved.  

 
14.2 The Council is required to consider the value for money implications of its decisions 

and to secure best value in the provision of all of its services.  These factors should be 
considered throughout the life of any project, from initial tendering for contractors to 
carry out works through the monitoring phase and ending with a final post-
implementation review. 

  
15. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  
 
15.1 This report is mainly for information on historic expenditure and outlines remaining 

resources for Local Priorities Programme schemes subject to further review, therefore 
an efficiency statement is not appropriate. 

 
16. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 – Budgets, Actual and Projected Expenditure and Variances by 
Directorate 

Appendix 1.1 Communities, Localities and Culture 

Appendix 1.2 Children, Schools and Families 

Appendix 1.3 Building Schools for the Future 

Appendix 1.4 Chief Executive’s and Resources 

Appendix 1.5 Adults Health and Wellbeing 

Appendix 1.6 Development and Renewal 

Appendix 1.7 Housing Revenue Account 

 

Appendix 2 – Local Priorities Programme Allocations to be Carried Forward to 
2010/11  Page 301



 
 

 
 
_______________________________________________________ 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 

List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
  

Brief description of “background papers” Name and telephone number of holder  
and address where open to inspection. 
 

Directorate Submissions Alison Gebbett   Ext.  3360 
Mulberry Place, 4th Floor. 

 

Page 302



APPENDIX 1.1 
 

 

COMMUNITIES, LOCALITIES AND CULTURE (CLC)

Budget at Spend to Variance Variance as Projected Projected
31-Mar-10 31-Mar-10 % of Budget Spend at Q3 Spend at Q2

£m £m £m £m £m £m
MAINSTREAM PROGRAMME

Transport

TfL projects 4.368 2.976 -1.392 -31.9% 4.070 4.070
Agreed changes and additional 
funding from TfL. Programme 
extended to 2010/11.

Transport other funded projects 4.401 3.524 -0.877 -19.9% 2.174 2.283
Additional funding received in last 
quarter, work programme extended.

Parks
Chicksand Ghat 0.600 0.595 -0.005 -0.8% 0.600 0.600

Braithwaite Park 0.125 0.108 -0.017 -13.6% 0.000 0.000
Funding received in last quarter, work 
schedule extended to 2010/11.

Culture and major projects
York Hall Boiler Demolition 0.189 0.189 0.000 0.0% 0.189 0.189
Idea Store Minor Improvements 0.028 0.026 -0.002 -7.1% 0.028 0.028

Banglatown Art Trail 1.919 1.175 -0.744 -38.8% 1.249 1.749
Finalisation of scheme design still to 
be agreed.

Mile End Security works 0.199 0.162 -0.037 -18.6% 0.199 0.199 Final cost less than anticipated.
Swimming Pool Covers 0.010 0.010 0.000 0.0% 0.010 0.010
Leisure Surveys 0.023 0.023 0.000 0.0% 0.023 0.023

Poplar Baths 0.220 0.235 0.015 6.8% 0.220 0.000

Other

Waste management 0.101 0.127 0.026 25.7% 0.101 0.089
Purchase of additional recycle bins 
and food waste bins as required.

Emergency planning 0.166 0.144 -0.022 -13.3% 0.166 0.166
Awaiting landlord approval to install 
generators

Pay and display machines 0.160 0.000 -0.160 -100.0% 0.160 0.160 Funded directly from revenue

Purchase of 585 Commercial Road 3.800 3.812 0.012 0.3% 3.800 3.800

Wentworth Street Market 0.088 0.102 0.014 15.9% 0.088 0.088
Insurance claim did not consider the 
preparation and staff costs to reinstate 
damaged gates.

CCTV 0.233 0.229 -0.004 -1.7% 0.233 0.112

Contaminated Land Strategy 0.000 0.056 0.056 0.0% 0.000 0.000
Land surveys completed ahead of 
schedule (included in 2010/11 budget). 
Fully funded by grant from DEFRA. 

CLC MAINSTREAM TOTAL 16.630 13.493 -3.137 -18.9% 13.310 13.566

REASONS FOR VARIANCES

 
 

P
age 303



APPENDIX 1.1 
 

 

COMMUNITIES, LOCALITIES AND CULTURE (CLC)

Budget at Spend to Variance Variance as Projected Projected
31-Mar-10 31-Mar-10 % of Budget Spend at Q3 Spend at Q2

£m £m £m £m £m £m
LOCAL PRIORITIES PROGRAMME

Victoria Park Masterplan 0.340 0.550 0.210 61.8% 0.340 0.340
Scheme design accelerated. Agreed 
and funded by Heritage Lottery Fund 
grant.

CCTV Strategy 0.718 0.718 0.000 0.0% 0.500 0.500
Street Lighting 0.200 0.199 -0.001 -0.5% 0.200 0.200

Bancroft Library 0.255 0.051 -0.204 -80.0% 0.059 0.255
Scheme delayed due to requirement 
for planning permission.

Parks 2.158 1.894 -0.264 -12.2% 2.223 1.932
Scheme slippage (Meath Gardens) 
due to contractor delays. Funded by 
section 106 developer contributions.

Idea Stores Finance 0.126 0.000 -0.126 -100.0% 0.126 0.126
Retention still outstanding pending 
resolution of dispute with contractor.

20mph zones 0.014 0.005 -0.009 -64.3% 0.014 0.014 Programme extended to 2010/11.

Key Parks 0.014 0.014 0.000 0.0% 0.014 0.014

Parks Programme 0.100 0.100 0.000 0.0% 0.100 0.100

Langdon Park Station 0.018 0.000 -0.018 -100.0% 0.018 0.018
Scheme delayed due to unresolved 
issues with DLR.

York Hall Development 0.091 0.091 0.000 0.0% 0.309 0.273

CLC LPP TOTAL 4.034 3.622 -0.412 -10.2% 3.903 3.772

CLC GRAND TOTAL 20.664 17.115 -3.549 -17.2% 17.213 17.338

REASONS FOR VARIANCES

P
age 304



APPENDIX 1.2 
 

 

Space for sports & art 0.057 0.003 -0.054 -94.7% 0.057 0.057
Spend due in 2010/11, delays in contractor completing 
defective works.

Osmani (mixed funding) 0.150 0.155 0.005 3.3% 0.150 0.706

LSC 0.010 0.010 0.000 0.0% 0.010 0.010

National Institute of Adult Continuing 
Education

0.040 0.040 0.000 0.0% 0.040 0.040

Youth Capital Fund 0.194 0.209 0.015 7.7% 0.193 0.020

Fair Play Pathfinder 0.856 1.595 0.739 86.3% 0.856 0.856 Full government grant funding allocated and spent.

ISPP 0.019 0.019 0.000 0.0% 0.019 0.019

Other ICT 1.454 0.000 -1.454 -100.0% 1.454 0.000 Projects to be agreed for expenditure in 2010/11.

City Learning Centre 0.150 0.225 0.075 50.0% 0.150 0.150 Excess funded by modernisation.

New Opportunities Fund 0.019 0.019 0.000 0.0% 0.000 0.000

Integrated Children's Services 0.066 0.066 0.000 0.0% 0.000 0.000

SECTION 106

BJ / Manorfield schools expansion 2.961 2.935 -0.026 -0.9% 2.961 2.961

Bishop Square 0.016 0.049 0.033 206.3% 0.016 0.000 Spend transferred from Development & Renewal code.

RATES DRAWDOWN

Various sites 0.700 0.587 -0.113 -16.1% 0.732 1.133
Professional Development Centre scheme was part funded 
from LPP capital receipts resources.

CSF MAINSTREAM TOTAL 24.578 18.416 -6.162 -25.1% 23.533 24.889

P
age 305



APPENDIX 1.2 
 

 

CHILDREN, SCHOOLS AND FAMILIES (CSF)

Budget at Spend to Variance Variance as Projected Projected
31-Mar-10 31-Mar-10 % of Budget Spend at Q3 Spend at Q2

£m £m £m £m £m £m

LOCAL PRIORITIES PROGRAMME

Bishop Challoner Community 0.935 0.000 -0.935 -100% 0.000 0.000
Contribution to school development project to 
be agreed

Youth Service ( BMX Mile End ) 0.100 0.005 -0.095 -95% 0.151 0.151
Delays occurred as further funding was 
required. This has now been resolved.

Professional Development Centre 0.199 0.199 0.000 0% 0.015 0.015

Harry Gosling 0.015 0.003 -0.012 -80% 0.015 0.014
Project delayed due to contractor dispute, 
spend will take place in 2010/11.

School meals kitchen improvements 0.014 0.000 -0.014 -100% 0.000 0.000
Spend will take place in 2010/11 to complete 
the project.

CSF LPP TOTAL 1.263 0.207 -1.056 16% 0.181 0.180

CSF GRAND TOTAL 25.841 18.623 -7.218 -27.9% 23.714 25.069

REASONS FOR VARIANCES

 

 

 

P
age 306



APPENDIX 1.3 
 

 

BUILDING SCHOOLS FOR THE FUTURE (BSF)

Budget at Spend to Variance Variance as Projected Projected
31-Mar-10 31-Mar-10 % of Budget Spend at Q3 Spend at Q2

£m £m £m £m £m £m

MAINSTREAM PROGRAMME

Wessex Centre 4.000 3.209 -0.791 -19.8% 4.000 4.000
Some residual works have been taking place. Payment timing difference 
in 2010/11.

St Paul's Way 11.500 16.856 5.356 46.6% 11.500 11.500
Accelerated construction work as there was a potential delay to school 
opening date.

Bethnal Green Technology College 9.200 9.963 0.763 8.3% 9.200 9.200

Swanlea 0.050 0.007 -0.043 -86.0% 0.000 0.000
Design and architectural review has not progressed in 2009/10, but will 
take place in 2010/11

Sir John Cass 5.990 2.749 -3.241 -54.1% 0.000 0.000
Some asbestos issues have created delays in construction in 2009/10. 
This will accelerate in 2010/11.

Oaklands 4.147 0.057 -4.090 -98.6% 0.000 0.000
Financial Close did not take place in 2009/10. This has now happened 
and work will progress in 2010/11.

Morpeth 8.299 2.806 -5.493 -66.2% 0.000 0.000
Construction has not progressed well in 2009/10 due to site issues. This 
will accelerate in 2010/11.

Raine's Foundation 0.050 0.008 -0.042 -84.0% 0.000 0.000
Design and survey works have not progressed in 2009/10. This will take 
place in 2010/11.

PRU Harpley 0.050 0.016 -0.034 -68.0% 0.000 0.000 Work has not progressed in 2009/10. This will take place in 2010/11.

Ian Mikardo 0.050 0.175 0.125 250.0% 0.000 0.000 Project, preliminary and design costs have been paid.

Central Foundation 0.050 0.000 -0.050 -100.0% 0.000 0.000 Work has not progressed in 2009/10. This will take place in 2010/11.

Bowden House 0.050 0.030 -0.020 -40.0% 0.000 0.000
Planning permission refused, hence no progress made in 2009/10. 
Appeal is being undertaken and it is expected to have a successful 
outcome.

Beatrice Tate 0.050 0.005 -0.045 -90.0% 0.000 0.000 Work has not progressed in 2009/10. This will take place in 2010/11.

Stepney Green 0.050 0.000 -0.050 -100.0% 0.000 0.000 Work has not progressed in 2009/10. This will take place in 2010/11.

Phoenix 0.050 0.000 -0.050 -100.0% 0.000 0.000 Work has not progressed in 2009/10. This will take place in 2010/11.

Langdon Park 0.050 0.000 -0.050 -100.0% 0.000 0.000 Work has not progressed in 2009/10. This will take place in 2010/11.

Bow Boys 0.050 0.000 -0.050 -100.0% 0.000 0.000 Work has not progressed in 2009/10. This will take place in 2010/11.

BSF MAINSTREAM TOTAL 43.686 35.881 -7.805 -17.9% 24.700 24.700

LOCAL PRIORITIES PROGRAMME

BSF Wave 5 2.790 0.000 -2.790 -100.0% 0.550 2.790

This budget provision was agreed by Cabinet to fund the ongoing works 
required to deliver Wave 5 of the BSF programme. £550k has been spent 
in 2009/10 and is included in the spend figures shown above. The 
remaining £2.24m is required to fund the programme over the next few 
years again at £550k each year. 

BSF LPP TOTAL 2.790 0.000 -2.790 -100.0% 0.550 2.790

BSF GRAND TOTAL 46.476 35.881 -10.595 -22.8% 25.250 27.490

REASONS FOR VARIANCES

P
age 307



APPENDIX 1.4 
 

 

 

Corporate DDA programme (2009/10) 0.500 0.000 -0.500 -100.0% 0.500 0.500 To be spent in 2010/11

Corporate DDA programme (prior 
years)

1.000 0.745 -0.255 -25.5% 1.000 1.000

Remainder for Professional Development 
Centre DDA works which were awaiting listed 
building consent (now received). Works start 
July 2010.

DDA improvements to public access 
points

0.433 0.433 0.000 0.0% 0.433 0.433

Accommodation Strategy 2.084 0.015 -2.069 -99.3% 2.084 2.084
 To be used in the next phase of the 
Accommodation Strategy.  £1 million allocated 
recently to fund Idea Store, Watney Market.

FM Accommodation Strategy - 7th 
floor Anchorage Hse

0.086 0.000 -0.086 -100.0% 0.000 0.000
To be used when Anchorage House is vacated 
to fund dilapidations costs.

Rushmead 0.065 0.065 0.000 0.0% 0.065 0.065

ICT 0.941 0.719 -0.222 -23.6% 0.941 0.941
Slippage on programme, balance is committed 
in 2010/11.

Software Licences (RCCO) 1.032 1.032 0.000 0.0% 0.000 0.000

Telephony Invest to Save 1.138 1.138 0.000 0.0% 0.000 0.000

CHIEF EXEC & RESOURCES TOTAL 7.279 4.147 -3.132 -43.0% 5.023 5.023

P
age 308



APPENDIX 1.5 
 

 

ADULTS HEALTH AND WELLBEING (AHWB)

Budget at Spend to Variance Variance as Projected Projected
31-Mar-10 31-Mar-10 % of Budget Spend at Q3 Spend at Q2

£m £m £m £m £m £m

MAINSTREAM PROGRAMME

09/10 Mental Health Single Capital Pot 0.169 0.088 -0.081 -47.9% 0.069 0.264

£59k of committed resources carried forward to 2010/11 
programme due to works not completed. In some cases 
schemes have been committed but works not started due 
to delay in tenders. Committed resources relate to multiple 
contractors.

Social Care Grant - Essential Health & Safety0.123 0.123 0.000 0.0% 0.123 0.123

07/08 Mental Health supported capital 
expenditure

0.046 0.046 0.000 0.0% 0.046 0.046

07/08 Local Implementation Plan 0.150 0.029 -0.121 -80.7% 0.031 0.150

Grants from DoH for Social Care IT are all to be spent on 
Framework-I project, which has a go live date of July 2010. 
Resources carried forward to meet 2010/11 costs of 
project, which could not complete in 2009/10.

07/08 Improving care-home 
environment

0.017 0.000 -0.017 -100.0% 0.004 0.017

08/09 Mental Health Single Capital Pot 0.168 0.168 0.000 0.0% 0.168 0.168

08/09 Social IT infrastructure grant 0.090 0.000 -0.090 -100.0% 0.030 0.090

Grants from DoH for Social Care IT are all to be spent on 
Framework-I project, which has a go live date of July 2010. 
Resources carried forward to meet 2010/11 costs of 
project, which could not complete in 2009/10.

09/10 Social IT infrastructure grant 0.095 0.000 -0.095 -100.0% 0.000 0.000

Grants from DoH for Social Care IT are all to be spent on 
Framework-I project, which has a go live date of July 2010. 
Resources carried forward to meet 2010/11 costs of 
project, which could not complete in 2009/10.

AHWB MAINSTREAM TOTAL 0.858 0.454 -0.404 -47.1% 0.471 0.858

LOCAL PRIORITIES PROGRAMME

Single assessment process 0.150 0.000 -0.150 -100.0% 0.150 0.150
Project completed under budget. This LPP resource 
(prudential borrowing) is no longer required by AHWB.

Electronic Homecare Monitoring(2) 0.150 0.090 -0.060 -40.0% 0.000 0.150
Delays occurred on project. Further spend will take place in 
2010/11 with a likely small underspend on completion of 
the project.

LIFT Co Fees 0.056 0.043 -0.013 -23.2% 0.043 0.056
Russia Lane Day Centre 0.008 0.008 0.000 0.0% 0.008 0.008

Electronic Homecare Monitoring 0.210 0.000 -0.210 -100.0% 0.080 0.110
Delays occurred on project. Further spend will take place in 
2010/11 with a likely small underspend on completion of 
the project.

AHWB LPP TOTAL 0.574 0.141 -0.433 -75.4% 0.281 0.474

AHWB GRAND TOTAL 1.432 0.595 -0.837 -58.4% 0.752 1.332

REASONS FOR VARIANCES

P
age 309



APPENDIX 1.6 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT & RENEWAL (D&R)

Budget at Spend to Variance Variance as Projected Projected
31-Mar-10 31-Mar-10 % of Budget Spend at Q3 Spend at Q2

£m £m £m £m £m £m

MAINSTREAM PROGRAMME

Bishop's Square 0.500 0.178 -0.322 -64.4% 0.500 0.500

The D&R element of Bishop Square Section 106 
scheme incorporates a budget of £500k. The 
unspent resources are not specific to a particular 
financial year and it is anticipated that they will be 
fully utilised during 2010/11.

Housing Pot Targeted Funding 0.810 0.100 -0.710 -87.7% 0.170 0.250

Funding of approximately £7.27m has been secured 
from the DCLG to facilitate the regeneration of St. 
Clement's Hospital site and to undertake 
masterplanning on the Birchfield and Malmesbury 
Estates. The masterplanning contracts have been 
let and expenditure will be incurred during 2010/11. 
Expenditure during 2009/10 was below the profiled 
level, however the funds are not specific to a 
particular financial year and will be carried forward 
for utilisation in 2010/11.

Millennium Quarter 0.200 0.130 -0.070 -35.0% 0.178 0.178
This project is fully financed from Section 106 
resources. The expenditure is approximately in line 
with the estimated profile.

Roman Road Shops 0.220 0.020 -0.200 -90.9% 0.030 0.030

This scheme is funded through LABGI grant. Due to 
the timing of the commencement of the scheme, it is 
anticipated that the majority of expenditure will now 
be incurred in 2010/11. The resources are not time 
limited and will be carried forward to fund the 
programme.

D&R MAINSTREAM TOTAL 1.730 0.428 -1.302 -75.3% 0.878 0.958

REASONS FOR VARIANCES

 

P
age 310



APPENDIX 1.6 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT & RENEWAL (D&R)

Budget at Spend to Variance Variance as Projected Projected
31-Mar-10 31-Mar-10 % of Budget Spend at Q3 Spend at Q2

£m £m £m £m £m £m
LOCAL PRIORITIES PROGRAMME

Private Sector and Affordable 
Housing

2.500 0.000 -2.500 -100.0% 0.000 0.000

The capital receipts and developer contributions earmarked for 
thse projects were not utilised in the current financial year. The 
resources will now be applied in future years towards the financing 
of major regeneration schemes including Blackwall Reach, as 
agreed by Cabinet in July 2009.

Whitechapel Centre 0.750 0.563 -0.187 -24.9% 0.750 0.750
This scheme is fully funded through Big Lottery grant. Expenditure 
is being incurred in accordance with grant conditions.

Disabled Facilities Grants 1.000 0.626 -0.374 -37.4% 0.700 0.650

This is a demand-led budget. Although expenditure was 
significantly below that anticipated, disabled facilities grant 
commitments entered into, in addition to the payments made, 
mean that the grant entitlement from Government subsidy will be 
maximised.

Emergency Works Contingency 1.000 0.000 -1.000 -100.0% 0.000 0.000

This contingency was established as part of the 2009/10 budget 
process. No calls on the provision were made during 2009/10 and 
the full contingency will be carried forward to be utilised as 
necessary in future years.

Installation of Automatic 
Energy Meters

0.200 0.000 -0.200 -100.0% 0.200 0.200
Although this scheme was commissioned towards the end of the 
financial year, it is anticipated that expenditure will be fully incurred 
during 2010/11.

High Street 2012 0.400 0.239 -0.161 -40.3% 0.200 0.400

Contracts were entered into for this three year project towards the 
end of 2009-10, and significant additional resources have been 
generated from external bodies as reported to Cabinet on 13 
January 2010. These resources are forecast to be spent in future 
years.  It was anticipated that £200,00 of the initial profiled 
expenditure of £400,000 would be incurred in the current financial 
year, however the funding is not time limited and will be carried 
forward into 2010-11.

Private Sector Renewal Grants 0.850 0.814 -0.036 -4.2% 0.850 0.850
Expenditure and commitments were in line with the budget profile 
anticipated.

D&R LPP TOTAL 6.700 2.242 -4.458 -66.5% 2.700 2.850

D&R GRAND TOTAL 8.430 2.670 -5.760 -68.3% 3.578 3.808

REASONS FOR VARIANCES

P
age 311



APPENDIX 1.7 
 

 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

Budget at Spend to Variance Variance as Projected Projected
31-Mar-10 31-Mar-10 % of Budget Spend at Q3 Spend at Q2

£m £m £m £m £m £m

MAINSTREAM PROGRAMME

Ocean New Deal for 
Communities

11.189 13.511 2.322 20.8% 11.189 11.189

This project was profiled to be solely funded from New Deal for Communities grant 
in 2009-10, with the Authority's agreed resources being applied over the next three 
financial years. However to ensure that the scheme progressed in accordance with 
Government Office for London grant conditions, elements of the programme were 
brought forward from later years. This necessitated applying additional resources in 
2009-10, but this will reduce the commitment in later years. 

Blackwall Reach 2.000 2.401 0.401 20.1% 2.400 3.000

The Blackwall Reach project represents a £13 million commitment over three 
financial years. In addition, resources of £1.1 million were carried forward into 2009-
10 to fund on-going leaseholder buybacks. Initial estimates were that expenditure of 
£2,000,000 would be incurred in 2009-10, with £4,000,000 in 2010-11 and 
£7,000,000 in 2011-12. This profile is flexible however, with resources in place to 
adapt the profiled expenditure as necessary.

Mainstream Programme 28.928 26.089 -2.839 -9.8% 28.928 27.928

The mainstream Housing Capital programme is managed by Tower Hamlets 
Homes on behalf of the Authority and incorporates work to the Council's own stock. 
The initial budget of £24.928 million was increased by £3.0 million through the 
bringing forward of resources from 2010-11 (Cabinet - 29 July 2009) and an 
allocation of £1.0 million towards Meeting Decent Homes from the Accelerated 
Delivery Programme (Cabinet - 4 November 2009). However these initiatives have 
been reprofiled with resources being carried forward into later years.

Social Housing Energy 
Savings Programme

1.430 0.404 -1.026 -71.7% 1.430 0.000

The Homes and Communities Agency awarded the Authority £2,070,000 of funding 
under the Social Housing Energy Savings Programme  to deliver cavity wall 
insulation to its social housing units. The initial grant agreement was that £1.43 
million would be  incurred in 2009-10, with the remaining £640,000 to be incurred in 
2010-11. This funding profile was subsequently revised in conjunction with the 
HCA, with the Authority carrying the unutilised element forward to fund the 
expenditure which is fully committed in 2010-11.

Cotall Street / Bartlett Park 0.250 0.249 -0.001 -0.4% 0.000 0.000
This scheme was approved by Cabinet in November 2009. The expenditure 
incurred in 2009-10 was in line with the projection. 

HRA MAINSTREAM TOTAL 43.797 42.654 -1.143 -2.6% 43.947 42.117

REASONS FOR VARIANCES

 

P
age 312



APPENDIX 1.7 
 

 

 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

Budget at Spend to Variance Variance as Projected Projected
31-Mar-10 31-Mar-10 % of Budget Spend at Q3 Spend at Q2

£m £m £m £m £m £m
LOCAL PRIORITIES PROGRAMME

Overcrowding strategy 9.700 17.585 7.885 81.3% 18.000 14.000

The Overcrowding Strategy represents a £19.4 
million commitment over two financial years. The 
initial Cabinet report estimated that expenditure of 
£9.7 million would be incurred in 2009-10, with the 
same amount in 2010-11. As is the case with 
Blackwall Reach, this profile is flexible, with 
resources being in place to finance the expenditure 
in earlier years as necessary. The level of interest in 
the scheme meant that the number of completions 
during the financial year was significantly higher 
than initial projections anticipated. Resources were 
therefore brought forward into 2009-10 within a 
corresponding decrease in the available budget for 
2010-11. 

Building Britain's Future 0.860 0.105 -0.755 -87.8% 0.000 0.000

Funding was allocated to the Building Britain's 
Future, Council Housebuilding initiative during 2009-
10, to fund the on-costs associated with the 
development of the projects. The work on these 
schemes straddles the 2009-10 and 2010-11 
financial years and the funding will be fully utilised in 
2010-11.

HRA LPP TOTAL 10.560 17.690 7.885 74.7% 18.000 14.000

HRA GRAND TOTAL 54.357 60.344 5.987 11.0% 61.947 56.117

REASONS FOR VARIANCES

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 313



APPENDIX 2 
 

 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\9\1\AI00026197\CabinetCapitalOutturnReport20091020.d
oc 

 

Project 
Year of 
original 
allocation 

Available 
Allocation 
at 1/4/09 

Expenditure 
funded by 
Capital 

Receipts in 
2009/10 

Remaining 
allocation 
at 31/3/10 

Southern Grove - Roof Improvements 2003/04 0.002 - 0.002 

Introduction of Food Regeneration Kitchens at Schools 2004/05 0.005 - 0.005 

Poplar Public Mortuary 2004/05 0.004 - 0.004 

Improvements to School Meal Kitchens 2005/06 0.002 - 0.002 

Preliminary Works for Building Schools for the Future 2005/06 0.000 - 0.000 

Youth Service Accommodation Strategy 2005/06 0.100 ( 0.005) 0.094 

Rampart Street CPO 2005/06 0.036 - 0.036 

Schools kitchen refurbishment and modernisation 2006/07 0.007 - 0.007 

Harry Gosling School Loan 2006/07 0.015 ( 0.002) 0.012 

Idea Stores Finance 2006/07 0.126 ( 0.004) 0.122 

LIFT Co Fees 2006/07 0.056 ( 0.043) 0.012 

Business Continuity Planning 2007/08 0.036 ( 0.024) 0.012 

ICT 2007/08 0.941 ( 0.720) 0.222 

Essential Health & Safety 2007/08 0.269 - 0.269 

Accommodation Strategy 2007/08 2.084 ( 0.015) 2.068 

20mph zones 2007/08 0.014 ( 0.005) 0.009 

Bishop Challoner Community Facilities 2008/09 0.110 - 0.110 

Corporate DDA Programme 2008/09 0.500 - 0.500 

Asset Management Programme 2008/09 0.128 - 0.128 

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant  2008/09 0.261 - 0.261 

Langdon Park Station 2008/09 0.017 - 0.017 

Bishop Challenor Community Facilities 2009/10 0.435 - 0.435 

Osmani Youth Centre 2009/10 1.300 ( 0.056) 1.244 

Bancroft Library 2009/10 0.255 ( 0.052) 0.203 

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants 2009/10 0.412 ( 0.189) 0.223 

Emergency Works Contingency 2009/10 1.000 - 1.000 

Street Lighting Improvements 2009/10 0.200 ( 0.199) 0.001 

Installation of Automatic Energy Meters 2009/10 0.200 - 0.200 

High Street 2012 2009/10 0.200 - 0.200 

Discretionary Disabled Facilities Grants 2009/10 0.724 ( 0.637) 0.087 

Corporate DDA Programme 2009/10 0.500 ( 0.245) 0.255 

HRA Buybacks scheme funded from LPP -                      
Decent Homes Reserve to reimburse LPP in 2010/11 2009/10 - ( 3.658) ( 3.658) 

TOTALS   15.470 ( 11.387) 4.083 

 
 

Page 314



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\9\1\AI00026199\Directorsdiscretions100908CabinetReptDG0508101144am0.doc 
 

1 
1 

Committee: 
 
Cabinet 
 

Date: 
 
8th September 2010 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted  
 
 

Report No: Agenda 
Item: 

Report of:  
 
Corporate Director Resources 
 
Originating officer(s) Oladapo Shonola Chief 
Financial Strategy Officer; Lisa Stone 
Finance Officer 
 

TITLE: 
 
Exercise of Corporate Directors’ Discretions 
  
 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 

1.1. This report sets out the exercise of Corporate Directors’ discretions under Financial 
Regulation B8 which stipulates that such actions be the subject of a noting report to 
Cabinet if they involve expenditure between £0.100 million and £0.250 million. 

 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to:- 
 

2.1 Note the exercise of Corporate Directors’ discretions as set out in Appendix 1. 

 
 
 
 
 
     

Agenda Item 12.1

Page 315



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\9\1\AI00026199\Directorsdiscretions100908CabinetReptDG0508101144am0.doc 
 

2 
2 

3. BACKGROUND 
 

3.1   Regulation B8 sets out the Cabinet Reporting Thresholds for specific financial 
transactions. 

 
 
4. FINANCIAL REGULATION B8  

4.1 Financial Regulation B8 sets out the reporting thresholds for the following financial 
transactions: - 
Virements 

Capital Estimates 

Waiving Competition Requirements for Contracts and Orders (Subject to EU 

threshold)  

Capital Overspends 

Settlement Of Uninsured Claims 

 

4.2 Under Financial Regulation B8, if the transaction involves a sum between £0.100 
million and £0.250 million it can be authorised by the Corporate Director under the 
scheme of delegation but must also be the subject of a noting report to the next 
available Cabinet. 

4.3   Appendix 1 sets out the exercises of Corporate Directors’ discretions, under the 
stipulations in 4.2 above, that have taken place since the previous Cabinet 

 
 
5. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
5.1 The comments of the Director of Resources have been incorporated into the report and 

Appendix. 
 
6. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL) 
 

6.1. The report sets out the individual exercises of Directors’ Discretions as required by 
Financial Regulations. 

 
6.2. The legal implications of each of the individual decisions would have been 

provided as part of the decision making process. These will be recorded on the 
“Record of Corporate Directors’ Actions” maintained by Directorates 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 316



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\9\1\AI00026199\Directorsdiscretions100908CabinetReptDG0508101144am0.doc 
 

3 
3 

7. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS 
 
7.1 This report is concerned with the notification of officers’ discretions under 

Standing Orders and has no direct One Tower Hamlets implications.  To the 
extent that there are One Tower Hamlets Considerations arising from the 
individual actions, these would have been addressed in the records of each 
action. 

 
 
8. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
8.1       There are no Sustainable Action for A Greener Environment implications. 
 
 
9. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 

9.1     The risks associated with each of the Corporate Directors’ discretions as set out in 
Appendix 1 would have been identified and evaluated as an integral part of the 
process, which lead to the decision. 

 
 
10. EFFICIENCY STATEMENT  

  
10.1 The works referred to in the report will be procured in line with established practices, 

taking account of best value.  
 
 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended) 
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 

  
Brief description of “background papers” Name and telephone number of holder  

and address where open to inspection. 
 

Record of Corporate Directors actions David Tully, Interim Head of Finance,  
Children Schools and Families 
 Ext. 4960 
Luke Cully, Directorate Finance Manager,  
Communities, Localities and Culture 
 Ext. 5221 
 

 
11. APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Exercise of Corporate Directors’ Discretions under Financial Regulation B8 

Page 317



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\9\1\AI00026199\Directorsdiscretions100908CabinetReptDG0508101144am0.doc 
 

4 
4 

 
 

Page 318



 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1: Exercise of Corporate Directors Discretions Under  
                  Financial Regulation B8 
 
Corporate 
Director 

Amount Description of 
Exercise of 
Discretion 

Justification for 
Action 

Contact 

Corporate 
Director 
Communities
, Localities & 
Culture 

£210,000 
 

Adoption of 
Capital estimate 
and inclusion in the 
Capital Programme 
for Millharbour 
Street Lighting 
Improvements. 
This approval is in 
excess of the noting 
report threshold of 
£100k. 
 

Confirmation of 
Section 106 
allocation. 
 

Luke Cully 
Finance 
Manager 
CLC Ext. 5221 

Corporate 
Director  
(Children 
Schools and 
Families) 
 
 
 
 
 

£100,000 
 

(CSF/299) 

Waiving financial 
regulations to 
appoint Finefair as a 
provider of services 
for people with no 
recourse to public 
funds. 

Specialist service 
provision for 
Children’s Social 
Care 

David Tully 
Interim Head of 
Finance, 
Children 
Schools and 
Families. Ext 
4960 

Corporate 
Director  
(Children 
Schools and 
Families) 
 
 
 
 

£175,000 
 

(CSF/300) 

Extension of 
Measured Term 
Contract: General 
Building (Schools) 
for up to 6 months. 

To ensure 
continuation of 
service, pending 
formal tendering 
process. 

David Tully 
Interim Head of 
Finance, 
Children 
Schools and 
Families.  Ext 
4960 

Corporate 
Director  
(Children 
Schools and 
Families) 
 
 
 
 

£200,000 
 

(CSF/303) 

Extension of 
Measured Term 
Contract: 
Mechanical and 
Electrical (Schools) 
for up to 6 months. 

To ensure 
continuation of 
service, pending 
formal tendering 
process. 

David Tully 
Interim Head of 
Finance, 
Children 
Schools and 
Families.  Ext 
4960 

 

Page 319



Page 320

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 14

Page 321

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 324

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Stepney Green Maths & Computing College - location map, transport links (Pages 1 - 6)
	Stepney Green School Google Map pdf
	Link to website map of Stepney Green School

	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	3 UNRESTRICTED MINUTES
	6.1 LDF Core Strategy: Adoption of the plan (CAB 029/101)
	LDF Appendix 2 Final Inspector's Binding Report
	LDF Appendix 2 Annex A
	LDF Appendix 2 Annex B
	LDF Appendix 2 Annex C

	6.2 Adoption of Housing Investment Programme Capital Estimates - 2010/11 (CAB 030/101)
	Housing Investment Programme 2010-11 - Appendix A - Committed Schemes DW
	Housing Investment Programme 2010-11 - Appendix B - THH Priorirty Schemes
	Housing Investment Programme 2010-11 - Appendix C - Schemes by Category
	Housing Investment Programme 2010-11 - Appendix D -  Accelerated Delivery Schemes DW250810 1859pm

	6.3 Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency Scheme (CAB 031/101)
	6.4 Renewal of Housing General Build Repair and Gas Servicing and Repair Contracts  (CAB 032/101)
	6.5 The Private Rented Sector: Report of the Scrutiny Working Group  (CAB 033/101)
	6.6 Poplar Baths - proposed procurement route  (CAB 034/101)
	100908 - poplar baths appendix 1

	6.7 Building Control Charges (CAB 035/101)
	BC Charges Report App A

	7.1 Childcare Capital Projects  (CAB 036/101)
	7.2 Culloden Primary School - Proposed Expansion  (CAB 037/101)
	7.3 Thomas Buxton Infant and Junior Schools - Proposed Amalgamation (CAB 038/101)
	8.1 Youth Offenders: Supporting Vulnerable Young People.  Report of the Scrutiny Working Group (CAB 039/101)
	10.1 2009/10 Capital Outturn (CAB 040/101)
	12.1 Exercise of Corporate Director Discretions (CAB 042/101)
	Director's Discretions Appx

	14 EXEMPT / CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES

